Suburbs and Sections
Robert P, Stockton

Ansonborcugh

Ansonborough was Charles Town's first suburb, laid out
on lands outside the Grand Modell, Ansonborough takes its
name from George Anson (1697-1762} who, as the 26-year-old
captain of the H.M.S. Scarborough (his first important com-
mand)}, was sent on patrol duty in South Carolina waters, to
protect the region from pirates. He remained from 1724 to
1735 and was well known and very popular in Charles Town.
o McCrady (2:534) records an old tradition that Capt. .
Anson bought the tract which later would bear his name, from
- his wimnmings at cards. According'to'another story, McCrady

‘sald, Anson won the entire tract in a single game. The area,

bounded on the north in early days by Boundary (now Calhoun)
Street, and including a tract between King Street and the
. Cooper .River, and running south to a line halfway between
‘Society and Wentworth streets, was part of an origimal grant
to the immigrant, Isaac Mazyck, in 1696, and contained about

G0 acres. Mazyck sold 64 acres, more or less, to Thomas Gads-

den. On March 26, 1726, Thomas Gadsden conveyed this tract
"to Capt. George Anson for E£300 Sterling. This was a very
large sum of money for such a young naval officer to possess;
‘much less pay out, so it is quite possible that Anson’'s win-
‘nings at cards did purchase the future Ansonborough, but the
deed indicates that this was a regular sale, for. a specific
sum .

After other tours of duty, Anson returned to South Caro-~
lina in the Sguirrel, crulsing South Carolina and Georgila wa-
ters in search of Spanish privateers. Between 1740 and 1744,
he took command of a squadron during the war with Spain, com-
manding the 60-gun frigate Centurion. His orders were to
attack Spanish ships and cities first in the Caribbean, then
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on the Pacific coast of South America. A fter his squadron was

dwindled by storms and other misfortunes, he completed the cir-

cumnavigation of the globe in the Centurion. After a notable
victory over the Spaniards at Cap Fenisterre, in 1747, which
hetted E300,000 in'teasure, he was created Baron Anson. Later
he was appointed First Lord of the Admiralty. _

Anson had his Charles Town tract, known as Bowling Green
Plantation, laid out in streets and lots in 1745-46 (George
Hunter's plat of Ansonborough is dated 1746, but some lots
were sold in 1745). 1In addition to George and Anson streets,
which still bear his name, he named three streets for the

‘ships which had counted most in his career. Scarborough and
' Squirrel had brought him to South Carolima. Centurion had

won him fame and fortune. Scarborough and Centurion streets
were later absorbted into Anson and Society streets, respec-
tively, while Squirrel became an extension of Meeting Street.
The original suburb of Ansonborough included the area
bounded by King, Calhoun, Anson streets and a line running

'_'midway between Scclety and Wentworth streets and parallel

with those streets. Later the name came to be applied to the
0ld suburbs of Rhettsbury, Middlesex and the Laurens Lands,
to the south and east of original Ansonborough.

Some late 18th and early 19th century houses survive in
the area now called Bnsonborough, mainly in the northern part
which was spared by the great fire of 1838, which swept through
the sOuthern.part of the area, sparing only & few houses such
as the Rhett House on Hasell Street. The destroyed buildings
were replaced by handsome brick houses, most of which date
from the 1840s and many of which were built with loans from
the Bank of the State of South Carolina, authorized by the
"Act for Rebullding the City of Charleston,” passed by the
General Assembly in 1838. '

The Ansonborough area had fallen into slum conditions by
1959, when Historic Charleston Foundation began its rehabili-
tation program which became nationally known as an outstand-




~ing example of neighborhood rehabilitation. The plan was
conceived, financed and administered by the Foundation, which
abquired and restored more than 100 houses.

| The Foundation's program inspired individuals and families
to purchase and rehabilitate houses in Ansonborough, which has
become one of Charleston's most desirable neighborhoods. |
(E.A.M. Smith, "Charleston and Charleston Neck,” 10. Rogers;
Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 57. Smith & Smith,
Dwell ing Houses, 281-283. Stoney, Thig is Charleston, 127,
129. Ravenel, Charleston, The Place and the People, 172-173.)

Cannonborough

Cannonborough received its name from Daniel Cannon, house
carpenter and "mechanick,” who between 1762 and 1800 acquired
- the large, low and marshy tract, generally rnorth of Boundary
Street (now Calhoun) and west of Coming's Creek. Cannon.
built lumber mills on the Ashley River side of his dcquisi-
tions. His Upper Mill was in the vicinity of Camnnon Street;
his Lower Mill was in the vicinity of Boundary Street.

There were many pieces of marshland and small creeks
which split up Cannon's holdings and which were later filled,
but by early in the 19th century several good houses were
erected, chiefly along Pinckney Street (now Rutledge Avenue),
which was the highest ground in the area.

Later, the lower part of Cannon's holdings, in the vicin-
ity of Calhoun Street, was acquired by Jonathan Lucas, who
built rice mills as well as sawmills iIn the area.

Cannonborough (also called Cannonsboro) included the area
now bounded generally on the north by Spring Street, eastward
ag far as Coming Street, thence south along Coming Street to
Morris Street, thence west to Smith Street, thence south to

Calhoun Street, thence west to Rutledge Avenue, thence south
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to just below Bennett Street, thence west to the Ashley River.
After the city limits were extended above Boundary Street
in 1849, Pinckney Street became Rutledge Avenue, although'the
Rutledge Street in Harleston Village continued to be called
Rutledge Street for some time. (Smith & Smith, Dwell ing

. Houges, 331-332. Stonéy, This is_Charlegton, 128-129.)

Colleton Sguare

On the north side of the creek where Market Street now
runs was Lot No. 80 of the Grand Modell, containing a 1little
more than nine acres, granted in 1681 to Sir Peter Colleton.
It was sold in 1736 by his grandson, the Hon. John Colleton,
to George Hunter, Charleg Pinckney and Thomas Ellery. By
1739 the tract had been lald out with streets called Charles
(now part of Anson), Pinckney, Thomas (now North Market) and
Ellery (now Guignard). In 1746, Charles Pinckney, Chief Jus-
tice of South Carolina, built his fine brick mansion on the
Bay in Colleton Sguare. During the Pinckney family's absence
in England, 1753-58, the mansion was occupied by Gov. James
Glen, and became known as the “Governor's House," and the
bridge over the canal, at the mouth of the creek, which bridge
connected Colleton Square with the main part of town, at East
Bay, was called the "Governor's Bridge.” The mansion, which
had Ionic pilasters and a pediment on the facade, remained
in the Pinckney family until it was destroyed by the great
fire of 1861.

Charles Fraser, in his Reminiscences, stated that the

Charl eston Orphan House was located in Colleton Square, on
Church Street north of the creek, before the Orphan House on
Calhoun Street was constructed. {(McCrady, 2:398. Ravenel,
Charleston,.The Place and the People, 141, 156. Whitelaw &

w”
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-Levkoff, 17. Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys,
- 120-121. Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 269-270. Fraser, 28.)

Elliottborough
" This area, bounded today by Line, Coming and Spring

 streets and a line just west of Rutledge Avenue, was partitioned

among the Elliott family and surveyed into streets in the
1770s. (Stoney, This is Charleston, 129)

Elliott Lands

The tract, bounded today by Radcliffe, Smith, Morris and -

-King streets, was surveyed by Joseph Purcell in 1786, for

the Elliott family. (Stoney, This is Charleston, 128-129)

Free School Lands or College Lands

An fict of the Commons House of Assembly, in1712, author-

ized the acquisition of land for a Free School. The Commis-
‘sioners of the Free School were to purchase land and erect
quarters for a master and students. In return for the use

of the land and buildings, the master was to teach 12 free
scholars. The rest were to pay E4 a year. Tt was required
that the master be a member of the Church of England and
understand Latin and Greek. In 1724, the Commissioners of
the Free School bought from Thomas Pinckney the 10-acre tract
bound today by Calhoun, St. Philip, George and Coming streets.
The Free School was built apparently by 1728, as from
the tombstone of the Rev. John Lambert in St. Philip’s Church-
yard, we learn that the gentleman, who died in 1729, was a
"Master Preceptor and Teacher of Grammar and other Arts and
Sciences Taught in the Free School at Charlestown.”™ The
school ceased opérafion in 1744, It was reorganized in 1749
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by Hugh Anderson who rented a house and served as Master. &n-
derson’s students included Alexander McGillivray, son of a
Scottish trader and an Indian "princess,” who became chief of
the Creek tribe. Anderson's school continued in operation
until 1776. The location of the school is not known.

In 1757, the 0ld Free School building was renovated as-
quarters of military officers, and barracks sufficient for
1,000 men were built on the Free School Lands. Lt. Col. Henry
Bocquet brought to Charles Town in 1757 the British Regulars
who were stationed there until they were withdrawn in 1769.
The question of whether the South Carolina Commons House of
Assembly should provide funds for candles, bedding, beer and
other essentials for the Regulars, was part of the ongoing
gquarrel between Royal and local officials, which preceded the
Revolutlon, ' _

During the siege of Charlestown, 1780, the barracks were
used by Patriot troops. _

In 1785, the Free School Lands were given to the newborn
College of Charleston, which renovated one of the barracks
buildings'for its own purposes. Subsequently, the college had
financial reverses and had to divide all but 2 quarter of the
Collége lands into lots, which were first leased, on long-term
leases, but eventually sold. The College Lands were surveyed
in 1797 by Joseph Purcell into 30 lots, and College Street and
Green Street (the latter presumably mamed for the College
Green),_were created. When the lease income proved insuffi-
cient, the Court of Equity, in 1817, ordered the lots to be
sold to pay the College's debts. _

The College Lands were reacquired by the College of
Charleston in the 20th céntury and are part of the College
campus. (Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 10, 1973. Rogers, Charleston
in the Age of the Pinckneys, 36, 43, 62, 97-98. Easterby,
History of the College, 24-27., Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses,
305-308. Stoney, This is Charleston, 126, 129. Fraser, 22,)
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The French Quarter

The designation, "French Quarter,” 1is a modern one for
Charleston, but its invention in 1973 was in recognition of

the city's French heritage.

The nomination of the "French Quarter" to the-National
Register of Historic Places. in 1973 was also designed'to fo-
cus attention on the block bounded by East Bay, Cumberland

~and State streets and Lodge Alley, where a collection of
mostly 19th century warehouses wag slated for demolition for

a condominium project.
Charleston'’s French Quarter 1s an amorphous area which

-extends in all directions from the intersection of East Bay
and Queen streets and Vendue Range, where historical records

show a clustering of French Protestants and French Catholics

~during the 18th and 19th centuries.

Most of the French Quarter area was already on the Na-

- tional Register as part of Charleston's "0ld and Historic™

Distriect. Therefore, only the Lodge Alley block, containing
the endangered buildings, and which was not in the "014 and
Historic” District, was added to the National Register in 1973.
The buildings were bought from the developer by the Save
Charleston Foundation, which conducted a national campaign
to raise money for that purpose. Subsegquently, the bulldings

~were conveyed to de?elopers who rehabilitated them as a hotel,

office, retail and condominium complex.

The revocation of the Edict of Nantes, which had guaran-
teed freedom of worship to the Huguenots in France, by Louis
XIV in 1685, sent waves of Protestant refugees to the Nether-
lands, Germany, England and America, including South Carolina.

Descendants of these Huguenot immigrants included Theo-

"dore Gaillard, Samuel Porcher and Samuel Cordes, who lived on
‘East Bay north of Lodge Alley in the late 18th an early 19th

centuries. On the other side of East Bay, stretching south
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from Vendue Range, Samuel Prioleau (of French and Italian Pro-
testant descent), owned in the late 18th and early 19th century
a complex of wharfs, stores and warehouses., His rame and those
of family connections, are memorialized in Prioleau, Cordes
~and Gendron streets.

A second wave of Frenchmen came to South Caroclina in 1755
when 1,000 Acadian exiles were dumped in the colony by the
British. These French Catholics were badly treated by South
Carolinians of both French and English descent, who thought
of them still as the enemy. Most moved on to the West Indies
and Iouisiana.

A descendant of one Acadian family which stayed was Bas-
ile Ianneau, who in the mid~19th céntury'occupiéd a building
on East Bay, just north of Vendue Range.

Lanneau shared the building with Robert de Leaumont, one
of several hundred refugees from the bloody'slave revolution
on Santo Domingo. Leaumont arrived in Charleston in the 1790s.

The Santo Domingan/refugees were the most numercus of
~the French who came to Charleston in the late 18th and early
19th centuries. Some Frenchmen came during the American Revol-
ution as volunteers on the Patriot side. During the 1790s,
when pro-French fervor in Charleston was at its peak, the city
harbored French privateersmen who used 1t as a bage to prey
on British and Spanish shipping. Ilater, in the early 19th
century, the Napoleonic Wars brought French exiles to the city.

'Many of these French Catholics, including Etiemme Poincig-
non and John L'Simable Pezant, owned property in the French
Quarter. Charleston's most French building is 178~180 East
Bay Street, built soon after 1734 by the French merchant,
Stephen'Lefevrea ( Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 1, 1973.)
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‘Glebe Iands

Mrs. Affra Coming, in 1698, made a deed of gift of 17

" acres of land to the Minister of the Church of England in
- Charles Town, and his successors in office. The tract was

that now bounded by George, St. Philip, Beaufain and Coming -

‘streets. It was called the Glebe lands because, in English

eccliastical law, & glebe is any land belonging to, or yileld-
ing revenue to, & parish church or to a church benefice, such
as a rectory.

St, Philip's Parsonage was bullt on the Glebe Iands at

- some p01nto The Rev. Alexander Garden, who arrived in Charles

Town in 1719, was the rector of St. Pnilip's and the commls-

- sary (representatlve) of the Bishop of London. In 1744, with
contributions from local people and from the Soclety for the

_Propagatlon of the Gospel, in London, Commissary Garden estab-
l1ished a school for black and Indian children on the Glebe
lands near St. Philip's Parsonage. It was taught by two black
youths, Andrew and Henry (Harry), under the rector's supervi-
sion, and continued in operation for 22 years., But when
Andrew died and Harry "turned out profligate the school was
discontinued.

In 1770, an Kct of the Assembly authorized the openlng
of streets through the Glebe Lands and through Harleston Vil-
lage. Both were laid out by William Rigby Naylor, the archi-

. tect of the Exchange, who was also a surveyor. The same Act

ordered the building of a new parsondage on four acres to be
reserved for that purpose, the rest of the Glebe to be divid-
ed imto 38 lots. The four acres reserved for the parsonage
were on the northwest corner of Wentworth and St. Philip
streets. The Parsonage (now 6 Glebe St.) was begun in 1771
and replaced the older parsonage which had been on the nor th-
west corner of Beaufain and St. Phlllp s streets (now the 51te
of Memminger School). o
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The Glebe Lands were divided in 1770 between St. Philip's
and St. Michael's churches. St. Michael's received most of
the portion south of Wentworth Street, with the rest going to
St. Philip's. _ :

In 1797, the Parsorage lot at Wentworth and St. Philip
streets was subdivided into 14 lots, and Glebe Street was cut
through the block from Wentworth to George Street.

The Glebe lots were at first let to temamnts on 31l-year
leages, with the requirement that the tenants build upon
- the lots within seven years. Gradually, beginning in the
- mid-19th century, the lots were sold off, until only a few
Glebe lots remain. (Stockton, N&C, Aug. 5, 1972. Rogers,
Charleston;in the_Agé of the Pincknevs, 9l. Ravenel, 8rchi-
tects, 38. Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houseg, 311-313. Deeds,
16-535, V7-5. McCrady, 2:99-100, 245-247, ‘Statutes at large,
7:95ff.) '

Hampstead

The Village of Hampstead was laid out for Henry Laurens
in 1789. A plan of the suburb shows 130 lots. Hampstead
was bounded to the West by Meeting Street, South by Woolfe
and South streets, North by Line and Blake Streets and East
by Bay Street (now part of East Bay).

Hampstead's focal point was Hampstead Mall or Square, _
at the intersection of &fmerica and Columbus streets, obviously
modeled on 17th and 18th century English examples. Unfor-
tunately, all but one quadrant of the mall has been fenced 1in,
destroying its original openness and symmetry, (Rogers, Charles-
ton in the Age of the Pinckneys, 64. Smith & Smith, Dwelling
Houses, 334. Deeds, F7-59, Y10-45., City Engineer's Plat Book,
' 8; CGity of Charleston Archives. Stoney,-This is Charleston,
128-129.)
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Village of Harleston -

The Village of Harleston, also frequently called Harles-
ton's Green, more rarely Harlestonborough, and more recently
Harleston Village, was originally part of a grant made to
John Coming and Henry Hughes in 1671/2. After the death of

Coming and his wife, Mrs. Affra Coming, it was inherited by

Mrs. Coming's nephew, John Harleston, and his descendants.
The section bore the Harleston mame when it was develoPed'and
streets were opened up in 1770. The Harlestons, during the
Colonial period, were active in the government of the Province

-and also accomplished breeders of racehorses.

- Streets in the Village of Harleston were named for promu

_1nent men of the perlod, in England and the Province, The

Royal Governor, Lord Charles Greville Montagu, along with

It. Gov. William Bull; Hector Beranger de Beaufain, Collector

of Customs and member of His Majesty's Council; William Pitt,

the British member of Parliament who defended Colonial rights;

- as well as John Rutledge, Thomas Lynch and Christopher Gadsden,

who were active in the Provincial government and later leaders
in the American Revolution; all were commemorated. _
Despite its early creation, Harleston was but slowly
covered with houses, and in 1819, a contemporary described.
it as indented with marsh and creeks.
A large part of Harleston was acquired by Thomas Bennett,
Sr., who, with Daniel Cannon, used the ebb and flow of the
tides to power large lumber mills. Thus, the part of Harles-
ton near the Ashley River was covered by huge mill ponds.
The ponds persisted after the development of steam power,
and were not filled until the 1880s.
| The first golf club in America, established in 1786 by
British merchants, mainly Scots, held its meetings and annual
dimers in its “Club House on Harleston Green.” (H.4.M. Smith,
fCharleston and Charleston Neck,” 9410o Rogers, Charleston
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in the Age of the Pinckneys, 110. Smith & Smith, Dwelling
Houses, 311-312, 315-317. City Engineer 's Plat Book, 57.
. McCrady, 2:522, 524, 610.) -

Islington

The Village of Islington was developed c¢. 1800 at the
west end of Cannon Street near the present Ashley River bridges.
It was named for the town of Islington, Ehgland, and just as
the'English town was swallowed up by London, the local suburb
was swallowed up by Charleston. The area retained the old
name down to the time of the Civil War, and in 1853 there was
‘an Islington Cricket Club.. The name survives in Islington
Court (running.sduth from Cannon between Ashley and President),
often pronounced "Izzie Lincoln” Court. (Ravenel, I¥KYC, July
29, 1940.)

Laurens Sguare

Now part of Ansonborough, thls area, bounded today by
Taurens, Anson and Soclety streets and the Cooper River, was
called "Rattray's Green” (for a previous owner, John Rattray)
when it was purchased in 1755 by Henry laurens, later Presi-
dent of the Continental Congress.

Here, in 1764, Laurens built his "large, elegant brick
house of sixty feet by thirty eight, ” with piazzas on the
south and east sides overlooking the marshes and Cooper River.
He and Martha Laurens created a2 four -acre botanical garden,
containing such exotics as orange, olive, lime, capers, ginger
and guinea grass, with the aid of John Watson, an English
gardener. .

The property was laid out in building lots in 1804 by
his son, Herry Laurens the Younger. The family name is com-




- memorated in Laurens Street, (Wallace, Henry Laurens, 62-65,
Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 40, 60,
Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 284-290, Ramsay, 2:128.)

Mazyckborough

Joseph Purcell, surveyor, laid out Mazyckborough for
Alexander Mazyck in 1786. It is bounded by Chapel, Eliza-
beth and Calhoun streets and the Cooper River.

_ Before its development, the tract was known as Mazyck’s
- Pasture, in the center of which stood a large ocak tree whlch
" became known as the Liberty Oak because it was "formally

- dedicated to Liberty” by a group of "Mechanicks” and other
inhabitants of the town at a public meeting on October 1,
1768.  Begirming in 1766, Christopher Gadsden and the Mechan-
ics party, who called themgelves the "Song of Liberty" met
under the live oak tree many times to oppose the policies of
Great Britain toward the colonies. When the British occupled
Charles Town in 1780, they cut down the Liberty Tree to pre-
vent its becoming a Patriot shrine. So that the destruction
would be complete, they built a fire over the remaining
stump. Iater the root was dug up and made into cane~heads,
one of which was given to President Thomas Jefferson.
(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 65. Rosen,
77. Stoney, Thig ig Charlegston, 128«129, Leland, 21-22, 32,
Walsh, Sons of Liberty,31-32, 40, 46, 48, 50, 87, 98, 116.
Johnson, Traditions, 35. McCrady, 2:589-591, 604, 652-653,
664-671, 679-680,) o

Mazvyveck Lands

This area, bounded generally by the present-day streets
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-- Broad, Legére, Queen, Brchdale, Beaufain and Smith -- was
granted to James Moore in 1698 and conveyed by the trustees
of his will to Isaac Mazyck in 1712, .

In 1742, the Mazyck Lands were partitioned among the
heirs of Isaac Mazyck and lots were surveyed and offered for
~sale. _

Not a part of the Mazyck Lands was the block today
bounded by Magazine, Logan, Queen and Franklin streets. That
block was early set aside for public uses. There were lo-
cated the Work House, Magazine, the District Jail and other
buildings. (Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys,
57, Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 307-308.)

Middl esex

Now part of Ansonborough, the Village of Middlesex (also
known as Gadsden's Green and Federal Green) was laid out
by Christopher Gadsden, the Charlestown merchant who became
the leader of the Mechanicks party during the Revolu‘tiono
Gadsden, who had made a fortune trading with the frontier by
1761, closed his stores at Georgetown and the Cheraws and be-
gan to develop this suburb, and to build the largest wharf in
America in front of it.

Gadsden had +the area laid out into six wharf lots and
197 building lots. The suburb was bounded by present-day
Calhoun, Anson and Laurens streets and the Cooper River.
Gadsden filled the marsh and in cooperation with his neigh-
bor to the north, Alexander Mazyck, stralightened the creek
between them by digging a canal which followed the course of
present-~day Calhoun Street, terminating about where Calhoun
crosses Washington Street. The block of Calhoun, between
Washington and East Bay, where there is still an open space,
was intended as a market place.




Gadsden named his streets for his political leanings.
Wilkes Street was named for John Wilkes, the English editor |
who was imprisoned for_having criticized members of Parliament
and the Crown. The suburb itself was named Middlesex for the
'borough which elected Wilkes four times to the House of Commons,
only to have that body refuse: to seat him, Paoli Street was
named for Pasquale d:L Pa.oll, the Corsican pa'trlo-t, and Hand -
in Hand Corner was named for a patr:.ot:.c song of Corsica. _

So Be It Entry was named in defiance of the British. At the
‘time of the adoption of the Federal Constitution, Gadsden's
Middlesex became known as Federal Green. (Rogers, Charleston
in the Age of the Pinckneys, 41, 60-61, 63. Smith & Smith,
Dwelling Houses, 283-284, Stoney, This is Charleston, 127,
129, Walsh, Sons of Liberty, passim.)

New Market

The Village of New Market was generally north of Line
Street and east of King Street. Except for the extreme
southern portion, it remained largely undeveloped until the
early part of this century.

The large tract was purchased by Landgrave Joseph Blake
in 1700 and mogt of it remained in his family for more than
200 years.

New Market was the site of the Newmarket Race Course
which was used until the Washington Race Course, established
in 1790, superceded it. (Rogers, Charleston in the Age of
the Pinckneys, 64. BSmith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 334.)

Radecliffeboro

Thomas.Radcliffe acquired the tract of ‘land now bounded
by King, Vanderhorst, Smith and Radcliffe streets and had it
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surveyed in 1786. After Radcliffe was lost at sea in 1806,
development of the suburb was continued by his widow, Mrs.

. Lucretia Radcliffe, and other heirs.

The area now called Radcliffeboro also includes the
"Elliott Iands and the western portion of the Wragg Lands.
(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 64. Stoney,
- This is Charleston, 128-129. Thomas, DYKYC, Dec. 9, 1968.
Ravenel, Charleston, The Place and the People, 422.) '

Rhettsbury

William Rhett, scourge of the pirates, acquired The
Point Plantation in 1712 and renamed it Rhettsbury. The
plantation was divided into streets and lots in 1773 for his
great-granddaughters, Susannah and Mary Hasell, who married,
respectively, Parker Quince and John Ancrum.

Rhettsbury was bounded on the west by King Street, on

the north by 2 1line running midway between Wentworth and
Society streets and parallel with those streets, and to
the south on an irregular line, rumning through the block
from King to Meeting, between Market and Hasell streets,
thence eastward along Pinckney Street to East Bay, thence
eagstward in a line running below Pritchard Street and parallel
with Pritchard. Rhettsbury consisted of some 20 acres ad-
joining the north line of the Grand Modell, as well as several
town lots within the Grand Modell. When Rhettsbury was laid
out in streets, the old Grand Modell boundary was not followed,
as was the case with the suburbs to the west, which bounded
south on the Grand Modell boundary, along which Beaufain Street
was run. (Smith, *"Charleston and Charleston Neck,” 7-8.
Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 270-272, 277.)
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Washington

The Village of Washington was laid out from King'Street.
westward, north of Line Street and south of the Washlngton N

~Race Course (now Hampton Park).

Tts streets were patrlotlcally named 2 Plnckney, Moultrle,-

'Huger, Gadsden, Congress and President. (Smith & Smlth

Dwelling Houses, 33%-335. Stoney, This is Charleston, 129.

" Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 64, 114.)

Wragcsborough

| Wraggborough was part of the extensive landholdings of

Joseph Wragg, partitioned among his heirs in 1758. John

Wragg, the eldest son, received as part of his portion the

79 acres between the Broad Path and the Cooper River, which

became known as Wraggborough. dJohn Wragg died in 1796, leav-
ing ho children. His siblings and their children had the
79 acres surveyed and laid into streets and lots, by Joseph
Purcell, surveyor, in 1801. Sitreets were named for Joseph
Wragg's children: John, Judith, Mary, Ann, Charlotte, Eliza-
beth, Henrietta. Chapel Street was named for a chapel which
was to have been built on a small square at the intersection
of Elizabeth, Chapel and John streets. Wragg Mall and Wragg
Square were given to the public by the Wragg heirs. (Rogers,
Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 64. City Engineer's
Plat Book, 25, 85. Deeds, B3-233. Wills (WPA) 12:667. Ed-
gar & Bailey, 726-729. Wragg Family File, SCHS.) ‘

Wragge lands

Joseph Wragg was granted by the Lords Proprietors, in
1715, a tract of 23 acres bounded by present-day King, Calhoun,
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Smith and Vanderhorst streets. In the division of his estate,
the tract fell to his daughters Charlotte, wife of John Poaug,
and Elizabeth, wife of Peter'Manigault, excépt'for the block
of 6.25 acres between King and St. Philip streets, which had
been sold previously to the Commissioners of Fortifications

. and afterwards vested in the City of Charleston. The Orphan

House was built on that block in the 1790s.

A plat dated 1793 depicts the Wragg Lands divided into
69 lots, then vested in John Poaug the Younger and Joseph
Manigault, The part of present-day Calhoun Street running
below the subdivision was then called Manigault Street.
(Deeds, 16-509, B3-247. Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 331-
332, Stoney, This is Charleston, 127, 129.)

Wrage Pasture

The land bounded by present-day Calhoun, King, Beaufain
‘and St. Philip streets was also part of the legacy of Joseph
Wragg. In'the division of his estate it was allotted to his
- daughter Henrietta, who married her cousin Willlam Wragg.
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 127, 129. Deeds, B31-247,)




67

Streets and Structures

Robert P. Stockton

Adger's Whar;f_ o

~ Adger's Wharf is one of the sev_eral. streets in the made

: lanc_i to the east of East Bay Street, which stll carry the names
‘of wharfs. Adger’s Wharf began its history as a “"low water
lot" (land ex"posed at 'low 'ti'd'e) belonging to Robert Tradd and” '
81tuated across Bay Street (now East Bay) from his res:.dence
at Tradd and the Bayo_ Robert Tradd, a son o:E‘ R:Lchard Tradd
and, accordlng to tradition, the first Engllsh Chlld born in
South Carollna, died in 1731, bequeathlng the "Water Lott" to
Jacob Motte and his children. Motte was for many years the
Public Treasurer of South Carolina and was also a prominent
-merchant a sometlme partner of James Laurens (brother of Hen-
Ty Laurens) He bu:l.lt on Tradd's low water lot a large whar f
known as “Motte's Wharf” or “Motte’ s Brldge. " Buildings on
Motte's Wharf included a “scale house, * where _ite:ms were weighed,
and which apparently was large enough for Motte to locate his
office and store there after the great fire of 1740,

‘ North of Motte's Wharf, which later became 'k'nown ag Adw
ger's South Wharf, was Greenwood"s’ Wha_rf'. which later became
known as Adger's North Wharf. Greenwood, a British merchant
in Charles Town, was one of the consignees of tea taxed under
the Tea Act of 1773. Under pressure, he and the other consign-
ees allowed local authorltles to store the hated tea in the
basement of the Exchange.

To the south of Motte' s Wharf, at the foot of Tradd Street,
was a site set aside for public use. The 1739 map called the
"Ichnography of Charles-Town at High Water," shows the Exchange,
with a courtroom above it, on the site. ILater, a market was
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built on the site, which Charles Fraser remembered as a "low
wooden building.” Subsequently, the market was removed and

" the site became part of the rlght of way of South Adger's

Whartf.
By the end of the 18th century, both Motte's and Green-
Wood's Wharfs had been acquired by William Crafts, and were

known as Crafts' North and South Wharfs. The wharfs were

acquired in 1822 b&'ﬁrthur'Middleton, as administrator of the
estate of Mathaniel Russell; 1ater'Midd1eton acquired them for
himself. In 1835 he sold part to James Hamllton, and for

a time the wharfs were known as Hamllton & Co., and Middleton

"& Hamllton s Wharfs. Mlddleton was one of the Mlddletons of-

Mlddleton Place. Hamilton was Intendant of Charleston, Gover n-
or of South Carolina, 2 general and az leader of the Nullifiers.
In the 1830s and '"40s the wharfs were acquired by James
Adger & Co., and became the southern terminus of the first
steamship llne between Charleston and . New Yorko The lucra-

- tive line helped James Adger to become, allegedly, the rich-

est man in South Carolira. One of Adger & Co.'s best ships,
the Jamee'AQger, happened to be in New York harbor when the
Civil War broke out. The ship was confiscated by Union author-

'11t1es and used throughout the war by the United States Navy.

Over the years, substantial brick buildings were con-
structed llnlng the streets known as Adger's North and South
Wharfs.' The Sanborn insurance map of 1884 indicates that
Adger & Co.'s office was at 90 East Bay, while the buildings
on the south side of Nbrth Adger' s ‘Wharf and north side of
South Adger s Wharf were cotton warehouses. The brick range
on the north side of North Adger's Wharf also housed warerooms
for cotton on the first level, with brokers' offices above.

After port activities moved up the peninsula, the wharfs
were abandoned and the bulldlngs converted to re51dent1a1 and |

' offlce use.*

South Adger s Wharf is one of Charleston' E few remalnlng



‘cobblestone streets (others being Chaimers'and.Gillon'streets

and Maiden Lane). The granite base of Adger's South Wharf,
where the Adger shlps formerly docked, still proaects 1nto the

.Cooper River and has been made into a public parku

(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 8, 1973 ', "Rainbow Row."
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Greene, unpub. MSn'Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinck- .
neys, 1%, 43, 56+ Fraser, 32- -33.  Stoney, N&C, April 13, 19589

"Ichnpgraphy,” 1739, "Ichnography3“ 1?88° Brldgene & Allen

.Map, 1852, Sanborn- Map, 1884, )

Alexander Street

Alexander Streef'originally extended frdm'Bouhdary'(naw

Calhoun) to Chapel_Street and was 1laid out as part of the:

suburb of Mazyckborough in 1786. It was named for Alexander .
Mazyck, developer of the suburb. Middle Street, in Gadsden's

_ Mlddlesex, between Laurens and Boundary streets, was made part
- of Alexander Street in 1903. The east end of Judith Street

in Wraggborough became part of Alexander Street in the 18805,
("Streets of Charleston.")

5 Alexander Sto. = This three story clapboard 31ngle houge was
built about 1813 by Simon Jude Chancognie, French consul
‘and merchant.. The interior has fine Adamesque woodwork
and an interesting, graceful stair. The roofline was re-
modeled in the late 19th century. Chancognie also built
the house around the corner at 48 Laurens St.
(Thomas, DYKYC, Dec. 7, 1970.) '

6 Alexander St. -- Francis Nelson, a ship's carpenter, built
this house sometime after purchasing the site in 1799.
‘It remained in his family until 1853, This is a varia-

" tion of the single house, unusual in that there is no
central hall and the fenestration on the piazza side is
unusuaio_ o y '
(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb, 20, 1978.)
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67 Alexander St. -- Richard Edward Dereef (1798-1876), a free
black wood factor and real estate investor, built this
-small two story frame single house sometime after he pur -
chased the site in April 1838. The site was part of a
large lot, extending to Calhoun Street, on which Dereef

~erected several buildings, of which only this house re-

- mains. Dereef, a native Charlestonian, was one of the -
wealthiest men of the free black community, He'and his
son, Richard, Jdr., had a wood factorage business on De-
reef's Wharf at the foot of Chapel Street, and lived
nearby on Washington Street. By 1867 Dereef had conveyed
this property, apparently built for rental purposes, to
Margaret w&lker, a black woman. {Stockton, unpub;'MS.)_

80 Alexander St. -- Liberty Tree Marker and WCSC Broadcast.
Museum. Marker placed by the Sons. of the American Revo-
lution commemorates the live oak tree, known as the Lib-
erty Tree, where colonial independence was first advoca-
 ted'by'Christ0pher Gadsden in 1766, and where 10 years
later the Declaration of Independence was first heard and
applauded by South Carolinians. . Gadsden and his fellow
revolut ionaries, who led public meetings here to protest
the British Stamp Act and later the Tea Tax, called them-
' selves the "Sons of Liberty." Seeking to prevent the
tree from becoming & Patriot shrine, the British cut it
down and burned the stump, during their occupation of the
city in 1780-82. The root was later retrieved by Judge
William Johnson, who had it made into caneheads, one of
which was given to Thomas Jefferson. : 3
7 Also on the. premises is the WCSC, Inc., BroadcasR
" Museum, a collection of communications paraphernalla eﬁh
| compassing everything from the tom-tom to Telstar.

{Rosen,. 77. Leland, Charleston, Crossroads of History,
21-22, 129, Walsh, Sons of Liberty, 31-32, 40, 46, A8,
50, 87, 98, 116. Johnson, Traditions, 35. MCCrady,
2:589-59%, 604, 652-653, 664-671, 679~680.)

e
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126 ‘Alexander St. -- The three story brick bulldlng, with its
_two story auxiliary building to the rear, fa01ng on Chapel
Street, were built c. 1867 by Cordt Dleckhoff, a German-
. . born grocer. Dieckhoff purchased the vacant site in 1866,
A three story frame house, previously on the_slte; had -
been destroyed by a fire caused by the explosion and
‘burning of the Northeastern Rail Road Depot, across the
street at Chapel and East Bay streets, during the Confed~
erate evacuation of the city in 1865, 1In Februafy 1867,
Dieckhoff obtained a building loan from the City of
Charleston, under the "Ordinance to aid in Rebuilding the
Burnt Districts and Waste Places of the City," adopted
~ in 1866. Dieckhoff built the main building as his store
and residence, and the two story rear_building as an.out-
| building or tenemento' After 1882, the small one-story
frame house was added to the year yard, as a tenement.
(Stockton. unpub. MS, )

153 ‘Al exander St. -- Memorial Baptist Church. Black members
of the First: Baptist Church purchased this site for a
‘burial ground in 1818. After the Civil War, the black
Baptists separated in a friendly from the white members
of the Fiﬁst Baptist Church, and in 1868, the burial
ground was transferred to them. A new congregation was
formed in 1886 and the present building of frame (since
bricked over) was built. (Legerton, 124-125,) =~ LP

America Street

America Street forms the backbone of the historic
suburb of Hampstead, which was laid out for Henry laurens
in 1789. (Stoney, This is Charleston, 128-129,)

52 Amerlca St. -- John S. Bee. teller of the Bank of the State_
of South Carolina, built this two story wooden house as
his home, c. 1853. (Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 5, 1979)

- e P e
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54 Amerlca St. -- This two story wooden single house was built,

/\./'

" or pos31b1y moved to this site, between 1845 and 1848,
V'by'Robert W. Disher. The style of the interior 1s old-
~ fashioned for the 1840s, leading to speculation that it

was moved from another locatlonn_ (Stocktoh, DYKYC,"NOVu

5, 1979 )

Amherst Street

2 Amherst 8t. -- "Presqu'ile,” (pronounced Presk-eel), the

French phrase for penlnsula, is the name of this house

because, when it was built between 1802 and 1808, it stood
t'on a finger of high ground progectlng into the Cooper

River marshes; whlch have been filled since thenu Jacob

~ Belser, a planter and attorney of German descent, and
‘state serator in 1812-15, built "Presqu'ile” as a sub-

- urban villa. It has been speculated that the house may
~'have been designed by Gabriel Maﬁigault, who is: credited

with introducing the Adamesque style to Charleston. The
interior has fine Adamesque decorations, all of carved

-wood, and a spiral stair. The house shows French influ-

ence in its plan, which is similar to that of French

 _pavillions of the 18th century, with which Manigault,

who traveled in France as a youth, would have been famil-
iar. There is a single room on each of the first floors
and two on the third, in the main, older portion of the
house. The stair is relegated to a semicircular bay in
the rear . In 1840, the preperty was acquired by Hemry
Grimke, a planter also of German descent. He was a son

of Judge John F. Grimkezand a brother of Sarah and Angel -
" ina Grimke, the famous abolitionists. Grimke added the

square, three story rear wing, in the Greek Revival style.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 3, 1979. Ravenel, Architects, 62.

Ravenel,  DYKYC, Dec. 29, 1941. Stoney, unpub. MS., LSC.
Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 15, 1968.)

.
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! \Q;;v 42 Amherst St. -- This small two story wooden house with a pan B..
T tile roof was built after 1818 by James Brown, a "free
person-of color.”. (Stockton, unpub. notes.)

68 Amherst Stu -- The house, which'haS'two'and one-half stories
' of wood on a hlgh brick: basement , was- probably built by
Thomas Winstanley, an attorney; who purchased the site
in 1792, The house is in the Federal style with some
conservative Georgian features. Benjamin Elfe, a car-
penter and planter, lived here in 1807. (Stockton,
DYKYC, Aug. 15, 1977.) A

Ann Street

Ann Street was laid out_in‘lSOl as one of the streets
of Wraggborough. It was named for Ann Wragg (l?31~1806);
daughter of Jbseph Wragg, and wife of Gen. Christopher Gads-

A den.  ("Streets of Charleston.'" Stockton, unpub. notes.)

23 Ann Street -- also known as 36 John St. -- This one story
' brick frelght depot was: built by the. South Carolina Rall
__'Roado The date of constructilon,: 1859, appears 1in the
keystone. - (Stockton, unpub. MS.)

£.

29-31 Ann St. -- Camden Depot gates. The South Carolina Rail
‘Road completed the Camden Depot complex in 1849-50. De-
signed by Charleston architect Edward C. Jones, the Cam-
den Depot consisted of two pair of crenéllated Gothic .-
Revival gates, one pair fronting on Ann Street and one
pair fronting on John Street, with single story brick
frelght depots stretching between themo The Tower De-
pot at 37 John St. was built at the same time as a pas-
senger station. The one story brick freight depots were
severely damaged by the 1886 earthquake and were rebuilt

- in wood, and subseguently tin-clad. At'some point, the

A
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- gates on the John Street end were demolished. Camden
Depot was possibly named for the Camden Branch of the
South Caroiina Rail Road, which opened between Columbia
and Camden in 1848. (Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 21, 1983.)

40 Ann St. =-- South Carolina Rail Road Company freight ware-

house or depot. On the cast iron keystone of each arch
over the doorways. a palmetto tree stands _undér the en-
circling initials "S.C.R.R."™ and beneath is.the date -

1857.. The building, with its brick pilasters and rose
windows in the end gables, is similar in style and con-

L\ struction with the S.C.R.R. freigh‘t depot at 23 &Ann.

. {Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 21, 1983.)

Anson Street

Anson Street, laid out in 1745-46 as part of the suburb
of Ansonborough, origimally extended between George and Cen-

“turion _(now part of Society) streets. Scarborough Street,

named for one of ITord Anson's ships, ran from George to Boun-
dary (Calhoun) Street. To the south, Quince (named for Parker
Quince, husband of Susannah Rhett), ran from Centurion to
Pinckney, through Rhettsbury, -and Charles Street (named for
Charles Pinckney) ran from Pinckney to Market, through Col-
leton Square. By city ordinance, in 1805, Charles, Quince

and Scarborough streets became part of Anson Street. ("Streets
of-Charleston.“t_Cdurier, August-29, 1868.) | |

11-25 Anson St. -- Goldsmi"t'-g‘;_'s Row, a group-of single houses
built as tenements in 1"8914»-by Isaac & . Goldsmith, a den-

- tist, industrialist and real estate investor. The houses -

were initially inhabited by Irish, German and Jewish fam-
ilies., In 1788, there were distilleries on this site. °
(Stockton, DYKYC, May 28, 1973. "Ichnography,” 1788.)
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| 2? Anson St., -- The Palmetto Fire Company Hall, built in 1850

for a volunteer flreflghtlng unit, was designed by archi-
~tect Edward C. Jones. The two story stuccoed brick build-
" 'ing is in the Italianate style. The building was convert-
ed into apartments in the 1940s, at which time the large
.entrancé'for'the fire engine, in the center of the faeade,
was changed to palred windows. (Sfockton,'ﬂgg; May 16,
19733 Ravenel, Architects, 208, 213.) R _
BOAAnson St. -~ Greek Revival single house built after the 1838
fire by Edward McCrady, ‘Signer of the Ordinanice of Seces-
sion, U.S5. District Attorney & S.C. leglslator. (Greene, SCHS)

jb.Anson.Sto -- Thig three story brick house was built by the

widowed Mrs. Mary H. Lammeau (pronounced La~new) about
1848, The Philadelphia red brick was not common in the .
" city at the time; most buildings were constructed of the
local "orey" brick. (Historic'Charleston'Foundationa)

bs Anson.St. -- This two story brick double outbulldlng was

probably built after the great fire of 1838 and served
"~ a double tenement whlch stood at the street line and
‘has been demolished. It was probably built for Nathan-
~ iel Hunt and his wife Ann. (Stockton, DYKYC, July 235,
1977.) | o |
46‘Anson St. -- Thomas Wallace, a dry goods merchant, bullt
~ this brlck complex before 1853,‘ Becausge of the shallow
‘depth of the lot, the house and outbuildings are built .
in a "U" shape. (Thomas, DYKYC, Feb. 8, 1971.)

50 Anson St. -- Martin Dowd g tenement, a two story-brick
structure, was built c. 1845. ({Historic Charleston
Foundation. ) - | ¢

53 Anson St. -~ This two story brick house in the Greek Re-
vival style was built c. 1843 by W1lllam Thompson. (His-
toric Charleston Foundation.) ' -

| 58eAnson St. -- This two and one-half stdry brick house, with

its unusual ell, was built by 1851 by Robert Venning, a
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factor. Placement of the outbuilding in this manner was
made necesSary by the shallowness of the lot. The house
is one of several in the neighborhood built by the Ven-
‘ning family, a clan of planters in Christ'Church_Parish.
| (Thomas, DYKYC, Nov. 9, 1970.) |

.60 Anson Ste -- The three story brick store and re81dence.

' built L- shaped due to the constricted lot, was built
Co 1851 by R. M. Vennlng, a planter. It has ‘been con-
verted into a large residence. (Historic Charleston
Foundation.) | ' R '

‘ 63 & 65 Anson St. -- Two small brick outbulldlngs built by

Mrs. Susan Robinson as dependen01es of 48 Society St.,.
after the great fire of 1838. (Historic Charleston
Foundation)

. 66 Anson St. -- ‘Built in 1839. the three story brick house

__had been-attrlbuted_to Ir. J. P« Chazal, but apparently
was built by his mother, Mrs. Elizabeth C. Chazal, Her
| receipt book showing periodié payments for labor and ma-
‘terials while the house was under congtruction, is still
. in existence. The Chazals were a Santo Domingan family
who came to Charleston iﬁpl794.as refugees from the slave
revolution on that Caribbean island. Mrs. Chazal was the
widow of Jean Pierre Chazal, captain of the privateer
Saucy Jack, which captured some 40 prizes in the War of
1812. Dr. Chazal, dean of the Medical College of South
Carolina in 1877-82, also lived. in the house., The Phil-
~adelphia red brick, and the brick'piazza columns, are
unusual features. (Thomas, DYKYC, Oct. 12, 1970.)

67 Anson St. -- St. 'Stephen's Episcopal Church, was built,
and probably désigned,'by Henry Horlbeck and a relative,
E. Horlbeck, of the famous family of builders and archi-
tects. Bricks for the structure possibly came from the
Horlbeck brickyard at Boone Hall Plantation. The chapei
‘was built in 1835-36 for E@iscopal'Church_mémbers who
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_could not afford to purchase pews, as was then the cus-
tom. The building eecaped the great fire of 1838, which
devastated the area to the south of the chapel. This

_ bulldlng replaced a prev10us Sto Stephen s Chapel which

~was built on Guignard Street in 1823- 24 by dJohn Gordon,

'  bu1lder and p0581b1e archltectu The flrst S'tu Stephen S
sald to have been the flrst Eplscopal church. 1n the Unlted

States in which Pews were free, was destroyed by fire in
1835. The present stuccoed brick building is in a Clas-
sic Revival style, with pilasters separating the bays on

~ the front and sides and blind Roman arches on the facade.

3The gaileried interior is very simple@ (Ravenel Archi-

‘tects, 102, 148-149, Legerton, 20-21. Stoney, Thls is
Charleston, 2.) '

71 Anson St. —- Thomas Doughty built this house, c. 1806, on
land which his wife Mary inherited from'her-father; Dan-
iel Legare, who built the older house at 79 Anson St. -

- Adamesque in sfyle} the house has finely detalled wood-
work. The exterior features a gabled pavilion on the.

gar den side, around which the piazza continues. Barogque
cresting in brick over the pilazza entrance is designed
to mask the shed roof of the piazza. The property was
restored:in 1959, the first in the Ansonborough Rehabil -
itation Project. (Historic Charleston Foundatlon.
Stoney, unpub. notes, L3C.)

72 Anson St. ~- The Benjamin Simons Neufville House was built |
c. 1846. This handsomely proportioned house, two.and
one-hal f stories on a high basement, with piazza over-
looking a large garden, has notable Greek Revival in-

teriors. The Neufville family is of Huguenot descent.
This property remained in the family until 1904,
(Thomas, DYKYC, Nov. 21, 1970.) :

?4 Anson Stn — Mlchael Foucout's House, bullt c. 1812, a

two.and one-half story frame 51ngle house, was moved by




Historic Charleston Foundation from the area cleared for
' the Gaillard Municipal Auditorium in 1967. (Historic
“Charleston Foundation.)
5 Anson St. -- Joseph Legare built thls two and one—half
story wooden slngle house, on a high brick basement, c.
1800, This building was called the "white elephant”
‘of the Ansonborough Rehabilitation Project because, for
a decade, a buyer could not be found for the large,
white-painted house and its exten31ve line of outbuild-
ings. After the property was purchased and restored in
1974, the owner had the house painted "elephant grey."”
The restoration project included the removal of a third
'Tstory which had been added C. 1838, replacement of the
‘original hip roof, and the complete rebuilding of one
of ‘the outbuildings., The curving iron-railed stair to
the piazza entrance was added c. 1838 by Benjamiﬁ'J,
Howland. (Stockton, N&C, Dec. 26, 1974. Historic
Charleston Foundation. Stoney, This is Charleston, 2.)
79 Anson St. -- Begun before 1760 by DeRniel Crawford, the
house was completed after 1760 by Daniel Legare, a plan-
ter in Chrlst Church Parish. The house, which has two
stories of wood on a high brick basement, apparently is

" the oldest surv1v1ng in the colonial suburb of Ansonbo-
rough, which was bounded by present-day Anson, Calhoun,
King and Society streets. (Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 18, 1971,
Isabella G. Leland, DYKYC, Jan. 13, 1958. Stoney, This
is Charleston, 2.) ' o

- 82 Anson St. -- Josiah Smith, Jr., merchant, who had his own
‘house at 7 Meeting St., built this brick house c. 1799

- for his spinster daughter, Miss Mary Smith. It remained
in the family until 1869. The large brick house was
moved'approximately 100”feét in 1967 to permit the ex-’
tension of George Street from Anson to East Bay when the
Gaillard Auditorium was built. It was restored by His-
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toric Charleston Foundation, which brought the piazza
from the Blake House, 321 East Bay. The house has fine
_ ~Federal period interiors.  (Thomas, DYKYC, Nov.: 30, 1970)
' 89 Anson St. -- St. 'JOSGPh'S'SChOOl-. This’small‘board—and'bat-
ten wood structure was built in 1887, when the school was
begun. (Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 11, 1973. )
'9lfAnson'Stu_—— Former St. Joseph s Rectory. The nght Revu-
' Patridk'Na'Lynch, Bishop of Charleston, took refuge
here after the Cathdlic BiShop'S'residence'on Broad
‘Street was destroyed in the great fire of 1861, (Stockton,
DYKYC, Nov. 11, 1973. 0'Connell, 157.)
'93 Anson Stn -~ St John's Reformed Eplscopal Churchn Built
in 1850 thls small stuccoed brlck Gothic Revival struc-
ture first served as the Anson Street Chapel, for black
Presbyterians. In 1861, it became St. Joseph's Roman
Catholic Church. St. Joseph's was known as *The Church
of the Irish,” as it served & large number of parlshlonerS'
‘of Irish origin who had settled in the area. The church
" was struck by shells several times during the Federal
bombardﬁent of the city, 1863-65, and badly damaged. It
was repalred after the war and almost completely rebuilt
in 1883, when it galned its present cruciform shape with
the addition o f the chancel and transcepts. After a great'
decrease in membershlp, the church was closed in 1965
‘and a new St. Joseph's was erected at 1698 Wallenberg
Blvd. In 1971, St. John's Reformed Episcopal Church
bought and restored the property for the use of its
congregation. (Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 19, 1973. Leger ton,
68-69. 0'Connell, 157.) B 20

Archdale Street

Archdale Street was named for JohniArchdale, a
Quaker, who was Governor of the Province of Carolima
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in 1695-1696. Archdale was a man-of "character and ability,”

who introduced a series of important and beneficial laws, and

" and whose brief time in office was characterized by "modera-
- tion, respect for the rights of all parties, firmness and the

allaying of prejudices by the gentleness of steady toleration.™

7-_(Wallace, 52 -54,)

3 Archdale St. -- Mrs. Elizabeth Fullerton's Kitchen. This
smail two story brick structure, attached to the rear
of a‘later'building, was built before 1821 by Mrs. Ful-
lerton as an outbuilding to her house, which faced Queen’
Street. The main house was destroyed by the great fire

- of 1861, but this brick kitchen survived. The present
house at 110 Queen St. was built in 1912 by Mrs. George-
arm Williams. (Greene, unpub. MS, SCHS.) | |

L Archdale St. -~ Gage Hall, a two story brlck Vlctorlan build-
ing, was presented to the Unitarian Church by Alva Gage,

. & merchant, in 18930_ It was designed as an assembly room
with living quarters for the mlnlster on the second floor.
(Leger ton, 77.) :

6 Archdale St. -- Unitarian Church. Construction of this
building began in 1772 and was interrupted by the Revo-
lution. It is said.that British soldiers stabled their

. horses in the incomplete building. It was completed and
dedicated in 1787. The church originally was built to
house the overflow of the Independent‘orrCengregational
Church on Meeting Street. The two churches constituted
one corporate body served by two pastors who alternated
between the two pulpits, preaching the same sermon to
both congregations. The congregation of the Archdale
Street church was chartered in 1817 as the Second Inde-
pendent Church, with a Unitarian minister, the Rev. An-
thony Forster. The congregation was rechartered in 1839
as the Unitarian Church in Charleston, and is_the oldest
Unitarian Church in the South.  Dr. Samuel Gilman was:




81

'pastor from 1819 to 1858. A New Englander -and Harvard
University alumnus, he wrote:his,alma mater 's anthem,

- "Fair Harvard.” His wife, Caroline Gilman, published

~and edited The Rosebud, the first child's newspaper in
the country. - She is said to have laid out the formal gar- -
den on the south side of the church. Both are buried.

~ in the chur'chyarda The church was ext ensivel'y:-remod_éle-d

Cin the Perpendicular Gothic style in 1852-54% by Francis .

. D. Lee. "4 certain degree of reverence for the old walls,"
according to the Courier, induced the congregation to
retain them and adapt them to the new style. Lee atten-
uated the windows with ‘Gothic arches, added buttresses
and made the tower "more lofty and impo-s-irig," in his |

- own words. For the interior, he drew. his inspiration

- from the fan—-'tracery vaulting and pendants of the Henry
VII Chapel at Westminster. Lee's vaulting is not struc-
tural, however, but constructed of lath and plaster.

The building: suffered .severe damage in the earthquake of

/1886, and was restored with contributions from Unitarians

- throughout th_é country.

, (Ravenel, Architects, 220, 222-223., Legerton, 76-78,
Severens, Southern Architecture, 142-143, , "Archi-
tectural Taste,™ 7. Mazyck & Waddell, 20, illus. 37.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 2.) .

10 Archdale St. -- St. John's Lutheran Church is Charlleston's

- . 0ldest Lutheran congregation.. Lutheranism in the ‘ci_ty'
is documented as early as 1734, when, on May 26, the Rev.:
John Mar+tin Bolzius, pastor of a company of Salz.burgef_s
en route tc Ebeneazer, Ga., held a communion service in
an inn. In 1742, the Rev. Henry Melechoir Muhlenburg,
from Germany, ministered to Lutherans in Charles Town.
By 1752, a Lutheran congregation had been organized,
‘under the Rev. John George Fredericks. ‘The congregation
worshipped at various places including the Huguenot

- Church, until their first building was begun in 1759 and
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-dedicated inrl?ého- This wooden structure stood to the

rear of the present structure, approximately where the
parish house stands on Clifford Street. Conseguently,

.Clifford Street, in 1788, was known as "Dutch Church
- Alley." During the Revolution, the Lutheran pastor, ‘the
‘Rev. John Nicholas Martin, refused to pray for the King

of England. He was expelled from the city'and'hiS'prop— *_
erty was confiscated by the Britisha His_succeséor, the
Rev. Christian Streit, was taken prisoner by the Brit-
ish. Dr. John Bachman, a native of Rhinebeck, N.Y.,

" became pastor in 1815.  Under his direction,: the present.

structure was erected in 1816-18. The building is
thought to have been designed by Frederick Wesner (1788-.

'1848), a Charleston architect of German descent who de-
 signed the 01d Citadel and other landmarks. It is known
“that Wesner had the contract for the wooden portions of

the building. John Horlbeck, Jr., and Henry Horlbeck had

‘the contract for the brickworks The pulpit was. donated
by the cabinetmaker, Jacob Sass (it was altered in 1859).

The tall iron gates and fence were designed by Wesner's
brother in law, Abraham P. Reeves (1791-1832), an. archi-
tect and memberIOf the congregation, and the ironwork
was executed by Jacob S. Roh in 1822. When built, the
church had no steeple. Charles Fraser (1782-1860), the

- famous miniaturist, drew a plan for a steeple resembling

that of St. Michael's, in 1835, but it was never built.
Fraser is also said to have presented a steeple design

~in 1843, which was adopted, but never built. It is not

clear whether the present steeple,:erected in 1859, was
designed by him. The contractor was David Lopez, who
also built Temple Beth Elohim and other structures. Dur-

ing the Civil War, the church records which could have

resolved this mystery were lest, and never found. The stee-

" ple is in the Italianate style, and has a bell shaped

roof similar to that of the steeple of the first St.
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-John's. The church-ﬁas damaged by the 1886 earthquake
 'and-by the 1893 hurr icane. -The recessed chancel with its
-memorial windows was -added 1n 1896 Dr° Bachman, who con-
tinued as pastor until 1874, was a v1gorous theological
leader and scientist. As a theologian, he led the organ~
‘ization of the South Carolina Lutheran Synod, the Lu-
~theran ‘Theological Southern Seminary-and Newberry Col-
lege, and trained the first black ministers in Lutheran-
jsm. As a scientist, he collaborated with John James
-Audubon  on the famous books, Birds of America and‘EQg
Quadrupeds of North America, Two of Audubon's sons
married two of Dr. Bachman's daughtersa Dr. Bachman,
';though reluctant to see South Carollna secede from the

Union, was conv1nced the Southern cause was just and made
_the opening prayer at the Secession Convention. Members
of S$t. John's have included Ernest F. Hollings, governor
of South Carolima, U.S. Senator and Presidential candidate.’
~Frederick Wesner, who was a member of City Council, Captaln
'-._ of the Municipal Guards and Master of the Work House, as
well as an architect, bullder and planter in St. Jameé,
Goose Creek, Parish, is buried in the churchyard, as is
John Adam Horlbeck (1729-1812), one of the contractors
of the Exchange Building. '

(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 1, 1979. Ravenel, Architects,
48, 137-146, 162, 165 Legerton, 38-39. Deas, 22, 30,
Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 146, 148,
Mazyck & Waddell, 20, illus. 37. Charleston Mercury,
June 20, 1859)

16 Archdale St. -- Henry Viohl, a German grocer, built this
twostory frame single 'house in 1882 as a rental unit. .
Viohl, who lived at 34 Tradd St., was a native of Hanover,
Germany. He came to Charleston as a young man and entered
the grocery business in the 1860s. Prospering in that
area,'he was able to invest surplus funds in rental prop-
erty, which he both bought and built. (Stockton, umnpub.
MS. ) |
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19 Archdale St. -- Philip Porcher House. A planter in St.
Stephen's Parish, Santee, Porcher (pronounced Por-shay)
“was a Patriot at the beginning of the Revolution and
- loaned the South Carolina goverrment a substantial amount
‘of money. When the British overran the state in 1780,

- however,. Porcher became a Tory. After the Revolution his
real estate was confiscated by the South Carolina author-
ities, but it was returned to him after influential

friends testified to his "universal good character.”
The site of the house was one of the lots of the Mazyck
Lands, acquired by Isaac Mazyck in 1712 and partitioned
among his heirs in 1742, Porcher's wife, Mary, a daugh-
ter of Isaac Mazyck II, acquired the lot in 1765, A‘@gi
zette advertisement in 1773 referred to "Philip POrqher,"
Esg.’s new House,"” in Archdale Street. The two story
- frame, hip-roofed house has fine Georgian paneling in
- geveral rooms. It remained in the Porcher family until
1835. The next owner, Augustus Theodore Gaillard, pos-
‘sibly added the Regency period features in the interior:
'rwidé folding doors between the two drawing rooms and
double doors under a large fanlight between the large
- drawing room and stairhall. The one story piazza on
the south side was also a later addition. The front
entrance and steps were restored recently to their orig-
inal location. & photograph taken c. 1865 shdws.the;
house with the weatherboards painted white, or white-
washed. (Stoney, Charleston's Historic Houses, 1950,
28-29. Nielsen, DYKYC, May 24, 1937.)
21 &-23 Archdale St. -- Constructed by Dr. Samuel Wilson,
- the two tall brick Adamesque single houses were built
sometime after 1804, one land acquired by his marriage

. with Catherine Marian Mazyck, one of the heirs to the
Mazyck Lands. Dr. Wilson had completed at least one of
the houses by 1808, when he and his sons Drs. Isaac M.




" Wilson and Stephen Wilson, were living on Archdale, cor-.
ner of Magazine. Both houses are mentioned in Dr, Wil-
son's will in 1823, ' He devised to his son Dr. Isaac M.
Wilson the corner house, where he was then living, and

- to his son Dr., Stephen Wilson, the adjacent house. The
- two houses, built of Charleston grey brick laid in Flem-

- ish bohd,'differ“in detailss Both have fine Adamesque

j'interiorsu' The Greek Revival piazza on No. 21 is an

" obvious addition.  (Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 1, 1977,
'Stoney, This is Charleston, 3-4.)

25 Archdale St. -- This unassuming two story frame house re-
veals none of the romance of blockade running, although
it bullder was engaged in that activity during the Civ-
il wWar. ‘Jacob Francis, a native of Austria, came to
- Charleston at the age of 23, in 1858, as a mariner. Dur-

ing the War, he took great risks to run supplies, badly
needed by the Confederacy, through the Union blockade.
After the war, he continued to captain his sloop in the
coastal rice trade. Francis bought the then-vacant lot.
from the German Friendly Society in 1884 and built the
present single house by 1886, Capt. Francis died in
1903, on his sloop in the Stono River. This property
remained .in his family until 1964. (Stockton, DYKYC,
June 20, 1977.) -

2? Archdale St. -- Site of the German.Frlendly Society Hall.
The Society, organized in 1766 as a benevolent society,
built a handsome hall here in '1801. The first president
of the Society, Michael Kalteisen, participated in the
cornerstone laying and later was buried in front of the

- hally subsequently, hoWever, the remains were moved to
Bethany Cemetery.  The hall was built by John Horlbeck,
Jr. (1771-1846) and Henry Horlbeck (1776-1837), master-
builders who both served as president of the Society.
They were sons of John Adam Horlbeck (1729-1812), one
of the dontractors of the Exchange Building, 1767-71.
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' After the dedication bamuet on Dec. 16, 1801, members
- complained about the difficulty of transporting food

from elsewhere. It was resolved to build a kitchen for

~the hall, and with Germanic practicality, it was decided

to combine it with a rental residence. The kitchen/res-

" idence, also built by the Horlbeck brothers, was completed
by September 1802, When a desirable tenant was not found,

it was decided to house the schoolmaster of the Society's
school, then being organized. The school, which occupied
a room in the hall, was remérk&ble for its supply of

scientific apparatus and for the fact that girls as well
-as. boys were taught its uses The hall was the scene of

many sumptuous dinners as well as meetings, and the So-
ciety's guests included the Duke of Saxe-Weimar Elsenach,
who visited in 1825 and was made an honorary menmber. The

~hall wag shelled during the Pederal bombardment of. the

city and on Sept. 17, 1864, a fire, believed to have been
started by a Federal shell, destroyed the hall and several
other buildings in the neighborhood. The two story brick.
kitchen/schoolmaster's residence, however, survived and
sti1ll occupies the middle of the lot. In 1866, the So-
ciety decided not to rebuild the hall, but to find a

"more suitable” location (a decade earlier, the neighbor--
hood had begun to turn into a bordello district, and re-
-mained_so until World War II), The Society retained this
property until 1908, however. The Society's hall is now.

" at 29 Chalmers St. The two story frame building which

stands on the site of the Society's Hall was -built c. 1912
-by'Patrick F. Murray as a store and residence, for rental
purposes. (Stockton, unpub. MS. ‘ : , DYKYC, Aug.

29, 1977. Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys,

146. Ravenel, Architects, 147.)

29 Archdale. St. -- The small two story brick house, w1th its

even tinier outbulldlng, was built between 1872 and 1876
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by Mrs. Amn Ross as a rental unit, replacing a house des~
troyed by fire in 1864 .(the same fire which destroyed
- the German Friendly Society Hall next door). 'The new
house was built on the foundations of the old house,
“which had been built ¢, 1835 by Mrs. Ross' brother; Rob— '
“ert F. Herry. The Ross family, who lived at 1 Meeting -
 St., and the Henry family both had connectlons-and real
estate in Charleston and Philadelphia. Mrs. Ross's
heir, her daughter Mary Jane, died in 1922, leaving such
a complex will that her estate remained unsettled for
two decades. Twenty-nine Archdale was sold from her es--
tate in 1944. (Stockton, DYKYC, June 27, 1977.)

Northwest corner, Archdale and West streets - Slte of St. An-

~drew's Presbyterian Church, built in 1814 by discontented

- members of the First (Scots) Presbyterian Churchs. In
1823 the_church.was reorganized as the Third Presbyterian
Church. The congregation moved in 1850 to Meeting Street
and became the Westminster Presbyterian. The abandoned -
Archdale Street church was destroyed a few years before
the Civil War. Title to the properfy_remained_with the
-Westminster:congregation until 1953, when the City of
Charleston purchased it for a public park. DLater, it

- was purchased by'the Episcopal Diocese of South Carolima
as part of the parking lot for Canterbury House, an Epis-
copal senior citizens' home. (Horres, CEP, May 1, 1969.)

40. Archdale St. -- John Henry Bulwinkle built this three story
brick structure c. 1879 as a grocery and saloon. The
building has a Gothic Revival cornice in brick. The Bul- -
winkle family specialized in grocery stores, saloons and
bakeries. (Stockton, DYKYC, Jan. 16, 1978.)

49 Archdale St. -- John Darby built this two and one-half story
brick building ¢. 1801. Iarby, a gold-and-silversmith,
later became a grocer. The facade with its stepped gablg
was applied in the early 20th century. The two story
brick kitchen is in the rear. (Stockton, DYKYC, March 3,
1978.) ‘ NG

+




88

Ashley Avenue.

Ashley Avenue was first laid out as Lynch Street, for
Thomas Lynch, in 1770, as one of the streets of the Village
of Harleston. After the Revolution, the street from Calhoun

north was called Paine or Payne., .In 1791, as it crossed
- Elllott (now Spring Street) Street, it was called Thomas. The

street from Line Street to Congress, in the Village of Washing-
ton, was called Leggare Streets In 1869, Lynch Street was ex-
téended south to Broad Street, and still later to Tradd: In
1897, the name Ashley Avenue was applled to the length of

the street. (”Streets of Charleston.”)

'55 Ashley Ave. -- Baker Memorial Hospital was built: 1n 1912 as

Baker Sanatorium, at'a cost of $100,000. The hospital
was founded in 1912 by Dr. Archibald E. Baker, Sr. of

Charleston and Dr. Lawrence Craig of Dillon. The hos-
pital left this building and construted a new building
in North Charleston in 1981, and the old hospital was
converted to = condominium complex called Baker House.
(DYKYC, June 11, 1934.} |

61 Ashley Ave. -- This small stuccoed brick single house was

built between 1803 and 1807 by Richard H. Peyton. - Ac-
cording to tradition, it was originally intended as the

© rear portion of a larger house which was never built.
This house, however, is-Well finished, with fine A damesque
‘interiors. The fine two story brigk stable and carriage-
house and impressive rear gates were built in the 1830s .
or 'bOs. The formal garden is featured in the book,

" Charleston Gardens, by Loutrel W. Briggs. (Thomas, DYKYC,
May 30, 1970. Stoney, Thig is Charleston, 4.}

- 70 Ashley Ave. -- This house, two stories of wood on a high

- brick basement, and elliptical arches on each level of
- the piaazza, ls notable architecturally and obviously dates

from the early 19th century. {(Stoney, This is Charleston,
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?5 Ashley Ave. =-- Daniel Fairchild, a brick: and lumber factor,
built the three story frame dwelling about 1830 on the_
site of present-day 79 Ashley. iradltlon_among Fairchild's

. descendants gtates that he moved the frame house When.he o
decided to build his larger brick house at the corner
site., Fairchild's first house has an ormately carved
neoclassical doorway,withulonic pilasters. and Doric col-.

~umns at the piazza entrance. The roofline, with its
Greek Revival parapet, probably represents a change from
the original appearance, which was probably a hipped or

-gable roof. (Thomas, DYKYC, June 8, 1970. Burton,
unpub. MS, Feb. 1946. .Stoney, This is Charlegton, %.)

76 Ashley Ave. -- This large. house was built c. 1855 by John
Hume Simons, a rice planter. The site was acquired by

-marriage to his cousin, Mary Hume Lucas. The two and one-
half story brick house on a hlgh brick basement was com-
fortably large for the Simonses and their eight children.
The huge double drawing rooms were used as a church by
St. Mary's Roman Catholic Church on Hasell Street during
the Federal bombardment of the city. Tradition says a
Federal shell burst over an interment in-the yard, nearly
turning thé mourner s into tThe m.ournedn The property re-
mained in the builder's family until the 1880s. The
interior is characterized by very high ceilings, louVered
ventilators over the tall doors, and marble mantels in
the Greek Revival style. (Thomas, DYKYC, Feb., 21, 1970.
Stoney, unpub. MS, 1962; ISC. Simmons, St. Mary's, 9.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 5.) _ _

79 Ashley Ave. -- DEniel Faifchild, who first built a wooden
- house on this site and moved it to 75 ﬁshley, built this
three story, stuccoed brick house sometime between_1842
~and 1850, in the then current Greek Revival style. The
- tall house has strongly molded architectural features of
~the period, including broad belt courses between floors,
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- - elongated quoinings, ornately carved trim over the arched
stair windows, a broad cornice to the gable end and
. large windows with brownstone pediments and sills. The
property remained in the family until 1908. (Thomas,
DYKYC, June 8, 1970. Burton, unpub. MS, Feb. 1946.)
90 Ashley‘Ave. -- Dr. Joseph Glover bullt, by 1838, this two
"and one-half story brick house, ona: hlgh brick basemert.
" Dr. Glover, who lived on Rutledge, built the house as a
rental unit. It was substantially remodeled in the late
19th century, in the Queen Anne style, either by the
Toale family, which owned it from 1881 to 1894 or by the
Doscher family which owned it from 1894 to 1966. Patrick
P. Toale had a lumber and building supply business in
Hayne Street and a sash'and-blind'factory in Lynch Street

.- " (now Ashley) on the present site of Moultrie Playground.

" John H. Doscher was president of the Palmetto Brewing

| Co., which was located on the present site of the First
Baptist High School gymnasium. (Stockton, DYKYC, Dec.
12, 1979.) |

91 Ashley Ave. --Mrs. Frances Carrere Robertson built, c. 1898,

this two and one—half story wooden house in the Queen
Armne style. She was the wife of James Robertson, a

':Broad Street realtor and insurance company president.

The property remained in the family until 1934, (Stock-
ton, D¥KYC, Jan. 19, 1976.)

95 Ashley AvVe. -- Mayor William Ashmead Courtenay's residence.

Courtenmay (1831-1908) was mayor of Charleston from 1879
to 1887. He used his business expertise to professionalize
the city_administratibn and made many permanent improve-

: ments, including the paving of major streets, such as King
and Meeting streets, for the first time. His home was '
an older single house which was remodeled in the Queen
Anne style, sometime between 1883 and 1893. (Macyck &
Waddell, illus. 2, 71. Archer, 7. News & Courier, Sept.
1, 1882; Sept. 2, 1883.) | '
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.- 96 Ashley Avenue -- Theodore Gaillard, Jr., a factor and plant-
' er, bought the site in-1803 and completed this house by
1816. The large two and one-half story wooden house has
unusual fenestration in the front gable. The piazza en-
- trance is recessed one bay to accommodate the front steps..
The interior has: fine woodwork and plasterwork .of the
‘Regency period, c¢. 1816. Dr. willis_Wilkinson'bought.the
-house in 1825. His two daughters, Mary and Sarah, both
married Christopher Augustus Memminger, Confederate Sec-
retary of the Treasury. According to tradition, Mem- '
~minger fell in love with the second sister during their
joint visits to the grave of the first. By way of pro-
posal, Memminger -said to her, "Will_you accompany me to
the grave?" Thinking he meant her sister’s_grave,_the:
young lady replied, "Yes." The mistake was later re-
solved, however, and the couple were happilyfmarriedo_
(Stockton, DYKYC, April 28,j19800. Stoney, Thig is Charleg;
ton, 5.) '
lO? Ashley Ave. -- This large. three and one-half’ story frame
house on a high brick basement was built c. 1829 by
Thomas Corbett, a planter, on land which his wife, the
former Elizabeth Harleston, inherited from her father
John Harleston. The interior features a graceful wind-
ing stair, in the north projection. - (Burton, unpub.
notes; CCL.) ' '
113 Ashley Ave. -- Bullt c. 1800 by Gov. Thomas Bernett,
this two and one-half story frame house on a high brick
basement was sold in 1825 to Mrs. Susan McElhenny, whose
daughter married Paul Hamilton Hayne Their son, Paul
Hamilton Hayne, the noted poet, was born here in 1830,
The house has interesting Adamesque woodwork, especially
in the spacious stairhall. (Preservation Society Marker.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 6.)




- 139 Ashley Ave. -- This small two- and one-half story, stuccoed
' " brick single house has terra cotta cornices over its win-
dows. It was built by Edward Sebring, president of the
- State Bank of South Carolina, who'also built and lived
in the large residence at 268 Calhoun Street, to the
south' of this house. Sebring probably built this house
as a tenement, after he purchased the site in 1836.°
(Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 21, 1977. Stoney, This is
‘Charleston, 6.)
l?l'Ashley_Avesr-— U.S. Arsenal and Porter Academy Buildings,
Medical University of South Carolina. The Uhited.States
- Arsenal was built here in 1844, with a main building de~-.
- signed by-Charlésfdn architect Edward Brickell White,
'~ who may alsoc have designed the auxiliary buildings. The
" main building was demolished after the Medical College
of South Carolina bought the property in 1963, but two
" arsermal buildings remain in the northeast corner of the
Medical University campus. They are St. Luke's-chapél
(2 remodeled artillery shed) and Colcock Hall, a two story
brick building with a clerestory roof. The arsenal was
occupied By South Carolina troops on Dec. 30, 1860, ten
days after the adoption of the Ordinance of Secession.

It was an important prize for the Confederacy because it
contained nearly 18,000 muskets, about 3,400 rifles,
more than 1,000 pistols, and several-large pieces of ord-
" nance, including five 24-pound field howitzers -- arms
énough'to equip three divisions. The arsenal was reoc-
cupied in 1865 by Federal troops who remained until all
- ‘occupying troops were withdrawn from South Carolina in
- 1879. The abandoned arsenal was leased by the Federal
‘government in 1879 to the Rev. A. Toomer Porter for 99
years at $1.00 a year, for the use of the Holy Communion
Church Institute. Ten years later;, title o the proper-
ty was conveyed to the school. The Holy Communion Church




‘Institute occupied the'prdpértyﬂin 1880, The school,

founded by Dr. Porter in 1867, was renamed the Porter
Academy in 1886 and subsequently called Porter Military

'Academy,' In 1883, to. provide the school with-a chapel,
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Dr. Porter removed the roof of the large artillery shed, .

raised the walls four feet, put a Gothic roof on it and

"1nserted stalned glass w1ndows.':The filled-in arCheda
openlngs of the former gun shed can still be’ seen. The.

chapel was first called St. Timothy® s_and, after the

‘acquisition by the Medical College, was renamed St.
~ Luke's, for the patron of healing. The chapel is non-

sectarian. Colcock Hall, the other remaining arsenal

 _bu1ld1ng, is named for Charles J. Colcock, who became

headmaster in 1890 and rector of the school in 1902 |
when Dr. Porter died. Dr. Porter also built several
bulldlngs, of which the only remaining is the crenellated
Gothic library building, also in the northeast corner of
the cémPUS. The 11brary, a gift of the Rev. Charles

New York, was designed by the New York architectural
firm, J. B. Snooks & Co., and built in 1893-94. The
design is octagonal, with square reading rooms in the

'angles of the octagon. The'bﬁilding now houses the
Waring Historical Library, named for Dr. Joseph I. War-

ing, Medical University professor and medical historian.

A later building behind the Waring Historical Library

houses the Macaulay Museum of Dental History. Porter

" Military Academy merged in 1963 with the Gaud School and

the Watt School to form Porter-Gaud School, which has

_ been located on Albemarle Road since 1963.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 24, 1970. Ravenel, Archi-
tects, 189, 192. Legerton, 30-31. Rhett & Steel, 88-89.
Burton, Siege of Charleston, 5, 8, 15, 320, 322 Por-
ter, Led Ono, i-1ii, 340-368, 340-434.) :

Frederick Hoffman, rector of 811 Angels Episcopal Church,



'1?8_Ashley_Aveu -- This outstanding Greek Revival mansion was
built ¢, 1850 by John Hume Lucas, a wealthy planter. The
housé has two stories of wood on a rusticated masonry -

~bagsement. The columns of the front portico and the

- gilant order columns of the piazza have Tower of the
Winds capitals, a form of Greek Corinthiah. which was
very pbpular with Charleston architects_and.bﬁilderso
The house also has rich plasterwork and woodwork of the

' périod, in the interior. The house was donated by Miss
Margaret Wickliffe of West Union, S.C., to the Health
‘Sciences Foundation of the Medical University of South

- Carolina, and résforéd in 1977 as the faculty house.

- (Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 8, 1977. Waddell, "Introduction

. of Greek Revival,™ 7. Whiffin, L2,) |

192 Ashley Ave. -- Built c. 1859-61 by.fhe Wickenberg family, .

this two and one-half story house of stuccoed brick, on

~a high basement of stuccoed brick, is in the Italianate
style, with elaborate window cornices and door hood,

- a palladian windew in the front gable and quoins on the

- corners. A tradition in the Wickenberg family says that
Gen. Pierre G. T. Beauregard, the Confederate commander,
had his'headquarters here during the siegé of Charleston.
The tradition, however, has not been supported by exist-
ing documemtation. (Sparkman, “Beauregard‘’s Headguarters.”
‘Stoney, This is Charleston, 6.)

209 Ashley Ave, -- Built before 1830, this notable w@oden res- .
idence, on a high brick basement, has unusual cﬁrving

- bays and semicircular piazzas. (Stoney, This is Charles-
ton, 7.) | | | |
216 Ashley Ave. -- Thomas R. Waring, cashier of the Bank of
. the State of South Carolina; built this two and one-half
"stbry wooden hoase, on a brick basement, c; 1853. It
remained in his family until 1881. The Italianate style
popular in the 1850s was characterized'by bracketted cor-
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nices, arched openings such as those on the piazza. The
1_entrance portico has wood columns with cast iron capitals
1n the Tower of the Winds ver51on of the Greek Corinthian
ordern~ The house has a typloal mid- l9th century town
~ house plan, with a hall on one side 'and the main rooms
-on the Othern_eThe'plan.is,localized by the presence of
~the piazza on the south side. The interior retains fine:
woo dwork and‘plasterwork'of the period.
(Stockton, DYKYC, July 6, 1981.) R
| 217 Ashley Ave. ~-- This notable antebellum house has two stor -
' 1es of wood on a raised basement three-sided bays on
either side andra two-tiered piazza with a Greek Revival
style parapet roofline. | ' |
(Stoney, ThlS is Charleston, 7. ) :
218.Ashley Ave, =- Church of the Holy Communion (EplSCOpal)
The congregatlon was organized in 1848 in the home of
the Rev. Nathaniel Bowen. The Rev. Anthony Toomer Por-
ter became pastor in 1854, when the members met for ser-
vices in a room in the United States Arsenal, at Ashley
and Bee... Charleston architects Edward C. Jones and Fran-
cis D. Lee designed the structure, which was completed
in 1855. The church was enlarged and remodeled in 1871,
following the plan of Dr. Porter, who copied the hammer-
beam roof from Trinity Hall, Cambridge and added a re-
cess chancel and transepts. Dr. Porter's many projects
included an industrial school which provided uniforms and
camp. equipment for the Confederacy. In 1867, Dr. Porter
" founded the Holy Communion Church Institute, which later
became Porter Military Academy, now Porter-Gaud School.
- 'He also traveled North and to Europe to secure funds
- for a school for blacks and for re—opening.the theological
'seminary, Dr. Porter observed the rubrics of the Prayer
~ Book and Liturgy of the Anglican "High Church,“ and. such
-~ features as the white marble altar with a marble cross,

}Wfﬁ " candlesticks and missal stand, and vestments in liturgical

-
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colors. The church has maintained the tradition of his-
torical liturgical wdréhip which Dr. Porter instituted.
- During the Civil War, the parish house of Holy Communion
 was one of éeveral'places which Postmaster Alfred Huger
used temporarily as the Post 0ffice, due to the Federal
‘bombardment of the 1dwer part of the city. Following.

“the war, the Washlngton nght Infantry Volunteers of the. -

"Hampton Legion was organlzed here.

(Stockton, DYKYC, June 29, 19810 Portér, Led Ont!, pas-~

- gim. 4 Forty Years, passzim. ‘Legerton, 10-11.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 70}

219 Ashley Ave. -- Henry Buck. a German grocer, built the two
and one-half story wooden store and residence here in
the early 1850s. Buck was an ardent horseman who raced

- horses on Wagener's racetrack at The Grove (above pres-
ent-day Hampton Park). He was a city alderman, 1883-87
“and 1896-1901, and a commissioner of the Murray Boule-

- vard project. He died in 1902, and the family business
was continued by his son, H.W.H. Buck, who was an alder-
man, 1904-19. H.W.H. Buck died in 1923. The business
‘was continued by his son-in-law, W. Edwin Russ, to 1960,
(Charles R. Waring, Jr., CEP, Dec. 30,_1960,)

‘Atlantic Street

Sometime before 1739, Lynch's Lane was laixd out from
Meeting House Street to the Cooper River, with a width of 12
feet. By 1800, the street, from Church Street to East Bat--
tery, had been widened to 26 feet. The portion from Church

- to Meeting remained narrow and was called Lightwood Alley,

but in 1805 was again called Lynch's Lane. In 1837, the-

‘street was made of uniform width throughout the two blocks

and renamed Atlantic Street to avoid confusion with Lynch
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Street, in Harleston (now part of Ashley Avenue,)

("Streets of Charleston." Ichnography, 1739. Ichnography,
1788. Deeds, M6-488. Stockton, "The William E. Holmes House,
5 Atlantic_Street," unpuba M3, ) o

1 and 3 Atlantlc St. -- This pair of houses, both two and: one-
. half ‘stories of- wood, . with ‘gable roofs, were built c¢.
+ 1830 by_Capt ‘Benjamin Smith, a shipbuilder. They,dlffer |
‘from the usual Charleston style in that they present-five
- bays to the street, with the main entrance centered; have.
'-nOapiazzas.and have chimneys at the ends of the gable '
roofs. No. 3 was the home "and. studio of artist Ellzabeth
- 0'Neill Verner from c. 1915 -to 1937. .

(DYKYC, Feb. 3, 1933, and April 26, 19375 ) Stoney, This
is Charleston, 7.)

5 Atlantic St. -- William E. Holm’es, proprietor of William E.
Holmes & COo, a major dealer in paints, oils and diver-"
~gified other products,.w1th offices and warehouses on:

- ‘East Bay, built this house as a rental unit about 1893.
The. Colonial Revival style is two stories of wood with
a pressed metal cornice and window cornices of the ‘same
material. - The property_remaihed in Holmes® family until =
1974,

(Stockton,'"The-William-E,,Hblmes House, 5 Atlantic
Street, " unpub. MS.)

8 Atlantic St. -- This two and one-half story, hip—roofed,
' stuccoed brick house was built c¢. 1805 by_T_homas'Young°
(Green, unpub. notes.  Stoney, This is Charleston, 8.)
10 Atlantic St. -- Built c. 1769 by William Hinckley, this
house was the home of the McGllllvray and Snowden fam-
ilies for about 150 years.

(Green, unpub. notes.) . | _ 6
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Barre Street

Barre (pronounced like Barfy) Street was surveyed in

1770 as the westernmost street of the Village of Harleston,

running south to north from a Creek just below Beaufain
Street and crossing a creek just to the nerth.of Bull Street.
The street, however, was platted through marsh lands and nev-

er actually laid out. ILucas Street, located at a point be-- .

tween Barre (as platted in 1770) and Gadsden streets, and
running north from Manigault Street (as the western portion

- .of Calhoun was then called) to.Mill Street (now Sabin), was

cut through the lands of Jonathan Tucas, Sr. and Jr., mill
builders and'operatofs.' The continuation of Lucas Street
south of Calhoun into the lands of Thomas Bernett, Sr. and
Jr., was also called Lucas Street. In the mid-20th century,
when the street was continued south to Broad Street, the old
name of Barre was revived and applied to the length of the

. street., Barre Street honors Isaac Barre, a member of Parlia-

ment who, like William Pitt, sponsored the cause of the col -
onists against "taxation without representation.”

(CEO Plat Book, 54. Rogers, Charleston in the Age of
the Pinckneys, 61. Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 312,
315, 325-329. Stoney, This is Charleston, 126, 129.,)

69 Barre St. -- Gov. Thomas Bennett's House, built c. 1825

on land 1nher1ted from his father, Thomas Bemnett, Sr.
(1754-1814), the architect (Orphan House, 1792), builder
and lumberman. The senior Bemmett, in cooperation with -

'_Daniel Cannon, built and 6perated large lumber mills,
using both wind and tidal power. The mill'known as

Cannon's Lower Mill was located on Bemmnett's tract of
land. After the partnership with Cannon ended, the sen-
ior Bennett took his son into partnership, and in 1802,
the yohnger man continued the business alone. Thomas
Bennett, Jr. (1781-1865) was a member of the S.C. House
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of Representatives, 1804—06; 1808-10, 1812-18 and Speak-
- er- of the House, 1814-18; member of the South Carolina
'-;Senate,-1819~20_and;183?f40; and Governor of'Sduth Caro-
'lin5531820-22. - He ‘was Intendant of Charlestdn;;1812ilégu
~In'addition to the lumber business, which he turned over

.~ to his son-in-law, Jonathan Lucas, III, in 1847, Gov.

- 'Bémnett was active in rice milling, building Bermmett's

Mill on the Cooper River 'side of the city, and in bank- -
ing, serving.as‘president-and directof-of'thefBank of the
State of South Carolina and:directof of the Planters and
- Mechanics Bank of South Cafolina, -When-built, Gov. Ben-.

- nett's house look out on his rice and saw mills and his

B mill ponds to the south and:easty_which'were filled in -
in the 1880s and '90s. The house is two and one-half

- stories of brick on a raised basement of stuccoed brick.
The one story piazza on the south side of the house has
~a fanlighted entrance, with engaged columns and ehtablae
ture, and-ségmental_arches rising from unfluted Roman
‘Doric. columns. The piazza and:the-iron-railed enirance

- platform with curving steps, rest on arcades of stuccoed
brick. The house has a pediment on the south facade, a
palladian window in the east gable and a round-headed

- stair window on the north side. The interior woodwork
and plasterwork is elaborately decorated in the Regency
style and the free-flying stair rises for one floof with~
~out visible means of support. The only other free-flying.
- stair in the city is that in the Nathaniel Russell House,
51 Meeting St., which rises three floors without touch-

- ing the wallsi The floor plan is that of the double

- house, with a central hall flanked by two rooms on eith-
er side. The stairhall is separated from the entrance
hall by a keystone arch and fanlighted doorway. A two
gstory stuccoed brick outbuilding remains in'the_rear yard.
The fence and gate in front of the house are black cypress.,

(Thomas, DYKYC, Dec. 8, 1969. Ravenel, Architects, 82-85.
Chamberlain & Chamberlain, 138. Smith & Smith, Dwelling '
Houses, 321-322, 325-329. Stoney, This is Charleston, 69.)
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Beaufain Street

Beaufain Street was platted as part of Harleston Vil-

~ lage in 1770; it followed the north line of the original
.-Grand Modell of Charles Town and of the Mazyck Lands,

which was also the south boundary of the Glebe Lands and
the Harleston lands. The street was named for Hector Beren-

" ger de Beaufain, a French Huguenot who came to South Carolira

about 1735 and lived here until his death in 1766. He was a

prominent and “"well-beloved" citizen, a member of the St. And-

drews Society and other organizations here and abroad. He.
was one of the founders of the Charleston Library Society,

2 member of His Majesty's Council, and for 24 years was Col-
lector of Customs. He was buried in St. Philip's churchyard
and a monument given by his fellow citizens was placed in the
church., The monument was destroyed when the;church burned in
1835. Beaufain's monument bore witness to his "unshaken in-

“tegrity” as customs collector. McCrady states that South

Carolina, enjoying a lucrative trade with London and special

privilege under the trade laws, which allowed rice to be

shipped directly to Spain,.Portugal and the Mediterranean,
was not annoyed with the Navagation Acts, as were the North-
ern.colbnies, where smuggling became a way of life. There-
fore Charlestonians had no reason for hostility to the Royal
customs officials until the-ad0ption of the Stamp Act, 1764,

(McCrady, 2:548-549, Roéen, 30, 50, Leland, Charleston,
Crossroads of History, 21. Rogers, Charleston in the Age of
the Pinckneys, 41, 61l. Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houges, 312,

' 316-317. CEO Plat Book, 54. Stoney, This is Charleston, 126,

iz29.”

6 Beaufain St. -- John R. Read, a King Street dry goods mer-

' chant, purchased this lot in 1893 and erected the three

- story brick warehouse. The building is of pressed red

brick, with segmental arched windows on the second and
third levels and a high parapet at the roofline. At

grdund level is an oversized door opening (now bricked
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~up); the opening has @ cornice with consoles at the ends.
" The 1nter10r of the building is- opery with the trusswork

of the massive gable roof. exposed. The bulldlng was con-
nected with Read's store at 249 King St. when constructed.
Iater, the division walls between 6 Beaufain and 245 and .
247 King were. removed. to create department store spaces

 (Stockton, unpub., MS.) . _
‘Beaufain Stq-—f-Memmlnger'SChool1 - The first parsonage of

St. Philip's Episcopal Church was built. on this site about
1698. It was part of the Glebe Lands, 17 acres given to
the minister of the Church of England in Charles Town and-
his successors in: office "forever," by Mrs. Affra Coming,
in 1698. The Rev. Alexander Garden, rector of St. Phil-

-ip‘s_and=Commissary of the Bishop of London, opened a
 school for black and Indian children on the Glebe Lands
near the parsondge, in 1744, Taught by two black youths
~under the rector‘s supervision, the school remained in

operation for 22 years. The'parsonage.remained in use
until 1770, when a new parsonage was built in the block

to the north (now 6 Glebe St.). In the division of the
Glebe Lands between St. Philip's and St. Michael’'s in
1797, the southern portion, including the old parsonage,
was conveyed to Stn:Michael°s. In 1858, the Normal School,
for the training of female teachers, was built on the

site of the old parsonage. Charleston architect Edward

C. Jones designed the large and impressive bullding

which had an arcaded front portico and 2 high mansard

domes it was built by contractor Benjamin Lucas. The
school was later named for Christopher C. Memminger, a

- leader in establishing Charleston's public school sys-
~tem in the 1850s, and Confederate Secretary of the Treas-

ury in the 1860s. The City Board of School Commissioners
bought the property in 1899. Memminger School remained

a high school for girls until. 1950, when it became an
elementary school. This building was built in 1953.
(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 311-313. Wallace, 184,




102

464, -Ravenel, Architects, 218. Rogers, Charleston in
the Age of the Pinckneys, 91-92. McCrady, 2 :245-247.

-Williams, St. Michael's, 48, Stockton, N&C, Bug. 5,

1972, , unpub. notes. Mazyck &'Waddell.
llus. 21.) . : _ ‘ _ o
22 PBeaufain St. -~ Memminger Auditorium, built in 1938, was

‘designed by Charleston architect Albert Simons after the

manner of the 19th cenmtury Charleston architect Robert

“Mills. The massing and the portico flanked by. stairs are’

akin to such features in Mills' many South Carolina court -

. houses' and the Fireproof Building, while the two Greek

Doric columns in antis in the portico are akin to Mills'
Monumental Church in Richmond, Va.
(Waddell & Lipscomb, 15)

63 Beaufain St. -- This notable antebellum house was built

c. 1849 by F. Q. McHugh, an attorney. It has two and

one-half stories of stuccoed brick, on a raised basement,

and interesting details including the vermiculated quoins

~at the corners.  The building was preserved by incorpor-

ation into into the Robert Mills Manor public housing

- project, in 1938-39. ' -

(Thomas, DYKYC, May 9, 1970.)

65 Beaufain St. -- This three-and one-half story brick house,

stuccoed, was built ¢. 1815 by Richard Breran, a local
merchant. The cast iron window cornices were probably
added much later, in the mid~to-late 19th century.
(Thomas, DYKYC, May 9, 1970.) '

64 and 66 Beaufain St. -- Two three-story brick, Greek Revival
- style houses of brick with brownstone lintels were built

for investment purposes by Francis Quinlan McHugh, attor-

. ney, C. 1851-52 Thomas Divine, a mason, was the build-
“er.. McHugh also built 63 Beaufain St. The facade of &4

Beaufain fell in 1981 and was rebuilt.
(Thomas, DYKYC, May 16, 1970. N&C, May 29, 1981. )

68 Beaufain St. -~ Thomas Divine, a mason, built this two

story brick single house in 1851-52, as his residence.
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Divine was also the building contractor for Francis Quin-
lan McHugh's two houses at 64 and 66 Beaufain St. The
pressed tin cornices on the parapet and windows are later
additions, probably late 19th century. '
| - (Thomas, DYKYC, May 16, 1970,.) - S
71 Beaufaln St. -- Site of Calvary Episcopal Church built for
black communicants by the Episcopal Dlocese, 184749,
The unfinished'churchfwas marchediﬁpon.by a'mob'ebjecting
to a separate church for blacks. Thée mob was halted by

James L. Petigru, the prominent Charleston attorney and
Unionist, who persuaded them to submit the question to.
the arbitration of a committee. The committee decided
that a church fbr'blecks=Was-a‘WOrthy7project,"and'the_
~church was completed. The simple:Classic Revival style

~structure may have been designed by Charleston architect
"Edward Brickell White. The black congregation left the
| _ _ ~ structure in 1940, Tt was subsequently sold to the
}?ji f .~ 'Housing Authority of Charleston, which demollshed it in
- ' 1961, (Carson, Life, Letters ang Speeches of...Petigru, 280.
‘Ravenel, DYKYC, July 22, 1940, , Architects,
202 . Barbara J. Stambaugh, DYKYC, April 4, 1961.)
72 Beaufain St, -- One of six historic structures moved from

the city parking garage site at St. Philip and George
Streets in 1975 by the Preservation Society of Charles~
ton, 72 Beaufain St. formerly.stood at 32 St. Philip St.
The building is composed of several old buildings joined:
.together in the early 20th century; the oldest portion
was built in the 17903 by Norwood Conyers. The .other
gtructures moved from the construction site are now at
7% and 76 Beaufain, 2 and 4 Pitt St. and 30 Rutledge
Ave. Conyers was among Charles Town patriots who were
exiled to St. Augustine during the.British,occupation-
of Charles Town in 1780-81.

(Stockton, DYKYC, March 25, 1974.)
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74 Beaufain St. -- This two and one-half story frame house
formerly stood at 30 St., Philip St. and was moved to
this loeation in 1975 by the Preservation Society of
Charleston. It was standing on the St. Philip’s Street
site by 1793, and was apparently built by Anthony Gabeau.

| ~ {Stockton, DYKYC March 25, 1974.).

- 76 Beaufain St. -- Formerly. a kitchen bulldlng at 34 St.

o }Phlllp St., this tiny two story wooden house was moved
in 1975 by.the‘Preservatlon Society of Charleston. I%
wag apparently built in the 18th century and was owned
in the 1790s by Bazile Lanneau. - The main house is now

-at 2 Pitt Street.
(Stockton, DYKYC, March 25, 1974, )

89 Beaufain St. ---William G. Steele, in. September 1815 pur -

chased a large lot from Dr. Samuel Wilson and his sons.

- Dr, Wilson had acquired the land by marriage into the

.~ Mazyck family which had held it since 1712. It was a
part of the Mazyck Lands, partitioned among the heirs
of Isaac Mazyck in 1742, Steele was a lumber merchant
who kept a "saw pit” in Pitt Street. By 1819, he was
listed as living at this address. During the Civil War
era, the house became the home of Duncan Nathaniel Ingra-
-ham,‘the naval hero. Ihgraham-(lBOZ-Qll, was the hero
~of the Koszta Affair of 1853, Martin Koszta, a Hungarian
follower of Kossuth in the uprising against Austrian dom-
ination in 1848-49, had immigreted.to,New_York in 1851

' and declared his intention of becoming an American citi-
zen. Two years later, while visiting Smyrna, Turkey, he
was siezed by Austrian agents and imprisoned aboard the
Austrian brig Hugsar. Ingraham, commander of the U.S.
sloop of war St. Louis, happened to be in Smyrna. [e
demanded Koszta's release as one entitled to U.S. pro-
tection. Diplomatic negotiatibns,averted a battie be-
tween the Huggar and the St. Louis, and Koszta was ulti-
mately released. During the Civil War, Ingraham was




105

Q;w - commander -of Confederate Naval forces on the South Caro-
' - .1lina coasﬁo_ At Charleston he supgrvised construction of
..the. ironclads Palmetto State and Chicora. The house is
an 1nterest1ng example of Regency style adapted to the'
; : .. single house. plan. . Notable features of the. exterlor 1n—

clude the finely carved.marble piazza door surround, and
. the lunette in the pediment. . The interior has elaborately
ﬁ;carved woodwork in the Regency style. . . e
,_(Thomas,-DYKYC,_Feb,,ZB,_l9?O,_ Burton, unpub. notes, Fébo
1946; LSC, Dictiomary of American Biography, 5:476-477,
~ Stoney, This.is Charleston, 9. Burton, Siege of Charles-
ton, 125, 129, 213,'239, 282, Leland, gggrleston;'crdss—
roads of History, 51-52.) )
108 Beaufaln Street -- Built between 1840 and 1842 by John
' Stelnmeyer, a prosperous sawmill owner, this two story
wooden house was purchased in 1842 by Gov. Thomas Ben-
_ “-nett, ' In 1909, the property became the Argyle Louden
L - ﬂ%fkiCampbéll Memorial Home “for Préébyterian.and“HuguenotVF'
. Ladies, endowed by the will of Mary Bermett ‘Campbell),"
a granddaughter of Gov. Bermett. ' The rame of the home
- re"fle'.c-ted-her”SCOttish“lineageu It isfnow'a private
‘residence. The exterior of this rather unusual house “///,/
“hasg shiplap siding scored-tofsimulate~st0ne'bldckés]
while the interior has Greek Revival features of the -
- 1840s and Victorian features of, the 1870s. The property
also has.noteworthy accessory buildingsp e
. - (Thomas, DYKYC, March 23, 1970.) -~
llO Beaufaln St, =~ ThlS tall three and one- half.story brick
single house was built by Robert Shands Smith, a com-
mission merchant, sometime before 1852.
. (Thomas, DYKYC, April 4, 1970. Bridgens & Allen Map.)
(112 Beaufain St. -- A modified double house in the Greek Re-
|  vival style, this two story frame house, on a raised
.basémentf was built between 1837 and 1840 by Whiteford
' Smith. From 1849 to 1879, it was the home of James W,
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Gray; master in equity, and his family. The house has‘
a central hallway and four rooms to a floor, ‘but only
' the front rooms are ‘primary rooms. The house has Doric
‘piazza columns and classical woodwork in the interior.
(Thomas, DYKYC, Feb., 23,71970.) * |

E 118 ‘Beaufain St« ~~'This7sma1 house ‘containing one story

.7 of wood on a -high brick _,§%mentg-Wasfbuilt“after 1845
© by John Henry Steirnmeyer, a”IUmber'merchaﬁ#F“"The_inf ,
terior hag Classic Revival details. Steinmeyer previous-
o ly built ‘the hoase'at‘IOB Beaufain St#,'and'subsequently
built the large brick house at 4 Gadsden St., which over-
looked his sawmills on the west 31de of Gadsden Street._
. (Thomas, DYKYC, April 25, 1970. Yy

| Bedon's Alley -

Bedon s Alley.was in exlstence by 1?04 when it appeared,

'unnamed, on the Crisp Map. The "Ichnography” of 1732 identi-

fies it as Middle Iane., Deeds as_early as 1733, however, re-
fer to it as Beadon’s‘or'Bedon's Street or Alley. It was
named for George Beadon (Bedon), a merchant who owned land
in the little street. The fires of 1740 and 1778 swept
through the alley, presumably destroying all structures.:
(Deeds, W-118, L-276. Year Book, 1880, 302-303.) |

‘=2”Béaon‘3‘Alley-w»'Humphrey‘Sommers; a-sub-contractor of St.

Michael's Church, built the row of tenements now known
as 2 Bedon's Alley and 14-16 Tradd St., sometime between
the great fire of 1778 and the writing of his will in
~ December 1788, The trio of tenements are mentioned in
the will, which also provided for the building of a fourth
jtenement on ‘the then vacant lot now known as 12 Tradd.
The corner ‘tenement of the three story brick range, now
known as 2 Bedon's Alley and in 1788 occupied by James
Gregorie as a store and residence, was begueathed to his
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_deughter Ann Olney Sommers. Previously on the site was -;/
) the re81dence of Joseph Boone, accordlng to the Crisp //
”_Mep of 1704, The site had been the back portion of To |

Lot No. 7 of the Grand Modell, granted: orlglnally to

_ard Tradd, who in 1688 sold thls portion to Willia

lap and thn Alexander. Alexander purchased D
interest in 169? and by his will, dated 1699, devised
the property to ‘his w1dow, Mrs. Ann Alexander, and his

daughter by the same name. The widow Alexander then mar¥ -
ried Joseph Boone, who purchased the daughter®s interest.
The widow Alexander was a daughter of landgrave Imniel
Axtell., As the widow Boone, 'she built, after the great
fire of 1740, the Georgian residence now known as 47

East Bay St« ' SR S
{Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 3, 19750 Smith & Smith,”Dwell;Qg
Houses, 161-162, ' Stoney, This is Charleston, 101.)

5 Bedon's Alley -- William CUhnington's House is unusual:ih
that it was constructed during'the Revolution. It was .
built in 1779, of bricks made by a local brickmaker named
Moore, whose product was con51dered worth mentlonlng in
an advertisement for sale of the property in 1784, " Capta
Anthony Toomer; a noted local builder, was the contract-
or. Cunnington, who immigrated from England to South =
Carolina about the time of the Revolution, owned Magnolia
Umbra Plantation, parts of which are now Magnolia and

St. Lawrence cemeteries. Cunnington built a single house,
two bays wide, with his counting room in the front room

" on the first floor, having a separate entrance on Bedon's
Alley. George Whitfield, who purchased the property in
1794, added the three story brick wing on the south side
and redecorated the house in the then popular Adamesque
style. He retained the property until 1820, by which
time he was living in England. William Doran, owner of

a stevedoring business, and his descendants retained the
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property from 1857 to 1980. During the bombardment of

' the city by Federal guns during the Civil War, Doran

~ opened the house to refugees, as it has thick walls. On
one occasion during that time, according to tradition,
Doran was feaching for a match on the dining room mantel
to light someone's pipe, when a cannon ball took off his
arm. For years afterward, he was teased: "Generous old
William Doran; ask for a light and he glves you his arm’".
(Stockton, DYKYC, April 7, 1980, )

"~ Bee Street

. One of the original streets of Cannonborough or
Cannon's Lands, laid out by-1789. Tt was presumably named
for Thomas Bee, an attorney, Jjudge, member of the Revolution-
‘ary Council of Safety and of the South Carolire legislature,
Lieutenant Governor and delegate to the Continental Congress.
(Plat Book C, 550, RMCO. Deeds, D6- 531. Stoney, Thig is
Charleston, 128-129. McCrady, 2:357, 373, 475, 481, 573,
793; 41558, 570, Ravenel, 'CharlestanIThe Place and the
People, 160, 200, 348. Wallace, 262.) |

12 Bee St. -- The brick double house, built in 1858 by a pros-
perous rice miller, has served ag a maternity hospital
and a ladies' home. - The builder was William Robb, part-
ner in the East Point Mills which stood at the foot of
Laurens Street on Cooper River. Robb purchased the site
in 1858 and is listed as living at the location in the
1859 city directorys Robb sold the property in 1875.
'In 1920, the property was purchased by Mercy Maternity
Hospital. Mercy, the first facility of ite kind in
Charleston, represented a very modern medical concept
at the time. In 1927, the property was given to the
Church Home and Orphanage Corporation, which moved the
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Episcopal Church Home for Women from Ashley and Spring .
to this location, in 1929. The Italianate mansion, with
its. three—tiefed'piazza'bearing Doric and Ionic columns:
and a bracketted cornice, brick Quoiné and elaborate door- .
ways, was rehabilitated in 1983-84 as apartments.

- (Stockton, DYKYC, Jan. 27, 1975.)

24 Bee St. -- Richard Teasdale, a prosperous merchant and = .
planter, built this house ¢, 1838, It is two and one- .
half stories of wood, with woodwork and plasterwork typ-
ical of the period, in the interior, and a piazza
across the front. In the rear is a two story brick ser-
vice wing with a cantilevered run.

(Stockton, "24 Bee Street, " Preservation Progress,.
March 1976.)

L

Broad Street

Broad Street was just that, the broadest street in
Charles Town. The street was 61 feet wide at the inter-
section of East Bay and 100 feet wide between St. Michael's '
Church and the Beef Market (which stood on the site of City:
Hall). Records during the périod, 1698 to 1714, interchange-
ably refer to Broad Street and Cooper Street, presumably
for Lord Anthony Ashley Cooper.

("Streets of Charleston." Ichnography, 1788.)

1l Broad St. -- Bankers Trust of South Cidrolina is housed in
a three story, Italian Renaissance Revival style build-
ing faced with Connecticut brownstone, built in 1853.
The building was designed by the Charleston architectur-

~al firm, Jones & Lee (Edward C. Jones and Francis D. Lee),

who planned many local buildings and worked elsewhere in.'
South Carolina. Jones had his office in this building
in January 1857. The building was constructed for the
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State Bank of South Carolina and cost an estimated
$100,000 to build. Due to the Federal bombardment of

the city, 1863-65, the State Bank moved up the peninsula
to Cannon Street. The building at 1 Broad St. was wrecked
by the shelling, and the State Bank collapsed along with
the Confederacyo. The building was rehabilitated and
enlarged in 1868. For a time it was owned by George A.
Trenholm, cotton broker, former Treasurer of the Confed-

~eracy and blockade runner. When the Federal goverrnment

sued Trenholm and his associates after the war for import
duties on the 1llegal blockade goods, his company went
bankrupt. He reorganized his cotton brokerage business
and rem2de his fortune, however. In 1875, the building
was purchased by another local merchant and blockade
runner, George Walton Williams, who founded the Carolina
Savings Bank here in 1875. During the late 19th century,
the bank was located on the first floor, the office and |
exchange of Southern Bell on the second floor and the
local office of the U.S. Weather Bureau on the third
floor. The Carolina Savings Bank merged with First
National Bank in 1957 and moved from 1 Broad. The build-
ing again became a bank in 1963 when it was bought by the
Carolina Bank and Trust Company for its main office.
Bankers Trust of South Carolina took over Carolina Bank
in 1969 and 1 Broad became the main Charleston office of
Bankers Trust. In 1978-80, Bankers Trust completed-a
renovation of the building, restoring the exterior as well
as the interior with its elaborate 19th century plaster-
work and celling painting. During the renovation, a can-

- nonball hole was found in one of the pine ceiling beams.

Cannonballs have also been found in the bagement from
time to time. - Notable architectural features of the
exterior include the lion head keystones on the first
floor, each of which is different. The Italian Renals-
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'sance Revival style is based on the "palazzos" of 15th -
and 16th century Italy.

- (Stockton, DYKYC, June 25, 1979, " Charleston Daily Cour -
ier, March 7, 1853. Bergeron, passim. Stoney, This is .

- Charleston, 10.. Ravenel, Architects, 212, 214. Mazyck
& Waddell, illus. 59. . Simms, "Charleston, the Palmetto -
City." Severans, "Architectural Taste,” 6. Green, un- .
pub. notes; HCF.} '

3 Broad St. -- This building was also desighed by Jones & Lee

and was built in 1853 for Edward Sebring, president of

the State Bank at 1 Broad St.. It was built by James. P.
and R. Earle, contractors. The first occupants were -
Samuel G. Courtenay, bookseller, on the first floor and
Walker & James, publishers, on the upper floors. 1In

1856, the building was acquired by Walker, Evans & Cogs-
well, printers and publishers. That firm was founded

in 1821 by John C. Walker, who was later joined by his
brothers Joseph and Alexander, First located at 15

Broad St., the stationary and bookbinding business moved
in 1837 to present-day 117 East Bayo' in_1850, Joseph
Walker became associated with Robert James in the firm,__
Walker & James, book publishers, the first tenants here.
'In 1852 Johh C. Walker and Benjamin F. Evans became _
partners as Walker & Evans. In 1855, when Harvey Cogswell
joined the partnership, it became Walker, Evans & Cogswell, -
and has retained that name since then. After Walker,
Evans & Cogswell purchased.j Broad, 1t was joined in the
rear with 117 East Bay, to form a single L-shaped build-
ing. 1In 1909, a two story printing plant was built to

the south of the older buildings, at East Bay and Elliott
~streets. During the Civil War, the business relocated

to Columbia, S.C.,, where the firm printed cufrency for

the Confederacy. After the war, the firm was located

at Meeting and Market streets for two years. Except for
that interlude, the firm occupied this building until
1982, when the building was sold. In 1983-84, the build- -
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ing was renovated as office condominiums. Three Broad
is four storiles tall, of Charleston grey brick laid in
Flemish bond, with brownstone cornices and sills on the
basket-arched windows of the upper levels. & bracketted

) cornice of pressed metal extends across the parapet roof-
line. The Italianate style of the building was a popu-
lar one in Charleston in the 1850s, and one in which
Jones & Lee excelled.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 17, 1979. s unpub. MS.
Mazyck & Waddell, illus. 59. Ravenel, Architects, 212.
Gr een, unpub. notes; HCF. Walker, Evans & Cogswell, 100
Years of "WECCO," pasgim,)

7 Brocad St. -- The Italianate style brownstone front of this_'
building may mask an older structure, but it appears
that the facadé, at least, was erected in the 1850s
for William M. Martin and John C. Martin, brokers.
(Green, unpub. MS; HCF. Mazyck & Waddell, illus. 59.)

9 Broad St. -- William Pinckney Shingler and T. J. Shingler,
partners as Shingler Brothers, "exchange brokers,"” built
this two story building in 1856, after receiving permis-
sion from adjacent property owners to anchor jJjoists in
their brick walls. Charleston architect Edward Brickell
White designed the bullding, with its Italian Romanesque
Revival facade of brownstone, executed by the New'Ybrk
stonecutter W.G. Chave., The facade carries the inscrip-
tion, "Exchange Office.” The Shingler Brothers specu-
lated in cotton exports, and the senior partner, William
Pinckney Shingler, appears to have been expecially daring
in that risky but potentially very lucrative form of
trade. Said to have been a man of commandingly handsome

~ appearance, he built the fine house at 9 Limehouse in the
game year this building was erected. He lost that man-
sion within a year, but a year later he built an even
larger house .on the other side of Limehouse Street, with
profits from that exciting trade. |

(Green, unpub. MS; HCF. Ravenel, Architects, 198-199. ‘
Charleston Courier, June 17, 1856. Stockton, unpub. notes. )
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11 Broad St. -- Edward B, White also designed this Italianate
style building in 1856 for S. G. Courtenay & Co., book-
‘sellers. The brownstone facade was also the work of W.
G. Chave of New York. The building contractor was David
Lopez. The carved globe, book and scroll, centered in
the parapet, are relics of the ‘Courtenay firm's occupa-
tion of the building. The firm published books as well
as sold them. According to tradition, William Gilmore f
Simms, thé'poet, novelist and editor, wrote portions of
his novels on the bookstore's counters. Pressed_for in-
stallments of his works, which ran serially in the South-
ern Literary Gazette, he would ask for a pencil and:
paper and stand at a counter writing enough for a forth-
coming issue. In 1912 the E., H. Robertson Cigar Com- -
pany was located here. In 1941, after remodeling, it
reopened as Robertson's Cafeteria, and within a few
years became a meeting place for Charleston's political -
and business leaders. ' A
(N&C, April 14, 1947. Charleston Courier, June 17, 1956,
Green, unpub. notes; HCF. Stockton, DYKYC, July 17, 1975,

Ravenel, frchitects, 198-199.)

12 Broad St. -- This fine Quincy granite facade was applied
c. 1839 to a building constructed c. 1783 by James '
Wright, a merchant. The facade was built by the Charles-
ton Insurance and Trust Co., which had its name carved
in the granite lintel over the front door. The company
bought the building from the Charleston Fire and Marine
Insurance Company on August 5, 1839. The facade design
is based on two storefront designs in a pattern book _
published by the New England architect, Asher Benjamin,
with one design placed on top of the other. |

(Stockton, N&C, May 16, 1974. DYKYC, Sept. 22, 1952.
Bryan, "Boston's Granite Architecture.")
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13 Broad St. -- Henry W. Conner, an attorney, applied this
red brick Queen Anne facade, c. 1890 to an earlier
building, the core of which probably dates from c.
1800,

(Green, unpub. notes, HCF )i :

14 Broad St., -- Now part of South Carollna Mational Bank,
this building is believed to have been built ¢. 1799,
with a2 mid-19th century facaﬁe change, and a further
remodeling, taking off the architectural features of
the 19th century facade except for the arched openings;
in the mid-20th century.

(Stoney, This is_Charleston, 11.)

15 Broad St. -- This four story brick building was either
built ¢. 1801 for Agnes Smith (Mrs. John Smith) or
c. 1815 by her son, Hugh Smith. The Italianate facade
treatment of bracketted cornice and flat and pedimented
window cornices, was applled in the 1850s by James M,
Gardiner and Alexander Gordon, hardware merchants.
Agnes Smith, a native of Scotland, was the wife of
John Smith, & merchant; she is buried in the First
(Scots) Presbyterian Churchyard. Her son Hugh Smith
was also a merchant, and an amateur architect who de-
signed the St. Andrew's Soclety Hall (built 1814-153,
burned 1861}, and whose plan for the South Carolina
College was commended in 1802, but not adopted, Robert -
Mills of Charleston receiving the commission instead.

(Bryan, Brchitectural History of the South Carolina

College, 12-13, 16, 19. Ravenel, Architects, 104-106,

Stockton, N&C, July 17, 1975. Thomas, DYKYC, Sept. 16,

1968, Stoney, This ig- Charleston, 11. Green, unpub.
" notes; HCF.) _

16 .Broad St. -- South Carolina National Bank occupies this
two story, stuccoed brick structure, constructed for
use as the Charleston office of the second Bank
of the United States, whose charter was drawn up by
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John C. Calhoun. The first Bank of the United States
had been chartered in 1791 and had established a Charles-
ton office (see 100 Church and 80 Broad), Its charter
lapsed in 1811 and was not renewed. In 1810, however,

' Calhoun introduced a bill in Congress to'reestablish.the '

Bank of the United States. This building was built in
1817 to house the Charlestoﬁ'office, known as the Office
of Discount and Deposit, of the second bank. Due to mis-
manageﬁent at other btranches, President Andrew Jackson
withdrew government deposits in 1833, causing the bank's
collapse in 1834. Several influential South Carolinians
including Henry Gourdin, a Charleston businessman and
legislator, and Robert Y. Hayne, South Carolina Governor

-and United States Senator, organized the Bank of Charles-

ton which purchased the property and assets of the Bank
of the U.S, By 1848, the Bank of Charleston had branches
in several Southern cities. During the Civil War, the
bank loaned the Confederate govermment $1.5 million, and
the fall of the Confederacy almost caused the bank to
fail. In 1926, the Bank of Charleston merged with the
Norwood National Bank of Greenville and the Carolina Na--
tional Bank of Columbia to form the South Carolina Nation-
al Bank. The'building is in a simplified Classi¢ Revival -

style, with arched and trabeated openings, pilasters and

a pediment. The magnificent eagle of gilded oak, set
within the pediment, dates from 1817. The building wag
expanded to the north in 1856. The Directors' room in
the north extension, with its wooden Corinthian pllasters
and walinscoting painted to resemble marble, is attribu-

- ted to Charleston architect Edward C. Jones. The archi-

tect of the main building is unknown; some authorities
speculate that it was designed by Robert Mills.

(T.R. Waring, DYKYC, March 11, 1935. Stoney, This is
Charleston, 11. Ravenel, Architects, 216-217, 219,
Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 262, )
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17 Broad St. -- Claudian B. Northrop, an attorney, built this
building ¢.- 1848, but it was thoroughly remodeled in 1870-
71 for the South Carolina Loan and Trust Company. The
architects for the remodeling were Abrahamg and Seyle
(Thomas H. Abrahams and John H. Seyle); the contractor
was George W. Egan. Both the facade, with its cast iron
storefront and plaster ornamentation in the Italianate
style, and the interior, with its fine plasterwork and
woodwork, date from the 1870-71 remodeling. George S,
Cameron was president of the bank, which began operations
in 1869. Claudian B, Northrop, during the Confederate
War, became interested in becoming a priest, and was or-
dained in 1867. He was assigned to St. Mary's as assist-
‘ant pastor and in 1870 became pastor, a post he filled
until his death in 1882. He is buriled in St. Mary's,
under the floor of the center aisle, before the high
altar. Inspired by his example, his nephew, Henry Pinck-
ney Northrop, became a priest also, and eventually Bishop
of Charleston. '
(Green, unpub. notes; HCF. Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 17,
1981.) | -

18-22 Broad St. ~- The People's Building was Charleston's.
first ‘“skyscraper,” erected in 1910-11 at a cost of
$300,000., It was designed by a Swedigh architect, Vic-
tor Frohling of Thompson & Frohling, of New York, and
built by the Hadden Construction Co. The pile driving
for the structure so weakened a nearby ancient residence
that the People's Bullding and Investment Company had
to buy it. The project was organized by R. Goodwyn
Rhett, mayor of Charleston and préesident of the People's
National Bank. By many it was seen as a sign of "prog-
ress, while others were afraid it would ruin Charleston's
skyline. President William Howard Taft, who viewed the
city from the top of the bullding, said, "I don't believe
that it did ruin the skyline, but if it did the view from
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“up here makes it worth it." When the building opened in
April'l9ll people'came'just to ride the steel framed
eleVatorso The first two floors of the bulldlng are faced_
with Wlnnsboro granlte, while the upper floors are faced
with buff-colored brick and terra cotta. ‘The eight story
building is constructed of concrete and steel and fated'_p
as fireproof. Originally it had, in addition to the

“banking space, nine rooms on a mezzanine and 13 rooms on

each of the upper floars, and the building Was'Steam -
heated. The People s Bank closed in 1936 and the build-

“ing was purchased by the Southeastern Securities Cowy

" Charles L. Mullaly, president. Mullaly installed the

"~ two white marble leopards at the main entrance. Carved

'from'Italian:marble'by an unknown 18th century artist)

 ‘the ‘leopards were brought to Charleston from an estate
near Boston, Mass. ' _ ' '
(Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 13, 1972 Green, unpub. notes;
HCF.) . : . . ' _ _—

19 Broad St. -~ Andrew Kerr, a merchant built this bulldlng_ .
Co 1?94 Tt was the location of the Bank of the State
6f South Carolina from 1817 to 1838, and of the South-

" Western Railroad Bank, which began operations around
1840. = The granite facade was added about 1840, The
architect for the remodeling may have been Nathaniel F.
Potter,.one of the builders of the Charleston Hotel and

"the principal designer of Milford Plantation. The top
portion of the facade fell in the 1886 earthquake. The.
large granite blocks, some welghing several tons each,
and set about 45 feet above the ground,'were.thrown from
ten to 14 feet from the base of the wall, some strlklng '
the . street with such forcé as to break the water mains
underground. At the time of the earthquake, the building
housed The News and Courier, which remains in publication

- 'ag Charleston's oldest newspaper. It was founded in 1803

~ as the Charleston Courier, and merged in 1872 with the
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News (founded in 1866) to form The News and Courier, un-
der the ownershlp of B. R. Riordan and Capt. F.W. Dawson,
who made it a prlmary advocate of New South 1ndustr1a11sm,
_flrst express1ng the shlbboleth of that movementt, "Bring
the mills to the cottonu : O _
(Mazyck & Waddell, 14—15, 111us. 48, Green, unpub . notes;
HCF. Ravenel, Architects, 177. ) |

21 Broad Sto -- David Alexander, a merchant bu11t thls three
story brick building c. 1802, A photograph of 1883 shows
its facade faced with brlck laid in Flemlsh bond. The
present Victorian facade 1s presumed to date after the
_earthquake of 1886, and 1ncludes a. conlcal—roofed turret.

(Green, unpub. notes; HCF . Mazyck & Waddell, 1llus 48.)

23 Broad Ste -- Edgar Wells, a tailor, constructed this buil-
ing 00_17860 The facade treatment dates from c. 1838.

24 Broad St. -- This. bulldlng was built by John. James Himelil
‘soon after 1791, and was given by him to hls w1fe, as
.trustee, in 1803 After hig death she sold it in 1817
to Amn Eleanor Van Rhyn, whose executors sold it to Abra-
dham Ottolengul in 1841, Ottolengui altered the facade,
C» 1841, and a cast-iron store front was added c. 1875

. by the he1rs of Jacob Barretto The storefront was 80
_damaged by the collision of an automoblle in 1948 that
it was removed. The lower facade treatment is co 1948,

{(Green, unpub. ‘notes; HCFo) y

25-27 Broad St. -- William Wragg Smlth, an attorney, built
this double building c. 1839 It was‘heav1ly damaged
in. the 1886 earthquake and the facade was extensively
rebullt afterwards, w1th . pressed metal window cornices.
(Green, unpub. notes; HCF.) o

'26 Broad St. -- William Rouse, a2 shoemaker, built this build-

ing c. 1791. The facade was altered c. 1875.

_ (Green, unpub. notesjHCF.) _ |

_328 Broad St. -- Built c. 1791 by Wllllam Shlrtcllff, ‘a mer-

| chant, this building shows evidence of a facade change,
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which occurred in 1800. In that year James Gregorie, who

owned both 30 and 32 Broad, leased the then vacant lot

“at 32 Broad to Stephen Thomas, who agreed to erect a
three story brick building thereon. The agreement also . .-
- permitted Gregorie to insert.jqists'intb_ThOmas°.east: ;
:.wall, for .the purpose of building two stories over an

arched passageway between.the two buildings. _Although-”
Gregorie matched the Charleston grey brick and Flemish
bond of hls ex1st1ng building, the juncture is discern- -

'_1ble. The granite storefront on. the flrst-floor_proba-'

bly dates from c. 1840,

-(Green, unpub. notes; HCF. Stoney, This is Charleston,

1z,

29 Broad St. -- George Macaulay and John Maynard Davis, mer-
¢ chants, built this building c¢. 1790. The elaborate man-
~mard roof and the gtucco drlpstones, however, are late

19th century.
(Green, unpub. notes; HCF.)

. 30 Broad St. -~ Stephen Thomas, a merchant tailor;'made an

dgreement with the owner of this property, James Gregor-
ie,. to lease the lot and construct thereon'a "brick _
house. of three stories.” ' The Federal period facade, typ

ical ‘of ‘the year of construction, 1800; is of Charles-

. ton' grey brick laid in Flemish bond. The gable roof has

dormers on the front slope. Stephen Thomas was a leader
of the Huguenot Church congregation about this time. He
is buried in the Huguenot Churchyard. In 1974, the rear
part of this building was demolished and a new building
was. constructed behind fhe facade, for the expansion of

"First Federal Savings and Loan Association, whose main.
“building is next door.

(Green, umpub. MS; HCF. Stockton, M&C, Jan. 31 1974,
Stoney, This is Charleston, 12.)

31 Broad St. -- W1lllam Lee, watchmaker, built. here by Decem-

ber 1792 when he leased the building to Basil Pourie,

merchant. The pressed metal cornice, window cornices and-

door surround are late 1%9th century.
(Green, unpub. MS; HCF.)
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32 34 Broad St. -- This substantial' marble'faced'building with
' its recessed portico was constructed in 1962 for First
Federal Savings 'and Loan Association. '
(Green, unpub. notes; HFC.) _
33 Broad St. -- John Smith, 2 merchant and mariner, built his
house 'at 33 Broad during the transitional period when
" Georglan architecture began 'to be modified by the new
" Federal style. This three story brick building replaced
a-building destroyed by fire in 1786. The wooden Classic
‘Revival storefront 'was probably added by James Gibson who
purchased the property in 1821. B

% (Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 18, 1980. Stoney, ThlS is Charles-
ton, 12. Green, urpub. notes- HCF.)

35 Broad St. -- Gilbert and John Davidson, merchants, built
.thisg three and one-half .story, stuccoed brick building
C. 1792, A distinctive_feature is the palladian window
in the oversized dormer, on the front slope: of the hip
roof, . : R _
(Green, unpub. notes; HCF. Stoney, This ig Charleston, 12.)

36.Broad St. -~ Built ¢. 1803 by George Keith, a master build-

~er, this building has a facade dating from c. 1877,
(Green, unpub. notes; HCF.) _ E o
37 Broad St. -- George Macaulay, a merchant built this three
~story brick building c. 1794. The cantilevered cornlce 
and window cornices were applied c. 1870o
- (Green, urmpub. notes; HCF.) ) _ :

38 Broad St. -- The State Bank of South Carolina was chartered
at this locatlon in 1801 and is presumed to have erected
this building for its use. (There is a possibility it
was built prior to that date by Dr. Philip Tidyman who
sold the property to the State Bank for L4,000.) The
State Bank was chartered as a private corporation, but
the General Assembly elec¢ted three of the 15 directors,
exchanged $300,000 in state bonds for an equal amount
of the bank's $800,000 of stock, and required all state
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funds and public and court moneys of Charleston and

" Charleston District to be deposited in the State Bank.
In 1816, the State Bank sold this building and moved
to larger quarters at present-day 28 Broad St. The
Victorian facade was apparently added soon after 1877,
when the property was purchased by Edward Barriwell as
trustee.

(Green, unput., MS; HCF. 'Wallace; 372 Greene, unpubu’
MS; SCHS. Lesesne, Bank of the State, passim.) . N

39 Broad St. :-- The Exchange Banking and Trust Company con- - =~
structed this bullding in 1891.  Charles Otto Witte,
-the bank's president, a native of Germany, :immigrated

. to Charleston in 1847 and became a prominent merchant.
Following the Civil War:- he went into banking, becoming. -
in 1870 president of the People's National Bank, and
later president of the Security Savings .Bank. He was

~ for 50 years a consul for German governments, first for
the City of Hamburg, then for the North German Confed-
eration-and finally for: the German Empire. He was also . .
consul for Austria-Hungary and vice-consul for Sweden
and Norway. He.-was knighted in. 1907 by the. German em-
. peror and decorated by the emperor of Austria and-the
~ king of Sweden. Witte lived at 172 Rutledge Ave. (now
_Ashley Hall School). e |
. (Green, unpub.: notes, HCF. Hemphill, 1:436-440.)
40¢Broad St. -- William Inglesby, a merchant tailor, built
this building ¢c.. 1806. -The facade dates from 189%91.
(Green, unpub. notes; HCF.) . _ - o
41 Broad St. ~- William Waller, a saddler, built this_strueture
¢+ 1835. .The facade dates from.c. 1870.
. (Green, unpub. notes; HCF.} R
L2 Broad St. -« William Inglesby, a merchant tailor, built
this building c¢. 1797. The present facade dates.from
;03:1850? is of cast iron, in the Italianate style.
(Green, unpub. notes; HCF.)
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b3-47? Broad St. -- Charles Love and Conrad M. Wienges, saddlers
and harness makers, purchased this site in 1855, removed
some earlier structures and constructed the present build-
ing. 1In 1870, they sold it to Charles Plenge, who added
the pressed tin cornice with his name. The "Hat Man"
painting on the'Church Street side of the building dates
from the late 19th century,
(Green, unpub. notes; HCF. )

46 Broad St. -- Site of Shepheard's Tavern, also known at var-

© ilous: times as Swallow's Tavern, The City Tavern and The

- Corner Tavern. Charleston’s taverns were were more than
just eating and drinking establishments, and at this lo-.

“cation occurred many historically important: events. One
was the organization of one of the first Masonic lodges
-in the United States. Solomon's Lodge No. 1, Free and

- Accepted Masons, was organized on Octs 29, 1736,.at “Nr.
Charles Shepheard's in Broad Street.” The first Scot-

. tish Rite lodge, the Supreme Council, 33rd Tegree, An-
cient and Accepted Scottish Rite of Free Masonry, was
organized at the same location in 1801. The first record
of a theatrical season in Charleston, and one of the
first in the country, is an announcement in the South-

‘ Carolina Gazette, Jan. 11, 1735, that on the following
24th, a tragedy called The Orphan, or The Unhappy Mar-
riage, by Thomas Otway, would be "attempted" in "the
Courtroom.” The “Courtroom" was the long room of Shep-
heard's Tavern, which was rented for several years prior
to 1738 to the provincial government for meetings of the

‘court, since the Province had no suitable building and
the Governor and Council could not agree on where onhe
should be built. The use of the same rcom for court
sessions and entertainments was not unusual. A dancing
master, Henry Holt, gave a ball in the Courtroom a momnth
before The Orphan was presénted there. :(The Qrphan was
not the first theatrical production in Charleston. Tony
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‘A'ston, an English actor, in 1703, wrote and acted what
“was probably the first professional dramatic performance
wrltten and acted 1n the ‘American colonlesu) Shepheard's'
was also one ‘of the city's post offices. In 1743, Shep-

heard reoelved and distributed mail arr1v1ng on ships and:
by land. In 1773, 'when the establishment was Swallow's.
_Tavern, the first Chamber of Commerce in America was
formed; Banquets were glven for arr1v1ng Royal Govern-
ors at Shepheard's Tavern (also at Dillon's and Poin-.
sett's taverns). :The St. Andrew's Society, and other
fraternal organizations in the city, held their meetings
and dinners at Shepheard's (and at Dillen's, Kerr's, etc.).
The Corner Tavern {and Charles Town's other taverns) also

" hosted meetings of the Sons of Liberty during the Revolu-
tionary pericd.  The City Tavern burned in 1796 but was

- soon replaced. The tavern building was demolished in

1928 for the construction, in 1928-29, of the present
building. The Classic style building, faced with Indiana -
limestone, cost $280,000 to build. 0laf Otto, designer
of ‘the Savannah River Bridge, was the civil'engineer,
architect and builder of the structure, for the Citizens

~and Southern Bank. ~The Citizens and Southern Bank was
organized as the Citizens-BankoofoSavannahfand-merged with
the Southern Bank of the State of Georgia to become the

- Citizens:and Southern Bank in 1906 :

~ (Cohen, South Carolina Gazette, passim. Walsh, Sons of
Liberty, 48. Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinck-

- neys, 82. .Thompson, “"Postal History." Fraser, 34.
Whitelaw & Levkoff--169-o . “HSM, " DYKYC, April 8',"1935n

- Bowes, 119, 121-122.) - R S

49 Broad St. --'Built c. 1740 by Benjamin Smith, a mérchant,

this: three story, stuccoed brick building with a dentil

- cornice and quoins,. retains Georglan paneling on the up—.

per level. "The first level fenestration has been changed.
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several times, the latest change being made in 1963,

The bulldlng is often called the Paul House because 1t
was purchased in 1819 by Dunbar_Paul and remained in his
family for nearly a century. The Paulé_operated a gro-.
cery store here untll 1901. The wrought iron balcony is
_con81dered one of the best examples of 18th century iron-
work in the Clty.

(Green, unpub. notes; HCF. Thomas, DYKYC, dct_. 23, 1968
Deas, 58-59. Stoney, This iS'Charleston, 12, Mazyck & -
Waddell, illus. 5l.) . .

50 Broad St. -- The Bank of South Garollna, organlzed c, 1792

and_chartered in 1801, built this substantial structure
in 1797-98. The-Tmshaped~building ig two storiles of
brick on a raised brick basement. The facade has a ped-
imented, slightly projecting center pavillion. Keystone
arches deliniate the central entrance, the lunette in the
pediment and two niches on the Church Street side, while
other windows have lintels with keystones and voussoirs;
all these features are of white marble. In 1802, the
bank became the object of:the.dafing-”ground mole plot"
in which one Withers entered a drain under the sireet
near the bulilding and for three months tunnelled his way
toward the vaults, living underground and being supplied
with food and water by an accomplice, whose carelessness
ultimately betrayed the "mole." The vault was never en-
tered. The bank remained here until 1835, when it moved
to Broad and East Bay Streets. The Charleston Library
‘Society acquired the_building~in_1835 and maintained its
. library here until 1914, when it moved to King Street.
The collection of the South Carolina Historical Soclety,
through the courtesy of the Library Socilety, was located
in the building from 1875 to 1914. During the ILibrary
Society's occupancy, the building was Victorianized with
the addition of an elaborate pediment and bracketted
cornice. The building was purchased in 1916 by the
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Charleston Chamber of Commerce, which remained here until
1966. In that year, the Citizens and Southern National

- Bank bought the building, removed the 19th century roof-
line embellishments, rehabilitated the interior and re-
plicated the wrought iron fence, based on photographs of
the original. The award-winning garden was designed by

- landscape’ architect Robert Marvin of Walterboro.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Dec. 11, 1978. Clark, History of the
Banking Ingtitutions, 42-43, 50-56, Ramsay, 2:6. Stoney,
unpub. notes. Debnam, unpub. MS. Mazyck & Waddell,
illus. 41. Stoney, Thisg is Charleston, 12. Wallace,

372, B26-428, 579.)

51-53 Broad St. -- This double building was built c. 1740 by

- Benjamin Smith, a merchant;-the_present facade, however,
dates from 1899. A photograph of 1883 shows a three arnd -
one-half story masonry bullding with a-high hipped roof
and a mid-19th century storefront. The present facade -
"has an oversized gable obscuring the original roof, a
-large balcony on the upper level and two bay windows,
anhd stylized Renaissance Revival details typical of the

.-turn of the century. The building is designated a Na-
tional Historic Landmark as the studio of sculptor Clark
Mills (1815-83), who came to Charleston in the 1830s.
The Onondaga, N.Y., native was a pioneer in casting
bronze statues in the United States. While at 51 Broad,
Mills designed the bust of John C. Calhoun (1845) which
ig now. in City Hall. In 1848, he was commissioned to do.
an equestrian statue of Andrew Jackson, for Lafayette
Square, Washington, D. C. He cast Thomas Crawford's de-
sign for the allegorical statue, "Freedom," for the U.S.
Capitol dome. Subsequently, the bullding housed the law’
office of Thomas P. Stoney, Mayor of Charleston, 1923-31
and author of the Cify's preservation ordimance.

(Stockton, umpub. notes. Thomas, DYKYC, Sept. 23, 1968,

Green, unpub. notes; HCF. Mazyck & Waddell, illus. 51.
CEP, Dec. 20, 1965.}
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5y Broad St. -- This three and one-half story, stuccoed brick.
building is said to have been built for the Geiger fami-
1y, c. 1771, by Peter and ‘John Adam Horlbeck, with mater -
ials left over from building the Exchange. ThHe Horlbeck
brothers were contractors for building the Exchange in

- 1767-71. From 1870 to 1905, this was the office of

Henry Ficken, Mayor of Charleston in. 1891-95.
(Nielsen, DYKYC, Feb, 17, 1936, Ravenel, Architects,
46-47, Deas, 72. Green, urpub. notes* HCF.- Stoney,
Thig is Charleston, 12.) S SO

‘55 and 57 Broad St. -- These two bOW"fTOHted bulldlngs were

built in 1907 by T. K. and Alex Marshall brokers.
(Green, unpub. notes; HCF.) - - . Sl
56 58 Broad St. -- This double bulldlng was constructed in
two stages (No. 58, c. 1798 and No. 56, c¢. 1800) by Jomn
Geddes, attorney and Republican politician.. He was _
Speaker of the House,-dnd Governor, 1818-20. Geddes and
‘his son were "damned" by Edward P. Simons in a political
campaign in 1823. In the resulting duel, the younger
Geddes was shot through both thighs and Simons was kllled.
From 1869 to 1874, 58 Broad was the location of the
Charleston branch of the Freedman'’s Bank, a national bank
for blacks. The Charleston branch had 5,500 depositors -
- and about $350,000 in deposits in 1873, but. mlsmanagement
at other branches and manipulations by white New York _ _
financiers caused the bank to fail in 1874.  The Freedman's
Bank did some renovation of the building when it occupied |
the premises, but the present facade treatment of 56 and
.58 Broad appears to date from a later perlod in the Vic-
torian era.

(Green, unpub. notes; HCF. Stockton, I¥KYC, July 18, 1983.
Wallace, 368, 370, 494, Charleston Daily Courier, June

29, 1871. Taylor, 68-69. Wllllamson, 178- 179 Abbott,
109-111. Franklin, 310-321.) :

- 59 Broad St. -This two story office building was.éohstructed
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"in 1940 for Triest & Sholk, real estate and insurance _
agency, who engaged Charleston architect Archie B. Myers -
- to design the structure and contractor Sam Ginsberg to

~build it. In 1984, plans were drawn by Liollio Associates

Inc., Charleston architects, for adding a third story
to the building, for the current owner, Mrs. Minnie
Sherman.

(Stockton, unpub. MS; HCF.)

60-64 Broad St. -- The Confederate Home. Behind the exuber-

ant Victorian facade is a double tenement built c. 1800
by Gilbert Chalmers, a master builder, who put a covered
passageway through the center of the building. In 1834,
the property was purchased by Angus Stewart who operated -
the Carolina Hotel here. The hotel was subsequently con-
tinued by Archibald McKenzie., He rented the building in
1867 to the Home for the Mothers, Widows, and Daughters
of Confederate Soldiers, also known as the Confederate
Home. The institution was founded in 1867 by Mrs. Mary
Amarinthia Snowden and her sister Mrs. Isabell S. Snow--

den. The two women mortgaged their home to help finance = -

the home, which filled a need at a desperate time in
the history of the area. The building also housed the
Confederate College which provided educational opportun-

ities for young ladies until the early 1920s. Dr. Charles.

S. Vedder, for 50 years pastor of the Huguenot Church,
and other individuals taught at the Confederate College
without salary. The Confederdate Home purchased the
property in 1874, The middle section with the canti-
levered pilazza (having no visible support) was built
between 1872 and 1882. The home also took over the for-
mer United States Court facilities to the rear (see 23-25
Chalmers St.). The building was severely damaged in the
1886 earthquake., It was repaired with donations from
throughout the country in 1887. At that time, the Viec-

torian facade, with the mansard roof and fanciful dormers, .
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was constructed. The Confederate Home today (1984) is -
made up of apartments of varying sizes, available mainly
to people of retirement age, and a few offices and stu-
dios. The former U.S. Court Room and the rear pilazza,
overlooking the large tree-shaded courtyard, are now
used for the Home's ammual "tea room" in the Spring;

(Stogkton, DYKYC, Nov. 22, 1976. Green, unpub. notes;
HCF. ‘

61 Broad St. -- This tall brick building in the Federal style
was built ¢. 1815, by Robert Downie, a2 tinsmith.
(Green, unpub. notes; HCF.) |

63 Broad St. -- Robert Downie also built this brick house

sometime after purchasing the site, with a wooden house

on it, in 1834, The Renaissance Revival facade treatment

and pro jecting cornice probably date from the 189%90s,
(Green, unpubs notes; HCF.)

65 Broad St. -- Thomas Fleming bought this site in 1725 and
was 1living in this gambrel-roofed house when he made
his will in 1745. Fleming was a planter. The present
facade, with the masking parapet, is believed to date
from the late 1840s or early '50s.
(Green, unpub. notes; HCF.)

66 Broad St. -- This one story brick bullding in the Greek
Revival style was built as an office by Dr. Samuel Wil-
son, 2 physician. The present facade was added, c. 1844,
to the ¢. 1800 building,
(Green, unpub. notes; HCF. Thomas, DYKYC, Aug. 9, 1968.)

67-69 Broad St. -~ This three and one-half story building,
with a passage through the west side, was constructed be-
tween 1758 and 1765 by John Hume, 2 prominent merchant
of the period. In the 19th century it was the annex of

the famous Jones' or Mansion House Hotel, located next
door to the west. ‘
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68 Broad St. -- Daniel Ravenel built this three and one-half
 story brick single house between 1796 and 1800, It
-stands on prcperty_acquired by Isaac MaZyck, the immi-
grant, in 1710. Mazyck left the lot to his daughter, . =
Charlotte, in 1749. Ten years later she married the
second [aniel Ravenel of Wantoot. This house replaced
'a previous house which burned in the fire of 1796, and
is in: the Adamesque style then new to Charleston. The
property continues to be occupled (1984) by descendants
- of Isaac Mazyck and Daniel Ravenel, having been some .
275 years in the same family.
(Green, unpub. MS; SCHS. Stoney, This is Charleston, 13)
71 Broad St. -- Site of the William Burrows House, Jones’
Hotel, the Mansion House. William Burrows, Bsq., built
his three and'one—half story wooden mansion here in 1772 -
74. Burrows was an attorney, Master in Chancery (1761), .
Assistant Justice (1762) and Justice (1764) and held more:
than 10,000 acres. His country seat was Magnoliza Umbra
Plantation, now the site of Magnolia and St. Lawrence
cemeteries. His heirs sold his town house in 1784 to -
Thomas Hall, Postmaster. ' It was purchased from Hall's
estate in 1815 by Jehu Jones, a free black man. Jones
had bought, in 1809, the former Moultrie house to the
west, and opened a hotel. After purchasing the Burrows
House, Jones sold the Moultrie house in 1816 to St. Mi-
chael's Church, which demolished it to extend the church-
yard. Jones continued to operate his hotel in the Bur-
rows House until his death in 1833. The English traveler,
Thomas Hamilton, who stayed at Jones' Hotel in 1832,
wrote: "Every Englishman who visits Charleston, will, if
he be wise, direct his baggage to Jones's hotel." Famous
guests included artist Samuel F. B. Morse and architect
William Jay, and the English actress Fanny Kemble. The
name, Jones' Hotel, was retained until 1852 when Mrs.




129

Jane Davis rented the property and renamed it the Man-
sion House, a title she had previously used for her ho-
tel at Meeting and Queen streets. After the Civil War,
the establishment degenerated into a boarding house. It
was purchased in 1928 by a buyer who planned to rebuild
it on the Ashley River, outside the city. The house was
carefully‘dismantled; but then the Great Depression in- -
tervened and the architectural elements remained in
storage for nearly 30 years. In 1959, the drawing room
of the Burrows house was installed in the Winterthur -
Museum. The preseht two story masonry office building.
was built in 1930 by Henry Schachte & Sons, insurance
and real estate brokers.

- (Green, unpub. notes; HCF., Simons & Simons, "William
Burrows." s "William Burroughs." Rogers, Charles-
ton in the Age of the Pinckneys, 146. Ravenel, Archi-
tects, 110.)

The Four Corners of law is the rame applied by Ripley, author
of "Believe It Or Not," to the four corners of Broad and
Meeting Streets. These four corners were set apart in
the Grand Modell of Charles Town for a "church, town house

and other public structures,” and have always been oc~
cupied by public structures. St. Michael's represents
canon law, City Hall represents municipal law, the Court
House represents state law, and the U.S. Court House and
Post Office represents federal law; according to Ripley.
(Leland, Charleston; Crossroads of History, 6.)

80 Broad St. -~ City Hall., This Adamesque style building was
erected 1In 1800-01 for the Charleston branch of the first
Bank of the United States. It stands on the site set
agide for a public market in the Grand Modell. The Beef
Market, built here jugt prior to 1739, stood until 1796,
when it was destroyed by fire. 1In 1800 the City Council

conveyed this property to the Bank of the U.S. "for the
purpose of erecting an Elegant Bullding thereon for a
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Banking House." The Charlegton branch, one of eight in

the country, was known as the O0ffice of Discount and De- -

posit. The branch was located at 100 Church Street -
before this building waS'erected;  The design of the
building is attributed to fBabriel Manigault (1758-1809),
"sentleman architect.” Manigault, who studied in Europe
and came home in 1780 with a substantial-architectural_ _
library, is credited with introducing the Adamesque style
to Charleston. An 1800 néwspaper account names Edward
Magrath and Joseph Nicholson as the "architects"™ of the
building, and Andrew Gordon as the "builder."” The term
"architect" was used often interchangeably with "builder"
at +the time. Magrath and Nicholson submitted a plan for
the South CGarolina College competition in 1802; their en--
try was unsuccessful but commended by the committee.
Magrath and Nicholson were usually identified .as carpen? ,
ters, It is theorized that they did the carpentry, while .
Gordon, who was a mason, did the brickwork; such divi-
sion of labor was common. The attribution of the design
to Manigault comes from a family history written by his-
grandsons (whose veracity concerning hig other designs
has not been questioned). The building is more elabor-
ately decorated than Manigault's other bulldings but
shares other characteristics with them, especially the
semi-circular projection. on the north side (originmally -
containing a stair) and the round windows in the base-
ment; both these features are also found on the Joseph
Manigault House, which he designed. Tradition says the
marble trim wag brought, ready-cut, from Philadelphia,
where it had been imported from Italy, for a house which'-'
Lewis Morris planned but never bullt. Congress declined =
to regrant the Bank's charter in 1811 and it was forced
out of business., According to stipulations of the 1800
deed the United States conveyed the property back to the




City in 1818 and it has been used as City Hall since then.
The interior, which had been a large open room surrounded
by a gallery,'was converted into two stories in 1839 by
the German architect Charles Reichardt (designer of the
Charleston Hotel and the Guard House). In 1882 a new
roof was put on and the red bricks, laid in Flemish bond,
~were covered with stucco. The Victorian council cham-
ber was installed during the 1882 remodeling. The cham-
ber's walls were refaced with narrow paneling following

" the 1886 earthquake and the ceiling of polychrome panels
was installed around the turn of the century. The room
is filled with an important collection of portralts and .
other paintirgs, the largest of which is John Trumbull ‘s
1791 portrait of George Washington. The painting Fire
Masters of Charleston depicts the City Hall's exterior
before the stuccoing. Other works include Charles Fra-
ser's miniature of Lafayette, Samuel F.B. Morse's por-.
trait of James Monroe, Vanderlyn's portrait of Andrew
Jackson.

(Fraser, 33, Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 259-260,
Whitelaw & Levkoff, 42. Rogers, Charleston in the Age
of the Pinckneys, 58, 86. Ravenel, Architects, 61-63,
67-70, 98-103, 180. Mazyck & Waddell, illus. 7, 9. Ise-
ley & Cauthen, 13, Deas, 84-85. Year Book. . . 1882,
205-209, Stoney, Thig is Charleston, 14. Deeds, A6-233,
B7-317. Debnam, unpub. MS.)

83 Broad St. -- U.S. Court House and Post Office Building.
This site, like the other three corners of Broad and
Meeting streets, was set aside in the Grand Modell for
public use. The "Ichnography" of 1739 shows this corner
of the public square ds vacant. Between 1767 and 1769,
William Rigby Naylor (designer of the Exchange) and James
Brown built a Guard House (police station). The building
was two stories of brick with an imposing pediment and
four Tuscan columns. The portice, projecting over the
pavement and obstructing the passage, was removed. A




third'etory'was added whieh, Fraeer said, "made it a very
shapeleSS structure. But it accomodated’ sundry public
offlcers, whlch Wwels paramount to all con31derat10ns of

taste. " In addltlon to_the Guard, the building housed

the Secretary of State, the Register of Mesne Conveyance

N and_SurVeyor General. . The 17887fireamap_of Charleston
' shows a second building to the south of the Guard House,
~designated the Treasury and the Auditor General s Office.

Naylor's altered Guard House was taken down in 1838 and
replaced by one designed by the German architect Charles
F. Reichardt (architect of the Charleston Hotel). The

- building showed the influence of the Berlln archltect

Karl Frledrlch ‘Schinkel (1781-1841) who was said to

‘have been Reichardt's teacher,‘lnﬁlts austere massiveness

and'especially in the monumental collonade of 11 Doric
columns on the Meeting Street side and six on the Broad
Street side. Once-again, practical considerations pre-

‘vailed over artistic, however, and the collonade along
the east side was removed in 1856 to widen Meeting Street.
' Reichardt’s Guard House remained in use until 1886, when

it was damaged so severely by the earthquake that it was

' taken downu-:Miraculou31y, 30 men sleeping in the upper

story when the earthquake occurred._eecaped.unhurt. pur -
ing.the demolition of the structure, the famous “Sword
Gates™ which were made by Christopher Werner and possibly
de31gned by Reichardt, were saved, and were installed at

a 1ater date in the Lesesne Gate at The Citadel. (Trad-
ition says Werner misunderstood his order for the gates

and made an extra pair, whlch a decade later were installed

' by George Hopley in front of his house at 32 Legare St.) 7
A new Police Department building was constructed at King

and Hutson streets, adjacent to the 0ld Citadel. The
U.S. Court House and Post Office, in the Renaissance Re-
vival style, was completed in 1896. The design is attrib-
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uted to John Henry Dev.ereux; Charleston architect. The
grey granite building, with its squére tower, heavy balus-
| traded balconies, rusticated base and quoins, classic
| d'o'or and window surrounds, great double doors and hi.gh.'
' ari_d broad flights of steps,. is designed to resemble an
Italian Rena issance palace. The Post 0ffice lobby has
an 1mpre351ve brass-railed stalrcase, stone columns. and
" wood paneling.

(Stockton, DYKYC, June 11, 1979. Whitelaw & Levko ff, 70:.
Rogers, Charleston in the 8ge of the Pincknheys, 58.
Ravenel, Architects, 36, 180, 266. Deas, 32, Fraser,
101, Thompson. Mazyck & Waddell, illus 11. “Ichnog-
raphy," 1739.  "Ichnography," 1788. Deeds, B7-317.)

85-87 Broad St. - Josiah Smith, a wealthy me.r-"«chan't. built
this double building after purchasing the site in 1795.
- In 1797 he conveyed 85 Broad to his son William ‘Steirens
i . | Smith, an a‘ttorney and 87 Broad to his son Samuel Smith,
| ' a factor. Eighty-five Broad was purchased from the. heirs -
of William Stevens Smith in 1863 by George Alfred C[h:-en- ,
L o '7 holm, a par‘tner in the blockade runmng flrm, John Fras-
| o ~er & Co., and Confederate Secretary of the Treasury.
Eighty-seven Broad was purchased from the Smith family
" in 1859 by Dr. William H. Huger, a physician,- who main-
tained his office there until 1878. The two halvee of .
~ the property were united again in 1878-79 by Simon Fo-
| gartle. a grocer and llquor dealer, whose family re-
tained the property until 1919. Since 85-87 Broad was
tuilt by Josiah Smith as res:.dences for his sons, ra'ther
than as tenements, he finished the bulldmg inside and
o_u't with considerable taste and attention to detail. _
The three and one half story building is of Charleston |
grey brick, laid in Flemish bond, and has the proportlons
and style of the Adamesque or Federal period. The arched
entrance formerly was a passageway extendlng through the
 building. ~The first floor was restored to its former

e
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appearance, based on old photographs, in 1976,

(Stockton, umpub. MS. ____ -, DYKYG, April. 4, 19??
Gieen, unpub. notes; HCF. Stoney, Thls ig Charleston,
14,

88 Broad St. -- William Trescott, between 1811 and 1813, built
| this substantial three story brick building and. in the
latter year leased it to the Bank of the State of South
Carolina (note: the'plaque on the building erroneously.
says the building was occupied by the first Bank of the
United States prior to 1800.) The bank moved to present-
day 19 Bread in 1817. The property was purchased in-
1833 by the Hebrew Orphan Society. Founded in 1801, the -
Soclety had its meeting hall and school on the premisesa
Except for a brief periocd in the 1860s, the Society dld
not maintain an orphanage, but domlclled orphans with
selected families. Said Flzas, the Jewish higstorian: _
"In this way, in addition to the pecuniary assistance
- glven, the misfortune of orphanage was softened and the
. 1little ones were permitted to live in a healthful-familye"
~atmosphere.” Following the great fire of 1838 which
destroyed the synagogue on Hasell Street, the congrega- .
tion of Beth Elohim worshiped here until the present
synagogue was completed in 1840, '

(Green, unpub. notes; HCF. Elzas, 285-287, btoney,
This is Charleston, 14. Reznifoff, 136, 155~-157.)

89 Broad St. -- This three and one-half story stuccoed brick
was built before 1786 by Paul Smyser, a planter, or after
1786 by his son-in-law, Maj. Stephen Lee, a watchmaker,
factor and planter. Smyser, who purchased the site in
1748, died in 1786, bequeathing the lot, with a house on
it, to his daughterfDorothea, who in 1784 had married
Lee. The house is more likely to have been built by
Lee, since it is in the Adamesque style which did not
become common in Charleston until some years after Smy-
ser's death. The Lees and_their'Lockwood descendants
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retained the house until 1871. - The building was rehabil-
itated in 1978, at which time Victorian facade features.
were removed and the present Colonial Revival treatment
was applied to the first floor. _
(Stockton, unpub. MS. Green, unpub. notes; HCF. Stock-
ton, DYKYC, Sept. 8, 1980.) -

90 Broad St. -- Mrs. Ann Mitchell, widow of James Mitchell,
constructed this three story brick building c¢. 1794, The
facade shows changes of ¢. 1860 and c¢. 1878, and at some
point the piazza on the east side was enclosed, with a
facade of its own.

(Green, unpub. notes; HCF.) _ _

91 Broad St. -- James Pierson, a merchant, built this three
and one-half story brick house c. 1796. A pan-tiled hip
roof 1s visible behind the late 19th century Victorian
facade. The Adamesque interior is similar to that of 89.
(Green, unpub. notes; HCF.)

92 Broad St. -~ Dr. David Ramsay’'s House 1s go called because
it was the home of Ramsay, a physician and historian.

He purchased it in 1783. Dr. Ramsay (1749-1815) was
born in Pennsylvania and was graduated from the College
of New Jersey (now Princeton) in 1765 and from the Medi-
cal School of the College of Pennsylvanla, in 1772, He
studied under Dr. Benjamin Rush of Philadelphia, who is
credited with introducing smallpox vaccination to the
United States, and Dr. Ramsay 1s credited with intro-
ducing the vaccination method to South Carolima. He
moved to South Carolina in 1773 and married, as his third
wife, Martha Laurens, daughter of Herry Laurens, later
president of the Continental Congress. Ramsay served in
the General Assembly, 1776-81 and ag an army surgeon
at the Siege of Savannah. Captured at the fall of
Charles Town in 1780, he was exiled to St. Augustine. He
served in the Continental Congress, 1782-85 and was pres-
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ident pro tempore of that body. He was president of the

S.C. Senate, in which he ‘served, 1801-15.- Dr. Ramsay's
several works on U,S. and South Carolina history were

written while he lived at 92 PBroad. Ramsay died in 1815 ..

when he was shot by a deranged patient. The house is.

~ believed t0~havé been built c. 1740, by'SolomOn.Iegaré

or by his daughter Mary who married Thomas Ellis. It

was originally a two story house. Structural changes
revealed during a 1984 restoration _indicate the upper
floor and garret were added about 1820; The front piaz-
za was probably added about the same time. The house

is attributed to a Mr., Miller, a sometime partner with
John Fullerton in the building trade, working in the
city from the mid-to-late 18th century. The house has
an asymmetfical floor plan typical of pre-1750 Charleston
houses. The Georgian interior details exhibit high '
quality as well as variety and interest. '

(Stockton, unpub. MS. Green, unpub. notes. Ravenel,
Architects, 40. Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the
Pinckneys, 103-108. Thomas, DYKYC, Aug. 26, 1968.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 14.) -

93 Broad St. -- This three story, stuccoed brick house was .

built sometime before 1788, either by Peter Bocquet, Sr .,

- & Huguenot baker who had acquired the site by 1749,*or 

by his son Peter Boecquet, Jr., a prosperous'merchaﬁt,'_
planter and politician. It was remodeled and enlarged
in the mid-1850s by James Simons, a prominent attorney
and Speaker of the S.C. House of Representatives. The
senilor Bocquet came to Charles Town by 1739, when he
married Barbara Sence in St. Philip's Church. - In 1744,
he was maturalized as a "foreign Protestant. His son,
Peter, was born the same year (see 95 Broad). The el-
der Bocguet:died in 1?83. Simons, who acquired the
property in 1850, was also of Huguenot descent. He

was an honor graduate of the South Carolina College, and
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was considered a superior equity lawyer. He served in
the South Carolina House for 20 years, including 12 as -
Speaker. In 1861, as commander of the Fourth Brigade of -
the S.C. Militia, he was in diréct command of forces 1in
the initial attack on Fort Sumter, and was commended by N
Gen. Beauregard. A difference with Gov. Francis W. Pick-
ens, . however, barred Simons from further command.- He
volunteered as a private in the Marion Artillery, where
he remained until his health forced retirement. After
the war he returned to state military service, reaching

- the rank of General. A&fter purchasing 93 Broad, Simons
had the building as his home and office, in the prevail-
ing style of the 1850s. He 'died here in 1879 but mem-
bers of his family continued to live here until the 1890s
and owned the property until 1925. His son, James Sim-
ons, Jr., who lived at 93 Broad and formed a law partner-
ship with his father here, also served as Speaker of the
S.C. House for eight years. Another son, Dr. Manning
Simons, was professor of clinical anatomy, professor of
general surgery and demonstrator in anatomy at the Medi-
cal College of South Caroclina.

(Stockton, unpub. MS, 1983. Green, unpub., notes; HCF.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 1&.)

95 Broad Sfa -- Peter Bocquef, Jr., merchant and planter, -
built this three and one-half story, stuccoed brick house
somet ime after acquiring the site as a gift from his
father in July 1770. The younger Bocgquet, 1n partner-
ship with his brother-in-law John Wagner, exported deer-
skins from 1766 to 1772. He owned several plantations
including Jones’ Plantation, containing 1,230 acres on
Stono River. Bocquet was elected to the Second Provinci-
al Congress in 1775 and served 1in the General Assembly
through the Revolutionary perilod, except during 1780-82,
when he was captured and imprisoned and subsequently
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exiled to Philadelphia by the British. Following the
Revolution, in which he was also a major in. the S.C.’

- Militia, he was a member of Gov. John Rutledge's Privy
‘Council and Commissioner of the Treasury. Socially,
“he was president of the German Friendly Society. After

1786, Bocquet lived at 74 Rutledge Ave, Bocquet's
house at 95 Broad has some of the finest.Georgian.rooms
in Charleston. The exterior has been altered. The
door on the left side of the facade dates from Charleg-
ton's Regency period, ce. 1815-25; the duplicate on the -
right is a copy. The wrought iron balcony, however,

is congidered original. ' '

(Stockton, urmpub. MS. Green, unpub. notes; HCF. Stoﬁey,
Thig is Charleston, 14. , unpub. MS; SCHS.)}

97 .Broad St. -- Mordecal Cohen, a merchant, built, c. 1835,

three identical, two and one-half story brick houses,
on high brick basements; no. 97 is the only remaining.:
(Green, unpub. notes; HCF.)

98 Broad St. -- Dr. Henry Frost apparently built the front

part of this interesting little building as his office,.
c. 1835, The rear pbrtion appears older and may have
been an outbuilding to Dr. Alexander Garden's residence,
Dr. Garden, the prominent naturalist for whom the gar-
denia is named, had a house on the large lot that is
now separated into properties known as 98 and 100 Broad
St. Since Garden was a Tory, he had to abandon the

-property when the British evacuated Charles Town in 1782,

His son, Maj. Alexander Garden, however, was a Patriot
and- hig claim was recognized by the General Assembly.
Garden's house was demolished in the early 19th century,
The rear part of 98 Broad, which has a hipped roof and’

an oversized chimney, may be the only remains of Garden's

occupancy. The front portion is in the Greek Revival

style typical of Dr. Frost's period. The first floor of
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the building contains Adamesque style woodwork from Bel-
vedere, the c. 1800 plantation house of Col. Thomas Shu-
brick on Charleston Neck. The house was purchased by
Standard 0il Co. in 1925 and demolished. Dr. William
Horlbeck Frampton, who was Standard 0il's physician, _
rescued woodwork from the plantation house and installed
some in his office here, some in his residence at 40
Rutledge Ave., and other portions subsequently in his
home at 98 King St. _

(Stockton, unpub. MS. : , DYKYC, June 5, 1978,
Green, urpub. notes; HCF.) | | -

102 Broad St. -- Dr. Hemry Frost, physician, built this three
and one half story, stuccoed brick residence in the Greek:
Revival style, c. 1844, _

(Green, unpub. notes; HCF. Stoney, This is Charlegton,

15.)

103 Broad St. -- This three story frame building was built by
Peter Brase, a grocer, who bought the lot in 1837 and re~
placed a brick house on the site. For more than 140 years
it housed the grocery business of John Hurkamp & Company
and its successors on the site, the Automatic Grocery and
the Piggly Wiggly supermarket; which closed in 1983, The.

‘building is in the Greek Revival style, with a Victorian -
storefront restored in 1984,

(Stockton, unpub. MS. Green, unpubo notess HCF. White=
law & Levkoff, 92. Rhett & Steele, 30~31. ILand, 156.
Historical and Cescriptive Review, 122-123.

104 Broad St. -- Peter Bocquet, Sr., the Huguenot immigrant
(see 93 and 95 Broad), dowered his daughter &nn in 1758
wilth this property, on which she and her husband John
Wagner built this three story brick house as thelr resi-
dence and his place of business. Wagner wasg a merchant
in the deergkin trade with hils brother-in-law, Peter
Bocquet, Jr. Their descendants included Lt. Col. Thomas
Wagner, C.S.A., for whom Battery Wagner, on Morris Island,
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was named in 1863. Co6l. Wagher, of the First Regiment
of South Carolina (regular) Artillery, lost his life at
Fort Moultrie when a gun burst.

(Stoney, unpub. MS; SCHS. Green, unpub. hofes;-HCFn .
Stoney, This is Charleston, 63. Burton, Siege of
Charleston, 152-153.)

105 Broad St. ~-,Bredenberg Building, bﬁilt”in_1879-80 by -

John J. Bredenberg of Augusta, Ga., replacing a three
- story wooden building destroyed by fire in 1879. Breden-

berg inherited the property from his brother, John
Henry Bredenberg (d. 1866), a grocer, who had bought it
in the 1850s. The three story brick building has a cast -
iron storefront, masonry quoins and a heavy cornice at
the parapet. The first two levels are of red pressed
brick while the top level and parapet are of unpressed
brick.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Jan. 19, 1981. Helen Bredenberg
Smith, letter to SCHS, no date.) '

106 Broad St. -- Lining House. The age of this structure and
the question of whether it should be called the John Lin-
ing House, continue to perplex historians, despite the
"facts" cast in bronze on the front of the buildingo: The
following is documented, however. The site was Lot 160 -
of the Grand Modell, granted in 1694 to James DeBordeaux, .
a Huguenot immigrant. The first mention of a house is
in a deed dated 1715, in which William Livingston and his
wife Ann conveyed to William Harvey, Jr., a butcher, the

corner lot "with the messuage or Tenem't thereon Standing."

The deed indicates that the "messuage or tenement" had

been standing for some time, had been rented to David Bal -

‘antine before he died and more lately rented to Harvey.
When Harvey and his wife Sarah sold the property in 1828 <
to Charles and Elizabeth Hill, it was described as having
a "large Dwelling house thereon Erected." The Hills were

N

1
"
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the parents of Sarah Lining, wife of Dr. John Lining.
Charles Hill died after making his will in 1734, leaving
the property to his wife Elizabeth, who in 1747, married
the Rev. Samuel Quincy, then of Dorchester and later of
Bewly, Hampshire. She subsequently died,.bequeathing the
property to her daughter Sarah Lining, and in 1757, Jacob
Motte, as her trustee, conveyed the property to the daugh-
ter. On March 5, 1757, Quincy gave a quit claim to John
and Sarah Lining. On the same date, they conveyed the
property to John Rattray. Lining's residences, and the
locations at which he conducted his scientific experi-
ments, have not been documented. In 1733, Dr. Lining
advertised his address as Broad Street "opposite Mr, -
Crokatt's,™ and later he moved to some other (undocumented)
place in Broad Street. To further complicate matters,

IDr. Lining owned, from 1739, two tenements on East Bay,
but is not documented as owning property on Broad Street.
Tt is tempting, for the sake of pinpointing such an his-
torical site, to speculate that he occupied this house
while it belonged to his in-laws. However, that also
remains undocumented. Dr. John Lining (l?OBfl?éo), a
rative of Scotland, came to Charles Town at the age of

22, and in 1737 began the first weather observations,

made with sclentific instruments and systematically re-
ported, on the American cdntinentn He also conducted on
himself experiments in human metabolism (1740), believed
to have been the first such expefiments made anywhere.

He corresponded with Benjamin Franklin of Philadelphia

on the subject of electricity and carried out Franklin's
famous kite and key experiment in a local thunderstorm..
Dr. Lining also made studies on yellow fever and wrote

one of the first published accounts of that disease, in
North America. The results of Dr. Lining's experiments
were published in the Transactions of the Royal Socilety
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respondence between Lining and European scientists. In
1786, the property was bought by Ann Timothy, publisher

of the Gazette., The Gazette had been founded in 1731 by"

Thomas Whitmarsh, a protege of Benjamin Franklin. He was
replaced in 1734 by another Franklin protege, Lewis Timo-. -
thee (Timothy), a Huguenot. When Lewis died in 1738, his -
widow Elizabeth, with the help of her half-grown son Peter,

.continued the paper as the first woman editor and publish-

er. in America. Later Peter Timothy, aided by his wife,

the former Ann Donovan, made the South Carolina Gazette

a major Patriot organ. -For that reason, it was suspendéd
during the British occupation, 1780-83. In 1783, the wid-
owed Armn Timothy revived the papér as the Gazette of the-'

State of South Careclina, which, after her death in 1793
. was continued by her son Benjamin. Franklin Timothy until"

1802. During the Timothy family ownership, the paper was
published in this house. In addition, the building was
occupied by the apothecary of Dr. Andrew Turnbull, some-
time between his arrival in Charles Town in 1781 and his’
death in 1792 (the record is not clear on this point). His
was the first of a series of drug stores in the building,
and when Schwettman's{ the last establishment, closed in
1960, the apothecary shop interior was moved to the Charles-
ton Museum. Dr. Turnbull previously had founded the Greek
colony, New Smyrra, in East Florida. He refused to renounce

- his loyalty to the Crown, but remained in South Carolima

after the British evacuation in 1783. His wife Maria Gra-
cia, a native of Smyrna, is believed to have been Charles-
ton's first Greek resident. The Lining House was in dang-
er of demolition in 1961, when the Preservation Society

of Charleston boughtland restored it. The Society sold

it in 1972 for use as a private residence.

 (Stockton, DYKYC, July 12, 1978. Bull, "Lining House."

Steedman, "House of History." Aldredge. Cohen, South

Carolina Gazette, passim. Doggett, passim. Wallace,
199-200, Rogers, Charleston in the Age, 50, 95.)
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109 Broad St. -- Martin Campbell, a Charles Town merchant,

bought the site of this house in December 1773, when the
lot extended east to King Street. Campbell is presumed
to have built this house sometime after purchaging the -
property. His kinsman McCartan Campbell and his wife
Sarah sold the property in 1784, with the house on it.
'The three story frame house has a three tiered piazza
with slender turned collonettes, similar to collonettes
found on 18th century galleries in Louisiana, which are
gaid to have been inspired by West Indian prototypes.

It is possible these also are derived from examples 1in
the West Indies, with which Charleston had a lively com-
merce in the 18th century. This house was scheduled for
demolition for a townhouse project when it was rescued
by the Preservation Society of Charleston in 1962.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 26, 1978. CEP, Aug. 13, 1962,
Stoney, This is Charleston, 15.) .

110 Broad St. -- This three story stuccoed brick house.was:

built by William Harvey, c¢. 1728, after in that year
selling to Charles and Elizabeth Hill his house at Broad
and King (the Lining House, now 106 Broad). Harvey is
identified in the 1728 deed as a butcher, but in his will,
dated 1739, he called himself "gentleman," a progression
in status which illustrates the fluidity of South Carolina
society at the time. Ralph Izard, a planter, purchased
the property in 1756. His descendant, Ralph Stead Izard,
sold. the property in 1837 to his uncle and aunt, Joel
Roberts Poinsett and Mary Poinsett - (the former Mrs. John
Julius Pringle); she was a granddaughter of Ralph Izard.
Poinsett is best known, not because he was for many years
in Congress, Minister to Mexico and U.S. Secretary of War;
but because the Poinsettia is named for him. The Polmsetts
sold in 1858 to Judge Mitchell King, a municipal jJjudge
~and for many years a trustee of the College of Charleston.
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The property remained in Judge King's family into the
20th century. One of his family who lived 1in the house
wag the Hon. George D. Bryan, Mayor of Charleston.

The plan of the_hoﬁse is asymmetrical and similar to

. those of other early Charleston houses, especially-the
George Eveleigh House, 39 Church St., but Harvey's house

is on a larger scale and the finish is more élaborate._
The wrought iron balcony is a notable feature of the
facade. The entrance surround has the attermated pro-

portions and delicate decoration of the Adamesque period

and therefore represents an alteration. Other changes
included the addition of two marble mantelpieces in the
drawing room, brought from Italy by Mrs. Poinsett. In
the rear are two outbuildings, including one in the Goth-

ic Revival style. _
(Stockton, DYKYC, June 26, 1978. Stoney, This ig Charles-~

& Lapham, 78-79.)

ton, 16. Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 249-253, Simons

114 Broad St. -- Col. Thomas Pinckney, Jr., House. Thig sub-

stantial brick house was begun c¢. 1790 by Ralph Izard,

a planter, but it remained unfinished at his death. In
the division of his estate, the unfinished house was
devised to a daughter, who died urmarried, whereupon the

still unfinished house was sold in 1829 to Col. Pinckney, _—

who finished the house. Col. Pinckney was a son of Gens.
Thomas Pinckney of 14 George St., and married Elizabeth
Izard, daughter of the man who began construction of the:
house. The house is distinguished by its portico of
four columns on an arcaded base, with curving steps on

- either side. The Confederate commander, Gen. Pierre

G. T. Beéuregard; had his headquarters here from the-ehd:
of August 1863, to December 1863. During that time he

was visited here by Confederate President Jefferson Davis.

In 1866, Col. Pinckney's daughter, Rosetta Ella, who mar -
ried her cousin Ralph Stead Izard, and was then a widow,
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sold the property to the Right Rev. Patrick N. Lynch,
Roman Catholic Bishop of Charleston. He and his succes=
sors have maintained their residence here since then.

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Housges, 250. Sparkman, "Beaure--
gard's Headquarters.™ Stoney, This: is Charleston, 16.)

116 Broad St. -- John Rutledge House. Tradition (undocumented) -
says John Rutledge (1739-1800) built thls house c. 1763
for his bride, 19-year-old Elizabeth Grimke. It is not
known when Rutledge acquired the property, which he sold
in 1790, Subsequent documents identify it as "formerly
the residence of Mr;'Rutledge.“ Rutledge was a member
of the South Carolina Assembly, the Stamp Act Congress,
the Continental Congress and the U.S. Constitutional
Convention. He was President or "Dictator" of South
Carolina, 1776-78, and Governor of the state, 1779-82.

He was Chief Justice of South Carolina and Associate Jus-
tice of the U.S. Supreme Court, and served a term as Chief
Justice of the U.S., although unconfirmed-by the Senate.
Rutledge is buried in St. Michael's Churchyard. Somet ime
after 1790, the property was acquired by Gen. John McPher -
son, a Revolutionary Patriot and a prominent figure on the
South Carolina turf. He was among several horse breeders
credited with improving the state's stock of horses and
with maintaining the high standard of racing which made

the South Carolina Jockey Club famous in the annals of
racing at a time when it was the "sport of gentlemen." The
house was sold by his family in 1836 to the Right Rev.

John England, Roman Catholic Bishop of Charleston, whose
executors sold it in 1843. Ten years later it was acquired
by Thomas Norman Gadsden, a real estate broker and slave -
trader. Gadsden, in 1853, engaged the Swedish architect,
P.H. Hammarskold, to remodel the house, adding terra cot-
ta window cornices similar to those on the Mills House
Hotel, and the iron balcony, posts, curving step rail and
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fence,. The two story brick kitchen with Gothic arched _
windows is also by Hammarskold. The irorwork is attribu-
ted to Christopher Werner, as it incorporates two. of his

- favorite motifs: the palmetto tree of South Carolina and
the eagle of the United States. The ironwork is also an -
combination of wrought and cast iron work. The drawing
room on the second floor is large and has a coved ceiling.
In this room the United States Courts sat for a time after

the Civil War, until the Federal Goverrment bought the
Charleston Club House, which stood in the present Post
0ffice Park on Meeting Street. Arthur Barnwell, who

acquired the property from Gadsden's family in 1885, re-

modeled the interior, installing eight Italian marble
mantelpieces from England and parquetry floors of three
kinds of wood, copied from European palaces. It is said.
the carpenter, Noisette, +took eight years to put in the.
floors. Barnwell sold the property in 1902 to Robert
Goodwyn.Rhett, who was Mayor of Charleston, presidenf of

the Peoples Bank (which built the Peoples Building) and
one of the developers of North Charleston. During Rhett's -

owner ship, William Howard Taft, U.S. President and Chief
Justice, was several times a weekend guest. Tradition

.says that it was during the Rhetts' residence hére that

their butler, William Deas, invented she crab soup.

(Ravenel, Architects, 240, 242-243, Smith & Smith, Dwell -
ing Houses, 254-255, Stoney, This is Charleston, 16,
Barry, Mr. Rutliedge, pagsim. Wallace, 256-257, 290-293,
339. Rosen, 129, 143, Ravenel, Charleston, The Place
and the People, 161, 172, 225-227, 255, 319-320, L00,
Stockton, DYKYC, March 24, 1975, Nielsen, LDYKYC, Feb,

10, 1936. Rhett, Gay, Woodward & Hamilton, 2-3.)

117 Broad St. -- Edward Rutledge House. This large two story

wooden house on a high brick basement was built, ¢. 1760,
by James Laurens, on the Broad Street end of the former

Orange Garden. Laurens, a merchant and brother of Henry
Iaurens, the President of the Continental Congress, died
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in France about the end of the Revolution. In 1788, his
executors sold the property to Edward Rutledge, a signer
of the Declaration of Independence. The younger brother
of John Rutledge, he was also a2 delegate to the Continent-
al Congress and a captaln of artillery during the Revolu-
tion. He was captured by the British in 1780 and deport-
ed to St. Augustine. After the Revolution he developed

a lucrative law practice. Politically he was first a
Federalist; then turned Republican, but was moderate
enough to appeal to both parties, which led to his elec~
tion as Governor of South Carolina in 1798. He intro-
duced the bill in the South Carolina Assembly to abolish
primogeniture. In 1790, President George Washington
offered him a Federal judgeship, but he declined it.

He died in 1800 and is burled opposite the south door

of St. Philip's; surprisingly, the very full inscription
on his stone does not mention his signing the Declaration.
Originally a Géorglan house, said to have been built by -
a Mr. Miller, of the Miller & Fullerton building partner-
ship, the house was expanded and Victorianized by Capt.
Frederick W. Wagener, whose family acquired it in 1885,
Capt. Wagener was a wealthy wholesale grocer, a horse -
breeder and racer at Lowndes Grove, then-known.as the
Wagener Farm, and president of the South Carolina Inter- :
state and West Indian Exposition. The house was purchased
in 1935 by Dr. Jogsiah Smith, who remodeled the exterior

in the Colonial Revival style. In 1965, it was purchased
by the Bishop of Charleston for use as a convent. Sut-
sequently, it once again became a private home.

(Stockton, unpub. notes. Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses,
247 -248, Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys,
60. Ravenel, Architects, 40. Ravenel, Charleston, the
Place and the People, 185, 193-194, 228, 261, 288, 400-
401, Wallace, 347-349,)

118 Broad St. -~ Site of the St. Andrew's Society Hall. The
Society wags founded in 1729 bty Scots and is the oldest of
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its name in the world. The hall was designed by Hugh-
Smith (1782~1826), a merchant and "gentleman architect,"

- and built in 1814-15. It was a two story brick building

with a pediment and fbur engaged Ionic columns, and round—-
and” square-headed windows. . The iron fence across the '

front was added in 1819. In 1819 the hall sheltered

President . James Monroe; then on his southern tour, and
in 1825 it housed the Marquis de Lafayette. Daniel

. Webster was the guest of the New England Society at a

dinner here in 1847. For years the balls of the Jockey
Club and the St. Cec111a Society were held here. The
hall's most historic mament was 1: 15 p.m., December 20,
1860,:when by a unanimous vote, a convention adopted the-
Ordinénce_of Secegsion, withdrawing the state from the.
Union. It was signed that evening at the South Carolina

~ Institute Hall on Meeting Street. Ironicaly, both meet ~

ing places were destroyed in the great fire of 1861, On~
ly the iron fence and the.flagstone pavement laid in _ |
front of the hall are still there. The Society never
rebuilt.

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 255. Deas, 92-93,
Whitelaw & Levkoff, 14-15. Rogers, Charleston in the :
Age of the Pinckneys, 6. Ravenel, Architects, 105-106.)

119 Broad St. -~ Morton Waring's Hodseo Waring, a wealthy fac-

tor, bought the site from Mrs. Ann Middleton in 1803 and
built the house by 1807, when it was advertised for sale.,
The embargo acts of the Jefferson administration adverse-
ly affected Charleston business operations, including
Waring's. He divided the property into three lots, sell-.
ing two to the Freemason's Hall Company and the eastern
lot, with this house on it, to Mordecai Cohen, in 1811.
Cohen bought back the adjoining pfoPerty in 1818. Cohen,
a native of Poland, came to the United States a poor ped-
ler, but amassed a fortune as a merchant, real estate
speculator and banker, until, by 1830 he was regarded as
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"second only to James Adger as the wealthiest man in South
Carolima." 1In 1825, Cohen loaned his gold dinner service
to the City for a banquet in honor of Iafayette, Cohen

is sald to have lost most of his fortune as a result of
the great fire of 1838. He sold the house in 1844 to John
L, Hedley, who so0ld it in 1851 to the successful merchant
and factor William B, Smith. His daughter married I. K.
Heyward. The Heyward family faced the street front with
marble and made other changes, c¢. 1900. The house, how-
ever, retains many of its Adamesque features of c. 1803,

The property was purchased in 1957 by the Roman Catholic
Diocese of Charleston for use by several diocesan offices.

(Green, unpub. MS; SCHS. Stoney, N&C, March 16, 1958,
» Thig is Charleston, 16,

122 Broad St. -- Cathedral of St. John the Baptist. This
property was once the Vauxhall Gardens, a post-Revolution-
ary "circug" or pleasure ground for entertainments.and
plays. It was purchased by the Right Rev. John England,
Bishop of Charleston, for the Roman Catholic Church in
1821, England was the first bishop of the Diocese, which
“when established in 1820 included South Carolina, North
Carolina and Georgia, in which there were an estimated
1,000 Catholics. Bishop England dedicated a simple wooden
chapel in 1821. The first cathedral on the site, named
St. Finbar's and St. John's, was designed by Patrick Charles
Keely, a Brooklyn-based architect who designed literally
hundreds of churches throughout the country, and who was 7
said to have been a student of Pugin. Constructed 1850-54,
the cathedral was destroyed in the great fire of 1861,

Fire insurance on the building had lapsed through an
oversight, before the fire. The 1861 fire also destroyed
the rectory, the Seminary Library of 17,000 volumes and
other valuable property. The congregation worshiped at
Hibernian Hall for a time after the fire. In 1869, the
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Pro-Cathedral was built at 105 Queen Sf;; as an interim
place of worship. A bequest of $48,832 from John McKeegan
initiated the rebuilding of thefCathedral. ‘The ruins of = |

" the old Cathedral were removed to build the present one

between_lé90 and 1907, Keely also'designed the preSent
Cathedral, which has the same overall form and similar -
dimensions'but'entirely different detailing. The intended
steeple was never built. The building is constructed of
Connecticut brownstone, with star-shaped indentations on
the surface, Keely was_assiéted by a local architect,
Decimus C. Barbot. The builder of the cathedral was first

Henry L. Cade, who died and was succeeded by Henry Oliver. .

Keely also designed the altars and episcopal throne in the 
interior. The stained glass was made by Meyer & Company
of Munich. The style of the building has been described
as being patterned after German Gothic churches of the
14th century. The gates-and fence, which date from the

- 18508, are of a simple design.

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pincknevs, 115,
Rhett & Steele, 26-27. 0'Connell, Catholicity in the
Caroliras, 38-55, 61-65. Whitelaw & Levkoff, 43. Leger-
ton, 66-87, ‘Fraser, Reminiscenceg, 122, Ravenel, Srchi-
tects, 254-257. Mazyck & Waddell,. 17, illus 42. Guilday,
Life and Times of John England, passims O'Brien, Johmn :
England, passim. -Stoney, This ig Charleston, 16.

125 Broad St. -~ One of Charleston’s more interesting Victorian

dwellings is the Charles Robert Valk House, built in 1886.
Valk, a prominent local businessman, lived in this house
until his death in 1937. Born in Connecticut in 1848, he
was a student in Abbeville when the Civil War broke out,
and he, at the age of 16, enlisted in the Confederate Armfx
with the rest of his school. .After the war he bedame_the-
superintendent of a Charleston fertilizer concern. Later
he was a partner in Valk and Murdock, which ran a large
machine shop, iron foundary and shipbuilding plant. Much
iron work about the.icity bears the firm's imprint. The




151

firm subsequently became the Charleston Shipbuilding and
Drydock Co. Valk had begun construction of this house
when the earthquake of 1886 knocked down the initial 10
feet of walls. The house was then built to be "earthquake
proof,"” with iron rods rumning from the chimneys to the
ground level. The large pale yellow brick used in the -
building is Stoney landing brick, made locally in the
1880s. The roof originally was covered with iron shingles
which were replaced with asbestos shingles in the 1960s.
Doors and interior woodwork came from Boston. The house,
very modern for its time in Charleston, is in the Jacobe-
than style, based on English vermacular architecture of
the 16th and 17th centuries. Few examples of the style
were built in the Unifed States before 1890,

(Thomas, DYKYC, Sept. 30, 1968, Whiffen, 178-182,)

134 Broad St. -- Charleston architect John Herry Devereux de-
signed ard built this two story frame dwelling for John
Klinck in 1872, for a cost of nearly $7,000, Klinck, a
merchant, died in 1888, bequeathing the house to hig son
Gustavus W. Klinck. His family retained it until 1932,
The house is in a restrained Gothic Revival style, with
clustered porch columns and other details.,

(Stockton, unpub, notes.}

135 & 137 Broad St. -- John Peter Merkhardt, a German baker,
later identified in city directories as a "capitalist,"
built the two and one-half story wooden house at 135 as a
residence in 1876. A Mr. Schumacher was the builder.
Merkhardt built the two and one-half story wooden house
at 137 Broad in 1879 as a rental unit. Both are in the
19th century town house plan with a hall on one side, -

" but the plan is localized by the presence of piazzas on
the west sides of the houses.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 6, 1980. , unpub. notes.)
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152 . Broad St. =-- John Henry Devereux was the architect of this
house,  built c. 1885 for William M. Bird. Bird was a

- partner with H.F. Welch in William M. Bird & Co., whole- .
sale dealers 1in paints, oils, glass, naval. stores and

ship chandlery, at East Bay and Cumberland streets. Bird- E

never lived here, but continued to live at 17 Meeting St.
He sold the  property in 1889 to Otto Tiedeman, a wholesale
~grocer on East Bay, who 1s the first documented occupant
of the house. Some architectural details of this two
story frame house are similar to features on the house
Devereux remodeled for George S: Cook at 24 South Battery
15 years earller. Similarities include the prominent two-~
tiered bay window, window treatment, piazza collonettes

and railings, and other decorations. The house is faced
with novelty siding typical of the period and the founda-
tion is of Stoney Ianding brick, made locally in the 1880s.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 16, 1981.)

164, 166 & 168 Broad St. -- These three houses demonstrate the
rising fortunes of Samuel Wragg Simons in the 1880s and
*Q0s. The ?ldest (and most modest), now numbered 168
Broad St., originally stood at 3 Franklin St., and was
built by Simons by 1886, when he was an employe of a cot-

. ton exporting firm, Watson & Hill. The houses at 164 and
166 Broad were built by Simons in 1891, after he had be-
come manager of the company. The largest and most elab-
orate, the house at 164 Broad St., was built as his own
home.: - Before building 164 and 166 Broad in 1891, Simons
had his Franklin Street house moved on rollers to its

‘ present position. The two ﬁew houses were built at a
cost of $8,000. Born in 1837, Simons served in the
 Civil War in the Charleston Light Dragoons until acci-
dently shot in the face by a comrade's pistol. The bul-~
let was removed years later by a famous London surgeon.
After managing Watson & Hill for some years, Simons entered
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the cotton exporting business with T.G.S. Lucas. He
died at 164 Broad in 1917. His residence at 164 Broad
"ig two and one~half stories of frame, with a three story
square tower and a gabled front extension.  The house
at 166 Broad is smaller but similar in detail; a dis-
tinctive element is the truncated gable end of the roof.
The two and one-half story frame house at 168 Broad is
more conservative in style, with traditional side piazzas.
- The chimneys, typical of c. 1890; date after the house
- was moved.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 1, 1980 )
180 Broad St. -- Built c. 1850, this three story wooden, Greek
" Revival house was used as a prison for Union officers
dur ing the Civil War. The house, with its giant order
"Tower of the Winds columris, is notable architecturally.

~ (Stoney, This ig Charleston, 17. Waddell, "Introduction
G(b of Greek Revival,™ 7. Whitelaw & Levkoff, 34-35.)

Bull Street

Bull Street was named for William Bull, a native South
Carolinian who was the last to fill the Royally—app01nted
office of lieutenant governer.

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 61. Smith &
Smith, Dwelling Houses, 312, 31l5. "Streets of Charlestonn")

2-8 Bull St. -- This group of two story frame rental units
in 1907 by E.M. Hacker. The row was acquired by the
College of Charleston in the 19708 and restored as admin-
istrative offices.

12 Bull St. =-- Built in 1851 by Hugh P. Cameron, a crockery
merchant, this house has an unusual plan, with two par-
lors in front, a small room and stairhall at the rear,
and the entrance in a pavillion on the east side. The
interior was remodeled in the 1890s in the Colonial Re-
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vival ‘style, The initials of one owner, David Bentsch-
ner, a clothing merchant, appear in the cast iron gate.
‘The College of Charleston restored the house 1n.l972 as
a faculty re31dence. ' '
(Thomas, DYKYC, May 1, 1972.)
18 Bull St. -- The William Blacklock House, built in 1800,
is one of the nation's most nmportant Adamesque houses.
The house 1s two stories of btrick on a high brick base-
ment. The Charleston-grey brick, laid in Flemish bond,.
is accented by stone ‘trim. The facade features a large
lunette in the pediment, openings set in blind arches,
~delicate tracery in the fanlight and 31de11ghtsa and a
double flight of iron-railed steps. The date of the
house is engraved in stone under the stairs. The inter-
ior has fine Adamesque woodwork and plasterwork and a
graceful circular  stair under an unusual vaulted ceil-
ing. The property has Gothic Revival outbuildings. No
architect has been identified for this sophisticated
structure. It shows similarities to the work of Gabriel
Manigault, however. Blacklock was a member of the build-
ing committee for the bank (how City Hall) which was built
in the same year and is attributed to Manigault. The most
distinctive similarity isfthe use of the Tuscan column
with a fluted neck, which Manigault used on the Orphan
House Chapel. The house has had a series of prominent
owners and occupants, including Emil H. Jahnz, who was
‘the German consul in 1916. Now the College of Charles-~
ton Club, the house was designated a National Historic
+  Landmark in 1974. '

- {Stockton, DYKYC, May 19, 1975. Deas, 86-87., Smith &
Smith, Dwelling Houses, 317-318. Rhett & Steele, 74-75.
Whitelaw & Levkoff, 91. Stoney, Thig ig Charleston, 17.
Ravenel, Architects, 68, 70. Simons & Lapham, 127-132.
Iseley & Cauthen, 16. Rogers, Charleston in the Age of
the Pinckneys, 54, 70. ILeland, Charleston: Crossroads

of History, 32, 34%. wWaddell, "Infroduction of Greek
Revival, " 11.) _
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24 Bull St. -~ This three and one-half story, stuccoed brick

house, in the Greek Revival style, was built c. 1858 by
~Benjamin Lucas, a builder and city inspector of build-
'.ings, as his residence. The College of Charleston re-

stored the house in the early 1970s as a faculty resi-

dence.
(Thomas, DYKYC,_JUly 28 1969.)
&3 Bull St.  -- This house, with interesting 1ronwork and a

notable fountain in the garden, was built between 1849
and 1852 by John C. Simons, a prosperous merchant, deal-

- ing in paints, oils and hardware, on King Street. From
1946 to 1961, it was the home of Judge Joseph Fromberg,
an outs?okeﬁ proponent of Jjudiecial and prison reform.
(Thomas, DYKYC, Aug. 4, 1969.) _

48 Bull St. -- This twozstory,_pedlmenfed plantation style
house of btrick has a marble plaque on the facade, with
the inscription, "Built by I.A. Kelly for G. Keckerley,

- May 1813.f George Keckerley (Keckeley) is listed in the
1813 Qity directory as a planter at Goose Creek. When
this .house was built, Harleston was still an open suburb.
The house, which formerly had & one story plazza, was.
made into apartments in the 1940s. .

(Thomas, DYKYG Bugust 11, 1969. Stockton, unpub. notes.
Stoney, Thls 1s Charleston, 1? ) ‘ _

ﬁ9 Bull Ste -- Holy Trlnlty Reformed Eplscopal Church. In
1874, a group of black members left the Protestant Epis-
copal Church and were admitted into the Reformed Episco-
- pal -Church. _In:18?5, they organized under the present
name, and in 1876 acquired the present site. In 1880,
the congregation hired Welling & Gleason, contractors,
to- build the present structure. - It was complefed‘in
three weeks at a cost of $1,000, 'Thercornérstone was
laid by the Right Rev. Peter FaySSOux Stevens, first
‘bishop of the'Réformed Episcopal.Church in South Caro-
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lina. This is a simple wooden structure with an air of.
dignity engendered by the cla581c portlco and plea51ng
proportlonsu_ ' B

" {(Legerton, 22-23.') )

56 Bull St. -- This one- story frame, Greek Revival style house
is said to have been the residence, ¢. 1821-22 of Denmark
Vesey, alleged leader of an aborted slave insurrection
in'1822, Vesey was a native of the West Indies who,
brought to Charleston as a slave, bought his freedom in
1800 with money from a lottery prize, and became a pros-
perous carpenter. Diring Vesey's trial, it was testified
that Vesey had corrésponded with the black revolutionaries

* ‘Santo Domingo, and had enlisted more than 6,000 slaves in
Charleston and the region for 50 miles'arodnd,”iﬁto his

of

plot. The testimony stated that the city was to have been .

burhed, the banks robbed, the white7men'killed, the white
' women ravished, and ships seized for transporting the in-
surrectionists to Santo Domingo. Vesey and 34 blacks were
hanged and 32 transported from the United Statesy all were
slaves except Vesey. Four white men; accused'of'having
encouraged the plot, were imprisoned. Black churches were
- closed and new .laws adopted for the regulation of blacks.
(Wallace, 384-385. -Leland, Charleston: Crossroads of Hig-

tory, 36, 38, 59. Rosen, 70-72,91, 112. Ravenel, Charles-

ton, the Place and the People, 437-438, Stockton, LYKYC,
Bugust 23, 1976. National Register Nomination, Oct. 30,
1975. CEP, March 17, 1977. Starobin.)

66 Bull St. -- Built before 1819 by John Cart, 2 lumberman and
measurer of wood and coal, this two and one-half story wood
house has. interior woodwork in the Federzl style.

- (Thomas, DYKYC, Aug. 18; 1969.) T :

76 Bull St. -- Built c. 1813 by George Mathewes, a vendue
master, this house has a T-shaped plan,_plazza across
the front and Adamesque interior treatment. It was the
home, from 1821 to 1843 of Hugh Swinton Legare (1797-




157

1843), attorney, member of the South Carolina General
Agsembly (1820-22, 1824-30) editor of the Sguthern Re-
view (from 1829), S.C. Atforney General (1830-32), U.S.
charge d'affairs at Brussels (1837-39), U.S. Attorney
General (1941-43) and U.S. Secretary of State (1843)

Had he lived, Legare might have been the Whig. candldate
for President in 1844

(Thomas, DYKYC .Aug. 25, 1969 _favis, That Ambitious Mr.
Legare. ) ' '

84 Bull St. -- Huchet Houseu' The builder of this substantial
wooden house, on a hlgh brick. basement,_ls undOﬂumenmedu
| It was purchased in 185?_by_Cqunt Eugene Joseph Huchet,
a French nobleman. Tradition says he lest ‘his fortune in
a slngle day 8 tradlng in cotton. The house was inherited
by his three daughterso Miss Naoml Ellzabeth Huchet, the
last surviving daughter, died 1n 1932 bequeathlng the
‘house as a home for elderly women. The house formerly
had a front piazza with Dorlc columns on the first level
and Ionic on the second,

(N&C , Jan. 15 and 21 1932, )

96 Bull St. -- Built c. 1815, ‘probably by Tsaac Bennett, of the
famous sawmilling and building family, this notable house
has two and one-half stories of wood on a raised brick
basement, and 2 one story piazza. The Adamesgue frieze
with swags is found on other Bennett houses, at 112 and
128 Bull St. :

(Thomas, DYKYC, Sept. 1, 1969.) _ :

99 Bull Sts -~ This notable antebellum house was. the home

of Capt. Warrington Dawson, British-born editor of the

News _and Courier. Capt. IBwson wasg honored by the Pope

for his editorials against dueling, and is credited

with coining the New South slogan, "Bring the mills to

the cotton.”™ Politically, he promoted the concept of

"fusion" during Reconstruction, urging whites to help
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‘elect qualified Republicans rather than boycotting the

polls. Capt. Dawson was shot to death in 1889 by Ir.
Thomas B. McDow, during an arguement over Dr. McLow's -
alleged inappropriate attentions to a young Frenchwoman
in Capt. Dawson's employ. The front of the house was

- greatly altered after suffering severe damage in the 1886
- earthguake. The interior contains a mixture of woodwork.

typical of the 1840s and of the 1890s. .

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 18. Wallace, 480, Rosen,
119-120, Ravenel, Charleston Murders, 71-107.) .

100 Bull S%. -- The western portion of this hybrid house was

built co. 1820 by Honore Monpoey, & grocer, factor and Ash-

~ley River planter. The 1larger eastern portion was added

in the 1890s by Herman Wilkes®' family, with decorations
in the Colonial Revival taste. |
(Phomas, DYKYC, Sept. 8, 1969.)

101-107 Bull St. ~- This row of. town houses in the Ttalianate

style was built between 1849 and 1854 for Sarah Smith.
During the Civil War, William C. Bee and Co. moved its
stores to the row, which was beyond the range of the
Federal guns. Shoppers went to the "Bee Block" or the

"Bee Store," as the row was called, to buy merchandise

- brought into port by Confederate blockade runners. The

row is distinguished by its terra cotta pediments, cast
iron fences and elaborate interior plasterwork. '
(Thomas, DYKYC, Aug. 5, 1968.)

104 Bull St. -- Built before 1802 by Thomas Bennett, builder

architect and lumberman, or by his son Gov. Thomas Ben-
nett (see 69 Barre St.), this two story wooden structure
on a high brick basement is a notable Adamesque house,

‘with fine detailing including the Palladian window. The

Bennett family built similar houses at 96, 112 and 128

- Bull St. The marble steps were added by Charles C. Schir -

mer after he'acquifed the property in 1916.
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(Thomas, DYKYC, Sept. 15, 1969. Stoney, This is Charles-
- ton, 18,)

125 Bull St. -- This substantial brick building was built in -

1867-68 as Avery Normal Institute, Charleston's first

free secondary school for blacks. The school was organ-. .
ized in 1865 by the Rev. F.L. Cardozo. The building was
constructed by the Freedman’s Bureau on land purchased

by the American Misslorary Assoc iation.of New York City.

- Cardozo secured a $10, 000 grant from the Avery Fund to

build the school. It was ramed for the Rev. Charles Av'er:y"
of Pittsburgh, a philantrophic Methodist minister., The" '
school was operated as a private institution until 1914-?,'
when 1t became a city public school. The school merged
with Burke High School in 195%. In 1955, the building

was occupied by Palmer Business School, which subsequent-
1y became Palmer College and later merged with the state-
run Trident Technical College. Marny leading members of
Charleston's black community received their education at
Avery, which was considered comparable to the city’s best
public schools. Graduates included T.M. Stewart, a Liber-
ian Supreme Court justice, Dr. R.S. Wilkinson, president
‘of South Carolina State College, and Richard E. Filelds,

the first black in modern times to be remed as Judge of

the Municipal Court of Charleston, and the second black
circuit judge. ' :

(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 29, 1973. Leland, Charleston, C
Crossroads of History, 64, 86.) R

128 Bull St. ~-- This two and one-half story wooden house on

+

a brick basement was built before 1814, probably by Jo-
seph Bennett, brother of Gov. Thomas Bennett. It is also
known as the Thomas Grange Simons House because his fam-
ily owned it for 90 years, from 1818 to 1909. The house:
is notable for its Adamesque style architecture including
the frieze of swags below the cornice, a favorite motif
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of the Bennett family of builders. The entrance portico
has fluted Doric columns and a frieze with triglyphs, and
‘curving iron-railied steps.

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 18. Simons & Lapham, 154. -
Thomas, DYKYC, Septu 22, 1969 )

129 Bull St. -- The rear. portion of - thls house was bullt before
1822 for Mrs. Rebecca Drayton, the second wife and widow
of John Drayton.of Drayton Hall. When built, it was the
last residence on the west end of Bull Street. . The house
was remodeled and enlarged.in 1846 by Lewis Rebb; a build-
ing contractor. Rebb was the contractor for the remodel -
ing of the Charleston Orphan House by arehitects Jones &
Lee in 1853-54, and for the Citadel Square Baptist Church,
built in 1855-56 and also designed by Jones & Lee. ' '

(Thomas, IDYKYC, Sept. 29, 1969, Ravenel, Architects, 212,
225,

25

Burng Lane

- Burns Lane was also known, in the early part of the 19th
century, as Blackbird Alley. _ :
(Deeds, P9-38. Charleston Mercury, Nove. 28 1823,)

20 & 22 Burns Iane -- These two small, two story brick struc-
tures were built by the Horlbeck family of builders some- .
time before 1852. Twenty Burns Lane was one of two single
house tenements. Its twin which stood to the west was
demo lished some years ago. Twenty-two Burns Lane was ap--
parently a double outbuilding for the two tenements. It

" is also possible that 22 Burns Lane is older and was an

~outbuilding to. the residence. of:Henry Horlbeck which stood i

immediately to the north, facing on Calhoun St. and which
is mentioned in a Chancery Court case in 1839. Bricks
for the structures probably came from the Horlbeck brick-
yard at Boone Hall. '

(Stockton, DYKYC, May 1, 1978.) -
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Calhoun Street

Calhoun Street is named for John C.,"JCa]_h'oun,- the "Great
Nullifier."” Originally *the eastern portion of the street
was Boundary Street, as after the Revolution it marked the -

" northern extent of the city. The area above Boundary Street
was known as Charleston Neck. The portion west of King Street
was called Manigault Street, for Peter Manigault, speaker of
the House. The entire length of the street became Calhoun
Street after the city limit was extended to Mount Pleasant
Street in 1849. '

(Rogers, Charleston in the fige of the Pinckneys, 61. Sml'th,
“Charleston and Ch@rles‘con Neck," 3-4. Smith & Smith, Dwell-

ing Houses, 297.)

47 Calhoun St. -- This early 19th century building appears to
have been built in the 1830s, but perhaps represents an

1830s remodeling of an earlier building. If the former,
it was built probably by Thomas Heath, c¢. 1835. If the
latter, it was possibly built by Charles Cunningham, a
King Street merchant, sometime after 1806. - The two and
one-half story frame house has interior woodwork typical
of the 1830s., Originally a residence, the bullding was
more recently made into & store and residence.

(Stockton, DYKYC, March 9, 1981.) _

77 Calhoun St. -- Charleston Municipal Auditorium, built by
the City of Charleston, was dedicated in 1966. It was
later renamed Gaillard Auditorium, for former Mayor J.
Palmer Gaillard. The building occupies a 1l2-acre site
between Allexander and Anson streets and, as & result of
this construction, George Sireet was extended eastward
from Angon to cormect with East Bay at a point where Mi-
nor ity Street formerly intersected with East Bay. The |
auditorium was designed by Charleston architects Lucas &
Stubbs and built by McDivett & Street of Charlotte, N.C.
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at a cost of $5,500,000, including land and buildings.
The maih'part of the auditorium seats more than 2,700
persons and the Exhibition Hall has 14,000 square feet
and can accommodate 1,500 persons in banguet style. The
building was designed so that separate events can be car-
ried on gimultaneously in the auditorium and hall.

o (Stockton, unpub. notes.) _

85 Calhoun St. -- The Arch Building, so-called from the wide
arched passage through the first floor, is believed to
have been built c. 1800 and rebuilt in the 1850s. Tra-
dition says it was built for the wagon trade, with a wa-
gon yard behind it., The two and one-half story, stuccoed.
brick bullding was saved during the clearing of the aud-
itorium site and restored by Historic Charleston Founda-

" tion, which leased it for use as the Visitor Information

" Center of the Charleston Trident Chamber of Commerce. |
(Historic Charleston Foundation, unpub. notes. Jack Le-
land, DYKYC, Qct. 21, 1983.)

110 Calhoun St. -- Emznuel African Methodist Episcopal Church,
The original tongregation of this church, consisting of -
‘free blacks and slaves, was ofganiZed in 1791 ag the Free
A frican Society, which built a.church in the vicinity of
Hanover and Amherst streets. The congregation joined in-
1818 the African Methodist Episcopal Church and the named
Was changed to the Bethel Circuit. Morris Brown, a free .
black preacher, led the movement in Charleston to organize
black Methodists into an independent organization. The
Bethel Circuit, in 1818, had about 1,000 members. In 1822,
after the alleged Dermark Vesey plot was discovered, the
church was investigated because Vesey had been a founder.
The church was burned as a result of the controversy. It
was rebuilt and continued in operation until 1834, when a
law closed all black churches. Morris Brown was found
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“innocent of any commection with the alleged plot, but he
was pressured into leaving the state and went to Phila-
delphia. The congregation met in secret umtil 1865, when
it was formally reorganized. The name, Bethel, was changed
to Emanuel by the Rev. Richard Cain, a black minister from
the North. A church was built in 1872 on the present site.
It was damaged by the 1886 earthquake and was razed and
replaced in 1891 by the present structure in the Gothic
Revival style. '

(Veal, DYKYC, July 17, 1950. Stockton, DYKYC, Jan. 26,
1981. TLegerton, 52-53.) .

115 Calhoun St. -- Otis Mills' Tenement, a two and one-half

story wooden house in the CGreek Revival style, was built

- after 1830, Mills, who built the origiral Mills House-
Hotel, acquired a large tract on the south side of Calhoun
Street in 1830 and built a group of wooden tenements, of
which 115 Calhoun is the sole survivor. In 1897-1904 it
was the home, during his boyhood, of Iudwig Lewisohn, .

the noted novelist, editor and critic. The house is
described in his novel, The Case of Mr. Crump, which was

published in France, instead of the United States, in

1926 because of its explicit sex. Born in Berlin in 1882,
Lewisohn immigrated to South Carolina in 1890 with his
family. He was an honor graduate of the College of Charles-
ton. He wrote or translated more than 80 books, edited

New Palestine magazine, was assoclate editor of Nation

magazine and a recognized drama critic. He died in 1955.
(Stockton, DYKYC,

121 Calhoun St. -- Edwin G. Harleston, a black rice planter
and sea captain, entered the undertaking business in. 1901
with his brother Robert, as Harleston Brothers. Original-
ly on Meeting Street, the business subsequently was moved
to this location. The present three story wooden build-
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large hall for meetings, receptions ahd entertainments,
and a 150-person chapel was on the first floor.
(Pamphlet in E.A. Harleston Papers, SCHS.)

123 Calhoun St. ~- Site of Zion Presbyterian Church, designed

by Charleston architect Edward C. Jories and built by
contractor David Lopez in 1859, it was the largest brick
church in Charleston, seating 2,500 Every door opened.
outward for easy exit in case of fire. It was described
as a "barn-like structure, " with twin high-arched porti-
coes, dJones became an elder in the church, which was
largely devoted to mission work among blacks and had a

" predominantly black congregation.: ' '

(Ravenel, Archltects, 210, 218, 'SfOney, Thig -is Charles-
ton, 19. ) - , o S o

125 Calhoun St -- Tempérance Fountain,-erectéd'by'the'sisters_'
of the Temperance cause in the South, 1904, in memory of
Mrs. Sallie F. Chapin, a local leader. October 25, an.
official S.C. stateﬂholidaya'honors FrahcéSJWillard, the
16th century temperancé'leader; _The Prances Willard So-
ciety, a tonguenin—Cheek local organization, meets annually
on Frances Willard Iay for an irreverent alcoholic toast
to its namesake. o |
(Stockton, unpub. rnotes,) _ :

128 Calhoun St. -~ Site of one of the boyhood homes of James
F. Byrnes, the late U.S. Semator and U.S. Secretary of
State. The two story Victorian house was demolished 1n.l91+?u
(DYKYC, Jan. 13, 1947.) S

137 Calhoun St: -- This two story brick buildihg-was-built in
the early to mid=19th century by the Horlbeck family,
probably as an auxiliary building to the Horlbeck House
which stood at Meeting and Calhoun.
(Stockton, N&C, July 12, 1973.)
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160 Calhoun St. -- Site of the Charleston Orphan House, the
oldest municipal orpharage in the United States. Founded
in 1790, the Orphan House was buil£ oﬂ this site in 1792-93,
the building having been designed by Thomas Bennett (1754-
1814), a local builder-architect. The need for the insti-
tution had arisen from a series of yellow fever epidemics
which left many children parentless.. The Orphan House
was enlarged and remodeled in 1853-55 in the Italiarate

- style, with a high, rusticated bell tower, by Charleston:
architects Edward C. dJones and Francls D. Lee. Orphans
sheltered by the-institution-included_ChriStopher?Co Mem -
minger, Confederate Sedretary of the Treasury, and Andrew-
Murray, philantropist of Murray Boulevard, Murray Voca-
tional School and The Citadel.  The building and its cha-
pel were demolished for the erection of the Sears store

- in 1953-54.  The orphanage was moved to a complex of cot-
~ tages at Oak Grove, north of the city.

{(Rhett & Steele, 78-79., Whitelaw & Levkoff, 49, Ravenel,
Architects, 81-82, 210-212. Fraser, Reminiscences, 23.
Smith & Smith, Dwelllng Houseg, 305. Mazyck & Waddell,
23, illus 53. CEP, Sept. 29, , 1954, N&C, Sept. 29, 1954.)

203 Calhoun St -- Bishop England High School, rmmed for the
Rt. Rev, John England, first bishop of the Roman Catholic
Diocese of Charleston. The school was established in 1814
and was housed in a building on Queen Street before it was

moved to this site.

(Guilday, Life and Times of John Ehgland, 23531mu 0'Brien,
_John England, passim.)

207 Calhoun St. -- Built ¢. 1817 by Richard Brenan, a merchant,
this three and one-half story brick, stuccoed, on a brick
basement; was subsequently the home of the related Haskell,

- Heyward and Middleton families. For a time, 1t was the
home of Nathaniel Russell Middleton, President of the Col-
lege of Charleston. It became the parsomage of Bethel
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~ Methodist Church in 1881.. In 1971, it was rehabilitated

as an office building, by a private individual., The
building has quoins, a coved cornice and a pediment on

the west side, and fine Adamesque interiors.

(Stoney, DYKYC, Sept. 28, 1964, Tomas, DYKYC, June 21,

" 19710 Stoney._This is Charleston, 20.)

210-212 Calhoun St. -- Built c. 1830 by‘Bethel Methodlst Church,
this double re31dence housed the minister on one side and

the presiding elder on the other. The piazzas were added.
(Stoney, DYKYC, Sept. 28, 1964 )

214 Calhoun St. -- This Greek Reviwal, two story'brlck house

on a high brick basement was_bullt_afterleBM by Frederick
Shaffer, a prosperous building comtractor. The house is
reminiscent of houses in Beaufort, having. a T-shaped plan
with a central hall and a columned piazza across the front.
It has unusually fine plasterwork and Greek Revival wood-
work in the interior.  The house remained in Shaffer’s
family until 1885, when it was purchased by Isaac V. Bar-
din, a prosperous cotton merchant. Dwring the owrniership
of the Bardin family, the house was connected with the

-unsolved slaying of Thomas Pinckney, Jr., a young attor-

ney, in 1899. Pinckney was found across. the street in
the graveyard of Bethel Methodist Church, having been |
shot twice in the ba.ck9 and died two days later without
namlng his klllero He was sald to have been v181t1ng a
Mlss Bardln on the nlght of the shootlngu Closed hearlngs'

| were held, no charges were filed and details of the case

were never made public.
(Stockton, DYKYC, April 21, 1980 Thomas, DYKYC, March

- 20, 1972. Stoney, DYKYC, Sejptn 28, 1964, Stoney, This.

is Charleston, 20,)

220 Calhoun St. =~ This two and one-half story frame on a high

brick basement was built c. 1840. It Mas the Roman Doric
order in the piazza which stretches across the front of
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the house, which was probably built by Thomas Burnham,

but possibly by David Ilevy, a merchant who bought the
property in 1842. The property was bought in 1847 by Dr.
Benjamin Huger, rice planter at Richmond Plantation on
Cooper River, When the doctor's daughteér, Eliza, married
in 1851 Alfred Huger Dunkin (son of chancellor and Chief
Justice Benjamin F. Dunkin), the house was a suitable -
residence for the Dunkins and their five children. One |

"son, William Huger Dunkin, was superin'terident of schools

in Charleston, 1894-1900, then for 30 years was Clerk of
Court. The house remained in the family until 1940.

(Margaretta Childs, unpubs MS. Stoney, I¥YKYC, Sept 9,
1964, _.__ __, This is Charleston,.20.)

© 221 Calhoun St. -~ Richard Holloway, a master carpenter and

222

a leader of Charleston’s free black community, built
this two and one-half story wooden house sometime after
purchasing the site in 1814, as an investment. Holloway
also built the house around the corner at 96 Smith St.,
which is similar in style and construction. &n unusual
feature 'of the two houses is the piazza contained under
the main roof. An early deed refers to a school house
in the rear of 221 Calhoun. '

(Stockton, DYKYC, March 7, 1977.)

Calhoun St. -- 01d Bethel Methodist Church is the oldest
structure of Methodism in the Lowcountry and possibly in
South Carolina. It is"t'he third oldest church building
in the city, with St. M:Lchaels (1751 61) and the Unitar-
ian Church (cn 1770) being oldero Orlglnally, ‘the build-
ing stood on the southwest corner of Pitt and Calhoun
gtreets. 1In 1852 the frame bu:leJ.ng was moved to the west
end of the 'church.gtfounds and used there for class meet-
ings of Bethel's black members, after the present brick
church of Bethel Methodist was built. In 1880, the build-
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building was given to the black members and rolled across
Calhoun Street to the present location. The congregation
today includes descendants of the 1880 congregation. The
church, built in 1797-98, was originally a plain meeting
house, a simple rectangle in plan,.finished'with_a clas-
ic cornice and front and rear gables. The portico with
its four fluted columns was added after the building was
moved to the present site. The columns have modified

. Tower of the Winds type capitals. The grlleried inter-
~ior is plainly finished, in the meeting house tradition.
Formerly, the church had a_higﬁ pulpit with a solnding
board. The present pulpit is said to have been used by
Francis Asbury, the first Methodist bishop in the United
States, on his visit -to Charleston in 1798.

(Legerton, 46-47. Stockton, DYKYC, Dec. 22, 1980. Nation-
al Register Nomiration, Feb. 21, 1975. Storney, This is
- Charleston, 20.,) IR :

239 Calhoun St. -- Alexander Lindstrom, & bookkeeper, built
this house c¢. 1885 on a filled portion of Bennett's Mill
Pond. The house conservatively follows the Charleston
single'hduse tradition. The two story wooden house has
Ttalianate style window cornlceso"

(Stockton, DYKYC,

245 Calhoun St. -- BenJamln F. McCabe, a local bullder, erected
this two story wooden house on a filled portlon.of Bennett’s
mill pond, c. 1885,

(Stockton, unpub. notes. )

261 Calhoun St. -- Franke Home. This Lutheran home for the
aged has been on this site since 1908, Tt formerly occu-
'pied the Adger House, built c. 1857, The old house was
demollshed in 1971 and replaced by the present bulldlnga
(Thomas, DYKYC, '

267-275 Calhoun St. -- This row of Victorian residences was
built 1910-12 on part of the filled Bennett's Mill Pond.




169

267 Calhoun was built by Levi C. Boland, a traveling sales-
man, on land purchased from the Calhoun Securities Com-
pany. The rest of the houses were built by the Calhoun
Securities Co., which then sold them to individual home
owners. The Halsey Lumber Co., which used the mill pond
for its sawmills for many years, filled this portion of
the pond in the early 1900s and sold the lots on the Cal-
houn Street side to the Calhoun Securities Co. in 1910,
"Show-off" technology is demonstrated in the curve of the
piazza at 267, with no columnar support at the corner, and
in the two story bays at 269, 271 and.273 which have no
visible support.

(Stockton, DYKYC, June: 23, 1980.)

268 Calhoun St. -- This large frame house in the Greek Revival
style was built between 1838 and 1846 by Edward Sebring,
a native of New York and president of the State Bank of -
South Carolina. His bank built the Ital ianate building

‘at 1 Broad St., ¢. 1853, and he built the building at 3

' Broad in the same yearo' He razed an earlier house to build
this mansion on the shore of Bennett s Mill Pond, which
lay on the opposite side of Calhoun Street, A painting
of the mill pond by H. Jackson, shows the house in 1846,
The two story wooden house on a high brick basement was,
according to tradition} pillaged in 1865 by federal sol-
diers who took Sebring's silver and brdke:two pier mir-
rors. In 1882, Sebring's widow sold the property to
Charles Pons Aimar, whose ‘descendants owned and lived
in it for six generations. Tradition says that Sebring,
during a period of abstinence, hid some wine in the
house; it has been searched for, for more than a cen-
tury, to no avail. On the main floor, the dréWing room,
library and front hall open Into each other by folding
doors. The interior has handsome moldings and a curving
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stair.  In the rear is a large brick outbuilding.
(Simmons,. DYKYC, Feb. 16, 1948.)

274 Calhoun St. -- Margaret Cannon House, built c. 1802 by
Daniel Cannon, lumbermén and builder, for his daugnhter,
is a two and one-half story wooden house on a high base-
ment, with a hipped roof and wide piazza. The house also"
has valuable Adamesque interiors and a large brick out-
building. = From 1838 to 1855 it was the home of William
Gregg. He was born in 1800 in Pemsylvania and came to
South Carolina in 1824 as a jewelry master workman, a
member of the famous firm of Hayden & Gregg, operating
first in Columbia and then in Charleston, and accumu- -
lating a large fortune. In 1844-45 he published a series
of articles promoting industrialization in South Caroli-
na, and in 1845 organized the Graniteville Manufacturing
Company, a large scale cotton factory operation which was

- highly successful. For many years Gregg was opposed to
‘sectioral hostility, but in 1860 was a member of the Se-
cession Conyentionn__During the Civil War his textile.

- manufactory at Graniteville became a resource for the
Confederacy "second only to a munitions factory."
: - (DYKYC, Sept: 7, 1938, Wallace, 451-454, 530,)
286 Calhoun St. -~ Jonathan Lucas, Jr., built this handsome
' house between 1803, when he purchased the site, and 1809

‘when he is listed in a city directory. He was a son of

. Jonathan Lucas, Sr., an English millwright who came to
South Carolina after the Revolution and between 1787 and
1792 built the first water-powered and tide-powered rice
mills in this country, on some Santee River plantations.
Jonathan Lucas, Jr., also born in England, established
~the first toll mill in 1801 at Middleburg Plantation and
in 1808 and 1819 received Federal patents for improved
hulling'and polishing of rice. He bought from Daniel

- Camon's estate in 1803 a traCt,Of.BB%_acres which then
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contained one of Camnon's sawmills. - On the tract Lucas
built this house and a complex of rice mills. In 1817,

he and John Norton first applied steam power to rice mill-
ing, in a2 mill on Lucas (now Barre) Street at the foot

of Mill (now Sabtin) Street. Lucas was invited, about 1822,
by the British govermnment to England to develop rice mill-
ing technigues. His son, Jonathan Lucas, III, who stayed
to manage the family's mills and rice plantations, inher-
ited the house and mill complex in the lBBOsu His heir,
Edward S. Lucas, sold the house and mill property to David
Jermings, a banker, in 1867. The City of Charleston pur-~ -
chased the property from Jennings in 1887 and in 1887-88
erected on the grounds, at the corner of Calhoun and Lu-
cas (now Barre) streets, the City Hospital. In 1893, the
former Lucas residence was made a part of the hospital
operations as the Riverside Infirmary for private patients.
The City Hospital was replaced in 1904 by the New Roper
Hospital. 1In 1921, the Thompson Memorial Hospital was
built and the Riverside Infirmary became the R.A. Kinloch
Home for Nurses. In 1946 another New Roper Hospital was
erected on the filled former salt mill pond to the west

of the house, and the building at Calhoun and Barre was
demolished. The Medical Bociety of South Carolina (Rop-
er Hospital) retains ownership of the Lucas House. The
house is an excellent example of Adamesque architecture.
One of its most outstanding features 1s the elaborate

main entrance, with its elliptical fanl ight and profuse
‘Adamesque decorations. The house has three full floors

on a high basement. The top floor was rebuilt to its

- present appearance in 1859-60, following a fire.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Dec. 5, 1977. Rhett & Steecle, ?2-?3u
Simons, Stories of Charleston Harbor, 95. Smith & Smith,
Dwelling H Houses, 331. Simons & “Iapham, 148, 150, Rogers,
Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 161.. Waring,
Roper Hospital,; passim. JYearbooks, 1887, 1893, 1905.

A1l ston, Mem01r of the Introduction and Planting of Rice, l?

00
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Cannon Street

Cannon Street, 'l_ik'e Carmonbbrough, was remed for I[mniel

. Cannon, the lumberman.

("Streets of Charleston."”)

3 Cammon St. -- The two story brick fire station was built
in 1887-88, The alarm bell tower is of the same date.
(Stockton, unpub, notes ) ' .
109 Cannon St. -- This two story frame house on -a. hlgh br ick
 basement was built between 1816 and 1825 by William Adams,
a planter, as a suburban villa in the Federal style. It
- was enlarged in the 1840s and agaln in the 1890s, and
~ Victorianizeds ' " -
(Stockton, ‘unpub. MS, )

134 Cannon St. == Zion-0livet United Pr esbyterlan Chwch. . Zion
Presbyterian Church began as a mission of the Second Pres- -

“byterian Church in 1847, led by the Rev. John BaﬂAdger,_
who had served 11 years as a missionary in Asia Minor.

‘Members first met in the Second Presbyterian“s,lecture

mulld—
ing was constructed at 95 Anson St. (now St. John's Re-
formed Episcopal Church). By 1858, attendance had grown
so that a large building was erected on Calhoun Street

" eagt of Meetlng, with the name Zion Presbyterian Church.

room on Society Street near Meetlngu In 1850, a-

0livet Presbyterian Church began as a mission. in a chapel
- on'Géorge~Stréet and was organized-as a separate congre-
gation in 1879. 2Zion and Olivet merged in 1959 and in
1964 built the present church. .
(Stockton, unpub. notes. -Ravenel, Architects, 210, 218.)
135 Cannon St. -—.Site of Islington Maror, 2 post-Revolution-
- ary dwelling house, built in 1800 by Henry Ellison. It
- was converted to hospltal use in 1897 and umtil 1954 was
‘a training school for black nurses. The bulldlng has been
demolished. The facility was replaced by the McClennan-

Riizads

:
g
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Banks Memorial Hospital and Training School for Nurses,
which remained in operation until the early 1980s.
(Ravenel, DYKYC, July 29, 1940. Stockton, unpub. notes., )

A

Chalmers 3treet

Chalmers Street has had various names. The block from _
Union (now State) to Church was early called Union Alley, and
after he purchased property on- it it 1757, was called'_Chalmers
Alley after Dr. Lionel Chalmers. ODr. Chalmers (1715-1777), a
Scot, studied medicine at the University of Edinburgh before
gettling in South Carolina where he became one of the leading
physicians and was associated with Dr. John Lining (see 106
Broad). He was a scientist who, like Lining, recorded weather
observations and published the results in London in 177. His
work on tetanus was published in the _'I‘-rransac_tions of'the_ Med-
jcal Society of Iondon (1754) and his Egsay on Fevers was pub-
Tished in Charles Town (1767). He corresponded with leading
“Buropean scientists,. as did Lining and Dr s Alexander Garden
- of Charles Town.. Chalmers' residence in the alley was des--
vtroyed by the great fire of 1778. It was on the north side;
6therwise its location is uncertain. The continuation of the.

-~ thoroughfare, from Church Street to Meeting was Beresford Al~

ley, named for Richard Beresford, a Wando River planter who
4An 1715 left his large estate for the establishment of a free
school. The fund continues to provide scholarships for needy
students. Forty years after the Revolution, 't_he'- two 'a]_'l.eys
- were widened, paved and merged into one street under the mme
Chalmers Street. | '

(Stoney, N&C, April 20, 1958. Whitelaw & Levkoff, 220-221,
Rogers, Charleston in_the Age of the Pinclkneys, 94. Aldredge,
219-225,” Fraser, 116. Stockton, unpub. MS. Leland, Charles-
tons Crossroads of History, 4.)
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6 Chalmers Street —_— The 01d Slave Mart:-Museum. In 1856,

a’city ordinance was passed prohibiting the sale of
‘slaves on the north side of the Custom House (the 0ld
Exchange), which had been a tradition since the 18th
century. Proponents of the ordinance said the auction
'sales at the location caused the'"bloCking up or ob-

" struction of East Bay Street." The prohibition of pub-
lic sales resulted in the opening of various sales
"rooms," "yards'" and "marts" along Chalmers, State and
Queen Streets. One was '"Ryan's Mart," which utilized
a four story brick double tenement, fronting on Queen
Street, with a yard extending to Chalmers Street. The
building~contained the "barracoon'" (from the Portu-
“word for slave jail) and Ryan's offices and sales rooms.
- Auctions were held also in the rear yard on Chalmers
Street. 1In 1839, the property was purchased by Z.B.
Oakes, an auction master, whéfin the same year receiv-
ed permission from the City to insert brick trusses

in the wall of the German Fire Hall (next door to the
west) to support roof timbers for a '"shed" which he was
erecting. The one story "shed" was ‘given an.impress~

- ive facade with octagonal pillars (similar to those

on the Fire Hall next door) and a high arch enclosed
by a large iron gate. Above the arch, in large gilt let-
ters, . was the word "MART" and a gilt star. About
1878, the building was converted to a two story tene-
ment dwelling by filling in the arch and inserting a
“second floor under a new roof. 1In 1938, this property
was purehased by Miriam B. Wilson, who developed it

as a museum of African and Afro-American arts, crafts.
and history. The museum is operated by the Miriam B.
Wilson Foundation. o

(Drago & Melnick, "The Old Slave Mart Museum " Ston-
ey, This is Charleston, 22.}
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8 Chalmers St. -~ The German Fire Company Engine House was:-
built in 1851 and was designed by Edward C. Jones, one
of Charleston's most talented antebellum architects.
The building is in the Romansesque Revival style of
the mid-19th century. It was built as the engine
house for the Deutschen Feuer Compagnie (German Fire.
Company), which was one of several companies organized
after the great fire of 1838, which made the necessity
of a more efficient fireffighting_system'more apparent.
The present building replaced a smaller structure,

~built soon after the company was organized. The pres--
ent building remained in use as an engine house until
1888, when the fire station at Meeting and_Wéntworth
streets was completed. Afterwards the building was

~a meeting hall, first for the Carolima Light Infantry
and later for several black fraternal lodges. In 1982,
it was rehabilitated as a law office.

(Stockton, unpub. MS. Stoney, This is Charleston, 22.)

17 Chalmers St. —- The Pink House, built c¢. 1712 by John

' Breton, the tiny structure is believed to have been
a tavern in Colonial days. It is constructed partly
of Bermuda stone, a coral limestone imported in blocks
- from Bermuda as building material. ' The building's -
gambrel roof is one of a few surviving in Charleston.
The building, once the studio of artist Alice R. Huger
Smith, later became a law office. -

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 23. Jack Leland, DYKYC,
Jan. 9, 1984. Whitelaw & Levkoff, 220-221. Stockton,
DYKYC, Sept. 8, 1975.! Leland, Charleston; Crossroads
of History, 4.) -~ - - -

25 Chalmers St. -- Huguenot Society Headquarters. The so-
ciety, founded in 1885, is open to descendants of
French Huguenots who settled in South Carolina in the
Colonial period. The address is actually the rear of
the Confederate Home on Broad St. (See 60-64 Broad).
The portion of the building to the left of the open
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passage housed the United States District Court from
1845 until 1860, when the Judge Andrew G. Magrath (pro-'
nouced Magraw), follow1ng the electlon of Lincoln as’ _
‘President, divested himself of his robe of offlce, and.
'the Federal Grand Jury refused to fnnction,”declaring e
that the Nérth, "through the ballot box on yesterday,
has swept away the last hope for'therermanenCe, for
the stablllty, of the Federal government of these sov-=
erelgn ‘States. ' g B
(Wallace, 525. Stockton unpub. notes.)

29 Chalmers St - German Frlendly SOClety The.Society,
founded in 1766 formerly had a hall on Archdale
Street, and has been located here Sane 1942. Though
limited to 175 members, the soc1ety ‘does not restrict
membership to persons of German ancestry. Portraits
of past officers, some of whom were distinguished Pa~
triots of the Revolutlon, line the walls of the hall, -
and the Society has a museum of artifacts of its more
than 200 years of'history The Ariom- Soc1ety, another-
German fraternal organization, also meets here. The .
building, after the Confederate War, was the headquart-
ers of the Carolina Art Association.

"(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of.theﬁPinokneys; 6. -
Stoney, -‘This is Charleston, 23.  Stockton, DYKYC, Oct.

21, 1974.)

34 Chalmers St. -- This three and one-half story brick
building was erected by Benjamin McInnis. A Scottish-
born blacksmith, McInnis also made a study of tetanus.
He acquired the site. of 34 Chalmers in 1850 and had
his blacksmith shop on the first floor.

(Bull, unpub. notes.) _

36 Chalmers St. —- This‘éubstantial'three'story, stuccoed
brick Greek Revival house was built c. 1835 for Jane
Wightman, a free black woman. It“WéS'purchasedfin |
the 1930s by author Josephine Pinckney'énd restored

as her home. She added: the Federal style piazza en-
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- trance. _ R
(Stoney, N&C Aprll 2 1948.) _
38 Chalmers St. -- This small two and one half story brick

house was. bu1lt c. 1844 for Jane nghtman, a free black:
woman, who also owned 36 Chalmers It was the birth-
place of artlst Ellzabeth 0'Neill Verner in 1883. Sub-
.sequently it was the home of Laura M. Bragg (1881-1978),
director of the Charleston Museum, founder of the Free
lerary and the Poetry Society of South Carolina. She
was visited here by Gertrude Stein, Carson McCullers,
DuBose Heyward and other famous authors. Miss Bragg

" restored the house in 1927. Archltect Albert Simons .
added Georgian and Federal detalls at that time.

3'(Greene, unpub. MS; SCHS.)

Chapel Street

Chapel Street was named for a chapel (apparently
never built) for which a lot at the northeast corner
of Chapel and Ellzabeth streets was set aside in the
plan of Wraggborough. Later,_a chapel was built on
the triangle at the street‘s western, in 1858. It
was used by the congregatlon of St. Luke's Episcopal
Church whlle their sanctuary (now New Tabernacle Fourth
Baptist Church, 22 Elizabeth St.) was being built.

- The tradition that the street was named for this chapel
is untrue, as the name of the street predated the
building. Later , the chapel was used by the congrega-

. tion of St. Mark s Episcopal Church, until their church
on Thomas Street was built. _The building was demolished

in 1884.
{Legerton, 6. Stockton, unpub. notes. N&C, Sept. 16,
1884.)

4 Chapei St. -- Railroad warehouse in the romantic "Chinese"

style, built in 1881 by the North Eastern Rail Roéad.
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The building is a registered National Historical Engi-
‘neering Landmark. A twin of the structure stood just
to the east Until_it_was_demolished_in:the_l9705.'
(Stockton, unpub. notes.) ..

14 Chapel St —= The'Northeaéterh'Rail'Rdad'Company Depot-
was built in 1865-66 to replace an earlier depot
which:was-blown up during the Confederate evacuation
of the city, Feb. 18, 1865. The depot was filled.
with and other commodities that had to be left behind,
together with a quantity of gunpowder.  People from
the area rushed in to help themselves. Nearby some
cotton was burning.  Some small boys, who found that
gunpowder would make a blaze with lots of smoke when
thrown on the fire, ‘amused themselves by carrying hand-
fuls of it from the depot, where it was stored, to the
cotton. Powder trickling through_tﬁeir;fingers left
a trail back to the depot. Somehow it was ignited and
before anyone could extinguish the fire the entire de-
pot was blown up, along with about 150 people. Houses
near the depot also caught fire, adding to the chaos.

~ (Burton, Siege of Charleston, 321. Stockton, DYKYC,
Dec. 13, 1I976. Whltelaw & Levkoff, 46.)

28 Chapel St. —- Ellas Vanderhorst House, bUllt c. 1832
by a member of the wealthy Vanderhorst rice plantlng
family. It remained in the family until 1915.. The

structure is a valuable example'of Greek Revival archi-

tecture, expressed in a suburban villa. The two.and
one-half story stuccoed brick house is built on.a high
‘brick basement and has a double flight of stone steps .
leading to the piazza.

(Thomas, DYKYC, Oct. 7, 1968. Smith & Smith, Dwelling
Houses, 298.)

34 Chapel St. —-— Built c¢. 1840 by Dr. Anthony Vanderhorst |
Toomer, or by his son Dr. H.V. Toomer, this two story '
wooden house on a high brick basement combines elements

of the Greek Revival and Gothic Revival styles, the
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details of which show the influence of Robert Mills,
who ‘designed buildings  in both styles. The house also
has an unusual curving piazza which follows the curve
of the paneled bows of the facade. Columns on the .
level of the piazza are: of brick, capped with marble;
those. on the upper levels of wood. The interior has-

- a double flight of stairs, which curve to unite at the

- landing, from which a single flight continues to the

. second. floor. The exterior front steps have an iron.
rail with ''dog tail'' newels. The house was the home
of the younger Toomer, who was appointed official phy- '

~sician for The Neck. . He died tending victims of Charles~

. ton's great yellow fever epidemic of 1858.

. (Thomas, DYKYC, Oct. 14, 1968. Ravenel, DYKYC, Nov.

11, 1941. Stockton, DYKYC Sept 29, 1975 ‘ '

- unpub. MS. ‘Waddell, unpub. MS. Stoney, This is Charles—'
ton,.24. Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 298-299.)

36 Chapel St. == This plantation.style house was bullt by
' Dr. Anthony Vanderhorst Toomer about 1809, when it was
one of the first houses instill-rural Wraggborough.
It has interiors in the Adamesque style.‘ Dr. Toomer
was a planter in Christ Church Parish as well as a
. physician. He or his son built the house next door
“at 34 Chapel. ' |

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses; 299. Stoney,'Thls
1s”Charleston,‘24 Thomas, DYKYC, Oct. 21, 1968.)

35 Chapel St. ---The two story frame house was built some-

time before 1852 by Sylvia Miles, a free black woman,
-on' land leased'from-William H. Holmes. It was not un-
common in the 18th and 19th centuries, for a land owner

-to lease a vacant lot with the stipulation that .the
lessee build a house, with the lessor retaining owner-
ship of the land and the lessee ownlng the building.
(Stockton,_unpub MS. )
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51-59 Chapel St. —— This row of two and one-half story frame

“houses in the Victorian taste were built by Capt. Ben- .
- jamin. F. McCabe, a local businessman, in 1890. Capt.

" McCabe lived at 59 Chapel, and built the other houses
‘as.an investment.  He was' Captain of the Irish Volun-
teers. He died in 1894, at the age of 48, of blood
poisoning due: to a ‘gunshot wound in the arm. -

A{Stockton, unpub. notes.) ' R "\\'

CHARLOTTE STREET -

Charlotte Street was lald out in 1801 as omne of the
streets of Wraggborough. It was named for Charlotte Wragg,
daughter of Joseph Wragg and wife of John Poaug.-

{("Streets of Charleston.”_ Stockton, unpub. notes.).

East End of Charlotte St. —— The Carolina Gas'CompaﬁY gas
~ plant was built in the 18505 in competltlon with ‘the
' Charleston Gas nght Company works which were located
on Church Street between Market and Cumberland. The
" Carolina Gas Co. existed for three years before it was
'determined that'competltlon was bad for both companies
"~ and the company was consolidated with the Charleston
Gas Light Company. Both were forerunners of the South
' Carolina Electric and Gas Co. which now owns this
property. During the Civil War the gas holder at this
plant was struck by an eight-inch shell, which tore a
hole through the cover but did not explede. It was
found'by'workmeh when the holder weS'replaced in 1893.
In'18653 Count Ferdinand von Zeppelin, while military
attaché of the Union'Army during the occupation of the
city, used Charleston gas to inflate observation balloons
launched from a lot at George and St.'Philip streets.

The count later became famous as a designer of German
aircraft.
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(Pogue, South Carolina Electric & Gas, 4-6.)

16 Charlotte St. —— This three story brick double house on .
a high brick basement, with fluted Doric columns on
the piazza, curving outside steps and fine interior
- plasterwork and woodwork, was built between 1834 and
1840 by Robert Martin, a successful merchant in the
"wagon-yard" trade. The wagon-yards were located main--
ly on upper King Street where wagon drivers from the
state's ‘interior exchanged country products for store
goods. A bathtub in the basement, seven feet long,
three feet wide and two feet deep and carved from a
single block of Winnsboro granite, was, according to
5tradition', the first statiOnary”bathtub in the city.
(Thomas, DYKYC, Dec. 15, 1969. Stocktons“ggg, July
30, 1975.) : : R S
20 Charlotte St. —— Robert Martin also built this finé Greek
~_mansion, as a wedding glft for hlS daughter, Ellen Daniel
"Martln, who. marrled her second cousin, Joseph Danlel Al—
ken, in 1848 Aiken, a Wlnnsboro natlve, was an attorney
hbefore the Civil War. Durlng the ClVll War he was a
_lleutenant with the Thitd $.C. Cavalry. After the war -
‘he was a cotton factor and agent for a llne of steamers
B to'Florida Martin was also an amateur palnter sculp-
ﬁtor and architect, and may have de81gned this house. It
has also been attributed to Edward C. Jones, to Russell.
Warren and to James M. Curtis. The house 1is sophisticated
in plan and detail, and has an~unpedimented'portico with
giant order columns of "a Corinthian order, and an Ital-
ianate loggla on the west 31de. The interior has a cir-.
cular stalr black marble mantels and restrained decora-
tion in the Greek Revival style. The house remained in
the Aiken famlly untll 1889, when it became the home of
W.H. Shlngler a cotton and naval stores factor and com-

mission merchant The house was the blrthplace of Wil-
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iam Martin Aiken (son of Joseph D. Aiken and Ellen D.

- Martin), supervising architect of the U.S. Treasury De—
partment, who designed_Federalrbuildings.throughont' '
the nation and in Charleston designed.the Williams
Bandstand on The.Battery, and the second Roper Hospi-

- tal at Barre and Calhoun streets (now demolished).

(Thomas, DYKYC, Dec. 22, 1969. Ravenel, Architects,
167, 170. Stockton unpub notes.. Stoney, This is
Charleston, 24.)

29 Charlotte St. -- This three and oneéhalf Story brick
single_house was begun by Richared Cﬁnningham sometime -
after 1815 and completed c. 1828 by John Gordon. The _
house is in the late Adamesque style. _.'_ o

(Thomas, DYKYC, Dec. 29, 1969.. Stoney, This is Charles—
ton, 24.) '

30 Charlotte St. - This_two and one-half_story wooden
' ‘single house was built in 1882 by William E. Holmes,
~an East Bay paint and o0il merchant, as rental proper- - |

ty. Holmes lived next door at 32 Charlotte St. at

the time. ' _ o R o l
(Stockton, DYKYC June 23, 1975.) |
32 Charlotte St. -- The three story, hlp—roofed brick house

in the Regency (late Adamesque) style, was built be-
tween 1820 and 1825 by John Casken, a carpenter, who
purchased the lot in 1811 in trust for Catherine Weg—

man-. _
(Thomas, DYKYC; Jan. 5, 1970. Stoney, This is Charles— .
ton, 25.) . o

33.Charlotte St. -- ThlS notable two and one-half story

_brlck mansion on a high brick basement was built by _
J. Thomas Hamlin White, a Christ Church Parish planter,’.
about 1854, replac1ng a two and one-half story wooden

house. ~'He left the then ex1st1ng kitchen building,
constructed c. 1812 by the McAlpin family. Tradition
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says White had the bricks made in Mount Pleasant, where
he was half owner of a kiln. During the Civil War,

the house was a Confederate hospital.  After the war,
it was headquarters of the notorious Maj. Gen. Daniel
Edgar {(Dan) Sickles, commander. of the Department of
the Carolinas during the Federal occupation of the -
South. Sickles was a member of the Tammany Hall Gang,
4 New York Congressman, friend of five presidents,

and minister to Spain, where he was the rumoured lover:
'0f Queen 1Isabella. The.house formerly had a hidden”:
passage with a ladder, from the top floor to the base-
ment. Distinctive architectural features of the house
include the Corinthian order, pediﬁented entrance sur-
round, approached by a high flight of steps and set

in a pedimented, prOJectlng pavilion.

(Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 12, 1970. Stoney, Thls is Charles—
ton, 25.)} ' .

36 Charlotte St. -- Built C. 1830 for Mrs. Rebecca Cordes,
‘this two and one-half story wooden house on a high
brick basement has a Palladian window on its east side_.
and a Greek Revival piazza, and is transitional in

style between the Adamesque-Regency and the Greek Re-

vival.
(Thomas, DYKYC Jan. 19, 1970. Stoney, This is Charles—
ton, 26.) _ :

40 Charlotte St. —— A three story wooden house on a high

‘brick basement, this notable house has two tiers of
. piazza facing ' the street. It was built by Jonah M.
Venning, who purchased the site in 1827 and moved
here c. 1831 from St. Philip Street. Venning had a
lumber yard on Venning's Wharf (on the Cooper River
between Calhoun and Laurens streets) and later was
" a factor and commission merchant. The property re-
mained in his family until 1877. |

{Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 26, 1970. Stoney, This is Charles—- -
ton, 26.) ' - i
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43 Charlotte St. —- Built c. 1849 by Williard A. Hussey,

this two and one-half story brick house, on a high
brick basement has some unusual features. The walls
are five bricks thlck with a piece of slate placed

in the mortar between each brick. The stuccoed brick
building has brownstone trim. The east side extension
has blind windows, placed:eolely for balance, as they
are backed by fireplaces in the interior. Major rooms -
have ornate plasterwork typical of the period. Notable
features of the exterior include the pedimented center
pav1llon with the classic entrance surround and set

of double curving stairs.

(Thomas, DYKYC, Feb. 2, 1970. 'Stonéy,_THis is Charles-—

44 Charlotte St -— Built C. 1834 by Wllllam Henry Houston

a carpenter and contractor, this two and one- half story

brick house on a ralsed basement has Doric piazza

kcolumns across the front _ Hlstorlc Charleston Founda—

tion bought and restored ‘this notable Greek Revival

'house in 1966.

(Thomas, DYKYC, Feb. 9, 1970. Stoney, This is Charles-

‘CHISOLM STREET

Chisolm Street received its name from Chlsolm s Mill,

a rice and lumber mill complex, now part of the U.S. Coast
Guard Station to the west of the street. On the east side
of the street is a playlng field known as ‘the Horse Lot,
part of a filled former mill pond

(Thomas, DYKYC, Dec 22, 1969.)

3 Chisolm St. -- The Andrew B. Murray Vocational School
‘was built in 1922-23 and named for the philantropist
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who'financed it. It was, Charleston s first vocatioﬁ~
- al school. The bu11d1ng, deSLgned by David B. Hyer,
architect, . cost $225 500 to build and equip. It is

now used for offlces of the Charleston County School
_Dlstrlct

(Stockton unpub notes )_.

" CHURCH STREET

Church Street, ramed for the new St. TPhiliﬁ's'Church
was one of the regularly laid out streets of the 1672 Grand
Modell ‘extending ‘the length of the town from what is now
Cumberland Street to Vanderhorst Creek (present Water Street).
Early references call it New Church Street, SLgnlfylng the
removal of St. Phlllp s from its original site, and in some
cases, New Meeting strest, reflecting perhaps the 16ss of
Old Meeting Street due to construction of the city Wélls,
and perhaps the presence of the Baptist Church near its
south end. By 1739, it was known simply'as Church Street.
By that time, also, Vanderhorst Creek had been bridged and
Church Street Continued was cut from Vanderhorst Creek south
to Broughton's Battery on White Point.

("Streets of Charleston.' Rogers, Charleston in the Age of
the Pinckneys, 57-58. ‘Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 5/-58.)

12 Church St. -- This notable, two and one- -half Story wooden
house was built c. 1810. The one story plazza and the
wooden fence are 1nterest1ng features.

{Stoney, This is Charleston, 26.) _ _ .

15 Church St. -- During the Civil War, this lérge hrick:.h
house, then the home of Dr. William Snowden, was used
as a hospital. The Snowden family silver, buried_in
the garden when the family evactuated to Columbia in

1865, was not found again until 1922. Dr. Snowden's
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Wlfe, Amarynthla Yates Snowden, - was one of the founders.
"of the Confederate Home . Their son Yates Snowden wrote'
a Hlstory of South: Carollna - The top floor of ‘the house -
. was heaV1ly damaged in the 1886 earthquake and replaced
with a mansard roof. ' '

(Nlelsen DYKYC May 10 1937. "Stocktoﬁ;_unﬁub;_notes.)_:

19 Church St -— This former carriage house was built c.
1875 for.the George W.,Williams"House.(Calhouonansion).
at 16 Meetlng St. It was remodeled as.a residence in
1939, with Simons & Lapham, .Charleston:architects, in--
stalling 18th and- 19th century style interiors.. The

 brick wall on the street shelters a garden and terrace.
where the carriage entrance used to be.. .

(Nielsen, DYKYC, ‘May 10, 1937. Ravenel, DYKYC, Feb. .
17, 1947. Chamberlain & Chamberlain, Southern Interi-
ors, 62-64.  Stoney, This is Charleston, 26.) '

20=-24 Church*St. - This'interesting-group-of_Adamesque

houses stands on the site of ‘a row of tenements built
before 1775 by Edward Fenwick and destroyed by fire
or other means before 1785.  01d plats show that the.
kitchens of the three tenements survived. . The middle
building was apparently the first to be rebuilt, by
'Daniel Brown, a mariner, who bought the vacant site
in 1795 and was living there in 1796. In lSOl; Gedrger;_

~  Chisolm bought the still vacant site at 24 Church and

" built on it promptly, as he is listed in the 1802
city directory as living there. James H. Ancrum, by
1809, had occupied the present house at 20 Church,
having sold the William Rhett House, 54 Hasell St.,
which he had inherited from his mother, a”great—grand—
daughter of Col. Rhett. Ancrum married a daughter of
Col. William Washington. He apparently leased 20
‘Church from William Holmes, who bought the site in
1795 and whose family retained it until 1834.

- {Stoney; This is Charleston, 27. , unpub; MS.;
SCHS. )
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' 26 Church St. -— In November.l794; when Charlotte Fenwick
Jackson and her husband Ebenezer JaekSon-chveyed this
property to jOhﬁ'Splatt Cripps, there was an unfinished

" house on the site. It was perﬁaps the tenement which:
Charlotte's father, Edward Fenw1ck, ordered by his

.will to be built with funds from his estate  The
house was completed either by Cripps, who was a mer=
chant, or by James Watt, who purchased the property
©in 1796 and-lived and operated a grocery at the loca-
tion. 'Originally;'theihouse was located two doors

south of Lynch's Lane. = When the lane {now Atlantic

© . Street) was. widened, c¢. 1800, this house became the
corner building. ' '

(Greene, unpub 'MS;-SCHS. Stockton, unpub. notes. )

32 Church St. — Robert Lindsay, a carpenter, leased the
site in 1804 from Margaret White for a term of 16
_years, with the right to erect a structure. His in-
ventory, after his death in 1813, lists a two story

wobdenwhouseramong'his assets. His widow was living
here in 1815. Margaret White sold the property in
1817 to the Rev. Andrew Fowler. A Yale graduate, he .f
was pastor of Trinity Episcopal Church, Edisto Island,

1813 to 1817, As a member of the Society for the Ad-
.vancement of Christianity in South Carolina, he helped-
found churches in Columbia, Camden, Cheraw, Florida
and North Carolina. He also published a weekly Epis-
copal newspaper. A subsequent owner-occupant was Tur-
ner Logan, a lawyer and U.S5. Congressman in the 1920s.
(Greene, unpub. MS; SCHS.) . .

35 Church_St, —-- This three and one-half story, stuccoed
brick house was built c¢. 1770 by Thomas Young, who
purchased the site in 1769. ' The lot then extended to
.Meeting Street and Young also built the house at 30
Meeting St., although, according to tradition that
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was sold uncompleted to Col. Isaac Motte, who completed
its construction. This house was later the home of

Dr. Joseph Johnson, author of Traditions and Reminis-

- cences- of the American Revolution. Dr. Johnson was
‘also a prominent physician, Intendant {(Mayor) of Charles—
ton, president of the Charleston Branch of the second

- Bank. of the United States, and a Union-Party leader.

He was a son of William Johnson, a leader of the Rev-
olution in South Carolina, and a brother of William
Johnson, Chief Justice of the U.S. Supreme Court.

In 1941, the house became the home of Wilmer Hoffman, «
a nationally known sculptor. The house has valuable -
Georgian interiors. e ¥ : Lo _
(Stoney, N&C, April 11, 1949. Smith & Smith, Dwelling
Houses, 73 74 ) :

37 Church St. —- George Mathews, son of an early settler,

- Anthony Mathews, bought the site of this house in 17-
43 and constructed it soon afterward. The Georgian
two. story brick house has an-asymmetrical plan typical
of early 18th -century local houses, and many early
Georgian interior features. The wrought iron balcony
is characteristic of early Charleston ironwork. The.
builder died in 1769 and his house was. sold to Dr.
Philip Skirving. According- to tradition, an owner of
the house safeguarded his money by keeping it in a
_cask on the front stoop, where no potentlal thief ever
thought to look.

* (Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 14, 1978. Jack Leland, CEP,
;Feb 13 11969. Smlth & Smlth Dwelllng Houses, 73.)

38 Church St —— This notable Regency style house was built
c. 1819 by Dr. Vlncent LeSelgneur, a refugee to this
city from the Santo Domlngan slave revolutlon The
crenelated north wing was added after 1894.

_(Thomas, unpub. MS. Stoney, This is Charleston, 28.
N&C, Jan. 3, 1974.) " '
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-39 Church St. —-- The George Eveleigh House was. built c.

1743, when Eveleigh purchased the site. In 1753 he

-ordered the sale of“”the'dwelling House . on White Point
late in.my own occupation.'". The two and one;half story
stuccoed brick house is built of small, possibly im-
ported brick and has an asymmetrical floor plan typi-
cal of early.local houses. The interior has wide
cypress board paneling in the Georgian style. The
drawing room, which extends across the front of the
house, has an Adamesque mantel from the Nathaniel

- Heyward House, c.: 1788, which stood at East Bay and

. Society streets. Eveleigh's lot formerly extended to

Meeting St., and a subsequent owner built the house:
at 34 Meeting St. The lot remained undivided until
1795, when this part was sold to Dr. John Lewis Po-
lony, a. Santo Domingan refugee, and a naturalist and:
chemist who corresponded with leading European scien-
tists and was a member of séeveral European literary
societies. The house formerly had a secret stair
leading from a cupboard in the drawing room to a
‘closet in’. the room below. The house was unroofed

" by.a tornado in 1811, which lifted a 30 foot beam,j
carried it a quarter of a mile and drove it into the
roof of a King Street house..

(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 9, 1978.. Stoney, This is
Charleston, 28. , unpub. notes; SCHS. :
, N&C, April 5, 1949. Jack Leland, CEP,
June 25, 1968. Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the
Pinckneys, 538. Chamberlain & Chamberlain, Southern
Interiors, 60-6l. Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses,
64-73. Iseley & Cauthen, Charleston Interiors, /5.)

3

41 Church St. —- Architect A. W. Todd built this house in’
1909 as his residence. According to tradition he
designed the house as a result of a wager challenging

him to put a substantial house on the narrow (25 feet

by 150 feet) lot. One of the more interestihg,features
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is the garage entry through the chimney.
(Nlelsen, DYKYC, July 13,°1936.)

50 Church St. —- Site of the Mariners' Church. = As a result.
of a religious constroversy, the congregation of the
First Baptist Church split and a second meeting:houéé.
was erected here in the early 18th century. A corner -
of the church was carried away in the hurricane of
1752, by a vessel driven up Vanderhorst-creek-(now_l
Water Street), across Meeting Street, where it was
grounded: Afterwards the church was used as the
Mariners' Church, a place of worship for seamen.

“{Smith & Smith, Dwelllng Houses, 57. McCrady Plats,
3351.) : _ _ o '

53 Church St. -- The date of this house is uncertain, but
according to a deed of 1877, Joseph Ball had a house
on the“site when he made his will in 1768. The proper-
ty passed to his wife Elizabeth, and she and her Ball

“and Gibbes retained the property until- 1877, ‘when it
was sold to Julius Lilyestron Lee.
(Greene, unpub. MS; SCHS.)

‘59 Church St. -— Thomas Rose, an Ashley River”plantef,_is
said to have built this two and one-half storyistﬁccoed
brick house soon after his marriage to Beuler Elliott
in 1733. The site was devised to Beuler by the will
of her father, Thomas Elliott. The house has an asym—
metrical plan typical of eariy Charlestton houses,
and early Georgian interiors with robust and simple
paneling, staircase and other woodwork. The piazza

is a 20th'ceﬁtury addition. . The house is said to be
haunted by the ghost of Dr. Joseph Brown Ladd, who in .
1786, was carried into the house after being mortally
wounded in a duel, in which he defended the honor of
an actress named "Mrs. Robertson,' nicknamed '"Perdita.' .
(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 10, 1975. John Bennett, DYKYC,
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March 23, 1942. -Stoney, This is Charleston, 28. Ise-
ley and Cauthen, Charleston Interiors, 52-53. Chamber-
lain & Chamberlain, Southern Interiors, 52-58.)

56, 58, 60 Church St. -—'These three frame- houses were built

o

after 1754 by

has ‘theronly:room in-Charleston completely paneled in

ames Vereejla house:carpenter. No. 60

. .mahogany.

{Stockton, DYKYC, July 12, 1982. Iseley & Cauthen,
Charleston Interiors,x73. Stoney, This is Charleston,

29.)

61 Church St..~— The First Baptist Church, the oldest Bap-

tist church in the South, is called the "Mother Church
of Southern Baptists." It was organized in Kittery,
Maine, by the Rev. William Screven in 1682, and was
driven by persecution to South Carolina in 1683.  The
Baptists first settled at Somerton, on the Cooper Riv-

er near Charlestown, and later moved théir church in- -

to the city. Meetings were first held in the home of

William Chapman on King Street. 1In 1699, William El-
liot gave the present lot on Church Street and a frame
building was erected. During the Revolution, the Brit-
ish seized the building and used it for storage of salt
beef and other provisions. Lord Cornwallis, the Brit-
ish commander, admitted that he ''feared the prayers

of the young Baptiét minister more than the armies of
Marion and Sﬁmter.”_:He was referring_to the Rev. Rich-
ard Furman, founder of Furman University, the first
Baptist college in the South. The cornerstone of the
present church was laid in Septémber 1819, and the

building was dedicated in January 1822. It was designed

by architect Robert Mills, who considered it 'the best

specimen of correct taste in architecture of all the
modern buildings in this city.'" Although Mills said
the building was '"purely Greek in its style,'" it

actually has Tuscan columns and Roman arches. Mills

191
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'may also have designed the iron gates and fence,
which'are'simple and vigorous, with a guilloche'deéign
of alternating curves and lozenges. Two of the
church's pastors, the Rev. Dr. Basil Manly and the Rev.
Dr. James Petigru Boyce, Wére founders of_the Southern -
Baptist Seminary, now the largest in the world.

(Thomas, DYKYC, July 1, 1968. - Legerton, Historic
Churches, 4-5.  Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 57.
Ravenel, Architects, 121-123. Deas, Early lronwork,.
'96-97. Gallagher, Robert Mills, 83-85. Waddell,
"Introduction of Greek Revival," 3-4, 13-14. Simons
& Lapham, 184.}

69 Church St. —- Thié'large_double-house has been. attribu- - -
ted to Richard Capers, but it may have been built by
Jordan Roche or Jacob Motte. Richard Capers,. a plan—J
ter in Christ Church Parish, inherited the lot from
his father Capt. William Capers, who owned it in 1715
and: is thought to-have died ¢. 1718. There is no
documentéry evidence of what Richard Capers did with
this property, but it has been speculated he built
this house c. 1745, as a wedding gift for his third

- wife, Mary Ann Maybank. The first recorded evidence
of the house is a 1761 deed, in which Rebecca Roche,
"widow of Jordan Roche, relinquished her dower in the
property to her husband's nephew, Francis Roche, in-
cluding the "Brick House Messauge or Tenement and out
Houses thereon Erected.' At that' time, the property
was leased by Jacob Motte, the Public Treasurer, who
continued to ‘live theré unti1 his death in 1770.

Motte was for 27 years the-PubiiC'Tfea5urer, which
office was second in importance to the Governor.  The
Treasurer, who was appointed and regulated by the.

- Assembly, kept the provincial government's funds in
his personal possession, subject to a great bond. He
served as the local banker, as Charleston had no banks

until the 1790s. Motte and other treasurers grew rich




on legal commissions. Motte was the ancestor of many
prominent South Carolinians. He fathered 19_children
and was the father-in-law of Thomas Lynch and. Gen.
William Moultrie. Motte never owned this house, but.
rented it from the Jordan Roche family. In 1778, the
house became the home of James Parsomns, a.member of
the Provincial Congress and of the Secret Committee:
of 1775. Parsons died in 1779, while vice president
of South Carclina. The house was severely damaged
during the Federal bombardment and purchased in a

ruinous state by Mrs. William Mason Smith, who restored

it after the Civil War.. Her descendant the late. Alice

R. Huger Smith, mationally known watercolorist and
writer, lived here. For many years, the entrance was
in the northernmost opening in the street facade. In
1971,'the‘entrance was returned to its original‘-posi-
tion, in the center of the facade, during an extensive
renovation of the house. The house: is unusual for its
period in that the third floor ceilings are the same
height as those of the lower stories and windows are
of the same size. The drawing room extends the full
width of the house and has an Adamesque mantel with
the "Procession of. Baccus and Ariadne" in the center-
block. In the rear, the property has a line of out-

buildings with Gothic pointed-arch openings.

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 20,

24. TFraser, Reminiscences, 8l. Smith & Smith, Dwell-
ing Houses, 47-53. Stockton, DYKYC, May 26, 1975.
Stoney, N&C, March 20, '1949. Thomas, DYKYC, March 8,
1971. 1Isabella Leland, DYKYC, Feb. 1, 1960.) '

71 Church St. -- Col. Robert: Brewton built this house as

his residence, perhaps as early as 1721. . It is one
of the earliest surviving examples of the Charleston
single house. The three story stuccoed brick house

has slightly projecting quoins, keyblocks over the

193
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windows, a cornice of shaped bricks and a notable.
wrotight iron balcony. Col. Brewton was a son of Col.
Miles'BreWton,'who served in the war'against'the Yemas—
see Indians in 1715 and in 1717 was promoted to Pow-
der Receiver. 1In 1718, Col. Miles Brewton was foremand .
of the grand Jury whlch lndlcted the plrates captured -
by Vice Admiral William Rhett. This lot was the south-
.part of his tract of land which extended to Tradd
Street on the north. Col. Robert Brewton who acqulred :
this lot from his father, also succeeded hlS father'
"as Powder Receiver.. He was a wealthy wharf owner, a
militia officer and a member of the Commons House of
'Assembly " Col. Robert Bréewton sold the house in 1745 _
to Jordan R0che, husband of hlS-SlSter Rebecca Brewton.
It remained in her family to l767.b The formal garden

in the rear,'in the formal 18th century'Style, was de-.

signed by Loutrel Brlggs, author of Charleston Gardens.

The house was de51gnated a Natlonal Hlstorlc Landmark
in 1962. o S
(Stockton, DYKYC, May 12, 1975. Whitelaw & Levkoff,

142, Smith & Smlth Dwelllng Houses, 43-47. Green,
unpub notes.) _ _ '

73 Church St. —- Col. Miles Brewton oresented”this house,
"for love and affection" to his daughter Mary and her . .
husband Dr. Thomas Dale, in 1733. Dr. Dale was a
physician, a medical translator and a theatrical writ-
er, as well as assistant justice of South Carolina.
Tradition says the Royal Council of the Province held-
~meetings here. The house:-originally had three'stories;

~the top story was removed in the 19th century.

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 43. Stoney, N&C,
_”April 20, 1958f) . -

76 & 78 Church St., -- In this small, notable post-Revolu- _
' tionary house at 76 Church, DuBose Heyward wrote Por-

gy, the novel on which the operetta, Porgy and Bess,
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‘was'hased _ It was de51gnated a Natlonal Hlstorlc Land-"
mark in 1972. _The_house_has been oomblned wlth 78
Chorch St., another post- Revolutionary dwelling, into
one residence. Tradltlon says PreSLdent George Wash-
 1ngton spoke from a balcony at 78 Church on his visit.
to Charleston in 1791 The present balcony, however, |
is in the Regency style of c. 1815-25. The thlrd
floor of 78 Church is partly supported“by a mahogany
bedpost.. | | a

(Stoney, N&C, April 20, 1958. , This is Charles—
ton, 30. Jack Leland, CEP, March 19, 1969.)

77 Church St -- Site of the home of Col Mlles Brewton,
Powder Receiver of the Province and foreman of the
grand jury which indicted the plrate Stede Bonnet, in
1718, The present'three and one—half'story brick struc-
ture was bullt between 1810 and 1815 by Lou15 Dan jou,
a grocer who was a natlve of Cluny, France. - It was
built as his shop, with a residence above. The two
story brick building at 75 Church St. was hls warehouse
-and stable. Do e : o o _
(Susan S. Bennett, DYKYC, July 28, 1941. Stoney, This
is Charleston, 30. File, "77 Church St.," SCHS.}

79 Church St. -- This three story stuccoed brick house is
of very early construction, but its construction date
has not been pinpointed. The site was part of Town
Lot No. 39 which was granted to:Anthony Bonneau, a Hu-

- guenot immigrant, . .in 1694, . At some point, the corner
portion of Lot No..39 was acquired by John. Bullock,

who devised it to his widow Mary Bullock, from whom

it passed to their daughter Milicent, who married Col.
‘Robert Brewton. Col. Brewton sold the lot, apparently
containing this house, in 1722 to John Frazier. The.
addition on the north is believed to date from c. 1742.
(Green, unpub. MS. Stoney, This:is Charleston, 30.)
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83-85 Church St. F—iWilliam Hendricks, é planter in Christ
Church Parish, made his will in 1749, dirétting his’

executors to finish this double tenement, with back
bulldlngs Through the arch can be seen the former

_ double kltchen now a re51dence ‘The main bulldlng
is a two and oneahalf story, stuccoed brick structure, -

simply finished.

'{Stoney, This is Charleston,-31 B ,.N&C;”April
©20, 19587 ' : -
. 86 Church St. —- Thié-valuablé'sttéRévolutiOﬁary house is

believed_to.haVe'been built'c,'l784, It is a three

. and one-half Story stuccoed brick structure,'with a .

hipped roof and a delicate fanllght over the door.
(Stoney, This is Charleton, 31.)

87 Church St. -~ The-Heyward—Washlngton:House was built c.
1770 :by Daniel Heyward, a rice planter and founder of
a prominent rice planting dynasty. - He removed a two:
story brick house from the site but may havé;kept the
existing outbuildings. The house was the home of his
son Thomas Heyward, a signer of the Declaration of In--
dependence. President George Washington stayed here
on his visit to the city in 1791. During the late 19th
century, the lower left corner of the house was_con—'
verted -to a bakery. The house was restored in 1929
by the Charleston Museum and the Society for the Pres-—
ervation of 0ld Dwellings (now the Preservation Soci—.
ety of Charleston), and is.operated as a: house museum
by the Charleston Museum. The formal garden in the
rear is maintained by the Garden Club of Charleston
The house has notable Georgian interior features, some
of which had to be reconstructed due to the 19th cen-
'tury remodellng The draWLng room mantel, which is
original, is attributed to Thomas Elfe; one of the
city's foremost colonial. cablnetmakers |
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 31. , N&C, April u'
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20, 1958. Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 26, 1979. Fraser,
Remlnlscences, 18.) : o

89— 91 Church St. —-- This valuable thfée story double tene-
ment of stuccoed brick was called "Cabbage Row' because
black tenants there put cabbages for sale on the win-
dow sills. This was partly the 1nsp1rat10n for "Cat-
fish Row," the locale of DuBose Heyward's novel B__gz
although for the purpose of his novel, Heyward placed
"Catfish Row' on the waterfront (East Bay Street). A

- notable feature is the wrought iron grllle in the en—'
trance to the central arched passage.

'(Stoney} This is Charleston, 32. ',;N&C, April
20, 1958. Deas, Early Ironwork, 74-75.) - ‘

90 Church St. -- Tradition says this three énd one-half

story brick Georgian house was built after 1752 by
" Thomas Legare (1715-1788). There is no documentary

evidence of that but the property is subsequently
found in the ownership of his son Samuel ‘Legare (1744-
1797). The middle window ‘on the first level was once
a door, indicating that room was used as a counting
house or shop. " The house has valuable Georgian inter-
ior féatugeSa The Regency gtyle piazza was added c.
1816 by George Macaulay: ‘DuBose Heyward, author of
Porgy, lived for a time in the service building in the

rear. -
(Stoney, This is Charleston; 32. : , N&C, April
20, 1958. Burton, unpub. notes. Stockton, DYKYC, Feb.
12, 1979.)

93-99 Church St. —- This row of two and one-half story

frame Vlctorlan re51dences was built c. 1910, Previous-

ly on the site was the large brick building of the
Charleston Hydraulic Cotton Press Company.

(N&C, Oct. 7, 1979. Sanborn Map, 1884.)

92 Church S5t. -—- The three and one half story brlck Adam-—-
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esqoe'house'Was'built"c 1805 by Alexander Chrlstle,.-

" a Scot merchant. The’ Slte was formerly the garden of

94 Church Stg_ The mlddle window on the first floor

‘was originally a door,-lndlcatlng the: front room was .

a place of business. This has been the rectory of St.
Phlllp s Chruch since 1908.

{Stoney, This is Charleston 32. Stoekton, DYKYc;-Feb;

5, 1979.)

- 94 Church St. -— This three story. hlpped ~roof’ house was'

built between 1760 and 1765 by John Cooper, a merchant
and his wife Mary. From 1771 to 1799 it was owned by

" Thomas Bee, attorney, planter, delegate to the Conti-

nental Congress and U.S.-Judge. “After 1799 it was

" purchased by William Alston, a Georgetown planter,

who gave it in 1805 to his son Gov. Joseph Alston,

who sold it the same year. Joseph Alston married Theo-
dosia: Burr, 4a of ‘Aaron Burr. She was lost at sea,
inspiring-many.legends.about‘her-fate. Tradition says .
that Robert Y. Hayne, John C. Calhoun and their support-
ers meet in the drawing room in 1830 to draft the Or-
dinance of Nullification, which sought unsuccessfully
to establish South Carolina's right ae;a3sovereign |
state, to "nullify" the unpopular Tariff Act of 1828,
called by the Nullifiers the . "Tariff of Abominations;"
The house was owned by the Alexander Christie family

at the time. . The property was' purchased in 1856 by

‘James B. Poyas, whose wife, using the pseudonyms, "The

Octogenarian Lady' and '""The Ancient Lady," wrote several

~works on local history. The center window on the first

-level was originally a door, indicating commercial use

of the front room. The Greek Revival piazza was added
in the mid-19th century.
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 32. : , N&C, April

20, 1958. Stockton, DYKYC, Jan. 28, 1980. Leland,
Charleston, Crossroads of Hlstory, 40 )
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100 Church St. —- This three story stuccoed brick building
was the initial location of the Charleston branch of
the flrst Bank of the United States, chartered in 1790.

i?toney, ThlS is Charleston, 32 Frasef,_Reminiscences,
107 Church.St. —— Isaac Holmés, a planter, built this three
and one-half story, stuccoed brick house after the great
fire of 1740. Georgian paneling in the primary rooms
i1s similar to that of other early houses including the
'George Eveleigh House at 39 Church, c. 1743, and the
Thomas Rose House at 59 Church c. 1735. Holmes called
himself ”Isaac Holmes of Church Street to distinguish
‘himself from contemporarles of the same name.
(Stockton, DYKYC Sept. 12, 1977 ., -unpub. MS.)}

131 Church St. -- The James Huston House, c. 1809, a three
story brick single house, retains: its street entrance,
a common feature on houses used for business and resi-
dential”purposes}:nHUStOn-waS'a’merchant.tailor.
- (Stockton, unpub. notes.) _ : :
134 Church St. -- This three story stuccoed brick house,
which is perhaps pre-Revolutionary, was the rectory
. of the Huguenot Church.
{Stockton, unpub. notes.) B
135 Church St. - —— The Dock Street Theatre is located in the
old Planter's Hotel building. Alexander Calder and
his wife purchased the site in 1809 and moved the hotel
to this location. - They enlarged the hotel by adding.
on - to buildings they found on the site. The hotel was
- remodeled in 1855 by J. W. Gamble, who may have added
. the main entrance with its recessed porch, banded brown-
stone columns with carved wooden brackets, and the lacy
iron balcony. During its peak period the hotel was
famous for its food, and it is said that Planter's

Punch orlglnated there Guests included the actor
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_ﬂJuniuSzBrutus-Booth, who in 1838 allegedly attempted o

to kill”hiS~managérg_a'Mf3 Flynn, in one of the rooms..

'In-1885;'thé-fbrmer hotel was described as a:!cheap _
‘tenement.'" By the early part of this century it was

‘in- a ruinous condition.  Local preservationists- pre=-:

vented its demolition, however, and in 1935 it was re- o

stored by the City of Charleston as a Works Progress

- Administration project. = The present Dock Street The-
~atre was constructed at that time, with an auditorium -
- being built in the courtyard of the former hotel and

part of the existing building being used as the;backf

stage.. The theatre is a reconstruction of an. 18th
century theatre, and is named for the original Dock
Street"Theatré,_which was ' built on the Quean-Street'
{(Dock Street) side.of the property-about(&liij}nd which
was said to have been the first building built speci-

ically for theatrical: performances, in America. The

. new Dock Street:Theatre opened. in 1937 with a2repeat'

of the first performance at: the old Dock Street Theatre,
The Recruiting Officer by George Farquhar. The rehabil- "

~itation also included the installation of the theatre
lobby and reception rooms on the first two floors and

~apartments on the upper floors. Adamesque woodwork

and plaster work from the Thomas Radcliffe House, built

c. 1802 at George and Meeting streets and demolished

in 1935, were installed in the reception rooms of the

-theatre. The plasterwork was carved by William Pur-

viss, a noted.craftsman of Charleston's Adamesque peri-
od.. The Dock Street Theatre is the home of. the Foot-
light Players, a community theatre group with profes-
sional direction, and is used for a variety of cultural
events. The City Gallery, a non-profit exhibition
spaée,_is also located in the building.

(Bowes, Culture, 101-103.. Stockton, DYKYC, July 16,
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1973. Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys,
56, 71-72. Stoney, This is Charleston,34. s
N&C, April 20, 1958. Ravenel, Architects, 7, 9-10.
Rhett & Steele, 48-49. N&C, Feb. 27, 1885. "Ichnogra-
phy," 1739.) ; _

136 .Church St. - The French Huguenot Church was organized

by French Prdtestants_who arrived on the ship Richmond
in 1680. The first church was built on this site in
1687, and: was blown up deliberately in 1796, in an at-
tempt to arrest-the great fire of that year, which in
spite of such efforts devastated a wide area. - Another
church was bﬁilt in 1800. - According to tradition, ser-
vices were timed with the tides, to accommodate members
arriving by boat from nearby plantations. The congre-
‘gation declined in numbers during the early 19th cen-
tury and the church was closed in 1823. "In 1844, the.
congregation was revived by Huguenot descendants who
wished to return: to the faith of their: fathers, and

- the present structure, designed by architect Edward
Brickell White, was built in 1844-45, It was Charles- -
ton's first:church in the Gothic Revival style. The
structure is. stuccoed brick,; with lath-and-plaster
~vaulting in the interior and cast iron decorative el-
ements on the exterior. An interesting feature is the
pierced wooden screen in the rear of the sanctuary,
with panels which can be slid open for ventilation.
Tablets on the walls of the interior are in memory
of various Huguenot ancéstors. The Henry Erben organ,
~designed for the church-in 1845, was restored in the
1970s. For many years, the church was used only for
periodic services sponsored by the Huguenot Society
of South Carolina, and for organ recitals and weddings.
In 1983, an active congregation was revived. It is
the only French Calvinist congregation in the United

States. (The French Huguenot Church in New York City
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iniscences, 34. Stoney, This is Charleston, 34.

is part of ‘an Eplscopal Dlocese ) The churchyard con-

‘tains many early ‘burials.

(Stockton, DYKYC, March 12,t1979;'”Legerton,hHistoric .
Churches: Mazyck & Waddell, illus. 28. . Fraser, Rem-.

N&C, April 20, 1958. Rheft & Steele, 48-49. Sever-
ans, Southern Architecture, 141-142. . | "Archi-
tectural Taste," 4-5. Steedman, French Protestant Hu-—
guenot Church, passlm Ravenel Archltects, 191 -

141 & 1&3 145 Church St. —-— Th1s 51ngle tenement and double-;.
_tenement were both constructed about 1740 by Alexander

_ Peronneau, a Huguenot merchant The basement and first

floor of No. 141 is bullt of Bermuda stone, the upper

.part of brlck _ The basement of No. 143-145 is of

brlck the upper part of Bermuda stone No. 143- 145

_.was renovated in 1928 by Mrs. R. Goodwyn Rhett who

converted it to a single resrdence She also bullt_
the brick bulldlngs in the rear, u51ng brlcks from

the demollshed Shepheard s Tavern, which stood at 44

Broad St. About the same time, the epithet '"Pirate

Houses,' was applled to these bulldlngs with the ex-
planatlon that pirates llved here & had tunnels lead-

ing to the waterfront for 1111c1t commerce. The name

'and the story have no ba51s in fact

(Stockton, DYKYC,: Sept, 8, 1975)

142 Church St. -- St. Philip's ChurchaHome;"The.Queen

Street end of this building contains the remains of

an 18th century row of three tenements, perhaps built
by Mrs. Mary Petrie. ‘In 1842, the row was remodeled.
and enlarged to house the Commercial House, a.hotel;'
It was purchased by ‘St. Philip's Church in 1870,

a home for Episcopal widows. . The building was remod—
eled to its present appearance in 1886.

(Thomas, DYKYC, Sept. 20, 197L1.)

146" Church St. ~~'Stf'Philipfs-Protestant.Episcopai Church,




organized in 1680, is Charleston's oldest Episcopal
congrégation and was the first Anglican_church estab-
lished south of Virginia. The first.chuf¢h, a frame
'stfuctufe,:was built c. 1681 on the-preééﬁt site of
St. Michael's ét Meeting and Broad streetsﬁ"According
to tradition; the first ministér-Was‘accused, in 1682,
of having_christened a young bear while in an inebri-
ated condition. A second church was built in 1710-23,
on the present”sité. Constructed of brick, the new
church had a tower centered in the street, in the man-
ner of contemporary parish churches in Eﬁgland_which
were placed at the center of crossroads. The church:
also had three Doric porticoes, which féprésented the

first documented use of giant order columns in the

American colonies. The second St. Philip'S‘was described

by a contemporary'aCCOunt as "spacious, and executed
'in a very handsome taste, exceeding everything of that
kind which we have in America." It was built with
funds partly obtained from duties on rum, brandy and
slaves. The church caught fire during the great con-
flagation of 1796, but was saved. by a black boatman
who ripped burning shingles from the rdof; he was sub-
sequently given his freedom as a reward. The building
was burned to the ground by another fire in 1835. Af-
ter the fire, the city attempted to widen the street
at the expense of the steeple and porticoes. The Ves-
try countered that a fine steeple was more ornamental
than a mere street. A compromise was worked out where-

by the church site was moved slightly to the east, but

with the street continuing in a curve arourid‘'a project-

ing tower and steeple. . The church was rebuilt in 1835-

38. The Vestry asked architect Joseph Hyde to rebuild
it exactly as it had been. However, he pursuaded them

to permit the replacement of massive Tuscan columns

. ..203
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of the original interior design with lighter Corinth-

ian columns, -after the style of St. Martin's-in-the-
:Fields, in London. The English Renaissance style stee—
.ple, in the Wren-Gibbdgs tradition, was de51gned by
architect Edward Brickell White and built in 1848-50.

The church bells: were donated to the Confederacy to
be melted down as cannon during the Civil War. During

the Federal bombardment of the ¢city, the steeple was

. used. for sighting and thetchufch'wasfextensively dam-

aged. It-'was also extensively damaged by the earth-
quake of 1886. 'In 1924, the church was damaged by a
fire caused by lightning.. The restoration, executed
by architects Simons. & Lapham, and completed'in 1825,
included the extension of the chancel by 23% feet, pro-.
viding space for a new organ and choirstalls. The new .
construction was placed-abové graves and tombstones,

s0 as not to disturb them. Many famous persons haﬁé_
worshipped at St. Philip”sirincluding'Presidentheorge'
Washington, on his state visit in 1791. John Wesley,
founder of the Methodist Church, preached here on his
visit to America as a young man. Many prominent per-
sons ‘are buried in the churchyard, which is divided

into two parts by Church Street. The Western Church-. o

- yard was set aside'in—1768 for_burial_of,”Strangers

and transient white persons.' The*so—éalléd_”Strangers'
Graveyard" later was used for members of the church.
The two yards.éontain the graves of John C. Calhoun,
Vice President of the U.S., Senator and cabinet offi-
cer; Rawlins Lowndes, President of South Carollna in

1778-79; Col. William Rhett, the scourge of the plrates,

‘Maria Gracia dura Ben Turnbull, South Carolina's first

known Greek resident; Edward Rutledge, signer of the.
Declaration of Independence and Governor of. South Caro-
lina; several colonial Governors; five Episcopal bish-.

ops; Edward McCrady, the South Carolina historian; and
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DuBose Heyward, author and playwrite. Christopher
Gadsden, the Patriot leader, is buried in the church-
~yard in an unmarked grave, at his request, according
to tradition. An interesting pair of stones in the
Western churchyard are known as the "Footpad's Memor-
ial,"” and recite the story of Nicholas John Wightman,
age 25, who was murdered by a footpad in 1788, and
avenged by his brother, who rounded up the murderer
and six accomplices, members of a gang who had "kept
the inhabitants in constant alarm." The gates to
the Western churchyard, installed c. 1770, along with
the the iron gates of the Miles Brewton House, are
believed to be the only wrought iron gates surviving
from the-pre—Revolutionéry:period, in the city. The
fence and gates of the Eastern churchyard date from
1826 and replaced a heavy brick wall and heavy iron
gates with skulls and crossbones wrought in the iron-
work. -The iron balustrade and portal gates set be-
tween the pillars at the west entrance to the church-
were possibly salvaged from the 1835 fire. In the
northeast corner of the Eastern churchyard is the old
Parish Hduse, an excellent Greek Revival structure.

(Legerton, Historic Churches, 18-19. Rogers, Charles—
ton in the Age of the Pinckneys, 18-19, 45, 57. Rave-
nel, Architects, 163-165, 195, 197. Stoney, This is

. Charleston, 35. s N&C, April 20, 1958. Rhett
& Steele, 40-41. Whitelaw & Levkoff, 75. Smith &
Smith, Dwelling Houses, 31-33., Fraser, Reminiscences,
33. Severans, Southern Architecture, 561

158 Church St. —- Mary Molony, widow of John Moloﬁy, built
this three story brick house as the store and residence

of her family, 1867—68._ It'replaced a previous build-
ing destroyed in the great fire of 1861. John and
Mary Molony, both natives of Ireland, came to Charles-
ton in 1840. The building is constructed of the red-
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orange brick typical of the immediate post-Civil War -
period. The lower floor retains the original store-
front. The bu1ld1ng remalned in the Molony family.
untll 1919

(Stockton, unpub MS.)

181 Church St. == This notable'Gréek~Revival'doorway,'with-'
the Corinthian order executed in wood, set into a largér
surround. of the same order, executed in stucco, was
the main entrance to the Banking House of George W.
Williams &.Co.,. and was probably erected in the 1860s.
Williams came to Charleston from Georgia in 1852 and
'by"the begiﬁﬁing of the Civil War was head of two

large merchantile houses, a director of two railroads
and of the Bank of South Carolina and the financial
counselor for the City of Charleston. After the war
his merchantile establishment at Hayne and Church
. streets was the :first to reopen, and he:established °
his banking house at this location. Latér-he”organu-
ized the Carolina Savings Bank at 1 Broad Street, where
he consolidated his banking operations.

(Thomas, DYKYC, April 28, 1969.) g

CLIFFORD'S ALLEY (JACOBS ALLEY)

Clifford's Alley received its name in the 18th
century from the Clifford family who owned land at its east
end. Generally, the alley seems to be known as Clifford's

Alley at 1ts east end and as Jacobs Alley at 1ts west. end,

for obscure reasons. The alley is also known as Bottle .

Alley, for equally obscure reasons. That name is recorded

in a traditional local ditty:

Where'd you get them bung-up shoes?

Got 'em from Mulally.

Where.Mulally keep -he shop? '
‘Corner King and Bottle Alley. ]
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CLIFFORD STREET

Clifford Street was early known as Dutch Church Alley,
for the German (Deutsches) Lutheran Church (St. John's)
which stood on the present site of St. John's Parish
House. It was. later named for John Clifford, who owned
property at 1ts eastern end.

(Stockton, unpub.. notes. "Streets of. Charleston.")

16 Clifford St. -- Built in 1859-60 by Albert Elfe, a mas-
| E ter builder, as a rentél unit, this two and one-half
story single house of brick hés certain anachronistic
featureé,_suéhe.as a Federal style_mantél, which may
indicate the reuse of materials from an older house.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 22, 1973.)

26 Clifford St. —-- This two and one-half story frame single
..~ house was built c. 1827 by Casimir Patrick, a German
merchant and tanner.  The exterior window surrounds

are in the Regency style. The interior is also '"fin-
ished in extra style (words in an 1827 advertisement),"
with rather elaborate woodwork for a small house.

(Stockton, DYKYC, March 22, 1976. , unpub. MS.)

/\/

COLLEGE STREET |

College Street is named for the College of Charleston,
through whose lands it was-¢ut in 1797. The street became
integrated into the college's'campus once again in the 1970s.

5, 7 & 9 College St. -- These three frame houses were built
by Abiel Bolles, a schoolmaster who operated a private
school for young ladies. Five College:is apparently
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the oldest. . Built‘cr 1826, it has mantels in the late

. Federal style. Seven and 9 College have mantels and

other woodwork typical of -the 1830s. . Nine College was
pufchased in 1835 by Dr. John Bellinger_whq held the-
chair in surgery at_the.Medical College of South Caro-
1lina and was a pioneer (1847)_in-the_remoyaliof abdom-
inal tumors. Nine. College is the finest of the three,
and_boasté an impressive Regency style fanlight and
sidelights iﬁ the doorway to the piazza. The:main.eh—
trance is at basement level under -a small columned |
portico. The main stair has mahogany newels in the
Empire scroll design and mantels are of black marble
in the Greek Revival style. No. 7 has a narrow en-
trance with a small fanlight, and original mantels and
woodwork.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

11 College St. -— Samuel Wilson, a King Street merchant and"

entrepreneur, built this Queen Anne style mansion as

~his residence in 1891. He engaged S.W. Foulk of Rich-

mond, Va., as his architect and Hénry Oliver of Charles- . -

ton as his builder. The house is two and one half

"stories. of wood on a basement of Winnsboro granite,

and is a Victorian fantasy of curving bays, piazzas,
turrets and gables. The interior is also finely fin-
ished exceptional woodwork, parquet floors, tiigs,
miffors and hardware. Wilson, a Charleston native who

was said to have been an orphan, entered the gfgcery

business in Charleston shortly after the Civil War and

'waslthé pfoprietor of the famous Chérleston Tea Pot,

retail and whqlesale'grocery and tea. company, on King
Street. He also branched into other interests, becom-
ing president of the Dime Savings Bank, the Charleston
Bridge Co., and the New Charleston Hotel Co. He was

also managing director of the Charleston Consolidated




Railway, Gas and Electric Company (predecessor  of the
South Carolina Electric and Gas Co.) and had shares in
numerous other businesses. He also invested in real
estate and by degrees acquired most of the block on
which his house was built. -~ After Wilson's death in

1909, the house was acquired-by the Sottile family,

“from whom the College of Charleston acquired it in

© 1964. It is currently (1984) used as a women's resi-.
" dence hall.

““(Stockton, DYKYC, April 28, 1975 & Feb. 9, 198l. Isa-

bella Leland, DYKYC, Jan. 21, 1957.)

N

COLUMBUS STREET

Columbus Street, laid out in 1789, was one of the ori-

ginal streets of the suburb of Hampstead.

53-59 Columbus St. —-— "Bischoff's Square'" -- These are four

62 &

of 17 houses built for Mrs. Henry Bischoff on Columbus,
East Bay and Drake streets in 1880. ' Seven fronted on
Columbus and four each on the other streets. Each was

‘two and one-half stories of wood, with piazzas, and

contained six rooms.

{N&C, April 27, 1880. Sanborn Map, 1888.)

64 Columbus St. -- Edwin Welling, a promiﬁéﬁt lumber
dealer, builder and real estate déveldpér,'built these
two two-story frame houses in 1871, as investment
prbperty. They were built in the Coﬁsefvativé style
familiar in Charleston houses of the first decade af-
ter the Civil War, with Greek Revivai details.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 28, 1982.) '

N4
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© COMING STREET

Coming Street is named for Mrs. Affra Comlng;'Who came
on the ship Carolina in 1670 and left the Glebe Lands
to-the Anglican Church." :

17 Coming.St. ~— This two and one-half story frame single
house was built after April 1839 for Mrs. Sarah A..
Cohrs. '

(Stockton unpubl ‘notes.) .

26 Coming St. —- . This:small two~and'one—half story frame-
single. house was moved from 25 St. Philip St. by the
'College of Chareston. It was built c. 1798 by James -
Denton on a lot leased from St. Philip's Church. Den-
ton operated the Fish Market Wharf on East Bay. The-
house is now part of the College of Charleston campus
complex._ '
(Stockton, unpub. notes ) s . S
29 Comlng St. —— This late Vlctorlan house was bullt in
1907 by J A, Hesse,'and is now owned by the College
" of Charleston.
(Stockton, unpub. notes.) .
32 Coming St. —- This house was built in 1908 by H. T.
Zacharias, a prominent building contractor. It now
- belongs to the College of Charleston
(Stockton, unpub. notes. )
34 Coming St. —-- This two and one-half stofy frame single
- house, with a Victorianized roof was. probably built
“between 1771-78 by Thomas Harvey, a vintner. . An ad-
vertisement for sale in 1792 mentions "a very valuable
brick distillery," on the property. The house was built
~on land leased from St. Philip's Church; to which it
belonged until sold by the church in 1906.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 18, 1980.)
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36 Coming St. -- Charles Graves, a planter, built this three
and one half story'brick house in 1842 on land leased
from St. Philip's Church. The exterior of the build-
ing is'conservative in style, except for the Greek Re-
vlﬁal'piazza;- The masked piazza end adds interest.

The interior is typical of the 1840s. Now owned by College.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 14, 1972.) : e

38 Coming St. =~ The two and one-half story frame house on
a high® brick basement was built c. 1770 by John Scott,
on one of St. Philip's leased glebe lots. The interior
and the roofline were later remodeled in the Greek Re-
vival:style. The College of Charleston now owns the
property. :
(Stockton, N&C, Aug. 5, 1972.)

40 Coming St. -- This two and onéehalf'story brick house
' was built c. 1851 by William James Rivers, a notable
Charleston author and teacher. His residence and academy
were located here until 1857, when he became professor
of classical languages at the South Carolina College in
' Columbia.  He was the duthor of several works on South

Carolina history. Now owned by the College of Charleston.
(N&C, March 10, 1970.)

57 Comihg St. -- This two story frame house was built c.
1884 by John H. Kornahrens, a soda water manufacturer,
who had his bottling plant in the basement and his
residence in the main portion of the house. Since
1925, the house has been owned by the family of Edward

Leon Guenveur, a prominent black plumbing contractor
(dled_1969).

(Stocktoﬁ,_uﬁpub. MS.)

59 Coming St. -- This two story building was built in 1879

' by Francis A. Ryan as a grocery store and residence.
It now belongs to the College of Charleston.
(Stockton, unpub. notes.)
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69 Coming St. -- This notable two and one half story frame
house on a high brick basement was built before 1817
H by. Nathanlel Farr and hlS WLfe,‘Katherlne Blacklock
The property is now owned by the College of Charleston
(Stockton, unpub notes. );

123 Coming. St. ——_Bullt in- 1839-40 by Jacob W Cardozo, a
prominent Jewish journalist. A native of Savannah,
- Cardozo was the editor of the Southern Patriot, pub--
lished at Charleston from 1823 to 1845, and. editor
. of the Charleston_Evening News from 1845 to 1847.

- He was. also a prominent member of CongregationiBeth
Elohim. Built on a high stuccoed'brick,basement, the
~house is two and one-half stories of wood with a gable
roof. |
"(Stockton, DYKYC, March.3, 1980. )

126 Comlng Sty —= The Cathedral of St. Luke aﬁd'St Paul

the largest Eplscopal church edifice in South Carollna,
was built between 1811 and 1816 as St., Paul's Church
(Radcliffeborough). The congregation was organized

in 1810 and worshipped in the Huguenot Church until

~occupying this church. James and John Gordon were

. the architects and builders.  They also designed and
built the Secoﬁd-Presbyterian Church on Meeting-Street,
‘which this church resembles. The tower of ‘St. Paul's
was so_weighty that the main walls began to split, so
the tower was dismantled and the remaining portion later
.was capped with a Gothic Revival parapet.: The cost
of . the church's construction, and of repair of flaws
which were discovered later, approached a quarter of

a million dollars. The church was often referred to

as ''the planters' church" because it served a large
number of planters who had suburban homes on the Neck.
During the Civil War, the church records and plate were’

sent to Columbia for safekeeping, and were lost in the
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burning of that city in 1865. During the Federal bom-
bardment, the congregations of St. Michael's and St.
Philip's joined that of St. Paul's to worship in this
church which was out of range of the Federal guns.
The Rev. W.B.W. Howe, pastor of St. Philip'é,'was the
pastor of the three congregations until 1865, when the
occupying Federals banished him for refusing to pray
for the United States President. Subsequently, Howe
 became Bishop of the Episcopal Diocese of South Caro-
lina. In 1949, St. Paul's merged with the congregation
of St. Luke's Church (22 Elizabeth St.), and in 1963
the structure was designated the Cathedral Church of
the Diocese of South Carolina. The interior is notable
for its architectural beauty.

(Legerton, Historic Churches, 8-9.  Thomas, The Epis—
copal Church, 241-246. Rogers, Charleston in the Age
of the Pinckneys, 65. Stoney, This is Charleston, 36.
Ravenel, Architects, 98-103.)

135 Coming St. -- This Regency style house was built c.
1830 by William Wightman as a rental unit. The house
has two and one-half stories of wood on a high brick
basement, and marble steps to the piazza:. Wightman,
a  jeweler and silversmith, was administrator of the-
estate of Anne Paul Emanuel Sigisménd de Montmorency-
Luxembourg, Duke of Luxembourg, in the famous Luxem-
bourg claims against the State of South Carolina. ({See
36 Chalmers.) . A subsequent owner and occupant was Dr.
‘Maynard E. Carrere, a graduate of the Medical School
of the University of Penmsylvania, who is credited with
the successful use of acupuncture. During the Civil
‘War he was a surgeon in the Confederate hospital:in
Charleston. :
(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 9, 1972.) :

189 Coming St. -—- The Kahal Kadosh Beth Elohim Cémetery

was originally the private burial ground of Isaac
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DaCosta, a Sephardic Jew who was Minister of Beth Elo- .
him from 1750 to 1764. The: preperty was transferred
to the Congregatlon Beth Elohim in 1764, It is one -
of the country s most historic burlal grounds, with
graves datlng back to 1762 Moses Cohen, Beth Elohlm s

first Rabbl, is buried here 'along with Jews who- served

in the Amerlcan Revolution and all subsequent Amerlcan

wars. _ S _
(Elzas, Jews of South Carolina, 34-35, 292.) g
" COOPER " STREET.
52. Cooper St. -- This frame church, uow-known'as‘Mount=Sié

nai Holiness Church of Deliverance, was built in 1892
as a Baptist mission with funds bequeathed by a famous
opera singer. Designed by architect S. H. Foulk of

Richmond, Va., and constructed by local contractor John

' D. Murphy, the structure was built by Citadel Square

Baptist Church as its mission chapel on the East Side.
Funds were bequeathed to Citadel Square Baptist by Emma

~ Abbott (Mrs. Eugene Wetherell), whose Emma Abbott Eng-

lish Opera Company had appeared at the Academy of Mu-
sic in this city several times during the 1880s. The
building was initially known as the Emma Abbott Memor— )
ial Chapel. The structure is a wooden version of the

Romanesque Revival style, which is usually found executed

in brick.and stone. Foulk's plans called for a stuccoed

exterior finish (probably to be painted to resemble ma-
sonry), but the building_committee'had.the church sided
with wood for economy. A. devout Congregationalist who:
refused to sing La Traviata because she thought it was.
immoral, Miss Abbott bequeathed $5,000 to each of 12
churches in the U.S. which she had enjoyed attending,

- including the Citadel Square Baptist Church.

\
(Stockton, DYKYC, March 2, 1981.)




CORDES STREET

_ Cordes Street was named for the fémily of Catherine
Cofdes, wife of Samuel Prioleau, jr., owﬁef of Prioleau's
Wharf. It was the southernmost street of the Prioleau's
Wharf property, which was laid out by his heirs in 1816,
‘with streets named for branches of the family: Prioleau,
Cordes and Gendron. '
(Stockton, unpub. MS.)

7-11 Cordes St. -- These brick warehouses were wused in
the 19th century by the East Shore Terminal Company,
for a cotton press and storage of cement, hay, etc.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 8, 1973.) = |

COURT HOUSE SQUARE

This was formérly State House Alley or State House
Square, when the South Carolina State House was located on
~the site of the Charleston County Court House. After the
Revolution,_whén_the state capital was moved to Columbia
-and the burned State House was rebuilt as the Charleston
District Court House, the name change for the street fol-
lowed.

("Streets of Charleston." Stockton, unpub. notes.)

6-8 Court House Square —-- Blake's Tenements were built be-
tween 1760 and 1772 by Daniel Blake, planter at Newing-
ton Plantation on the Ashley River. The double tene-
ment is three and one-half stories of brick on a high
brick basement. The brickwork is laid in Flemish bond
on the facade, English bond on the sides. The eastern
tenement retains original Georgian interior details,
while the western tenement was remodeled in the Adam-—

esque period. The double front steps have notable

215
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wredght iroﬁlreiliﬁgs. -The Site'of' the deuble tene-
'_ment'was part of original Toﬁn'LQt No. 313, which was
granted in 1698 to Gov . Joseph.Blake£ great—grahdfather'
of Danlel Blake For mahy years, the tenements were
owned by St. Mlchael s Church as rental property The
'_bulldlng was acqulred by Charleston County in 1967 and
houses county offices. L - S
(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 16, 1978. Whitelaw & Levkoff,
218. Deas, Early Ironwork, 50-51, 54-55. ' Stoney,
This is Charleston, 3/.) ' ' '

S CUMBERLAND STREET

' Cumberland Street was probably named for William
Augustus, Duke-of Cumberland, who defeated the pro-Stuart
Scots at the Battle of Culloden in 1746., The street does
not appear on the "Ichnography'" of 1739. .Cumberland-Wasi'
originally. one block long, from Meeting to Church. It was
widened in the early part of the 19th: century, and extended -
to East Bay. In the process, a slice was taken from Amen
Street which ceased: to exist. Amen Street began at East -
Bay and extended northwestwardly to Church Street. One

tradition says. it was so named because it was. the last

. street on the north sidemof.townj another that it was so

called because it was in hearing range of the "Amens" from.
nearby churches.

("Streets of Charleston." Stockton, unpubl. notes.)

ISICumberland St. -- Between 1789 and 1804, Theodore Gaillard

Jr., a Factor; built a range of four three story brick -
buildings that survives today as the two story struc-—
ture known as 8 Cumberland St. The row, which became
known as Faber's North Range after it was purchased in

1804 by John Christopher Faber, was reduced by one story
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after the earthquake of 1886. The site of the range
was part of Wragg's Wharf, which extended from just
south of the present Custom House southward almost to
Vendue Range. Judith Wragg sold it in 1777 to Theo—-
dore Gaillard, Sr. He was a Tory.during'the'RévobuQ
tion and his property was'confiscated'by South Caro-
lina authorities in 1782. Acquired in 1783 by John
Vanderhorst, the wharf became known as Vanderhorst's
Wharf (not to be confused with the other Vanderhorst's
Whart, below Tradd Street, which belongédftofArnoldus
Vanderhorst). In 1789, after John Vanderhorst's death,
the wharf was purchased by Theodore Gaillard, Jr., son
of the Tory. By 1799, he had built the range which was
later known as 8 Cumberland St. The portion of Cum-
berland Street east of East Bay Street was known as
Gaillard Street until the 1970s. .

(Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 8, 1983. ___ , unpub. MS.)

79 Cumberland St. -- The Powder Magazine was authorized by
the Commons House of Assembly in 1703 and completed by
1713. It is the only surviving public building from
the Lords Proprietors' period which ended in 1719. = It
is a low square building with a'steep hip roof and ga-
bles on all sides. .1t has thick walls and vaulting of.
brick, with the vaulted roof partly supported by a sub-
stantial brick pier. The roof is covered with pantiles.
In 1770, the building was condemned as being of no
further use. However, it was needed during the Revolu-
tion and saw use. But when a shell burst within 30 .
feet of the building, the powder in it was moved else-

-where. Paintings of George I and his queen were stored
here during the Revolution, and Charles Fraser recalled
seeing them in 1800. Later, the building was used as

as a warehouse. The building now is owned and used as
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an assembly place by: the:South Carolina Society of Col-:
‘onial Dames of America. It is also a museum -open to
the public. '

(Simons, Stories of Charleston. Harbor. Fraser,:Remi—-

~nisicences, 29-30. "Ichnography," 1739. '"Ichnography," '

1/88. Mazyck & Waddell, illus. 27. Stoney, This is
Charleston, 37.) - S - -

‘83 and 85 Cumberland St. =~ For somé;timé there has been a

dispute about the location of Judge Nicholas Trott's
house. Dr. J.L.E{W;_Shecut, in his essay on the topo- -
‘graphy of Charleston, published in 1819, stated:

Among the first brick houses built in the.
town, is that in Cumberland-street, now occupied:
by Mr. Thorne, immediately opposite to the Epis-
copal Methodist Church. It was the residence of
Chief Justice Trott. Next to this is the old
brick. Magazine which has been lately repaired;

'HiStoriah‘Edward'McCrady, in the first volume of his

History of South'Carblina, cites Shecut and adds:

- The house and magazine still'staﬁd..‘The‘house--
‘unfortunately lost a story in the great fire of
December, 1861. . . .it was gutted, and when re-.
built upon the old still substantial walls, the
third story was: left off. It is now the residence
of Miss Whitney. It is to be observed, however,
as discrediting the antiquity of this house, that
it does not appear on a map published by Parlia-
ment in 1739, but on the contrary its site is
left as vacant [on the map]. ' '

An examination of the records indicates that both
Shecut and McCrady were talking about the building at
85 Cumberland, of which only the first level is left -
of the 18th century bﬁilding. The second story had
been removed by 1912. By 1917, two new stories were
added to the building, which was converted to the fac-
tory of the General Asbestos and Rubber Company. Llater
the building was used as an office building and by 1945

was in apartments. The thickness of the original brick
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is indicated by the recess: of the present upper story
walls at the point of juncture with the old walls.
Trott's residence here is still wunproven. As noted
by McCrady,. the "Ichnography" of 1739 shows only the
Powder Magazinef "It does not show present-day 83 and
85 Cumberland, nor does it show‘Cumbefiand Street.
The map was published in June 1739, seven months before
Trott s death., . The house at 85 Cumberland does appear
on the ”Ichnography” of 173883 the.bulldlng at 83 Cum-
berland does not. Kitchens, stables and other out-
bu11d1ngs are omltted from both the 1739 and the 1788
maps. The conclusion is:that 83 Cumberland was proba-
bly an outbuilding to:85 ‘Cumberland; the central chim-
| hey indicates it was'probably a kitchen.  The conclu-
sion is that both are 18th century structures, but it
seems unlikely that Trott lived in either. Another
tradition states that, after hlS marriage to Col.
William Rhett's widow, Sarah,_1n_1728, Judge Trott
lived in the house at Rhettsbﬁry (now 54 Hasell).
(Shécﬁt, Eééajs;'6—7.‘ McCrady, 1:703-704. Edgar &

Bailey, 681-684. Heyward, Nicholas Trott, 66.
"Ichnography,'" 1739. '"Ichnography,' 1/38.

Opposité;BS'Cumberland St. - Siteaof-the BluenMeeting house,
the first Methodist Church in the c¢city. Built in 1787,
the church was later named the Cumberland Church, tak-

ing its name from the street.

(Legerton, Historic Churches, 42.) ' ' ¢

'DRAKE STREET . -

. The origin of the name Drake Street is not documented
but the street was one of the original streets of Hampstead,
" 'laid out for Henry Laurens in 1789.
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(""Streets of Charleston." Stoney, This-is-CharlestOn,_128.)"

' 86-90 Drake St. -- These are three of 17 houses built;forh _
Mrs. Henry Bischoff on Drake, Columbus, and East Bay -
streets. Five were built on Drake-Street,”seveh:on"'
Columbﬁsrand five on East Bay. H;“Wragge'was'the"COn—h
tractor for the Drake Street houses. Built in 1880,
each was two and one-half stories of wood, with a pi=-
azza and six rooms.

(N&C, April 27, 1880.)

106 Drake St. - The Cherlestoﬁ'Mehufecturing?ce};_charJ_
tered in 1880, built this mill in 1882 _engagiﬁg:A'D;
Lockwood of Prov1dence, R.I., one of the country s
foremost expert on mill constructlon, to deSLgn and
construct the bulldlng The cotton mill did not pros—
per, according to most authorities, because of a dlf—

'lculty in securing a stable and adequate labor supply

' The property went through various ownershlps and uses
until 1902, when it was acquired by the American Clgar

 Company. The cigar factory remained in operation un- -
til 1967. Since 1981, the building has been the loca-

“tion of City Venture Corp., an agency working to at-
tract 1n1t1at1ve, capital and labor to restore the
economic v1ab111ty of the East Side. _ '
(Childs, unpub. MS.; SCHS) - LX

EAST BATTERY

The Grand Modell of Charles Town did not provide .
for a street along what is now East Battery. East Bay ~
stopped at Granville Bastion, which stood on the present

Omar Shrine Temple property. The forerunner of today's "

High Battery was:built in 1755. It was an earthwork ex-
tending from Granville Bastion to Broughton's Battery,
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on the site of present-day White Point Garden. It was
built mainly of mud and sand held together by fascines
{long bundles of sticks), and planted with grass. It had
wooden platforms on top from which guns were fired. The
earthwork was augmeﬁted by the Middle Bastion, built just
south of present—day Atlantic Street. In 1757, the Middle
Bastion was renamed for Gov. William Lyttelton. The mili-
tary engineer in charge of the fortification line was Wil-
liam Gerard de Brahm, who previously had served as a mil-
itary engineer for Charles VI, Holy Roman Emperor. He came
to America in 1751 and was employed for several years in
bu11d1ng fortifications in the southern colonles, and in
mapping the Atlantic coastline. The fort;flcaplons were
completed in 10 months; with the labor of 300 men, includ-
ing Acadian exiles, Gefman immigraﬁts and blacks. In 1767,
it was reported that the wall was broken down in parts by
the sea. Bermuda stone was purchased to repair the breeches,
but_the Assembly had to pass a law the next year to keep
the owners of schooners from stealing the stones for ballast.
The fortifications were upgraded again during the Revolution
when Lyttelton's Bastion became Fort Darrell. After 1757
there appears to have been an easy passage along the fort-
1f1catlons, but the street which became known as East Bat-
- tery was completed. In 1787, the General Assembly passed
an act for '"'making and completing East Bay continued.'" The
act authorized the continuation of East Bay as a 30 foot
wide thoroughfare from Granville's Bastion to the Ashley
River. It made possible the filling up of Vanderhorst
Creek (now Water Street) and of low spots along the water-
fromt. Several amending acts were passed through 1797, in-
“cluding an act of 1795 to dispose of lands on which Fort
Mechanick had been erected in 1793-95, on the site of Lyt-
telton's Bastion. Hurricanes in 1800 and 1804 virtually

destroyed the seawall, which was rebuilt with rock and




ship ballast. Cannon deployed along'the line during the
War of 1812 are'said to have given East Battery its name.

The first documentary mention found is in 1827 The seawall

of the ngh Battery was developed to its present helght and

_solldlty after the hurrlcane of 1854, which breached it in
'fseveral places The ‘granite seawall which was'then'raised
' was repalred and strengthened: after the hurricanes of 1885

and 1893. The ngh Battery has.been a popular promenade
since the early part of the 19th century.' Because of the

.marshy nature of the land, however, it was not - poss1ble to

" build continuously along East Battery until the perlod be-

tween 1820 -and 1850, when most of. the mansions along. the-
thoroughfare were constructed

{Ripley, The Battery, 2-6. Smlth & Smlth Dwelllng Houses,

173-179. Ravenel, Archltects, 24-26. Cooper & McCord,

Statutes, 7:103-106 :109-113. ' McCrady: Plats,. 3351 )

- -1 East Battery -— This*three5storyxstuccoed‘brick”Mansion

‘was built by Louis D. DeSaussure between 1858 and 1861.
Its plan-is a lengthened version of the twin parlor
arrangement with the usual side hall of the typical
mid-19th century town house plan. The house was dam-
aged in'February 1865, during the Confederate evacua-
tion of the city, when a large gun at the corner of-
East Battery and_South*Battery was’ blown up. A frag-
ment-of the gun, it:was*said; was thrown upon the roof,
andslodged-in.the upper part of4therhouse, where it

, was-foundtwhenvthe house was repaired. It was damaged
severelygin-thegearthquakerof,1886,-after which the

house was rehabilitated and remodeled by Bernard
0'Neill, who added the iron balconies, new window and‘

- door enframements,.and an elaborate cornice and a roof
balustrade which has since been removed. DeSaussure,

‘the builder, was an aucticneer who sold everything



\[’;\

223

from ships to slaves. He retained the property until
1888, when'O“Neill:aequired it. o' Nelll was a pros—.
- perous wholesale grocer who had 1mm1grated from Ireland
about 1840 He was the grandfather of the famous local'
”artlst Ellzabeth o' Nelll Verner. . The O Nelll famlly
" retained the house untll 1926, when it was sold to Mrs.
'Robert E. Lee, 111, wife of the grandson of the Confed—
erate general Currently, the. house is d1v1ded lnto
'three residences:

(Mazyck & Waddell, illus, 70. Stoekton;:unpub. notes.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 38. Smith & Smith, Dwell-
ing Houses, 183.} . .

5 East. Battery -- The three storyistuccoed'brick'house was
built between 1847 and 1849 by John Ravenel. Ravenel
- who was completely of Huguenot descent and a member. o
L;of the plantlng arlstocracy, sold his patrlmonlal
acres to become a merchant, and built up one of the
- city's.leading shipping houses. He was also president
of the South Carolina Rail Road and was instrumental
'in developing: the Northeastern Rail Road. This house
was also ‘the home of his son, Dr. St.Julien Ravenel,
the noted scientist who designed and built the Civil
War semi-submersible torpedo boat, the-Little David,

and was & leaderﬁin.the development of the phosphate

- fertilizer afteruthe.civiliWar. It was also the home
of Dr. Ravenel's wife Harriott Horrleutledge who,

using the name Mrs. St. Julien Ravenel, authored the

. book Charleston; The Place and thezPeople, and other

‘works on looal:history;p-ln 1886, the property was
purchased by John Ravenel's son-in-law Elias Horry
V:FrOSt, president of E.H. Frost & Co., one of the city's
- leading cotton brokerage houses. He was also head of
-the Stono Phosphate Company and president of the South
- Carolina Loan and Trust Company. Frost was. a noted

art collector and owned one of the best libraries in
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the South. .The house was built in the ltalianate-stylel-

popular in Charleston in the antebellum period. After-.

suffering severe damage in the 1886 earthquake, the .

house. was extensively_rebuilt-by Frost, who kept-the7h

~original plan and mass, including the prominent. bay "

on the front, and added features in-the Victorian Ital-.

ianate style fashionable in the'18805 - The property
remained in the hands of John Ravenel's descendants
until 1953, when it was sold.

{Stockton, unpub. MS. » DYKYC, Dec. 13, 1975.)

9 East Battery -- Built c. 1838 by Robert William Roper,

this is an oﬁtstanding”example“of Gréek Revival archi- |

tecture. The three story brick'structure'has'giant
order Ionic columns on an arcaded base. The initials.

in the front door are those of Rudolph Siegling, a

subsequent owner, who was the publisher of the News .

“and Courier. He bought the house in_1877 and his

heirs retained it until 1929. The house has very fine

Greek Revival interior features. A 500 pound piece of

cannon. has been in the attic since 1865 when the evac-

uating Confederates blew up the gun on the corner of

East Battery and South Battery

{Stockton, DYKYC, March 17, 1975. 'Stoney, ThlS.lS .
Charieston, 38. Jack Lelana DYKYC, June 6, 1983
Smith & Smlth Dwelling Houses, 183-184.)

13 East Battery —— William Ravenel, a wealthy shlpplng

_merchant (brother and partmer of John Ravenel who built

5 East Battery) built this house c. 1845 - The build~

er solved the problem of erecting a large house on g

' 'narrow lot by running the porte-cochere under his

drawing room. Only the arcaded base remains of the

front portico, the giant order Tower of the Winds

columns of which’ were shakeh down iﬁ”the 1886 earth-

quake and never replaced. After a hurricane in the
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1950s, one of the massive capitals was found under an
uprooted tree; apparently it had been driven deep into
the soil by the force of its fall. The drawing room
extends the width of the ‘house and is perhaps the lar-
- gest in the C1ty

(Thomas, DYKYC, Nov. 20, 1967. Smith and Smith, Dwell—
ing Houses, 182-183. Stoney, This is Charleston 38.
Mazyck & Waddell, illus. 34.)

19 East Battery —— This property and that of 21 East Battery
were the site of Lyttelton's Bastion, built in 1757
and renamed Fort Darrell during the Revolution. Fort
Mechanic named for the mechanics of the city who gave

.thelr labor to bu1ld it in 1794, when a French naval
invasion (which never came) was expected was also
built on this site: Subsequently the Holmes House,

a notable Adamesque mansion, was bUllt at-present-day
19 East Battery. The present yellow brick mansion was

‘bﬁiit in 1920 for Julius M. Visanka and was designed
by architect Albert Simons. The architecture is based
on that of Italian villas.__When built, it was one of
‘the most expensive houses in Charieeton.

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 180-181, 63. Fraser,
Reminiscences, 47. DYKYC, April 13, 1942 & Nov. 4,
1965.) : o : -

21 East Battery -- The Edmondston-Alston House. This Regen-
cy style house was built between 1817 and 1828 by
Charles Edmondston, a native of the Shetland Islands
who made a fortune as a merchant and wharf-owner. It
was purchased ih.1838 by Charles Alston, a wealthy
planter, who added features in the Greek Revival style
such as the third level of the piazza and the roof
parapet'with his family coat of arms. The present
cast iron balcony replaced an earlier one which was
knocked down in'the 1886 earthquake The parapet was

also shaken down and was replaced Wlth a minor cor-
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rection in the heraldry. The interior woodwork is un-
usual in that it employs ball shapes:in'plaee of den-
.:tlls in entablatures Durlng theICivil War;'the house
was occupled in March 1865 by the_Unlon Maj.lGen. Ru—
_fus Saxton - Charles Alston s daughter 'Susan Pringle -
:Alston _was the last of his famlly to live in the

house _ Her cousin, Judge Henry Augustus Mlddleton

Smith bought it from her estate’ 1n 1922. He moved two
--_hRegency style. marble mantels from the Wllllam Mason _
nSmlth House on Meetlng Street and 1nstalled them in. o C
:the ground floor rooms. The first two floors are |
open to the publlc as a house museum operated by the .
_ Hlstorlc Charleston Foundatlon AR : R R
(Stonmey, DYKYC, March 15, 1948. Stockton, DYKYC, March
-3, 1975. Thomas, DYKYC, Aprll l 1968. . Sparkman,
"Beauregard's Headquarters ) ; o
25 East Battery -~ This Victorian mansion was built in 1885
by Charles H. Drayton, who mined phosphate deposits
~at his family plantation, Drayton Hall on the Ashley
. River. .‘Medieval European and Chinese architectural
-influences are ‘combined in this structure, designed
by ‘Charleston architect W.B.W. Howe. '~ When built,
building's white bricks with black mortar were exposed..
- Subsequently, the house was stuccoed..
(Stockton, DYKYC, April 14, 1975 & Dec. 21, 1981.)
29 East BatterY.——-The Porcher-Simonds House was built
¢. 1856 by Francis J. Porcher and: enlarged and remod-
eled in the early 1890s by .John C. Simonds. Porcher

was-a-cotton broker and after the Civil War was presi-

dent of the Atlantic Phosphate-Company. He was a. _
delegate to the South Carolina Secession Convention ' | l
in 1860. Simonds, who purchased the house in 1894,
.was a native of Abbeville, where his father, Andrew
Simonds, was a banker. " The family moved to Charleston

in 1865 and the elder Simonds organized the First
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National Bank. .The ydungér Simonds was édﬁcated.at
Exeter and Yale and succeeded his father as president
of the First National Bank. He sold the institution
to the Peoples Bank in 1926. A friend later remarked
that Simonds retired_from banking at an auspicious
time. The Simonds family sold the house in 1943,

The house is depicted in an'1865'phbtograph és an

Italianate style dwelling of two stories on a high

" basement with a pedimented center pavillion and masked

piazza. Siinonds remodeled the house in the Italian

Renaissance Revival style popular in the 1890s, adding

- two front piazzas, one square and one semi-circular,

and a semi-oval wing on the south side of the house.

The interior was also remodeled'in_thé Renaissance

Revival style, with an abundance of dark oak and ma-
hogany finished woodwork,_and.th baronial staircases.
(Stockton, unpub. MS.)

39 East-Battery -~.The George Chisolm House was built c.

//
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1810 and is a two and: one half story frame dwelling

on a raised basement. The entrance.was formerly in

the far right bay of the front. Tiffany gold leaf ornamen-
tation in the drawing room, c. 1905, was removed |

c. 1970. The garden was designed bynLoﬁtrel'Briggs.

{Whitelaw & Levkoff, 62. Isabella Leland, DYKYC,
Feb. 20, 1961.° Stoney, This is Charleston, 38)

Ogﬁast Battery -- The Missroon House was built ‘by Harry

Grant, c. 1789. It was purchased in 1308 by Capt.
James Missroon, whose family owned.it until after the
Civil War. Capt. Missroon and his descendants were
in the maritime trade. The house, which retains much
of its original woodwork, became the Shamrock Terrace
Hotel in 1905. 1In 1925, it was enlarged for the Omar

Shrine Temple.  During the construction, part of Gran-
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ville Bastion was found.. Behind the Missroon House:

is the Omar Shrine Temple, designed by architect Albert

Simomns .

(Thomas, DYKYC, August 19, 1968.  N&C, Sept. 3,'1905
. Stoney, This. is Charleston, 39. Smlth & Smith, Dwell= .
~ing Houses, 168-169.) : '

O

EAST BAY STREET

East Bay Street was orlglnally called Bay Street'
or The Bay Accordlng to Ramsay, the first houses were
built along the waterfront The early grants described lots

- as boundlng east on Cooper Rlver It was llterally true,

as there was nothing to the east of East Bay but marsh and

water. From the settlement of the town, East Bay was the

center of a growrng commerce. As commerce grew and the town

grew, so dld the number of wharfs or ”brldges”:as they were.
called. With the buildup- of land east of the town wall or.
curtain line, short streets were laid out east of East Bay

and office bulldlngs and warehouses were built on the streets

and wharfs. Most of that development occurred after the
American Revolutlon During the colonial perlod the east -

side of East Bay was fortified, from Granville's Bastion

~on the South to Craven s Bastion on the north.. The west side.

of the street was lined with ‘buildings, stores below and
residences above, while the wharfs pro;ected to the east of
the curtain line. East Bay crossed a small swamp at the

foot of Queen Street and crossed a dralnage canal at pres-

. ent~day Market Street via the Governor's Bridge, whence it -

continued north to Colleton Square and the other suburbs.
Above the Governor's Bridge it was known as East Bay Con-
tinued as-far as Laurens Street, where it was known as Front

Street or So-Be-It Lane.

{Rogers, Charleston in :the Age of the Pinckneys, 55-56.
"Ichnography," 1739. 'Ichnography," 1788. Smith & Smith,
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Dwelling Houses, 268-269. "Streets of Charleston.'")

43 East Bay -- This house stands on part of Lot No. 1 of
~the Grand Modell, which was granted by the Lords
Proprietors, in 1682, to Maurice Mathews and James ' |
Moore. A portion of Town Lot No. 1 was acquired at |
some point by John Daniel who on his death devised it -
to his son Adam Daniel. Adam Daniel, in 17533, conveyed
this portion of Lot No. 1 to George Sommers. The
property was described at the time as having a "Tene-
ment'" thereon. 'This"hbuSe, which stylisfically dates
from c. 1755, is either the "Tenement" mentioned in

 the deed or was erected by George Sommers soen after
“the puréhase; The property then bounded to the south
"partly on the Brick Wall and partly on a small wood-

en bridge leading to the Westward'" across a finger of
marsh extending north from Vanderhorst Creek. The

~ conveyance also included some "low water land" to the
south of Granville Bastion. This’propert& remained
in the ownership of Sommérs and his' family at least
until the 1790s, and the bend in East Bay, where it
connects with East Battery, was known as "Sommers'
Corner." This three and one-half story, stuccoed brick
house has outstanding paneling'énd other details in
the Georgian style. [Note: this house has been identi-
fied in some sources erroneously as the James Hartley
Housé; Hartley actually owned the land next door to
the north, at present-day 45 East Bay.] ' )

' (Stockton, unpub. MS. Stoney, This is Charleston, 39.
Chamberlain & Chamberlain, Southern Interiors, 115-116.)

45 East Bay -- Adam Daniel, in 1757, conveyed this portioﬁ
of Lot No. 1 to James Hartley. Hartley made his will

later the same year, directing that his executors
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see that his dwelling house here '"be Completely fln—
‘ished upon the Plan and present Design thereof. "
Hartley's dwelling house seems not to have- survrved"
- and it appears that the present house was built" by
his son-in-law, William Somersall “in the decade or
so after the Revolution: A native of St. Kitt' S,
Somersall came to South Carolina in the 1760s and
became a prominent merchant and planter. During the
Revolution he-loaned]£23,580 to the South Carolina

. government. '~ He served in the General Assembly, 1787f'

90, and was a delegate to the state conventlon to '

. ratify the U.s. Constltutlon, in 1788 He was marrled
in 1774 to Hartley 8 daughter Sarah, as hlS second W1fe
Their daughter Mary married John Ward, an attorney, _
and they lived here after 1807. Ward was a state Rep-
resentative, 1792-98 and Senator, 1798-1810, twice

president of the-state_Senate, and Intendant of CharleS— '

- ton, 1801-02. He was also a Colonel in the S.C. Militia.
This property, described as "having thereon a three
Story brick building... . formerly the residence of
the said Col. John Ward, deceased," was devised to his
daughter Sarah (Wlfe of Edward Armstrong of Newburgh

'N.Y.) in 1821. She and her husband sold it in 1836.
In 1850, the property was purchased by Wilmot G. De-
Saussure. - DeSaussure, who.subsequently became a Con-
federate general, thoroughly remodeled the house in
the taste of his periced.

(Stockton, unpub; MS. Stoney,'This is Charleston, 39)

47 East Bay -- Mrs. Anne Boone' s House built c. 1740, is -
a three and one-half story brick single house - Its
extremely_thlck brick walls may have survived the
great fire of 1740 and date from a house she inherited
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in 1733 from her husband Joseph Boone. Boone came to
Carolina from England in 1680 with a large company of
_ Puritans. Amme's father, Landgrave Daniel Axté;l,
was .the leader of the party. Boone led many of the
-leiticél_battles of these dissenters in the early
18th ceﬁtury. ' The middle window on the ground floor
~was probably the original entrance. ~The iron balcony
was from another old house and the iron gates to the
éarriage house were added by George. Moffett before
1917. The Doric columned piazza was added c. 1840.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 1, 198€é__8mith & Smith, Dwell-
ing Houses, 161-168. Stoney, This is Charleston, 40.
: B , Charleston's Historic Houses, 1949, 16-17.)

50 East Bay -- Carolina Yacht Club. The bow-fronted older
portion was once a range of factors' offices along a
"wharf." The club was organized in 1883, incorporated
in 1888, and purchased this property in 1907, after
which the portion with the large square cupola was
built. The water side of the clubhouse was torn down
in 1974 and replaced with new construction. The prem-
ises are open to members and guests only.

(Simons,. Stories of Charleston Harbor, 126-127. Thomas,

N&C, Dec. 11, 1971. Stoney, N&C, April 13, 1958. Brid-
gens & Allen Map, 1852.)

51 East Bay -- This three Story stuccoed brick house was
built c. 1799 by Caspar Chrisian Shutt, a wealthy Ger-
man merchant, who had his counting house and residence
here. Subsequently, it was acquired in 1821 by John
Fraser, a partner in John Fraser & Co. and in Fraser,
Trenholm & Co., which firms became blockade runners
during the Civil War. The piazza levels show the
""proper" progreésion of orders: Doric on the first,

Ionic on the second and Corinthian on the third.
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Tradition says Charles T. Lowndes, who purchased the
property in 1836, demollshed an adJacent house to bulld
the piazza, and his son Rawlins Lowndes later pulled
down another housé to make space for the garden.

(Smith & Smith, Dwelllng Houses, 160. Stockton,
DYKYC, Jan. ‘1, 1979, Stoney, Ihis is Charleston, 407 ):

53 East Bay —- This. three and one—half~story_Stuccoed'brick,ﬂ
| building is presumed to be pOstﬂRevolutionaryu. It is.
the home of the Charleston Club, organized in 1852.

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 40.)

55 East Bay -- A three and one-half story stuccded brick
building, this wvaluable structure was built c¢. 1780
by Jonathan Simpson. '

(Stoney, This is Charleton, 40.)

57 East Bay -- Gen. Thomas Pinckney's houee,:a'three stOry;
stuccoed brick house with qu01ns, was bullt c. 1783.
Gen. Plnckney was Governor of South Carollna,_the first
U.S. Minister to England-and the envoy to Spain who
negotiated the treaty opening the MisSissippi:River
to American navigation. The iron'baloony came from 28 -
Queen St - | .

(Stoney, This is Charleton, 40 Williams, A Fonnding_
Family, passim.) -

71 East Bay St. -- Built as a commercial building before 1900,
this three story masonry structure was converted into
a residence for Mrs. Nicholas Roosevelt, c. 1930, by
architect Albert Simons. o '

(Stoney, This is CharleStOn; 40. Stocktdng'DYKYC, Oota.
29, 1979.7 _ o .

73 East Bay -- Dr. Julius Sosnowski .built this two:étory _
residence c¢. 1918. Originally the dark red brick was
exposed; it was stuccoed in 1979 when the building was
rehabilitated. g
(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 29, 1979.)
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76 78 East Bay - Vanderhorst Row, was built in 1800 by Gen.

Arnoldus Vanderhorst, Intendant of Charleston, Governor
of South Carolina (1792- -94), general of the War of 1812,
and owner of KiaWah.Islaﬁd. This was his south row;
Vanderhorst's North Row, built in 1810, stood to the.
north of Vanderhorst's Wharf. His town house stood

on the southwest corner of East Bay and Longitude Lane.

The tradition that this was "America's first apartment

- house" is a fabrication. It was a tenement row, one of

East

several buildings in the c¢ity which were built as mul-
ti-family dwellings, and there are older examples of
the type in the city. The row has three separate
tenements, each three and one-half stories. The facade
is treated like that of an English country mansion,
with a slightly projecting centér section with a pedi
ment. The row'was'in a delapidated state when it was
restored in 1935-36 by‘Dr Josiah E. Smith.

 (Simons & Lapham, Early Archltecture, 134-135. CEP,

June 21, 1935. N&C, June 22, 1935. DYKYC, March 30,
1936. Thomas, DYKYC Jan. 29_.1968. Wills (WPA)
32:924. Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 159-160.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 40.)

Bay & Longitude Lane -~ Marker denotes the site of the_
home of Landgrave Thomas Smith, Governor of Carolina
in 1693-94. In 1852, the site was occupied by the
cotton compress of Alexander R. Marshall & Co. The \_
compress building was demolished in 1940.

(N&C, June 16, 1940 & Aug. 28, 1967.)

79— 107 East Bay -- Rainbow Row. In the 1920s and '30s, this

‘line of valuable old houses was gradually changed from
slums to a handsome residential neighborhood. Built

as merchant's houses, some as early as 1740, the build-
ings originally had stores and counting houses on the

first level and residences above. The name, Rainbow
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Row, was coined int. the 1930s when, for the first'time
in a generatlon the bu1ld1ngs were painted, in a va-
riety of pastel shades. '

(Stockton, "Rainbow Row." , DYKYC, July 30, 1979.

DYKYC, June 29, 1936. Stoney, This is Charleston 41.
, N&C, April 13, 1958.) .

79-81 East Bay'——'This~build1ng-has undergone several

changes. It retains the walls of two structures --

‘a three story brick building, built c. 1849 by Heﬁryﬁ
‘Bulwinkle, a prosperous grocer and grist miller; and

~a three and one-half story brick building, constructed.

c. 1778 by Robert Lindsay, a merchant. The two build-
ings were both severely damaged by the 1886 .earthquake
after which they were rebuilt behind a commonlfacade

by John Henry Klenke, a grocer, as his store and resi-

2

dence.. The building_was remodeled as . a residence in
1953, by eliminating‘the storefront.(exéeptdfor a
singie_cast iron’colhmﬁ) aﬁd the additiondof a new
fanlighted door and windows. |

(Stockton, "Rainbow Row." s DYKYC March 26,
1979. Nielsen, DYKYC, April 27, 1953.).

83 East Bay -—- The Wllllam Stone House was built sometime.

before 1784 .and is in the tran31tlonal style, be-

tween the Georg;an:and Federal periods, characteristic

of the years following_the RevolutiOn. Stone, a mer-
chant, had the four and one«half story, stuccoed brick

store and residence built after the great fire of

1778, by which time he had moved to England. The house

. was rehabllltated in 1941 by Susan Pringle Ffost, who

added the fanllghted doorway _ ‘
(Stockton,_”Ralnbow Row." , DYKYC, April 2, 1979.

85 East Bay -- Built between 1784 and 1788 by the merchan-

.)
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tile firm of Smiths, DeSaussure & Darrell, this is a.
four story;‘stuéCoed'brick commercial-residential build-
ing, converted to a residence. Partners in the firm
were George Smith, Josiah Smith, Daniel DeSaussure and
Edward Darrell. The covered passage on the south side

formerly was enclosed: at each end-by‘wodden gates.

(Stockton, "Rainbow Row." , DYKYC, April 9,
1979. ) : :
87 East Bayf~—-JameS'Gordon,.a merchant and planter appar-

ently of Scots origin, built this four story stuccoed

brick house, with quoins on the corners, sometime after

1792. o S
(Stockton, "Rainbow Row." .., DYKYC, Sept. 27, 1982)
89 East Bay -- This three and one-half story brick house

was built in 1787 for John Deas, Jr., scion of a prom-
' inant family of merchants and planters. The one

story extension: to the south, containing a garage and -
guest quarters, was built in 1936 and de51gned by
Simons & Lapham, architects.

(Stockton, "Rainbow Row." | . 'DYKYC,, Aprll 16,
1979. Stoney, This is Charleston, 42.)

90 East Bay -~- This two story stuccoed brick building with
a hipped roof was built ¢. 1835 as the office of James
Hamilton and Co., whose'presidingibfficer'was’Intend+
ant of Charleston, Governor of South Carollna, a gen-
eral and a leader of the Nullifiers. _
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 42. _ , April 13, 1958)
91 East Bay -- Built by the merchantile firm of Leger and

Greenwood (Peter Leger and William Greenwood), sometime

before 1788, the building'haé tndergone metamorphosis
at least twice. Built originally as a store with a
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re51dence above, the bulldlng, sometime in the mid-
19th century, was given a Greek Rev1val facade and the
upper lloors were converted to loft space When Mr.
and Mrs John McGowan restored the house in-'1941, they:
removed the Greek Rev1val elements and gave the bulldu_
lng 1ts destinctive gable and the arched doorways
The house is commonly known as the Inglls Arch House,
after the old covered alley that runs through the |
lower level, and where George Inglis had hlS store in _
the mid- 18th century. . Orlglnally known . as Middle. Alley,
the passage ran from the arch on East Bay west to Be—f
don's Alley. It is mentloned_ln Thomas Elllott s will
in 1731, - o |
(Stockton, ”Ralnbow Row. "..;u;__, DYKYC Aprll 23,
©1979. - Stoney, This is Charleston, 42.)

93 East Bay *—.James Cook a house carpenter, is belleved
to have built this three and one-half story, stuccoed’
‘brick-house as his dwelling sometime after purchaSLng
the property in 1778. Dating is complicated by the
fact that it was'remodeled in the mid-19th century,

- when a Greek Revival facade was put on and the inter-
ior was gutted for warehouse space. “Mr. and Mrs. John
- McGowan, who rehabilitated ‘the building in 1941, at- -
tempted to return it to its probable original appear-
ance. | ' '
(Stockton, '"Rainbow Row." - ", DYKYC, April 30,
1979. . Stoney, This is Charleston, 42.)

95 East Bay -- The identity of the builder of the Flemish.
gabled building has nevér been established, but it is
fairly certain the house was built scon after the
great fire of 1740. Othniel Beale, who built 97 and.
99~101 East Bay, may have had something to do with

the design and constuction of this house, because its
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facade is related to his by glant order pllasters It
may also have been built by Joseph Shute (for whom
Shute's Folly was named), who was the owner in 1748.
Subsequently, the bulldlng was owne by Charles Cotes-
worth Pinckney, the patrlot offlcer_and statesman, who.
was a delegate'to the U.S. Constitutional Convention
in 1790, minister to France in 1796 and:Federalist
‘candidate for President in 1800, 1804 and 1808.

(Stockton, "Rainbow Row." , DYKYC, May 14,
1979. Stoney, This is Charleston, 42.) -

97 East Bay -— The three story brlck house was bullt c.
1741 by Othniel Beale, as part of a suite of bUlldlngS
which included his home at 99-101 East Béy{ The
architectural suite is tied together.by belt courses
and by the giant order pilasters at each end. R
:(Stockton, ”Ralnbow Row " ____m; DfKYC May 7, 1979.)

99- 101 East Bay —- Othnlel Beale s double building was.

built after the great fire of 1740, which devastated
most of the Charlestown waterfront. During the 1740s
Beale, who lived here, was in charge of the strength-
ening of the city's fortifications. He also owned a
wharf in front of the house. His home retains. hand-

- some cypress paneling and other woodwork in the main
rooms. The building was restored in the 1930s by

Judge and Mrs. Liomel K. Legge. As a gesture of appre-
ciation for their preservation efforts, the Society
for the Preservation of 0ld Dwellings (now the Preser-. -
vation Society of Charleston) permitted the Legges to
place the iron balcony, owned by the Society, on the

| front of the building..; :
(Stockton, "Rainbow Row. , DYKYC, May 21 1979.

Stoney, ThlS is Charleston, 43 Ravenel Archltects,
20-21.) -

103 East Bay --— Joseph Dulles's House was built about 1787
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and renovated in the 1930s by Anna Wells Rutledge, the .
" South Carolina art historian. Dulles, of Scots” dee«
cent, was born in Dublin ‘and came to Charlestown in
1778. “He took part in the defense of Charleston and
fwe5'captured by the British in 1780, After the Revolu—
tion he was a merchant here until 1800, when he moved.
"to Church Street. In 1812 he moved to Philadelphia,
but died in Charleston in 1818 and is buried in the
Circular Gongregationai Churchyard. The property was
retained by his .family until 1836.  One of Dulles' _
descendants was John Foster Dulles, U.S. Secretary of -
State under President Eisenhower. Simons &. Lapham, -
~designed the renovation in the 1930s, giving the house:
its distinctive gable end in order to install two win-
dows in the half .story, and replacing a 19th century
storefront with two -arched openings.

(Stockton, '"Rainbow Row." - . . , DYKYC, May 28, 1979.
Stoney, ThlS is Charleton, 43.)

105 East Bay —— Lewis Dutarque's house, built before 1784,
is masked by a late 19th century store front, added
by the Guida family who owned the property from 1890
o 1970. The interior retalns Federal details.

(Stockton, '""Rainbow Row " t s DYKYC June 4, 1979.)

107 East Bay —-- John Blake built this three and one-half
story, stuccoed . brick building c. 1792, using the wall
- of the building to the south to support his joists.

(Stockton, '"Rainbow Row.'' - . ., DYKYC, Feb. 21, 1977.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 44.)

114-120 East Bay —- Coates' Row was built c. 1800 by Thomas
. Coates.  No. 120 housed Harris' Tavern, later called
the French Coffee House. It has extensive underground
wine cellars. No. 118 has rouged brick, designed to
make the Carolina '"grey" brick look like Philadelphia
red brick, for which there was a brief vogue in Charles-
ton..

(Stoney,;This is Charleston, 44. » N&C, April
13, 1958, Whitelaw & Levkoff, 32.)




239

109 East Bay __ This two story stuccoed brlck bulldlng was
bullt in 1909 as the printing plant of Walker, Evans
& Cogswell The name of the contractor, Henry Oliver,
- appears in ralsed letters on the cast iron crash guards
which flank the bu1ld1ng s .entrances. In 1983, the
,bu1ld1ng was converted to re51dent1al condominiums.
(Stockton, unpub MS.) .

117 East Bay —— The firm of Walker, Evans ‘and Cogswell,
printers, stationers and publishers, and during the
Civil War, printers.of currency for the Confederacy,
was. established in11821.by John C. Walker. The firm
occupied this building in 1837.° In 1856, the firm
purchased the building :at 3 Broad, after which the
two buildings were joined as one L-shaped structure.
This building is four ‘stories of brick, stuccoed,
with the fourth story in a tin clad mansard, added
in the latter part of the 19th century. -
(Stockton, unpub. ‘MS. 100 Years of "WECCOY.) - -

122 East Bay -— The 0Old Exchange and Custom House, built in
1767~ 71 on the site of the "Court of Guard," where Stede
Bonnet, the ”Gentleman Plrate " was 1mprlsoned in 1718.
William Rigby Naylor was the architect of the building,
which was constructed by the brothers Peter and John
Adam Horlbeck, German-born masons. - The building is
reminiscent. of contemporaneous exchanges: in London,
Liverpool, and Bristol. The building originally had
an open arcade on the first floor and an elegant assem-

- bly on the second.. Twin stair towers which projected
into East Bay Street were taken down in the early part
of the 19th centufy as they impeded traffic. The formal
entrance was on the water side. Arriving royal governors
were greeted here; the last was Lord William Camphbell.
On December. 3, 1773, citizens of Charlestown met here to

protest the British Tea Tax. That public meeting is
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considered the first meeting of. the South Carolina Gen- .

eral.Assembly and the birth of the state's present gov- -

ernment. . Taxed tea was seized by the locel~cauthorities

-and stored in the Exchange until it was sold to help

finance the Patriot..cause.  The Patriots also walled -
up gunpowder under one of the basement arches, but it

was never discovered bythe British when they occupied

.the city in 1780-82. The British confined 61 citizens

including Lt. Gov. Christopher Gadsden .in the basement
as political and military prisoners. Among them was

Col. Isaac Hayne, whom they hanged as an example to the-

- rebellious Colonials. When President George Washington
came to - Charleston in May 1791, he was rowed across

. the harbor by prominent gentlemen of the city, to the .

official landing below-the Exchange Building, which
was then the City Hall, having been. conveyed to the

- City in 1783. Among many entertainments . .given Wash-

ington in the week he was here, a magnificent concert
and ball were helddin this building ~Ladies of the

c1ty woTe ”flllets”.or bandeaux in thelr halr, w1th

-plctures of Washlngton and the words ”Long lee the

President' in. gllt letters The bulldlng was. conveyed:
to the Federal government in 1818 and became. the Post
Office. The building continued to be used as the

Post Office and Federal office building until 1896,

when it was vacated. The government decided to sell

the building, but in 1898 it was turned over to the

U.S. Light.House‘Department for its use. ~ Alarmed by

" reports that the site interested a gasoline station

builder, in 1912, the Rebecca Motte Chapter of the
Daughters of the American Revolution began negotiating
to acquire. the property. Transferral was delayed by

World War I, during which the building was headquarters

of Gen. Leonard Wood. Although the Chapter obtained
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_title in 1917, they did not occupy it until 1921.
In 1972, the restoration of the Exchange Building was: -
adopted-ae a project: for the American Revolution Bi-
centennial. The 0ld Exchange Commission was established .
in 1976 for the purpose of :leasing and renovating the |
building. The restoration; paid for'with'state.and.
.. federal funds, cost $1,910,000 and was completed in
1979-83. .. The 0ld Exchange and Provost Dungeon, how-
ever ‘was .reopened in 1981, as a museum and meeting
place. = The restoration is a modern adaptation of the
historic:building, not meant to be an exact replica-
tion of the original appearance. The stair towers,
. for example; were replaced, not on the west front
where they would again have impeded traffic, but on
the east side. Portions open:to the public include
the reconstructed Great Hall ‘and the:Provost Dungeon, .
where also can be seen an excavated portion of :the Half
Moon Battery of c. 1701.

- {Miller & Andrus, Eyewitness 'to History. Smith & Smith,
- Dwelling Houses, 262, 265-268. Fraser, Reminiscences,
18, Whitelaw & Levkoff, v, 32, 74, °93. Rogers, Charles—
ton in the Age of the Plnckneys, 61-62, 82. Ravenel,
Architects, 36, 41-46. Stockton, DYKYC June 7, 1982.
Bryan, A Most Notable Appearance ") '

132 134 East Bay - Gabrlel Manlgault Charleston S ”gentle-
man architect,'" built thls structure sometime after
purchasing the 51te in 1797. The  building was origi-
nally a brick double tenement of three stories, under
‘a common hlpped roof In the 1890s, Pauline S. Heyward
had the structure converted to a two story building,
with a new stome facade.

(Stocktcn,_unpub. MS.) |

141 East Bay -- 0Old Farmers and Exchange Bank, built in
1853-54, is in the ecclectic Moorish Revival style.
Architect Francis D. Lee designed the building, with

its horseshoe arches and striped stonework which are:
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reminiscent of the Alcazar at Seville. To achieve the

striped effect, Lee used.pale Jersey and darker Connec—

ticut brownstone. Lopez and Trumbo were the contract-.
ors. The building was vacant, in disrepair and in
danger of demolltlon for a parklng lot was purchased
and restored in 1970. '

(Whitelaw & Levkoff, 94 Ravenel, Archltects, 225-
226% - Stoney, This is Charleston, 4543 E '

153 East Bay —— This 19th century commercial facade masks

the entrance to McCrady's Tavern, built c. 1779 by |

| Edward McCrady. The long room of the tavern is at the
rear of the building'with an entrance on Unity Alley;.
that portion has been restored as a restaurant The
Soc1ety of the Cincinnati gave a dlnner for President
George Washlngton in McCrady s 10ng room in 1791. It
possibly is the oldest surv1v1ng bulldlng used for

 theatrical productlons in the Unlted States _ The
building continued in use as a coffee house or res—
taurant untll c. 1855. Afterwards, it became a ware-

house.

(Stockton, dnpub. notes. Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 31; 1972)

155 East Bay -- This stuccoed brick building was built in’
the 1850s by Etienne Poincignon, a Frenchman who made

4 a fortune as a tinsmith and real estate investorr
{Stockton, N&C, March 14, 1973.)

154-162 East Bay --— Prioleau's.Range. Samuel Prioleau, Jr.
'huilt this range of three story brick buildings some-—:
time before his death in 1813. After 1836, the range
was remodeled by his.éonngr.'Philip Gendron Prioleau
and his daughter Mrs. Catherine Ravenel, in the then
popular Greek Revival style, with a continuous front of

Quincy granite post-and-lintel system along the first

level, and a parapet roofline,_punctuated by false attic

windows filled with decorative grills. Subsequently,
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the middle unit of the row was Victorianized, and the
unit at 162 East Bay was ~rebuilt after a fire in 1867.
In 1977-78, the range was renovated and the several
‘buildings were converted into a single building.

(Stockton, unpub. MS. Stomey, This is Charleston, 46.)

161-165 East Bay —— Wagener Building, a three stoty'brick
structure, was built in 1880 as the store and warehouse
of F.W. Wagener & Co. Founded in 1865 by Frederick W.

- Wagener, the company dealt in cotton, rice, naval stores,

wholesale groceries, fertilizers, liquors, tobaccos,
cotton gins coffee mills and assorted other items, and
manufactured cotton presses.' Rlchard P. Southard was
the arehitect of the building, which has a Queen Anne
facade of red brick with buff colored brick trim. The
.Queeﬁ Street faeade is buiit of local grey brick and
features elaborate brickwork'forming.a series of classic
arches and pilastefs on the first level and a blind
arch with a segmentel arch pediment on the second.
Wagener was also chairman of the ‘board of the S.C. In-
terstate and West Indian Exp051tlon ‘held in Charleston
in 1901-02, and was proprietor of the Pine Forest Inn,
a popular resort at Summerville. |

* (Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 20, 1980. | , unpub. MS.)

164-166 East Bay -~ Sometime after 1783, Samuel Prioleau, Jr.,

built a double tenement of three stories of brick here.
In 1839, the property was remodeled by the Estate of James
Ross, by the conversion of the two buildings into one,
with the addltlon of a new storefront consisting of a
Qulncy granlte post ~and-lintel system, extending along
the East Bay and Vendue Range facades. The three story
brick structure was destroyed by fire in 1867. It was
rebuilt in 1872 for Mrs. Ann Ross, widow of James Ross,
as a two story, stuccoed brick building, retaining the
1839 granite post-and-lintel system:on the first level.
(Stockton, unpub. MS.)
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167-169 East Bay —-- The front part of this building was a.

thrée story brick double tenement, built c. 1834 37 by

Robert William Roper, and converted into a two.story
structure in 1895-96 by the Medidal_Society of South
Carolina. Thomas Roper died in 1829,_bequeathing

all his estate to his son Robert William Roper, with

the stipulation that should the son die without issue,

this property was to be devised to the Medical Socie-
ty, and the income therefrom was to be used for the
building of a hospital.
(Stockton, unpub. MS.)

178-180 East Bay -- This three story stuccoed brick commer-
cial building was built after 1800 by Stephen Lefevre,
a French merchant. It shows French influence in its
"design and in the design of the window grills. It
formefly-had'a high hipped roof of pantiles.

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 46.  Smith & Smiﬁh, Dwell-
ing Houses, 347. Deas,.46-47. .

188 East Bay -- This. three story stuccoed brick building.
was the boyhood home of Arthur Hugh Clough, the Eng-
lish poet, whose fathér, James Butler Clough, a com-
mission merchant representing a Liverpool firm, had
his office on the first floor and the family residence

above, from c. 1822 to 1836, when the family returned

to England. |
(Bennett, DYKYC, Oct. 6, 1941. Stoney, This is Charles-
ton, 46.) ' : o

183-185 East Bay -- This three story brick: commercial build-

ing was built c. 1890 by 0.T. Wieters and W.G. Mar- -
jenhoff, grocers. The "Ichnography' of 1739 shows the
Custom House on this site.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 26, 1973.)

187-189 East Bay -- This two story brick commercial build-
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‘ing was built c. 1845 by Etienne Poincignon. When he
bought  this site in 1843, it was occupied by two houses
which had been rebuilt after the 1796 fire by Samuel
Cordes and Samuel Porcher. On the south elevation,
along Lodge Alley, may be seen the fenestration of
Cordes' three story single house. - Poincignon bricked
up the windows of this wall and used it in building

the present double commercial structure with its Ital-
ianate facade.

- (Stockton, DYKYC, Sept.. 26, 1973)

191 East Bay -- The front part of this building is a Charles-

ton single house of c¢. 1800.  Theodore Gaillard left

- the property in 1805 to his daughter, Henrietta, wife
of Joseph S. Barker. The building has a Charleston-
made iron storefront on the first floor, dated 1887,
and apparently installed when the facade was rebuilt
after the 1886 earthquake. _ _

(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 26, 1973.)

195 East Bay —— This three story commercial building was
constructed in the 1850s by Isaac Barrett, a mer-
chant. | :
(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 26, 1973.)

197-199 East Bay —- This three story brick double commer-
' cial building, a look-alike of 195 East Bay, was built
c. 1852 by James Walker.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 26, 1973.)

201-203 East Bay. —— A three story brick building was
built: here by $. S. Farrar & Bros., grocers,'in 1853.
The building was designed by Francis D. Lee, who used
cast iron pillars in the construction. The building
was severely damaged by a tornado in 1938, and rebuilt
as a two story building by I. M. Pearstine. The build-
ing has been reconstructed froﬁ a 19ll.photograph.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 26, 1973.)
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200 East Bay —-- The U.S. Custom House was built on the site.

of Craven's Bastion, remalns of which were found in-

“excavating the basement. Congress approprlated funds -

for the bulldlng in 18438 and bought ‘the site, known

as FltZSlmonS Wharf, in 1849. The Commissioners
awarded the contract for its deSLgn in 1850 to Charles—
ton architect Edward C. Jones, but the choice was ov-
erruled by Washington authorities, who chose Ammi Burn-
ham Young, the designer of a similar Custom House in

Boston. The original design called for pedimented

'”=porticos on all four sides, and a tall dome, 160 feet

from grade to top. Construction was interrupted by

the Civil War and the building was completed in the

‘present form in 1879. The rusticated basement of the

building is granite, the upper two floors are of mar-

ble.. The porticos are Roman Corinthian, and engaged

+ - columns and entablature of the same order continue -

around the cruciform structure. Emile T. Viett came .
Lo Charleston from Europe to carve the capitals and
other decorative marble work.

(Severans, Southern Architecture, 144 146. 'Thomaé,__
DYKYC, Dec. 8, 1968. Ravenel, Architects, 198, 237-

_239;_-Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 268. Rhett &

Steele, 56-57. Whltelaw & Levkoff, 44. Mazyck &
Waddell, illus. 13. Stoney, This is Charleston, 46.)

235 East Bay —- Site of the Pinckney Mansion, built c. 1745

by Charles Pinckney, Attorney General, Speaker of the
Commons, Chief Justice and later Commissioner of the

Province in London. In 1749, to recoup the cost of

building his mansion5_Pincknéy moved his family to a .-

“a-smaller house he owned nearby and rented the mansion

to Gov. James Glen, during whose tenancy the house be-
came known as the "Governor's Mansion.'" The house was
destroyed in the great fire of 1861. The site is now
{1984) occupied by Street Brothers Inc., steamship

agents. The firm was established in 1838, succeeding




the firm of T.&T. Street & Co., which was fouﬁdéd.by
Timothy Street c. 1800. | | '
(Williams, A Founding Family, 13. Smith & Smith,

- Dwelling Houses, 361-375. Charleston Grows, 64, 81.)

241 East Bay ——'Sylﬁestér Jancovich, a ship chandler, built
this two and one-half story stuccoed brick building
as his store and residence in 1870-71.

(Stockton, DYKYC, July 26, 1982. ,iunpub. MS.)

290 East Bay -- Originally a freight depot built in 1914-
15 for the Seaboard Air Line Railway, this building
was adapted in 1979-80 for use as a supermarket.
Behind this property, on land now owned by the S.C.
Ports Authority, is the west facade, propped up with
steel supports, of the Bennett's Rice Mill.  Built
c¢. 1844 by Gov. Thomas Bennett, the mill was a large
building in the Renaissance Revival style. It was
nearly destroyed by a tornado in the 1960s.

(Stockton, unpub. notes. Stoney, This is Charleston,
109. Simons, Stories of Charleston Harbor, 97.
Whitelaw & Levkoff, /6. Ravenel, Architects, 85.

301 East Bay —-- Built c. 1816 by Moses C. Levy, this three
and one—half'story brick house features a skillfully
carved and decoratéd door surround on its piazza en-
trance, which is representative of the woodwork found
inside the house. Born in Poland, Levy was a King |
Street merchant. He was a staunch supporter of the

| synagogue Beth Elohim in Hasell Street. During four
years when there was no regular rabbi, he and another
two members of the congregation took turns officiating.
When the great fire of 1838 was raging, Levy rushed

to the synégogue to save the sacred scrolls. His son
Jacob, who was living here in 1819, devised it to his
son Samuel Yates Levy who sold it in 1849 to James
Adger. Later it was the home of William J. Grayson,
author of the poems, "The Hirling'and the Slave,"

247
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a defense of slavery.
(Ravenel, DYKYC, March 3, 1941 0

311 East Bay -- The Stephen Shrewsbury House is a three and

one-half story brick house on a high basement, stuccoed, -

_built between 1800 and 1809. Shrewsbury was a carpen-
ter, shipbuilder, banker and Revolutlonary Patriot
who in 1780 was 1mprlsoned on the ship Torbay by the
British. The Adamesque doorway is one of the most
_ handsome in the city. _
(Thomas, DYKYC, Oct. 18, 1971.)

317 East Bay:—-~ This two story wooden house on a high brick"
‘basement was built between 1803 and 1805 by Benjamin
Dupre, a tailor and livery stable owner. The house
has notable Adamesque interior details and a two story
- brick outbulldlng in the rear. |
~ (Stockton, unpub. MS.) _ _ _

521 East Bay -- Built c. l789xbyfw111iam Blake, a”planter.
in St. Bartholomew's Parish, a descendant of Landgrave
Joseph Blake and one of South Carolina's wealthiest
slaveholders, this two story wooden house on a hlgh |
brick'basement has an iron railed double fllght of .
steps and a fanlight in the'pediment. It was later
owned by Judge John Faucheraud Grimké, an officer
~of the Continental Army during the Revolutlon.: He
was educated at Oxford and studied law in London.

His 14 children included Sarah and Angelina Grimké&,
early proponents of abolition and women's rights.

The northwest wing with the bay window was added after
1850 by William M. Martin. Charles O. Witte, the
German consul, lived here in 1862{80)L—+ 7. 10 —— ' ¥

(Ravenel, DYKYC, March 17, 1941. Thomas, DYKYC, Jan.
15, 1968. Stoney, This is Charleston, 47.)

328 East Bay -- The Andrew Moffatt House, a two and one-
half story brick structure, was built c. 1839. The

l\\'7° \v—’\
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gift of an anonymous donor, the house was restored by

Historic Charleston Foundation.

(HCF) .

329 East Bay -- This three and one-half story brick house

" was built c¢. 1800 by Philip Gadsden. After the Civil

War, it was the home of the Right Rev. W.B.W. Howe,
Episcopal Bishop of South Carolina. It was presented
“to Historic Charleston Foundation by a Gadsden descen-
dant. The Adamesque residence is distinguished by
its high style and attention to detail. The gates to
the garden were designed in 1961 by Samuel Gaillard

. Stoney, Charleston architect and historian, and made
by Philip Simmons, a black Charleston ironworker. The
rattlesnakes in the design recall the flag designed
by Christopher Gadsden (father of Philip) for the U.S.
Navy, in 1775, featuring a coiled rattler and the
words '"Don't Tread On Me."

(Stoney, This is Charleston, &47. N&C, Dec 23,.1958.
Isabella Leland, DYKYC, Feb. 6, 1961. ) ’

332 East Bay -~ The Robert Primerose House, built c. 1817,
is a two story Regency style house of brlck stuccoed
'on the front and.plazza side. Primerose was a pros-
peroﬁs merchant. The house was glven to the Historic
Charleston Foundatlon in 1960.
(HCF. 'N&C, July 8, 1960.)

635 East Bay —- Faber House. Construction of this Palladian
villa was begun in 1836 by Henry Faber, planter on the
Pon Pon (Edisto) River. It was completed after his

death in 1839 by his brother Joseph. Later it was the

home ' of "Joshua John Ward, a wealthy Georgetown plaﬁter
and lieutenant'gpvernor of South Carolina. After 5
World War I, the structure was briefly the Hamitic |

Hotel. Historic Charleston Foundation bought the
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property in ‘1965 when it was in danger of .demolition

for a housing project. Arthur Ravenel, a South Caro--

lina state senator and real estate developer, purchased

the house in 1971 and restored it as an office and

apartment complex. The house is two and one-half stor--

ies of wood on a high brick basement. The pedimented
portico has giant order Ionic columns on ‘@ rusticated,

arcaded base. A domed cupola rises above the roof.

Two lines of brick outbuildings are located in the rearh

yard.

(Stockton, DYKYC, March 10, 1975 . Stoney, This:is
Charleston, 8.) _ .

667-669 East Bayin—*These'éfé"tﬁo‘of'17”houSes'built for.
Mrs. Henry Bischoff in 1880. Five of the houses were
built on Bay {(now East Bay) Street, seven on Columbus
Street and five on Drake Street. Welling & Gleason
were the contractors for the Bay.Street dwellings.
Each was two and one half stories .of wood.

(N&C, April 27,1880,

729 East Bay -=- The Josiah Smith Tennent House was built
c. 1859. Teﬁnent,.a wealthy busihessman'and planter,.
died in 1864 after service in the Civil War. During
the Civil War, the house was a militafy.hospital.
The three story brick structure, on a high basement,
formerly had piazzas on the front and south sides.
(N&C, Jan. 2, 1980. Stoney, This is Charleston, 8)

10

FLIZABETH STREET_

Ellzabeth Street, named for Ellzabeth Wragg (1736-
1773), daughter of Joseph Wragg, was one of the original
streets of Wraggborough Elizabeth Wragg married Peter




Manigault and was the mother of the architect Gabriel Man-
igault. '

(Wragg Family File; SCHS. Stoney, This is Charleston, 128.)

12 Elizabeth St. -- ThlS two and one—half story wooden house.

was built c. 1851 by John Carberry, a bookkeeper on

Atlantic Wharf. The_bay window and brackets were. later

addltlons _ _
(Stockton DYKYC Oct 24,'1977.)

14 Elizabeth St. -- The two and one-half story brick town
house with a gable roof was built c. 1860 for Sarah
Rutledge Hort. It has woodwork, plaeterwork"and'marble
mantels typical of its period. There is also a note-

_worthy brlck kitchen bu1ld1ng in the rear.:l
(Thomas, DYKYC, March 22, 1971.)

19 Elizabeth St. -- This two and one~half story brick store,
with a residence above, was built c¢. 1841 by Henry Bul-
winﬂle, a. grocer. The front wall was:extended south
to screen the piazza, with a window on the second level.
Bulwinkle also had a grlst mill and a seed store to
the south of this building. In 1870, he opened a whole-
sale grocery and grain bu51ness on East Bay, but he
retained thlS grocery store untll his death in 1889.

It remalned in use as a grocery store for 125 years,

until 1966. o o
(Thomas, DYKYC, Feb. 16, 1970. Stoney, This is_ Charles-
ton, 48.) o '

22 Elizabeth St. —-- New Tabernacle Fourth Baptist Church

was built for St. Luke's Episcopal Church. The Gothic
Revival structure was begun in 1859 and was consecrated
in 1862 when not fully completed constrUCtion'having
been halted by the Civil War. The orlglnal de51gn by

architect Francis D. Lee called for a steeple in the

251
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northwest corner,'which was mnever built., It was planned

' to be stuccoed but patrlotlsm 1ntervened and the llme
‘was donated to the Confederacy BUllt in the shape
of a Greek cross, the bulldlng has on each side a
‘single Gothic w1ndow 37 feet high. The ceénter of the =
vaulted celllng is 55 feet above the floor. Patrick _
O'Donnell, who built his own flne residence at 21 King
Street,'was the bu11d1ng contractor. St. Luke's con-

' gregation, which was organized in 1858, was united’ _
with St. Paul's (Radcliffeboro) in 1949. New Taberna-
cle Fourth BaptiSt'ChUrch; which purchased the build-
ing in 1950, was founded in'1875._.The congregation
moved here from a building on the site of the Medical
UniVerSity Hospital 'The Reév. Daniel J. Jenkins,
founder of the Jenkins Orphanage, was once a pastor

 of New Tabernacle. ' '

'(Legerton, HiStorichhnrches,:6;7.“'Ravenel,'Arehitéets,
,224,.227f) ' L -

24— 28 Ellzabeth St. —— These three two- story wooden houses
were built in 1896 as rental units by the Queen In- |
~vestment Company

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

48 Elizabeth St. -- This three story brick, 23-room mansion -
is known as the Aiken-Rhett House. It was built c.

1817 by John Robinson, a merchant and real estate in--
vestor who built several houses on Judith Street.
Originally a single house, it was purchased in 1827
by William Aiken, the Irish=born first president of
the South Carolina Rail Road. He was killed in a
riding accident in 1831, and the house was.inherited
by his son Gov. William Aiken. The latter, born in
1806 in Charleston, was a graduate of the South Caro-

lina College He owned a great deal of property
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including Johassee Island on the Edisto. He was Gov-
ernor of South Carolina in 184446 and U.S. Congress-—
man, 1851-57. Gov. Alken enlarged the house several
times and remodeled it in the Italianate style, based
on Itallanate v1llas Whlch he observed on frequent trips
to Europe. The w1ng extendlng along Ellzabeth Street .
is said to have been.de31gned by his cou51n,_Joseph
Martin Aiken (see ZO.Charlotte‘St ). The wing was
used as an art gallery by the Governor, who filled it
with European and Amerlcan art. The marble surround
of the main entrance is ldentlcal ‘to that of the 0ld
Merchant House in New York City, which came from the-
Sing Slng Prlson quarry. The entrance hall has a
formal double stair of marble, iron-railed and sup~
ported by Doric columns. Durlng the Civil War in
1863, a reception for Confederate President Jefferson
Davis was held here, and from December 1863 to April
20, 1864, it was the headquartérs of the Confederate
Commander, Gen. Pierre G.T. Beauregard. The house
was' inherited by Cov. Aikén's Rhett descendants,fand:
was donated to the Charleston Museum in 1975 by Mrs.
I'on L. Rhett. The house is open to the.public'as-a
museum. '

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 298. Stockton, DYKYC,
July 17, 1976. Thomas, DYKYC, Sept. 18, 1967. Allen,
DYKYC, Sept. 20, 1982. Rhett & Steele, 94-95. White-
law & Levkoff, 86. Stoney, This is Charleston, 48.)

b

- ELLIOTT STREET

This street was laid out as a 20 foot wide thor-
oughfare, by the agreement of several property owners,
through whose land the street was cut, in 1683. It was

known at different times as Callaibeuf's'Alley and Poin-
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sett's Alley, after Huguenot families who owned prOperty.
along it. It was also known as Middle Street, and finally

as Elliott's Alley or Elliott Street, for the family who

owned Elliott's Bridge (Wharf) and other substantial real
estate 'in the neighborhood. During the late 18th and early.

19th centuries, Elliott Street was ‘a major retail shopping . -

area. The neighborhood suffered the great'firee of 1740
and 1778, and most of the buildings date from the 1790s.
Restoration of - houses on the street, which had fallen into
slum conditions, was begun in the 1930s.

(Stockton, "Rainbow Row." oy, unpub. MS.)

4 Elllott St. -- This late 18th century house was probably_
built by David’ Saylor, a prosperous cooper, after the
great fire of 1778. Saylor occupied the house as his
home and place of business. The house is three and

one-half stories of brick, laid in Flemish bond. The. 
- segmental arched'openings and the corbelled cornice
of exposed brick are notable features.. The interior’
has Georgian mantels and woodwork. The original wood
shingle roof is covered by a later roof of pantiles.
(Stockton," unpub MS ) ‘

16 & 18 Elliott St. -- Thls pair of three story brlck build-

ings was constructed c. 1802 by William Mills, a tai-
lor, father of architect Robert Mills. Mills, who
lived in Church Street, built these as tenements.
William Mills was a native of Dundee, Scotland, and
became a prosperous tailor and planter. He was a
philantropist who donated workmen to make clothes for
the Orphan House. He died in 1802 and is buried in
the First (Scots) Presbyterian Churchyard. He be-
queathed 16 Elliott to his daughter Sarah {(Mrs. George
.Lusher), who sold it in 1835; and 18 Elliott to his
son Robert, who sold it in 180Q7.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 28, 1977. , unpub. MS.)
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20 Elliott St. -- This three story stuccoed brick house
was probably built by George Gibbs, a baker, who pur-
chased the site for £800 Sterlingiin 1801. . He be-
gqueathed it to his son George who sold it in 1836;
to Peter G. Gerard. . Note the wrought iron lunette.

(Greene, unpub. MS.; SCHS. Stoney, This is Charles- -
ton, 49. Deas, 74-75.)

22 Ellibtt_St: -~ George Gibbs, the baker, ﬁurchased.tﬁis_
site in 1793 and built the three story brigk buildiﬁg,
It was 'iater the home of his daughter Caroline: _ |
Blackwood, whose family retained it until after the;g
War of 1812. |

(Stoney, Charleston's Historic Houses, 1953, 38-39.
Chamberlain & Chamberlain, Southern Interiors, ;24.)

28 Elliott.St. ~— This two stdry brick house was built
¢. 1815 on old foundations. Tradition says Poinsett's
Tavern was built on this site c. 1734 by Elisha Poin-
sett, an ancestor of Joel R. Poinsett, the diplomat
who brought the poinsettia plant from Mexico.

{Anonymous, unpub. MS.; SCHS.)

FRANKLIN STREET

~ Franklin Street was originéliy called Back Street.
for its position on the back part of town.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

9 Franklin St. —— This town house in the Italianate is a
" two story wooden structure, built c¢. 1855 by B.C. '
Pressley. It was owned by the Silcox family for about
a century, until 1968.

(Thomas, DYKYC, June 30, 1969. Stoney, This is Charlées-
ton, 49. City of Charleston Assessments, 1852-56; City
of Charleston Archives.)
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13 Franklin St. —~ George W. Cdoﬁer; an attorney, built this
two and One—half'story'clapboard house in the Carpen-
‘ter's Gothic ”s'tyle‘ It has a mid-19th century' town
house plan and unusual open work columns on the port-
ico and piazza. -

(Thomas, DYKYC, July 7, 1969;.'st0néy, This is Charles—
~ton, .49.) - : : '

15 Franklin St. —— Built c¢. 1850 by Etienne'Poincignon,
a prosperous tinsmith and real estate developer,
this three story brick house has a stuccoed facade,
a parapet roofline and a tOwn“house plan. DuBose
Heyward, the author, lived here as a child.

(Thomas, DYKYC, July 14, 1969. Stoney, This is
Charleston, 50.) : S

17 Franklin St. -- Theodore A,:Whitney;ta broker arid com-
| mission merchent,_built this three and one-half story .

brick Italianate structure, stuccoed, with brownstone
window sills. In the 1870s and. '805, it was the home
of Paul DeJardln, the French consul A room in the
basement was. constructed as: a wine cellar - During a
hurricane in the 1940s; is is said that a large quan-
tity of French wine bottles floated from under the
house. There are two noteworthy outbuildings in the

rear.

(Thomas, DYKYC, July 21 1969. Stoney, This is.
Charleston, 50.) -

20 Franklin St. —— The old Marine_HosPital_Was designed:

| by architect Robert Mills. Begun about 1831 and comep
pleted in 1834, it was the city's earliest Gothic_Re¥
vival style bdilding. It was built for the Federal .
government for the care of sick and disabled merchant
seamen of American and foreign ships. It served also
as a teaching hospitél for the Medical College of South

Carolina and as a military hospital for the Confeder-
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acy. After the Civil War, a free school for black
children, staffed by 15 white Charleston.women, was
conducted hete by the Eoiscooel Church, ffom 1866 to
1870 The bulldlng was used by the(black community for
various purposes until 1895, when it was occupled by
the Jenkins Orphanage for black children. The orphanm
age was founded in 1891 by the Rev. D.J. Jehkins, a
black Baptist ministet. The famous Jenkins Orphanage
Band toured the United States and Europe to raise funds
for the orphanage In 1939, the orphanage'moved across
_the Ashley River and the bu11d1ng was acqu1red by the
Housing . Authorlty of Charleston which remodeled it
as administrative offices. The ‘two rear w1ngs, having
been weakened by flres, were demolished durlng the
renovation. The architect of the building, who was
also the architect of the Washington Monument ‘in the
national capital and of many other famous structures
throughout the country, is commemorated in the name
of the housing project nearby, the Robert Mills Manor.

(Ravenel, Architects, 132. Whitelaw & Levkoff, 214-215.
Waring, The Marine Hospitals, 1. Thomas, DYKYC, July"
22, 1968. Stoney, This is Charleston, 50.) /

| Y

FULTON STREET

Origiﬁelly named Beresford Stfeetg'this street, along
. with Archdale and West streets, became the center of the

city's "Red Light'" District in the 19th century. In an ef-
fort to reform, the bordellos‘were'closed.dufing-WOrld War

Il and the name of the street was changed to Fulton.

9 Fulton St. —- This small two story stuccoed brick build-
ing was built in the 1850s by Grace Peixotto, a madam
who also built the larger building at 11 Fulton. The

original function of this structure is not known. It
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may have been a residence (of sorts) or an outbuilding
to Mrs. Peixotto's main building.
. (Stockton, DYKYC, Jan. 3, 1977.).

11 Fulteﬁ'St —— Mrs. Peixetto'bﬁilt.this Structure in 1852
when she petltloned City Counc1l statlng that ”havrng:
'recessed her new brick bulldlng in Beresford street

'_at lease two feet, so as to dedicate it to the use of
the'citizens of Charleston' if they W1ll pave with
flagstones the front of her lot, respectfully requests
that, if accepted? the work may be done as soon- as

~possible."

No record has been found of any action
_taken by Council on the matter. Tradition says the
local unit of Hampton's Red shirts was.organiZed at
~Mrs. Peixotto's eatablishment'in order to escape the "
“watchful eye of Federal oecupationrofficials after the
Civil War. The story is said to have inspired an ep-
 _1sode in Margaret Mitchell's Gone With the WLnd

| (Stockton DYKYC Jan. 3, 1977.)

1

GADSDEN. STREET

Gadsden Street, one of the_original streets of Harles-
ton Village, laid out in 1770, was named for Christopher
Gadsden, Patriot general and lieutenant governor of South
Carolina during the Revolution.

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 61.
Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 312, 315.)

4 Gadsden St. —— Built c. 1852 by John Steinmeyer on land
leased from Nathan Nathans, a King.Street merchant,
thsi three story brick house on a high basement is
in the Greek Revival style. It has "Tower of the

Winds" columns on the portico and fluted Tuscan col--
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umns on the piazza. The primary rooms of the interi-
or have elaborate plasterwork in the taste of the per-
iod. Steinmeyer was a lumber merchant who had his
sawmills on the opposite side of Gadsden Street. In
1886, the house was purchased by George W. Egen,'a' |
bullder and contractor, who was one of the builders-

of the Charleston jetties. He restored the house,
which was severely damaged in the 1886 earthquéke,

and it remained in his family until 1965. |

" (Stockton, DYKYC, July 21, 1980. Thomas, DYKYC April
13, 1970.: Stoney, This 15 Charleston 50.

19 Gadsden St. -- Built c. 1828 by Thomas Hamiin; tHis one
and one-half story raised cottage once overlooked
the Ashley River and its marshes.

(Stockton, unpub. notes. Stoney, This'is'Charleston,
50.) : . -l _- AR

47 Gadsden St. —— The Esdorn House is a Charleston single
house in miniature, given an "L" shape by the attach-
ment of its former kitchen building. It was built
by Herman Esdorn soon after he returned from service
in the Confederate Army. Esdorn also built on the
property a one story frame building in which he opera-
ted a grocery store and saloon.

{Stockton, DYKYC, June: 16, 1980.)

e

GEORGE- STREET

George Street was laid out in 1746-47 as one of the
Streets of Ansonborough and is named for George, Lord Anw
son, developer of the suburb.

4 George St. —— James W. Brown, a merchant, removed a two
story frame house from this site to build this two and

one-half story brick house on a high basement, c. 1854.

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 51. Stockton, unpub. notes.
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5 George St. —— This two and one-half story brick Adamesque
‘house was built c. 1813 by Robert Roulain or c. 1816
by his sons Abraham:and Robert S. Roulain, who sold - |
the house and lot, in 1835. The elder Roulain was _

a masonry contractor. : The facade was remodeled in the
late 19th century with the addition of.pressed metal
window cornices and a broken gable. - '
{Thomas, DYKYC, Feb. 1, 1971.) -

7 George St. -- This two and one-half story brick house
‘'was built for Mary Scott, the daughter of William
~ Scott, Jr., and Elizabeth Legare, and the granddaugh-
“ter of Daniel Legare, who 'purchased the site in the
01 \;f“mid—l9th century. The house was built'c..1813;'It.
' " was sold from Miss Scott's estate in 1849.
(Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 17, 1972.° Stoney, This is
Charleston, 51.) S n Co :

'8 George St. -— Robert Daniell, :plahter; made his will in _
1787, stating that if he should fail to_bhild'a-house'

‘on this site before his death, then his executors were -
to complete. 1In 1791, the house was conveyed from his
estate to his daughter, Sarah Daniell Lawrence. The
two_ahd one-half story frame'dwelling on a high base—
ment has Palladian windows in the end gablés and
handsome. interior details typical of its period.
(Thomas, DYKYC, May 15, 1972.)

14 George St. —— The Middleton-Pinckney Mansion was begun
in 1796 by Mrs. Frances Motte Middleton, and completed
after 1797 by her and her. second husband, Thomas
Pinckney. Born Frances Motte, she was a daughter of
Jacob and Rebecca Brewton Motte; a-granddaughter of
Jacob Motte, the colonlal treasurer; and niece of Miles
Brewton. According to legend, she and her sisters

were'hidden in the attic of the Miles Brewton House
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“during the British occupation of Charleston. Her .
husband John Middleton (d. 1784) was an officer in
Lee's Legion of the Continental Line, during ‘the Rev-
olution.  In 1797, she married Pinckney, a son of
Chief Justice Charles Pinckney and Eliza Lucas.: He
was educated at Westminster, Oxford, the Middle Tem-
ple and the Royal Academy at Caen. His first wife
was a sister of Frances. The'Pinckneys turned. the
‘house over to her son John Middleton in 1822. It was
sold at his death in 1826 to Mrs. Barnard Elllott.
Subsequently it became the headquarters of the City
Water Works. According to the joint will of Thomas

and Frances Pinckney, the total cost of the house was
$53,800, which at the date of the will in 1822 'was more
than the selling value of the house, which was $35,000.
The cruciform plan of the house, with its polygonal

-~bays to the front and rear, is well contrived for_dross~
ventilation. The house has_Regency style ihteriof
woodwork, with geometric decorations. of carved wood.
The exterior has belt courses, window cornices and a
columned door surround, all Qf.marble. | '

- (Stoney, This is Charleston, 51. S, N&C,.March'
8, 1964. Thomas, DYKYC, Oct. 9, 196/. Stockton,
DYKYC, Sept. 21, 1981.) ' : :

27 Georgé St. —- This two and one half story frame house
was probably built by Thomas Barksdale before 1817.
The-Regency period house was purchased in 1859 by
Robert Thomlinson, a merchant, whose family Victor-

-fanized the structure between 1888 and 1893. It re-
mained in the Thomlinson family until 1944.
(Stockton, DYKYC, June 15, 1981.)

" 32 George St. -— This three story wooden house on a high
brick basement originally had a hlpped roof and at

some p01nt_1n time was given a Greek Revival parapet.
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It was'built.for Elizabeth Robinson, who purchased the
site in 1796. From c. 1801 it was the home of Peter

Freneau, a prominant journalist, merchant and shipowner,

‘and Jeffersonian politician. A New Jersey native of

Huguencot descent, he was a.brother of Philip Freneau,

. the "Poet of the Revolution." He -came to Charleston
_in_l782_and became co-editor of the City Gazette and

Daily Advertiser. He was. Secretary of State of South
Carolina and a state legislator, and in 1800 managed

Jefferson's Presidential campaign in the state. Fliza-

-beth Robinson died in 1812, bequeathing the property

to Freneau, with the condition that he. pay her niece
the value of the real estate. He was unable to pay

and- the property was sold at auction. He continued-

. to live here until his death,'negr‘bankruptcy, in

1813.

{Stockton, unpub. notes.)

36 George St. —- This three story:red brick house was

built sometime before 1834 by Edward Darrell or his
heirs, Amelia Lois Lequeux and Sarah H. Lequeux. -

The facade has a rusticated first level with an

Tonic- columned entrance, and giant order pilasters

- at the corners, supporting a heavy molded cornice.

(Allen, DYKYC, Nov. 29, 1982. Stoney, This is.
Charleston, 52.) .

58 George St.. -- This Adamesque period house, with two and

one half stories of wood on a brick basement, was built
c. 1803 by Barnard Elliott, a wealthy planter.. It
has ‘a Regency front doorway and interior woodwork from
the George Walker House, whiéh“Stéod:at_26 Gedrge un-—
til 1912. The property is now part of the=College of
Charleston campus. _

(Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 14, 1977.)
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66 George St. —— The 'old main campus of the College of Charles-

ton includes Harrison Randolph Hall, the Towell Library

" and the Porter's Lodge. Harrison Randolph Hall, the
old main building, was designed by architect William
Strickland of Philadephia‘and was built in 1826-28.
Strickland (c.1787-1854) studied under Benjamin Henry
Latrobe (one of the architects of the U.S. Capitol),
and designed several Philadelphia buildings and the |
Tennessee capitol. ' The portico and wings were added.
in 1850 by Charleston architect Edward Brickell Wwhite,
who also designed the Porter's Lodge and the cast iron
fence, which was eéxecuted by Christopher Werner. The
1886 éarthquake:damaged the wings, which were rebuilt
following the designs of E.R. Rutledge, modified by
'Dr. Gabriel Manigault. Simons & Lapham, architects,
designed an extension of the west wing, built in 1930.
A new portico was added in 1975 on the north side of
the building, facing the College Mall. In front of.
White's Ionic portico is the Cistern, used as a stage
for graduations, for Spoleto performances, etc. The
Towell Library on the west side of the Green was com-
pleted in 1856 and is an Italianate building designed"
architect George E. Walker. - The plan of the main
floor was influenced by Mills' South Caroclina College
Libfafy and -Latrobe's Library of Congress. The main
room is two stories high with encircling galleries

at the second level. The Porter's Lodge is patterned
after a Roman triumphal arch.

(Ravenel, Architects, 172-173, 245, 247. Severans,
Southern Architecture, 106-108. Stoney, This is
Charleston, 53. Whitelaw & Levkoff, 77. Mazyck &
Waddell, illus. 15) Stockton, DYKYC, March 19, 1973.)

72 George St. -- Built c¢. 1837, this Greek Revival single
house was turned 90 degrees to make room for the Col-

lege of Charleston science center. It is part of the
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College campus

(Stockton unpub notes ”4Stoney, This is Charleston,
59.) Co
74 George St. -- This Greek Revival single house, three and

one- half storles of brlck was also moved to make room
for the SC1ence center, and is part'of the College
campus It was built c. 1837. S

(Thomas , N&C Aprll 24 1972 .Stoﬁey,HThis'is Charles—

-"ton, 54.) -

- GIBBES STREET: " -

Gibbes Street ‘is named for William Gibbes, who with

other property owners cooperated to fill in the marshlands

north of South Bay (South Battery) between 1770 and 1775..

Gibbes also built the mansion at 64 South Battery, c. 1772,

at which time that property extended north to"Gibbes
Street. ' :

(Smith & Smith, Dwelllng Houses, 207~ 211 )

0 Glbbes St, - ThlS Vlctorlan structure.was.the:carriage
house to the A.H. Heyward residence, a large Victori-
an structure which stood at the corner of Gibbes and
Legare streets and was built c. 1893.

(N&C, Jan. 29, 1968. Art Work of Charleston.

2 Gibbes St. -~ The two and one-half story frame house was
built c¢. 1850 by Robert Fenwick Giles, according to
the documentary evidence. There is a tradition, how-
ever, which says it was built in 1885 by Wllliam'P.
Holmes. If that is true, Holmes, a prosperous mer-
chant and shipper, had rather conservative taste for_
1885. About Giles, little is known except that he was
descended from the builder of Fenwick Hall.

(Stockton, DYRYC, Oct. 11, 1976)
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6 Gibbes St. -— The Parker-Drayton House was built c. 1806
by Isaac Parker, a planter in St. Thomas and St. Denis -
Parish, and a brlckyard owner. It was remodeled in
‘the Regency style by Col. William Drayton, with money
won in the East Bay Lottery, in 1820 Col. Drayton,
an offlcer in the War of 1812, an attorney and a Union-
ist Congressman, moved to Phlladelphla ‘after the Nul- -
lification controversy. He sold the-property in 1837
to Nathaniel Heyward, of Combahee, the owger_of'17
plantations. Heyward gave the house to his daughter
and son-in-law, Elizabeth and Charles Manigault.
Charles, who had traveled to. China and lived in France,
was a noted collector of art and of scientific objects.
Their son Dr. Gabriel Edward Manigault was a physician,
an osteologist (one who studies bone structure of ver-
tebrates), an educator, amateur architect, and curator
of the Charleston Museum. He. laid the parquet floors
in the. drawing rooms. SR o SRR :
(Stoney, DYKYC, March 28, 1948 . ~, N&C, March 29,

1964, , This 1is Charleston, 54.)
7 Gibbes St. -- This notable two.story.frame house is be-

lieved to have been built between 1804 and 1811.
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 5&4.) CX!

GILLON STREET

Gilion-Street,.one of the cityis.few remaining cobble- .
stone“streets, was namedd for Commodore Alexander Gillon,
who was a‘Soot born ih Rotterdam, The Netherlands, and who ng\
commanded the South Carolina Navy during the Revolution. (ﬁ

("Historical Notes,” SCHGM, 19: 146. Allen, DYKYC, May 9, J\
1983.) ' ' N

B ' .'\
. .
\ Do y
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GLEBE STREET

. Glebe. Street is_named for the Glebe Lands, a tract of.
17 acres_whichrAffra Harleston Coming gave to the Minister
of the Church Qf England in_Charles_ToWn, and his successors,
in 1698. The Glebe Lands were divided into lots,'with-a
iarge space reserved for the parsonage of St. Philip's
Church, in 1770. The parsonage lot was further subdivided-
and'Clebe Street was cut through the.block in 1797.

(Stoney, This is_Charleston, 126. Stockton, DYKYC, March-
5, 1979.}) ' _

6 Glebe St. -— Built in-1770 as St. Philip's Glébe'House;

- this two story brick house on a high brick basement
has the relative simplicity éxpected of an 18th cen-
tury parsonage. The house now serves as the official =
residence of the College of Charleston's Preéident,-.
This use.is historically_fitting, as it was once the
residencé of the Rev. Robert Smith, who was the Col-
_iege's first president as well as South Carolina's
first Episcopal bishop. The house's interior wood-
wdrk, in the Georgian style, is unpretentious but ex-
cellent. The College's first classes met here.

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 54. Smith & Smith,
Dwelling Houses, 313-315. Stockton, DYKYC, March 5,
1979, TIsabella Leland, DYKYC, April 29, 1957.)

7 Glebe St. -— Mount Zion A.M.E. Methodist Church, built
in 1847-48 as the Glebe Street Presbyterian Church,
is attributed to Charleton architect Francis D. Lee.
The design is a very academic one (Lee in 1847 was
a 21-year-old recent graduate of the College of Charles-
ton) and shows the influence of Sir John Soane (1753—
1837) one of England's most prominent architects of
the late 18th and early 19th century, and whose de-
signs were published. When the church was built, the




land was leased from St. Philip's Episcopal Church.
In 1856, the lot was conveyed to the Glebe Street
Presbyterian Church: in fee simple by St. Philip's.
The Glebe Street Church sold the property to the Zion
Presbyterian Church in 1866. In 1882, Ziodn Pres-
byterian merged with the Céntral.Pfeébyterian'Church
on Meeting Street, and the Glebe Street property

was ‘purchased by a group from Emanuel African Method—

ist Episcopal Church. They organized a new congre-"
gation, which kept the name Zion and named their
church the Mount Zion African Methodist Episcopal
Church. Not part of the College of Charleston campus.

(Legerton, Historic Churches, 56-57. Ravenel, Archi-

tects, 229-230. N&C, August 29, 1885. Stoney,
This is Charleston, 54.) '

have not been 'dated' precisely, but all appear on a
- plat of St. Philip's Glebe Lands, which was recorded
May 30, 1855. All were built by lessees on lots
which they leased from St. Philip's Church:. Gener-
ally, the leases were for 31 years, with the lessee
or his heirs given the first option to renew the
lease (with the approval of the Vestry). If the
tenant did not renew the lease, he had the'option

of moving the house or conveying it to the Vestry.

(Stockton, unpub. notes. Plat Book A, p. 126;
RMCO. ) ' '

26 Glebe St. -- This two_and'dﬁe—ﬁalf_story_stuccoéd

brick house, with a”town house plan and Victorian
details, was built sometime before 1888. It 1is
now part of the College of Charleston campus. |
(Sanborn, 1888.) | G |
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9, 11, 12, 14, 16 and 20 Glebe St. — These College-cwned houses
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GREEN STREET

Presumably named: for the College of Charleston Green,
thls street-was cut through the College Lands in 1797
(Easterby, Hlstory of the College, 24-27. )

2 Green St. —— This small two. and one'half'stOry7ff5me;hOuse
was built c¢. 1817 by James Martindale, a planter. From
1844, it was the residence of Mrs. Elizabeth Johnson, -
a "free person of color,' and her descendants. Record _
books of the Brown Fellowship Society (See 52-54 Pitt)

“were found inside the house when it was being restored:
by the College of Charleston in the 1970s. |
(Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 1, °1971.)

4 Green St. —- This three story briék house was bﬁilt_beQ
fore,1817, and_is_part;othhe College of Charleston'q
campus. _ : . S '

- (Stomney, This is Charleston,_SS.)

6 Green St. —- Built c¢. 1815, this small house, two stories
of 'brick, was moved in 1967 to permit ¢reation of the
College ‘Mall, and moved: ‘again in 1971  from the new
‘Robert Scott Small Library site. '

(Stockton, N&C, Feb. 12, 1971." Stoney, This is Charles—
‘tom, 55.)

10 Green St. —-- This is the-femainfng one of a pair of two .
story brick Greek Revival tenements built by Gov. Wil-
liam Aiken, c. 1841. . Its twin at 8 Green was demolished
to prov1de a final site for 6 Green St.

(Thomas, DYKYC, Feb. 22, 1971. Stoney, ThlS is Charles—.
ton, 553.) '

14 Green St. -- This Italianate style structure, three
stories of wood with a cupola, masked piazza and two

tiers of lacy iron piazza, was built c. 1846 by Mrs.
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Catherine Knox. It was the home of Albert Oseola

Jones, a black man who was clerk of the South Carolina
- House of Representatives in 1868-77. Later it was

the Lesesne family residence.. It is now.part of the

College of Charleton campus.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 21, 1972 Stoney, This is
Charleston, 55.) . | .

GREENHILL STREET -

- This narfow_thoroughfare,-which;ran-south-from=Tradd
Street to the Ashley River, and now terminates at Gibbes
Street,; was originally called Adams Street..

(Stockton, unpub. notes. Bridgens & Allen Map, 1852.)

4 Greenhill St. -=- William Axson, in 1800, beqUeathéd to
his son Samuel Edwards Axson, this lot and the money
"sufficient to build a" house thereon thirty five feet
by eighteen.'" Mantels in the house are similar to
those in the South Carolina Society:Hall, 72 Meeting

. St. Otherwise the interior is simply treated. At
the time the house was built, the south boundary of
the lot was the high water mark of Ashley River.

(Wills (WPA) 28:59. Stockton, unpub. notes. DYKYC,
June 1, 1931.) Stoney, This is Charleston, 56.)

6 Greenhill St. -- This brick structiire, built abéut 1819,
was formerly the kitchen bulldlng to 143 Tradd St.
It is now a separate re51dence o
(Stockton, unpub. MS.) ' ')V/_

"‘.'%h‘
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"HANOVER STREET .

_ Thls was one of the streets of Hampstead the suburb
lala out for Henry Laurens in 1789.. Hanover was a-kfngdom
in western Germany, from which the- relgnlng house: of Great
Britain acqulred 1ts name. Why Laurens, ‘who was captured
by the Brltlsh and 1mprlsoned in the Tower of London. durlngg
the Revolutlon would name a street after Brltaln s royal
family, is ‘somewhat of a mystery.

(Stoney,_Thls is Charleston, 128_129.“LDeeds, Y10:45;
RMCO. " City Engineer's Plat Book, p. 8; City Archives.).

16'HancuerﬁSt. —— ThlS small frame, antebellum church
was built as St. John's Eplscopal MlSSlon
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 56.)

- HASELL STREET

This was the central street of Rhettsbury and named.
for James_Hasell;'Jr;,‘ husband of Col. William Rhett's
granddaughter, Sarah Wright. He was the father of Mary -
and Susannah Hasell,'who married, respectively, John
Ancrum and Parker Quince, and who subdivided Rhettsbury.

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 270-271. Stoney,
This is Charleston, 127.) -

36 Hasell St. -- Samuel N. Stevens, a planter, built thls
two and onemhalf story brlck structure after buying
the vacant site in 1843. A prevrous house on the site"

was destroyed in the great fire of 1838 Stevens.

| apparently built this as rental property._ He is not
llsted in c1ty dlrectorles, and J. Warlng.Axson was
a tenant in 1861. _
(Greene, unpub. MS.; SCHS.)
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37 Hasell St. —- Built e. 1840, this three story brick
Greek Revival house has a Victorianized doorway. The
extensive yard once had a.formal3garden'of_symmetriCal

" beds. ) ' e
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 56.) .

38 Hasell St - Joseph Prevost of Anderson County bought
this site, still vacant from ‘the 1838 flre, in 1843
when it was described as belng ”opp051te to the Lot j
on Which Lathams Dlstlllery Stood." Prevost bullt
the house soon afterwards. : ‘The substantial brlck
house on a raised basement has 1nter10r woodwork and
plasterwork typlcal of the perlod '
(Stockton, unpub MS.)

42 Hasell St. George Cannon,'Jr., bohght'the lot in 1843,

still vacant from the 1838 fire, and in 1848 sold the

" lot "with the Dwelling House and other buildings there-
on' to James Marsh, Jr. The two story brick on a high
basement, stuccoed, is in the Greek Revival style. The.
two-tiered piazza has fluted Doric columns. .The pres-
ent main entrance appears to be a modern replacement;
the entrance probably was at the street end of the |
piazza. The interior has black marble mantels and
extravagant plasterwork and woodwork in the Greek Re-
vival style. o - '
(Stockton, unpub. MS.) -

44 Hasell St. -- James M. Stoeker; a commission merchant
in the firm of Lord and Stocker; purchased the site in
1840, vacant from the 1838 fire. He built'the house
by December 1849, when he sold lt to John Charles Blum
The two story brick house is in the Greek Revival style
with Greek anthemion grills in the parapet. The plan
is a variation of the single house, but there is no

central hall, the stairs are in a rear cabinet behind
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a suite of three rooms. This plan is more'typicel of

New Orleans than of Charleston however, the typlcal

Charleston plazza is present

(Thomas, DYKYC, Oct. 19, 1970.)

45 Hasell St. —=- Charles-W.'Seighious built this large -

brick store and residence c. 1852.

{Stockton, unpub._notes.)

48 Hasell St.-——-Str-Johannes_EvangeliCal'Luthefan Church..

This Tuscan~columned church was built in 1841-42 and
designed by architect Edward Brickell White. The in-
terior has great simplicity of design with galleries
having balustered fronts like local piazza railings.
The building was first occupied by St. Matthew's Lu-
theran Church, which was organized in 1840 by German- -
speaking Lutherans. When that congregation moved to _
King Street in 1872, the Salem Baptist Church, a black
congragation, purchased the-building.--in 1878, it was
bought by St. Johannes Evangelical Lutheran Church,
which congregation was organized in 1878 and first

met in a chapel on Hasell Street near Meeting. Ser-
vices continued to be conducted in the German language .
until 1924. The parish building was dedicated in 1890,
and a new parish building was built in 1927.

(Legerton,“Historic'Churehes, 40, 36-37. Ravenel,
Architects, 186, 189, 196. History of the Lutheran

Church, 696-698, 730-731. Stoney, This is Charles-
ton, 56 ) '

50 Hasell St. —— Built by Jcel Smith, a planter in.Abbeville

District, after 1846, this two and one-half story
brick house has a Palladian window in the pediment.

It was purchased for use as St. Johannes' rectory in
1920.

{Thomas, DYKYC, Oct. 27, 1970.)




54 Hasell St. —-~ The Col. William Rhett House is one of_

the oldest in Charleston,fbuilt sometime between 1711,

when Col. Rhett purchased The: Point Plantation, and
1722, when his will described the plantation, beyond
the town and "called the Point or Rhettsbury, together

" with the Mansion house in which I now dwell.' Col.

Rhett in 1706 commanded a'small local fleet which drove

off a combined French and Spanish invasion and in 1718
he captured and returned to Charlestown for trial the
notorious pirate Stede Bonnet and his crew. After
Rhett's death, Chief Justice Nicholas Trott, who had
sentenced Bonnet to hang, married Rhett's widow and
renamed the 30-acre plantation Trott's Point. °The
name Rhettsbury persisted, however, and became the
name of the suburb developed by Col. Rhett's great-
granddaughters. Wade Hamptom, III, Governor of South
Carolina, Civil War general and U.S. Senator, was born
here in 1818. The house retains early Georgian panel-
ing and plaster decorations in the Georgian Rococo
style. The interior was extensively remodeled in the
Adamesque style about 1800.

. (Stoney, This is Charleston, 57. , N&C, March
3, 1964. Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 3, 1975. Smith &
Smith, Dwelling Houses, 270-277.) '

60 Hasell St. —— Built c. 1847 by George N..Reynoldss this
two story masonry housée is in the Italianate style.
The.pillars of the front portico show'Egyptian influ-
ence. Accessory buildings at 58 and 62 Hasell are of
the same date. '

{Stockton, unpub. notes. Stoney, This is Charleston,
58.) ' .

64 Hasell St. ~— Built c. 1843 by Benjamin F. Smith, a
building supply merchant, this three story stuccoed
brick house has doors and windows flanked by Tower-
of-the-Winds pilasters and elaborate plasterwork and

woodwork on the inside. The exterior of the Greek
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Revival mansion has elaborate doorways and fluted Dor— '
ic columns on the piazza. The ironwork of the front
steps and fence is also noteworthy The site of the
house. was formerly part of the grounds of the Rhett"
House. N _ o .
(Thomas;.DYKYCQpApriI'12,'1971;"Stcney, This is
Charleston, 58.) - R = ' :

66 Hasell St. -- This two story brick building was. built

S.

in 1839 es'a;lecture hall for the Third Presbyterian-

church. Originally on-Archdale Street, that congre—

gation moved in 1850 to their new church, Central

Presbyterian on Meeting Street. The property was

sold in 1872 to Benjamin D. Lazarus, who used it

as a warehouse for agricultural equipment and harness,.

in connection'with_his'business at King and Hasell
streets. Originally ‘a tall, one story structure, it
was converted into a;two'story-residence'in 1896 by
Mrs. Florida Gadsden for her daughter Mrs. Florence
Gadsden Smyth.

(Stockton, DYKYC, July 15, 1974.)

. Hasell Street and Malden Lane -- Slte of orlglnal |

_‘Trlnlty Methodist Church, erected in 1792. .The

church moved in 1926 to its present locatlon at
273 Meeting St. '

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

86 Hasell St. —- This three story brick house was under

-construction in 1797, according to.the will of the

builder, Anthony Toomer. In the division of Toomer's
estate it was_devised'to his son Joshua Washington
Toomer who sold it .in 18l?.to John R. Cleary.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 7, 1977. Stoney, This is

Charleston 58. , DYKYC, Nov. 25, 1957. )k

87 Hasell St. —- Thls two story brick. bulldlng was built
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" in 1856 by Henry F. Strohecker and remodeled in 1873
by Hiram Harris. Strohecker was a partner with Henry
Eubank in the firm,'Stohecker & Eubank, hardware mer-
chants around the corner oﬁ.Méeting'Stfeet. It is
assumed he leased this building to tenants until after
the Civil.war; when he located his_hafdware business
here. He died in 1869 and his heirs leased the prop-
erty to Harris, a bookseller, bookbinder, printer and
stationer. An 1873 lease specified that Harris, in.
return for a low reht,”would make -improvements “includ-
ing the installation of the present "show window'
storefront. '

(Stockton, DYKYC, Dec. 13, 1982.)

' 89 Hasell St. —- This brick building has been:the rectory
of St. Mary's Catholic Church since 1896. Before that
the rectory was at Wentworth and St. Philip's.
(Simmons, St. Marj's, 15.)°" |

90 Hasell St. -- Kahal Kadosh Beth Elohim (Holy Congrega-
tion, House of God). Jews, attracted by a promise of
religious liberty, began settling in Carolina soon
‘after the founding of Charlestown. Sephardic Jews
from the Iberian peninsula were numerous enough by
1749 to form a congregation. The leaders, Moses Cohen,
Isaac DaCosta and Joseph Tobias, had arrived'by way
of London or Amsterdam, Aaron and Moses Lopez from

Newport, R.I. The first synagogue was built on this

site by Steedman and Horlbeck, contractors, in 1792.

It burned in the great fire of 1838 and only the wrought
iron fence was salvaged. It was replaced in 1840-41

by this Classic Revival buildingl Designed by Cyrus

L. Warner, a New York architect, it ‘was built by

David Lopez, a member of the Congregation; The build-
ing is the second oldest synagogue in the United States

and the oldest in continuous use (Touroc Synagogue at
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Newport, R.I., built in 1759, is the oldest Jewish house -

'_“of worship in the U.s., but has not ‘had continuous use).
" The building has a mixture of Greek and Roman influ-

ences. It has the Greek temple form with fluted Doric

columns in the portico, while the interior has a

domed ceiling in the Roman manner The Ark is of Santo

Domingan mahogany A room in the rear has a museum of

South Carolina JeWish.history. Beth Elohim ~is the

. cradle of Reform Judaism in the_United States._ In 1824,

a'grOup of members organized the Reformed Society of

Israelites, which existed until 1833, when they were

reunited with the congregation. After the old syna-

ygogue burned in 1838 this group won out in the proposal

to 1nstall an organ in the present structure, the first.

organ in any Jewish congregation in America In 1838,

the second Jewish Sunday School in the United States
was - established here.

(Briebart, 'Kahal Kadosh Beth Elohim " Reznikoff,
Jews of Charleston, 137 ff. Elzas, Jews of South
Carolina, passim.  Whitelaw &.Levkoff, 200-201.

Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 5.

‘Ravenel, Architects, 46, 157-158. Legerton, 32-33.)

' 95 Hasell St. -- St. 'Mary's Roman Catholic Church.is the

mother church of Catholic1sm in the Carolinas and -
Georgia, hav1ng been established in 1789. The first
mass was celebrated in 1786 by an Italian priest, a
chaplain on a ship ‘which put into port en route to
South America. Asked by a few Irishmen;'he said Mass,
and the service was attended by 12 persons; accord-
ing to tradition, this occurred at present;day 102
Tradd St. The number of Catholics was increased by
arrivals from Maryland and Santo Domingo, and in.l788,
the Rev. Mr. Ryan, an Irish priest, was sent to Charles-
ton. In 1789, the congregation bought a Methodist

meeting house, in ruinous condition, on this site.
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The’congregation, which was 'ihcorporated in 1791,
worshiped in that frame structure until 1801 When a
brick structure with '"four handsome columns' was built.
The structure was used as the Catholic Cathedral in
1820-21, until Bishop John England built a structure
on Broad Street. That building was destroyed in the
great fire of 1838. The cornerstone of the present
structure was laid in 1838 and the church was completed
in 1839. Chrlstopher Kane was the contractor. The
building is-in the Classic Revival style, with a Tus-
canlpcrtico surmounted by a parapet, and arched open-
ings. ‘The interior haS‘galleries on'three sides and
‘over the main altar hangs a palntlng ‘of the Crucifix-
ion, palnted in 1814 by John S. Cogdell, ‘and restored
by the same artist after it was damaged in the 1838
fire. The paintings on the celling ahd walls were
painted in Rome by Caesare Porta and are.copies of
old'masters; they Were installed in 1896. The organ
by Hook and Hastings of Boston was also installed in
1896.  Windows were by Mayer & Co., bfdMunich and New
York. Manyjof'the tombstones in the churchyard are

in French and the church registers were kept in French
until 1822. Burials include the daughters of Admiral
de Grasse, commander of the French fleet which aided _
the United States in 1781. De Grasse's son and' daugh-
ters arrived as refugees from Santo Domlngo in-the
1790s.

(Legerton, Historic Churches, 70-71. O'Connell, 14l.
Simmons; St. Mary's, passim.) oo

96 Hasell St. —- This Italianate commercial huilding was
built c. 1858 by Edwin L. Kerrlson, merchant (See
Kerrison' s, 260 King).

(Stockton, unpub. motes.) {9\
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" HAYNE STREET

Hayne Street was named for Robert Y. Hayne, by Clty

Ordinance in 1839. Formerly, it was Pearl Street. Hayne

was a leading Nullifier, U.S. Senator, S.C. Governor and
Charleston Mayor. .
{"Streets of Charleston.')

16 Hayne St. -- The YounglAmericafSteam~FireTEngine Housed
was one of several used by volunteer fire companies -
before ‘the present City Fire Departmentdwas'formedf~
in 1882. The city owned the real estate; the-compahies
owned the equipment. City records are unclear about _
whether this bUiiding was built c. 1847 for the Charles-
ton Fire Ehgiﬁe'Company,'and remodeled in 1872 for the .

'Young America Steam Fire Engine Company,'or whether
the’ building was built new in 1872 The date 1866,
refers to the year the Young Amerlca was chartered
(Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 29, 1983.)

31~ 39 Hayne St. -— This is a notable row-of_lgth century
_commerc1al buildings with cast iron storefronts.
No. . 33 also has an Italinate roof cornice and WlndOW -
cornices 1n stone and terra cotta.
(Thomas, DYKYC, May 26, 1969.)

.. HUTSON STREET

Hutson Street is named for Rlchard Hutson, author of

Charleston s Act of Incorporation - in 1783 and the city's
flrst Intendant.

”Streets of Charleston "

26 Hutson St. -- This masonry structure of two stories was
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built c¢. 1908 as a machine shop and offices for the
Charleston Bagging Manufacturing Company, which at the
covered almost this entire block. (See 345 Meeting S.)

(Preservatlon Consultants )

JOHN STREET

_John Street was named for John Wragg™ (1718-1796),
eldest son of Joseph Wragg. It was:one of the original
- streets of Wraggborough. _ _
("Streets of Charleston.'" Wragg Family File; SCHS.)

2~ 4 John St. ——'The'main'houée is a'subufban villa in the

Adamesque style, bullt sometlme before 1819. The site
‘was received in 1801 by Mary Glbbes,'W1fe of John

"Glbbes, as part of her share of the estate of her
uncle, John Wragg The first knoﬁn'occupant of the
house was her son Robert Glbbes, Jr. (named for his
grandfather Robert Gibbes, Sr.), who is listed as
living in John Street in the 1819 city directory.
Robert Gibbes, Jr., a planter, was a descendant of
Robet Gibbes (1644-1715), a Lords Proprietors Deputy,
Landgrave and Governor of South Carolina, and of
Thomas Smith, Landgrave and Governor of South Carolina.
He sold it in 1825 to his brother Benjamin Gibbes, in
whose family it remained until 1863, when it was pur-
chased by William Moran. It was probably Moran who
built the late 19th century commercial/residential
structure which is attached to the main house. The

. present storefront was added in 1893 by John Hollings,
whose contractor, J.F. Wragge (no relation to the Wragg
family) stamped his name and the date on the cast iron
sill. '
(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 30, 1978. , unpubl. MS.)
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17, 19; 23 & 25 John St. —— Houston's Row.  William Henrj

Houston, a building contractor, acquired several lots.
~ on the south side of John Street, on which, between

1852 and 1856, he constructed eight houses, each two-
and one-half stories of wood. Only these four remain.
‘They were built for rental purposes by Houston, who
had a large house nearby on Charlotte Street.f‘Thesé
single houses are plainly finished, inside and out, ‘-
in the Greek Revival style. Houston died in 1876,
after which the property.-was subdivided and sold by -
his heirs.
(Stockton, unpub.. MS.}

36 John St. (AKA 23 Ann St.) -- Séuth Carolina Rail Road _
.freight depot. The date, 1859, appears in theikey—'
stone. _ o } ' - |
(Stockton, unpub. MS.) N | |

37 John St. —%zThe Tower Depét,'built 1849-50 aS_a,passen?
gef station of the South Carclina Rail Road. It was
desigﬁed by_Charleston archite;t:Edwarduc. Jones-. .
The Gothic Revival style originally had a tower which
projected into John Street and a main entrance large _
enough to admit a train. Subsequently, the building'”'
became part of the Charleéton'BaggingiManugacturing'.
Company plant, which incorporated most of this: block,"
and the building was sadly. remodeled. - |
'(Stoékton, unpub. MS.) o

39 John St. —— This_two $tory,_stuccoed brick wérehouse S
was built c. 1880 for the Charleston Bagging Manufac-.
turing Co., for stdfing_finished products. About
1943, it was redesigned by architect Augustus E. Con-
stantine in the then popular Art Moderne style, for
adaptive use as retail and office space. It was

part. of the Washington Réalty Companyﬁsfredevelopment:
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of the bagging company complex in the 1%40s.
{Preservation Consultants.) '

2

JUDITH, STREET.

Judith Street:was named for Judith Wragg, daughter of
Joseph Wragg, and was one of. the original streets of Wragg-
borough: _ S . . .
("Streets of Charleston.'" Wragg Family File; SCHS.)

6 & 8 Judith St. -- These twin single houses, two and one-
half stories of wood on high brick basements, were
built after 1817 bynJohn Robinson, who also built
several other houses on the street. Six Judith has -a
two-tiered piazza; Eight Judith has a single story
piazza. Robinson died in 1849 in his 74th year
'and was at the time the oldest living merchant in
the city, having been in business for 53 years. He
is buried at Second Presbyterian Church, of which he
‘was a founder. '

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

IOIJudifh“St. e4 John Robinson also built this.two and
oné—half stor§ brick house on a high brick basement,
which has piaZzas across the front and a fanlighted
pediment. The main door has a faniight and sidelights.
In the interior are mantels and other woodﬁork of the
Regency period. This was the home, 1902-1910, of th
Rt. Rev. Peter Fayssoux Stevens, first bishop of the
Reformed Episcopal Church. Stevens commanded the Cit-
adel Cadet unit which fired the first shot of the
Civil War, a warning shot at the Federal supply ship
Star of the West, in January 1861. After the war,

Stevens became superintendent of The Citadel, but
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soon resigned to lead the Reformed Episcopal Church..
He was a white bishop of a black denomination.

(Stockton, N&C, July 7, 1975. Thomas, DYKYC, July 6
1970. Stoney, This is Charleston, 59.) o

15 & 17 Judith St. - These are thelsuf#iving twO“of thtee
houses built c¢. 1835-36 by John Robinson. Both have
three wooden stories on a high brick basement Robin--
purchased the large. lot in 1835 and built the houses,

.which he conveyed in 1838 to three of his children.
The house formerly at 13 Judith was conveyed to his
son Stephen T. Robinsonj 15 Judith to his daughter-
in-law Mary T. Robinson, wife of his son James Kirk
Robinson; and 17 Judith to his daughter Ann F. Cald—
well, wife of James M. Caldwell. The houses have a
town house plan and Greek Revival and Regency woodworkg

(Stockton, unpub notes )

KING STREET

King Street, named for the ruler of England, ‘was in
the early days of ‘the settlément the main -highway into -
Charlestown, down the narrow ”Neck" from the interior. It
followed a ridge of high ground between.the many creeks
and marshes lacing the peninsula. The-road.was known var-
iously as '""The Broad'Path,” the "High Way" and "The Broad
Road." Those names continued to be applied to that part
of the street above Beaufain Street until after the Revolu—
tion. During the latter part of the 18th and early part -
of the 19th centuries; the upper part of King Street became
the center of the wagon yard trade)r'wagon drivers from the
interior there traded country productsﬁfor'store goods.
Durlng the period from the mid-19th century to the early

20th century, King Street was a regional retail emporlum
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King Street ended at South Battery until 1911, when it was
extended‘sohthward'to'newly'created Murray Boulevard.
(Smith, "Charleston and Charleston Neck." Rogers,; Charles-

ton in the Age of the Pinckneys, 62. . Stockton, DYKYC,

August 8, 1931. , "Historical and Architectural
Profile." .

1 King Street -- Fort Sumter House -- Built as the Fort
Sumter Hotel, this structure was completed in 1923 and '
was one of the city's most notable hotels at the time.
The building, designed by G. Lloyd Preacher; cost

 $850,000 to build. - The hotel closed in 1974 and was
converted to offices and condominiums.

(Stockton unpub notes )

3 Klng St. --— The ”Narrowest House; This two.story frame
house, only l6 feet Wlde on the outs1de, contalns five:
rooms. It was built by Henry Frost Walker an engineer
and professor at the College of Charleston, c. 1911
as a rental unit behind his house at 36 South Battery.
(N&C, March 15, 1965.)

8 King St. -- This house, three stories of. wood on a:  high
brick basement, is in the Regency style.

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 60. DYKYC, May 15, 1933)

10 King St. -— This house is said to have been built by
' Nathanlel Ingraham, c. 1791.

19 King St. -- Thls notable, three story frame Georglan
house with Greek Revival piazza was built, accordlng
_ to tradition, by Thomas'Lamboll Lamboll's Brldge
hor Wharf, was located at the foot of King Street,
on the west side where 1t met the water at what is

now South Battery

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 174. Stoney, This
is Charleston, 60.) ? e

21 King'St. - The_Patrick O'Donnell's House, a.three and
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one half story brick on a high brick basement, stuccoed,

"was built in:1856-57 and is one of the city's most |

“elaborate houses in 'the Italianate style of the mid-
19th century. O'Donnell built his "Italian palace,"
according to-tradition, for his prospective bride, but
‘took-so long at the-task that she married another.

' Consequently, local wits called the house "O'Donnell's
Folly." O'Donnell modified the traditional single
h0u5e=plan-by-addiﬁg to the north side a slightly re-
cessed W1ng (balanc1ng the sllghtly recessed end of  '
the plazza) containing the formal entrance hall and
stair. The plan allowed the main rooms to flow into
each other, en suite. The exterior has a rusticated
first 1evel; Vermiculated_qu01ns, an elaborate cornice
with both déntils and modillions. Each tier of the
piazza has a different entablature on fluted Dbric_
cblumns. The“interiéf'has véry elaborate plasterwork
in the taste of the peridd An unusual feature is the
face of Jénny'Lind the "Swedish Nightingale,' which
is reproduced repeatedly in the ceiling medallions of
the double draw1ng room. O'Donnell was a building
contractor whose'projects included St. Luke's Church .
at 22.Elizabeth.St. Josephine Plnckney, the novellst
lived here from 1907 to 1937, and the Poetry Soc1ety
of South Carollna was organized here in 1920. It was
also the home of Mrs. Thomas R. McGahan, who is said
to have been themodel for Melanie in Margaret Mitchell's.
Gone With The Wind. |

(Ravenel, Architedtés 224, 227. Stomey, This is
" Charleston, 60. , N&C, April 15, 1964. Stock-
ton, DYKYC, Aug. 7, 1978.) )

22 King St. =- This large frame house is said to have been
built by Alexander Chisolm, c¢. 1789. The mansard roof
was added in the late 19th century.

{Stoney, This is Charleston, 60.)
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23 King St. -- This two story wooden house is said to have
been built by Thomas Lamboll in the 18th century. The
balcony was formerly on a building at 56 Broad St.

(Stoney, -This is Charleston, 60. -Deas, Early Ironwork,
80-81.)

24 King St. —- This large frame single house is believed
to have been built by John Laurens North before 1820.
The balcony on the second level also came from 56

‘Broad St. . _ _ _
{(Stoney, This is Charleston, 60.  Deas, Early Iron-
work, 80-81.) _ o

27 King St. —- Miles Brewton, between 1765 and 1769, built

this house,'which is considered one of the finest
Georgian Palladian houses in America. Brewton, a
leading slave-mérchant, is said to have spent £8,000
'Stérling on this house. 'Baséd ontthe villaslof Andrea
Palladio, the house has a two-tiered portico with Tus-
can and Ionic_columné_bf Portland stone. Its platform,
péved'with marble, is reached by two fligﬁts of marble
~steps. Its pediment hés a_delicate_dval wihdow. The
main ddorwéy has the earliést'exampie-of an elliptical
fanlight in Charleston. The house is noted for interior
and exterior woodwork of exceptional quality, carved
by Ezra Waite of Loﬁdon. His work shows the influence
of Thomas Chippendale, the famous English cabinetmaker,
especially in the use of “Gothick" motifs. In the
main hallway, which is paved with Purbfékétbne imported
from Portland, a grand mahogany stair rises to the
chambers and the drawing room. The gréat-dfawing Troom
has a coved ceiling, pedimented doors and a handsome
marble chimneypiece. The crystal chandelier in the
drawing room was made for the house when built and is
one of two known to have existed in colonial South

Carolina. The forecourt is paved with flagstones and
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protected by a handsome wrought iron fence with a

double gate.. The gates are simple but the overthrow

'is elaborate, with a b&rdQue shell in the centér, a

~variety of scrolls-and tendrils. ‘Hexagonal lantern

rings are set on either side. The heaﬁy,irdnfbar.3

: with-the-sﬁikes, called a '"chevaux-de=frise," is said

to have been added after the alleged Denmark Vesey
slave insurrection plot was revealed in 1822. - The. '
property also has a fine line of outbuildings, in-.

cluding the front stable in the Gothic Revival style.

- The garden originally extended to Legare Street.
‘Miles Brewton did not enjoy his house for long; he

and his wife and children were lost at sea in 1775.

His sister, Mrs. Rebecca Brewton Motte, resided here

- during the Revolution, when it became the headquarters

for Sir Henry Clinton and Lords Rawdon and Cornwallis.
Tradition says Mrs. Motte locked her three young daugh-
ters in the attic while the British were in the house.

Another tradition says a British officer etched Clinton's

profile and the picture of a -full-rigged ship on one

of the marble mantels. Mrs. Motte's three daughters
married, respectively, John Middleton of Lee's Legion ?_.
(See 14 George St.), Gen. Thomas Pinckney (ditto), and
Capt. William Alston of Marion's Brigade. Alston

bought the house after his marriage and made it his

town residence for nearly 50 years. He raised thorough-
bred horses at his Waccamaw plantation, which was visited
in 1791 by President George Washington. The house was
inherited by Alston's daughter Mrs. William Bull

Pringle, during whose oﬁnership the house was occupied

in 1865 as the headquartérs of Unidn_Geﬁerals Meade
and Hatch. The house has continued to be owned and
lived in by members of the related Brewton-Motte-Al-

ston~Pringle-Manigault families.
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(Simons & Lapham, Early Architecture, 36-50. Chamber-

~lain & Chamberlain, Southern Interiors, l04-106. Ise-
ley & Cauthen, Charleston Interiors, 48-50. Smith &
Smith, Dwelling Houses, 93-110. Deas, Early Ironwork,
40-41. Whiffen, American:Architecture, /. -Rogers,
Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 69-70. Raven-
el, Architects, 49-53. Severans, Scouthern Architec-
ture, 66-68. Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 17, 1975. Stoney,
This is Charleston, 61.)

39 King St. —- This house apparently was built by Richard
Yeadon, Jr., one of the proprietofs of the Charleston
Daily Courier, after he purchased the property in
1847. A photdgraph_taken before 1886 shows the house

as a three story building of stuccoed brick, with

-side piazza. Yeadon gave the house as a wedding pres-
ent in 1858 to his niece Louisa Clifford Smith, who
married Henry T. Thompson, Jr. They sold it in 1868.
In 1887, the house was acquired by Henry Henken, who
rebuilt the structure, which had been heavily damaged:
by the 1886 earthquake.

{Green,.unpub. MS.; SCHS.)

41 King St. -- John Prue, a house carpenter, built this
| house sometime after purchasing the site in 1746. He
made ‘his will in 1772, bequeathing his '"house ‘and lot"
in King Street to the proposed college (which became
the College of Charleston). The house is two and one
half stories of brick.

(Green, unpub. MS.; SCHS.)

44 King St. -- This two and'oﬁéwhalf'story.brick siﬁgle.
house was built ¢. 1796 by John McKee, a brickmason.
McKee lived in Bedon's Alley and owned much real estate.
He bequeathed the house to the Methodist Episcopal
Church, in which hands it remained until 1915.

(Ravenel, DYKYC, Dec. 22, 1941. Stoney,.This is
Charleston, 61.) ' '

46 King St. -—- This two story brick house was built c. 1851
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b& Walter Webb, a florist who also laid out gardens.
.The house has a dogtooth cornice under the eaves of
the slate roof.. The front door originally was centered
 in the facade and gave entry to-a.centér hall, as in |
other single houses.: Mrs. George Huntington, who |
. bought the property in 1930, remodeled the house after
an automobile crashed into the first:level. '

. {Ravenel, DYKYC, Dec. 22, 1941l. Stoney, This is
~ Charleston, 61.)

50 King St. (AKA 6 Price's Alley) -- This tiny two and one-

| half story frame house was apparently built by John

. Cowan (or Cowen) sometime before 1729. It is also
called the Dill House because that family occupied
it from 1758 to 1848. The exterior features a nice
cornice of wooden modillions.:  The house is two rooms
deep; without a central hall, so the stair rises from
the rear room. The interior has simple'early-paneling,
crown molding and mantelpieces. |

'fIseley'& Cauthen, Charlestoﬁ Interiofs, 44 . Stoney,
This is Charleston, 61. Thomas, DYKYC July 15, 1971.)

52 King St. —— This small two and oneahalf story frame
"~ house was built c¢. 1730 by Edgar Wells. In the
17805,31t-wa5'occup1ed by Dr. George Hahnbaum, physi-
‘ctan to the German Fuseliers and later a founder of
the Medical Society of South Carolina. The trajectory
of a cannonball can be traced through the structure's

timbers.

(Stockton, unpub. nOtes;fStonéy, This is Charleston, 61.)

54 King St. -- This three and one-half story framé”éingle_
house, with a two-tiered Regency piazza, is belieQed:
to have been built c¢. 1768. |
{Stoney, This is Charleston, 61. )

55 Klng St. -— This two and one-half brlck house was
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originally a double tenement built by Frederick Grimké,
c. 1762. Subsequently, it was the home of his descen-
dant, Charles Fraser, the noted miniature painter, au-
thor, attorney and amateur architect. Born in 1782

in British-occupied Charlestown, Fraser was a son of
Alexander Fraser and Mary Grimké.. He painted close

to 500 miniatures, many of which survive. His most
famous subject was Lafayette, whom he painted in 1825.
In 1854 he published My Reminiscences of Charleston,

a record of life in Charleston in the 1790s. As an

architect he designed a cupola for the Old Exchange
~in 1833, which afterwards was removed, and a steeple
for St. John's Lutheran Church, which apparently was
never built. He died in 1860 and is buried in St. Mi-
chael's Churchyard.

(Ravenel, Architects, 159-162. Smith & Smith, Charles
Fraser, passim. ©Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 334.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 62. Greene, unpub. MS.;
~SCHS.) _ :

73 King St. -- This three and one-half ‘story brlck house
is belleved to have been built c. 1820. '
(Stoney, This is Charleston 62.) |

75 Klng St. - Wllllam Elliott apparently built thlS house
- by 1739, when it appears on the "Ichnography'" of that
'year. Its simﬁle and robust design, thick walls. and-
low ceilings, as well as simple paneling, point to
an early conétruétion date.

(Stoney, Charleston's Historic Houses, 1953, 14-15.
» This is Charleston, 62. Iseley & Cauthen,
Charleston Interiors, /6. Chamberlain & Chamberlain,
- Southern Interiors, 92-93.)

79hKing St. - This two and one-half story, stuccoed brick
house is believed to have been built c. 1747 by Francis
Baker.

{Stoney, This is Charleston; 62.) .
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80 Klng St. —— This two and one half story frame house was
bu11t by Col. Maurice Simons, merchant and planter.
He was born in 17445:a son df'Benjamin Simons and Ann
Kéétiﬁg“of Middleburg:?Iantation'Z:He was eleeted to
‘the Second Provincial Congress in 1775, and commanded
"a mllltla unlt ‘which defended Charlestown durlng the
:selge of 1780. He was taken prlsoner ‘when the c1ty -
fell, and petltloned the British for protectlon._

 For that petltlon his real estate was amerced by
':South Carollna authorities. Col. Slmons was killed -
in 1785, in a duel with MaJ. William Clay Snlpes of -
" Round 0, and was buried at St. Phlllp s,
't'(Stockton, unpub MS.)

82 Klng St. —- Robert Haig contracted with a carpenter
in 1786 te have this two story frame house built.

(Green, unpub. MS.).

84 King St. -— This three and one_halftstory, stuccoed_;
.britk'house was apparently built c. 1784 by George
Ross, a tinsmith.

(Greene, unpub. MS.; SCHS. Stoney,; This is Charles-
ton.) ' '

85 King St. —- This brick house was built ¢. 1844 by Marx
E. Cohen, an Ashley River planter, who sold it in
1848. '

(Cupp;, unpub. MS.)

88 King St. -- This two story brick building was built

c. 1742 by Mathew Vanall, carpenter and cabinetmaker,
on land leased from the Huguenot Church. The Church,
in 1742, leased seﬁen lots to tradesmen, for 50 years .
at low annual rentals, on condition that each build
a brick house, not less than 15 feet by 27 feet, with
tﬁo_chimneys. Five surviving houses fit the specifi-
cationar 88,-92, 94, 96_an& 98 King. |
(Green, unpub. MS.; SCHS.)




90 Kihg St. —- Site of Fayolle's Long Room; where in 1819,
La SOC1ety Francalse, the oldest French benevolent
soc1ety in the U. S., was organlzed (The marker at

98 Klng is in the wrong location.) From 1801 to 1836,
_Peter Fayolle leased from the Huguenot Church the two
propertles now known as 88 and 90 Klng St. He resided

at 88 Klng and had his Long Room in a bulldlng on the -

lot now occupied by 90 King. In 1836 Fayolle relln—
quished 88 King to the Church, but remalned in posses-

sion of the Long Room at 90 King until his death the
next year Fayolle, a profeSS1onal French dancer,
conducted a danc1ng school in his Long Room. Sub-
sequently, the Long Room (or a bulldlng on the site)
was used as the Turn Verein Hall, a German'fraternali
meeting place, which was demolished about 1906.
{Green, unpub. MS.; SCHS. CEO Block Plats, 1882.)

92 King St. —-- This brick house was built c. 1742 by William

Pharrow (Farrow), a mariner, on land leased from the
Huguenot Church.
(Green, unpub. MS.; SCHS.)

94 King St. —- Robert Harvey, a carpenter, built this two
story, hip- roofed brick house c¢. 1742 on land leased
from the Huguenot Church.

(Green, unpub. MS.; SCHS. Stoney, This is Charleston,
63.) E

96 King St. —-- James Hilliard, a watchmaker, erected this
two and one-half'story, gable roofed house c. 1742 on
a lot leased from the Huguenot Church.

(Green, unpub MS.; SCHS. Stoney, This is Charleston,
63.) _

98 King St. ——= John Vaun, a carpenter, leased a lot from
the Huguenot Church and built this two and one-half
story brick, gable-roofed single house.

(Green, unpub. MS; SCHS. Stoney, This is Charleston,
63.) |

291
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' 136 King St. -- Site of the Quaker Meeting House, now the

Charleston County Parklng Garage.' Three Quaker meet-—
ing houses, the last ‘one destroyed by the 1861 f1re,~

' stood on this site.  The property was deeded to the -

Society of Friends by Gov. John Archdale, who was a
Quaker. Mary Flsher who tried to convert the_"Great

Turk" (Sultan Muhammed V or his v121er, Mohammed Kui-

prili) in 1660, and suffered persecution as- a Quaker.
‘missionary in Barbadoes and New England, arrived in
‘Charlestown about 1680 with her husband John Crosse

‘and.-her children. She remained here until -her death.

18 years later, living quietly,-compared_with-her'
previous life, and was buried in the Quaker Church-.
yard here. Also buried here was Daniel Latham, who
rode on horseback to take the news of the Patriot

victory at Fort Moultrie to.the Continental Congress

His remains were moved in 1975 to the park adjacent

to the County Office Building on Court House Square.

The property remained in the ownershlp of the Soc1ety
- of Friends until purchased by the County of Charles-

ton. The parking garage was built in two stages,
in 1970 and in 1975.. The.county has_preservea the -
irOn.fence which enclosed'the Quaker'Churchyard.
(Smith, "Hog Island and Shute's Folly." Rogers,

‘Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 93. Bull,

"Quaker Burying Ground.' CEP, March 20, 1967.
St.Julien R. Childs, DYKYC, Feb 27, 1967.)

147-149 King St. -— Ernst.J. Hesse (1841-1901), a prosper-

ous merchant of German birth, built thie three story
brick double building between 1878 and 1880. Hesse
immigrated to Walhalla, S.C., at the age of 13 and
came to Charleston in 1860 to engage in the grocery
business. During the Civil War he served in the Ger-
man Hussars of Charleston. After the war he reentered -

business with J.N. Hesse at Beaufain and Pitt streets.
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He puréhased“this'sité in 1878 and built this building
with two stores below and two residences above. The
bu1ld1ng is conservatlve in de51gn for its time, but
shows a great deal of attention to detail in the granite
sills and lintels and dressy briékwork,

(Stockton, unpub. notes. )

150-154 King St. -- Patrick-J. Coogan built this three stores,
with residences above, in 1868. Nicholas Culliton was
the contractor. The iron storefronts were made by James

- F. Taylor & Co. of Charleston. Coogan was the city
assessor and later city treasurer. The property re-
mained in his family until 1885..

(Stockton, unpub. MS.}

158-160 King St. —-— The Carolina Rifles Armory, built in
1889. The Carolina Rifles was one of many semi-private
‘military units -- half militia and half social club
-- which existed in Charleston until absorbed by the
NatioﬁalIGuard in the early 20th century. The unit
‘was organlzed in 1869 as the Carolina Rifle Club be-
cause local mllltary units were banned. The Confeder-
ate veterans, not trusting Federal troops to maintain
order, formed such clubs. After the Federal troops
were withdrawn in 1878, the clubs became military |
units. At the time of purchééing this site in 1888,
the unit had 76 men armed with Springfield rifles.
Dates in the parapet are those of the unit's organi-
zation and the construction of the building. A sub-
sequent owner, H. A. Schroeder, also put his name on
the parapet. The two story wooden building with a
flat roof has pressed metal cladding on the second level
of the facade. The building had two stores, with the
armory on the second level.
{Stockton, DYKYC, Dec. 19, 1977.)
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entific instruments including a microscope, a concave.

“mittee was appointed'"for'collecting'materials for

NThe Society was also active in promoting education and'

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 99-102.

159 King St. -- This two story brick building in the cren—

ellated Gothic style was built in 1866 by George W.

Flach, a German Jeweler,_who operated his shop on’ the -

”flrst level and llved upstalrs untll hlS death in

1877. o
(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 22;'1975;)

164 King St. --— Charleston lerary' Society was-Organized.'

in 1748 by a group of young gentlemen who wished to

keep up with the sc1ent1f1c and phllosophlcal lssues_

. of the day and hoped to ”save their descendants from

'SLnklng into savagery " The initial groupelncluded _

nine merchants, two lawyers,'a schoolmaster, a peruke-
maker, a physician and_two_planters The soc1ety re-
ceived a Royal charter in 1754. In addition to an

annual sum spent on books; the ‘Society purchased sci--

mirror, an air pump, ‘a ‘telescope, a'Camera"obscura-and:
a hydrostatic balance. In 1767, the Society sponsored

an exhibit of electrical experiments. In 1773, a com-

promoting a Natural History of this Province." This

is considered the foundation-of the Charleston Museum. R {

in the 1770s members of the Society began to bequeath
legac1es for the establishment of a college. This is
considered the foundation of the College of Charleston. . |
The Society, the third oldest of its kind in the é
United States, has occupied various locations. The | |

present building was comstructed in-1914. The gates

and fence across the back property line were formerly
at the William Aiken House at 456 King St., and are
thought to have been made by Christopher Werner.
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Easterby, Hlstory of the College, 3-15. Deas, EEELXI
Ironwork, 31.) -

165 King St. —- Built in 1875 by”Williaﬁ'Byrné; a'grocer
and liduor dealer, this three Story brick building was
originally a residence. It is in the Renalssance Re~-
vival style of the mid-19th century
(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 4, 1972.)

169 King St. -- Mrs. Emma B. McKenzie built this thréeﬁstbry.
brick, Greek Revival building between 1866, when she
bought thé‘éite and 1872 when the bulldlng appears
on a "Bird's Eve View" map of the city.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 18, 1972.) o

171-173 King St. -- This two story stuccoed brick double
building had two stores on the first level and two
residences above. It was built between 1865 and 1872_
by Hannah Enston (widow of William Enston, founder of

- the Enston Home)}. It replaced a building built in 1835
by William Enston. Earl Mazo, journalist and biographer
of Richard Nixon, grew up above his father's grocery
at 171 King St. o _

(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 2, 1972.)

186 King St. —-- Dr. George Hahnbaum, a German physician,
probably built this three story wooden building by
-1788. The facade, with its engaged fluted columns on
the first level and pilasters and cornices above, was
probably added c¢. 1800. An unusual feature of the con-
struction is the brick wall with chimneys on the south
side, adjacent to the piazza. This is because it was
a fire wall between this building and another wooden
Building to the south, which was demolished for con-
struction of the piazza. Dr. Hahnbaum was the phys-
ician for the German Fuseliers and a founder of the
Medical Society of South Carolina.

{Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 19, 1980. Stoney, This is
Charleston, 64.)
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187-191 King St. -- This three story brick building was

built <. 1850 by William Enston, and was part- of the

Enston Home legacy. The Trustees of the Enston HomesV

‘sold it in 1887 to George A Wagener and Frederlck

'w Wagener, local merchants. The granlte storefront

is in the Tudor GOtth Rev1val style

(Thomas, DYKYC, Aprll 21, 1969, Charleston Courler,
June 26, 1850. ) ' s

192 198 King -~ Col. Blum's. Range Designed by_the noted

Charleston archltect Franc1s D. Lee, thiS*brick;

‘range was built c. 1853 for local merchant Col.'john"

Charles Blum. It con31sts of two bu1ld1ngs in an iden-’

tlcal style, so as to give the casual observer the

'1mpre331on of one large block. The Italianate style

building had stores on the first level and a hotel on.
the upper levels. In 1982-83, the building was renova-
ted and returned to its original use. o PR
é?go?che,iDYKYC;'Dec. 12, 1983:'-Ravenel, Architeots;f'.

200 Klng St, --~ This three story brick building with a turn-

of-the-century Renaissance Revival facade was built

by Lawrence Benson before 1806 or by George Flagg af- .

“ter 1806. The upper floors retain rich Adamesque de-

tails..-Flagg-was an artisan, one of the 26 '"Sons of
Liberty" who gathered in 1766 to protest the Stamp
Act. He sold the property in 1810 to Dr. Michael

Fronty, a surgeon and refugee from Santo Domingo, in

.whose family it remained until 1835.

(Thomas, DYKYC, Aug. 7, 1972.)

202 King St. -- The three story building of preésed'briok

with granite trim on the yellow brick facade was built
in 1912 for John Rugheimer, Sons, merchant tailors.
A native of Germany, Rugheimer founded the business
in 1864, after an injury incurred while blockade run-

ning for the Confederacy barred him from sea duty.
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The business continued in operation until 1972.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Dec. '8, 1980.) &

204 206 Klng St. -- Mrs. Bluhma Cohen Loeb w1fe of Levi
Loeb, built thls bulldlng in two stages: ‘The flrst'
' floor of brlck, orlglnally contalnlng two stores, was
built in 1887. The upper floor of wood w1th a metal
clad facade was completed in 1894. The recess on the
north end, now filled by a door, was the entrance to
"Robb's Lot Alley, whlch led to the rear of Robb's Lot,
‘a large tract frontlng on King Street, whose buildings-
were destroyed in the great fire of 1861. After the
Civil War, Robb's Lot remained Vacant for some time
'and was frequently used as a circus grounds in summer.
It was a place of refuge of homeless people after the
1886 earthquake.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 8, 1982.)

208 Klng St. -- This three story brick bu1ld1ng was bu11t
in 1889 as the Charleston YMCA. Organized in 1854,
the YMCA was housed at various locations including the
old Mille House hotel. 1In 1888, this site was purchased
S.W. Foulk of Newcastle, Pa., an architect who spec1al—.
ized in YMCA buildings, designed the structure; Henry
Oliver of Charleston was the builder. . The facade is
of pressed brick with stone and terra cotta trim.
The building formerly had a tower on the left with a
peaked roof, and a gable on the right. The Romanesque

style building has been renovated as shops and apart-—
ments.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

216 King St. -- This three story brick building was built
in 1839-40 by Patrick McBride (d. 1866)'.an Irish-born
merchant, and was remodeled c¢. 1908 by Vlncent Chicco,
who put his name in the parapet.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 10, 1980.)
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220 King St. -- Built c. 1838 or '39, this three story brick

building has a facade of Charleston-grey brick, laid in:
Flemish hondwnandmgranitemsiilse_mltewas_probabiyfbuf1t‘

by Nathan Hart, a hardware dealer. .
(Stockton DYKYC, March 20, 1978 )

225 227 Klng St.;ﬂ~-The R1v1era Theatre was: bullt in 1939 by

Albert_Sottlle,_thls building is Charleston's best ex-'
ample of Art Moderme architecture. Previously on the

site was built in 1830, Kerrison's Department Store;

‘which tradition says is the.South's " oldest department

store still in operation.. That building, destroyed in

. the great fire of 1838, was rebuilt by Kerrison's and

used until 1852 when it was sold to the merchantile

firm of Browning &-Leman. That-firm had a new store
built, designed by Charleston architect Edward:C.'Jones.
' The large dry goods: store was.remodeled into a. theatre

by architect John Henry Devereux. ' Known as.the Acad-

emy of Music, it opened in 1869 and was for 70 years:

- one of Amerlca s best known theatres. It was patterned

| after European opera houses and had excellent acous-

t1cs Sarah Bernhardt and other lnternatlonally known _
performers play the Academy It was demollshed for

constructlon of the present bulldlng

(Ravenel Architects, 211, 266. DYKYC. July 22, 1935

229- 233-——-Rachel Lazarus bullt these three 1dent1cal Greek

Revival tenements c. 1839, with a locan from .the Bank

...of the State of South Carolina, authorized under the
‘Act for Rebuilding the City of Charleston, passed af-

ter the great fire of 1838.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Jan. 15, 1979.)

235 King St. -- Martin Vogel and Francis Salvo, partners -

in the firm of Vogel & Salvo, cabinetmakers, built

this Greek Revival: structure for their: business in -
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"1838-39, with a "fire loan" from the Bank of the State
" of South Carolina. '
(Stockton, unpub. MS.)}
237 King St. —- This three Story BriCR'building,”stuecoed,_ _
was designed by architects Abrahams & Seyle. The Ital-
ianate building was erected in 1870 for C. D. Ahrens

& Co., grocers. The iron front has four Corinthian
columns, supporting arches. The cornice on the upper.
facade is of brick and stucco with iron ornaments.
Windows have iron lintels. . John H. Lopez was the:
contractor of the building which has a large store
“space on the first level and a residence with handsome
woodwork and plasterwork on the upper floors. The
Queen City - Club and the Union Club, men's social or-
ganizations, met in the drawing rooms.

(Stockton, DYKYC, May 3, 1982.)"

241-243 Klng St. — Joho:Siegling;'a Germehéoorﬁ merchant
and founder of the Slegllng Music House, bUllt ‘the
"three story brick building here as hlS bu51ness and
residence, c. 1838 The bulldlng was later remodeled

with the 1nstallat1on of a cast iron’ storefront, and
in 1900 the exterlor was totally remodeled and a music

recital hall was constructed in the rear. Slegllng s

Music  House; which was said to be the oldest music -
supply store in the country, was founded in 1819 and
moved to this location in 1830. The*oroperty remained
in the Siegling family until 1973, when the store was_
closed and.the property sold.

{Stockton, unpub. MS.):

245 King St. —- Nathan Hart or his heirs built this struc-
ture sometime after the fire of April 27-28, 1838. It

- was originally three stories tall and was remodeled as
a two story building with a Victorian Italianate facade

in the latter part of the 19th century.
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(Stockton DYKYC May 17 1982,) _ _ L
247 King Stv —-- Nathan Hart or his heirs“aISO'buiIt'thiS
building ‘after the 1838 fire, as a three story brick:
“Greek Revival structure. A fire 1n:1875, which des- -
‘troyed the building adjacent to the north, damaged |
the third floor of thiis building. -Jane Levy's estate
paid J.H. Lopez, contractor, to'rebuild the struc-
‘ture as a two story: bu1ld1ng with a Victorian Italian-
ate facade.
(Stockton, DYKYC; May 17, 1982.)""

249 King St. -- This three story bfiCR bﬁildiﬁg was con—
structed for Susan Wood in 1875;76;'andﬁwés'déSignéd
and built by architect-contractor John Henry Devereux.

~ It replaced an -€arlier building destroyed'by'fire in
1875, The Italianate style facade 'was remodeled in
“the early 20th century. ~The building originally housed
- J.R. Read & Co., dry goods merchants. George Bernard,
a prominent photographer had his studio and residence
- upstairs. R - :
(Stockton, DYKYC, June 14, 1982.)"

254 Klng St. -- Moses C. 'Lévy'built'this'thrée'Stary brick -

bulldlng in the Greek Revival style after the great

fire of 1838. The building was occupied from c. 1839
by the famous flrm of Hayden Gregg & Co., Jewelers
and silversmiths. They remained ‘here, under various
changes-of name, until after the Civil War.  The ‘
cast iron-lion heads which cover-thejearthquake-boltsa
on the Hasell Street side are a reminder of the 1886

- earthquake. | : :

“(Stockton, DYKYC, July-19, 1982.)

256 & 258 —— These two buildings were built by two differ-
ent property owners, who decorated the buildings’

interiors to their own tastes, but cooperated to give'
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the two buildings a unified facade. Subsequent remod-
elings have obliterated any similarities in the fa-
cades; only a portion.of the surround of the common . -
passageway between the_building_survives,_-Theqcommon__
facade was-in the_Greek Revival style then popular.
William H. Jones, a jeweler, who built the structure

at 256 King, also installed up—to-date Greek Revival
‘woodwork in the residence.above his store. Jacob
Hersman, 'a dry goods merchant, who built 258_Kidg,
finished the residence in his building in conservative
Regency (late Federal) woodwork, with only a. few modern
Greek Rev1val intrusions. '
(Stockton unpub MSS) |

260 King St. -- Kerrison's Department Store, Sald to be
the oldest in the South, was founded in 1830 by Charles
and Edwin L. Kerrison. The store put its resourses
at the disposal of the Confederacy and in 1889 was the _
- first store to employ saleswomen. The store was lo- ' ff_“;
-cated originally at the northwest corner of King and
Market streets and has had several relocations in its
history. 1In 1858, Edwin L. Kerrison purchased the
site of present-day 96 Hasell St. from Congregation
Beth Elohim. and bu1lt the Itallanate structure which
is Stlll in use as part of the store. The present
Klng Street bulldlng was. constructed in 1920
(Charleston Grows,_136. Egg, Sept. 21, 1930. )

268 King St. —— John Thomsoﬁ.established.in 1839 a-seed
store-on King Street, which later became McIntosh
Seed House. Thomson gaVe_a bequest to: the City df
Charlestoh, with which the construction of the . Thomson
Auditorium (later the home of the Charleston Museum)
was partly financed. This building dates from c. 1850;
the stone facade was added in 1894. _
(Stockton,_unpub. notes. Whitelaw & Levkoff, 127, 163.)
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270 King. St -~ .The Masonic Temple in the Tudor Gothic
style was built in 1871-72 of brick and stucco. The -
~architect, John Henry Devereux, though a Roman Cath~
Qlic,;tookﬁthe_Entered.Apprentice\Degree_of Masonry
in order to.curb possible criticism that the building
- was designed by a. non-Mason. Thé building has been -
‘remodeled several~times,‘but_the_beauty_of_the,origi-
nal design has not been totally obliterated.

(Stockton, DYKYC, May 24, 1982. - Ra?enel, Architects,
266.) '

273 Klng St. -— ThlS three story stuccoed brlck structure'_
was apparently built in the 18305 or '40s as a Greek
Revival store and re31dence The bulldlng was ‘remod-
eled ln 1885 only to be severely damaged in the '"cy-
clone" (hurricane) of that year. It was rehabllltated J
only to be severely damaged in the 1886 earthquake,
making more repaifé_neéessary. ‘Late 19th century

“photographs show the building with a two:.story high:

~arch in the center of the facade and a domed cupola
on the street corner of the building, in addition to
the Victorian Italianate features which still survive,
after further remodelings in the 20th century.  The
remodelings of the 1880s were undertaken by the then
occupant, Hirsch, Israel & Co., clothing merchants.
(Stockton, DYKYC, March 29, 1982.)

274-276 King St. -- Designed by architect John D. Newcomer
and built by the Commercial Investment Co. as the home
of the Commeréial Savirgs Bank, in 1908-09, the three
story masonfy Reﬁaissanée'Révival-building'acquired
its present ‘appearance in 1953, when it was remodeled
by the South Carolina Electric and Gas Co.

~ (Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 16, 1982. ©N&C, March 23, 1953.)
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275 King St. -- The Hirsch-Israel Building, a three story
masonry Baroque Revival building with a high, elaborate
dome, was built here in 1897-99 as a clothing store |
"for the Hirsch-Israel Company. In 1919, it became

- the Dime Savings Bank which subsequently merged to
‘become the Peoples State Bank of South Carclina,
which failed in 1932.  Subsequently, the building
‘was remodeled by taking it down to its first floor
and modernizing the design, c¢. 1933.

{Stockton, unpub. notes.)

281 King St. -- S.H. Kress & Company's Building was completed
in 1931 and is in the Art Deco style then popular. It
is typical of Kress buildings of the period throughout
' the country'd The department.store was located at the
northwest corner of King and Beaufain streets for two
decades before bulldlng at this location.
(Stockton, DYKYC, July 5, 1982.)

286- 288 King -- George Norton Mlller bu1lt thlS three story
brick double building in 1839-40, w1th a '"fire loan."
.He was a member of Miller, Ripley & Co., of Charleston
.and New York, dry goods merchants. The building was
Victorianized in 1883 by the family of John Henry Stein-
meyer, who operated Steinmeyer‘s Mill on Gadsden Street.
(Stockton, DYKYC, March 22, 1982.)

290-292 King St. —-- Miller, Ripley & Co. {(Horatio Miller,
Samuel P. Ripley, George N. Miller and Henry C. Bissell),
dry goods merchants of New York and Charleston, bought
this site in 1833-34 and had a double building erected
by John Gordon in 1834. It was destroyed in the great
fire of 1838. The double building was immediately re-.
built, reusing the common wall from the burned struc-
ture. The two halves were subsequently remodeled from

their original Greek Revival appearance -- No. 290 was-
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Vlctorlanlzed, whlle 292 was remodeled 1n the Art Mo-".
derne style of the early 20th century
(Stockton, DYKYC, Aprll 4, 1983.)

293-297 King St. -- Mordecai Cohen, in 1839, obtained a
"fire loan" to build these three buildings, threel
stories of brick, probably in the Greek Rev1val style.
The facades of all three were subsequently changed
(Stockton DYKYC, Aug 30 1982.)

300 King .St. -- Thls-three-story brick, stuccoed building
was constucted either-by John Weissinger, a German-
born baker, between 1790 .and 1809, or by his heirs L
shortly after his death in l§09.- The facade was upé
dated in 1912 by the Onslow Candy Company. '
(Stockton, unpub. MS.) |

302 King St. -- Designed by”architeCt-John D.'Newcomer,”thié
~ building was constructed by the Charleton Building and
Investment Company for the Title'Guarantee'&'Deposit..
Company, as a bank and office building, in 1915-16.
The building . is two stories of brick, with a llmestone
~facade. The lower portion. has been remodeled.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 15, 1982.)

304 King St. -- This building was constructed by'Albert
Sottile in 1911 as the Princess Theatre.” When built,

it had elaborate plasterwork on the facade, lost in
. remodelings.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.).

306, 308 King St. ——= Samuel ScOttow, a- carpenter; built No.. 308;.ae

three story masonry building by 1793, when the house.
was mentioned in his will. The property remained in
his family until 1810, when it was purchased by a

merchant, Christian Henry Faber. Faber subeequently

built two other buildings on the large lot, including
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the still existing three story brick building at 306
Kiﬁg and a building which stood on the site of 304
King. The ensemble of three buildings appears on a
_plat dated 1843. o _ o
(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 6, 1982. ., unpub. MS.)

313 King St. -- John Aﬁthony,:a sadler and harneés.maker,

' abparentiyfbuilf this threé and one-half story brick”
building sometime after_pufchasing the site in 1812.
Originally it was a store and residence. About 1840,
the upper stories were remodeled ‘as a boarding house.
The building is-a fine example of the Federal style.

- It is built of Charleston grey brick, laid in Flemish
~bond, with marble trim. : -

égt?ckton, unpub. MS.  Stoney, This. is Gharleston,.

314 King St. -- This three story, stuccoed brick building
was built c. 1878 by Benjamin.Féldman and Robert Teskey,
grocers,.és a store and residence. The store at 112%
King Was formerly the piazza to 314 King.

~ (Stockton, DYKYC, March 21, 1932.)

316 King St. -- Thdmas-Fleming, a prosperous merchéﬁt, built
this three story stuccoed brick structure c. 1820 as
investment propefty, The present facade in brown brick
was added.in 1903, when Sarah Rubin was the owner.
(Stockton, DYKYC, April 12, 1982.)

318 & 320 King —- Samuel Pendergrass; a Sumter District
planter, apparently built the striucture, now known
as 320 King, as a two and one-half story brick struc- -
ture, sométime béfore May 1807 when it appeared on a
plat. The half story was elevated to a full story after
1820, when Thomas Fleming owned it. The two story
wood and masonry building known as 318 King, formerly

the piazza of 320 King, was constructed c. 1860 by
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Mordecai David, a merchant.
(Stockton, DYKYC, April 19, 1982.) wl |
319-325 King St. -- The Old American Hotel was apparently - -

created c. 1850 by combining several older structures

. behind a common facade in the Greek Revival style,
with the American eagle.as a prominent motif.. The -
first level was remodeled in the late 19th century,
when cast iron pilasters in the Victorian style were-
installed. The building burned in 1974 and was restored
in 1975. | o |
(Thomas, DYKYC, April 7, 1969.) |

327-329 King St. -— The double tenement wes built in 1855- .

56 by John D. Meyer, a prosperous German grocer. It

; wes'built by contractor Christopher C. Trumbo after -
plans by Barbot & Seyle, archltects " The facade was _
subsequently remodeled in the latter part of the 19th-
century. In 1923-27, the Glorla Theater, - de51gned by
architect C.K. Howell was built to the rear of the
building, with an entrance foyer through the first

floor of 329 King St.
(Stockton, DYKYC, March l 11982.) -

336 338 King St. —— “This double bu1ld1ng was bullt after
August 1794 by John Cunningham (1739-1815), a mer-
chant, as a commercial-residential structure. The .
common facade was subsequently remodeled in the 19th
century, with Italianate details. '

(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 22, 1982.) |

337-339 King St. =— This two.story brick double buiidiug'
was built as an 1nvestment by Henry Dorre, a Klng Street
baker, c. 1859. _ _

(Stockton, DYKYC, March 1, 1982)

341 King St. -- James White; a merchant, apparently built
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this three and one-half story Regency building between
1817 and 1821. The building formerly had a Regency
style tripartite window in the front gable.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 23, 1982.)

340'King-St. -- This two story brick building was built after
1821 by Mathew Miller, a jeweler. The facade ‘dates
from c. 1940. ' '

(Stockton,. unpub. notes.}

342 King St. —— Mathew Miller also bullt this three story
brick bulldlng after 1821, '
(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

345 King St. -- This two story Victorian commercial build-
ing was built in 1883 by Christopher P. Poppenheim,
a hardware merchant,'as his place of business. His
store remained here until 1892, when he built and
 occup1ed the larger building at 363 365 Klng
Henry Oliver was the contractor.
(Stockton, DYKYC, March 15, 1982.).

3484Kipg St. -- This three and one-half story brick build-

ing was built c. 1830 by Margaret Gidiere, a refugee
from Santo Domingo. It was a commercial-residential
stucture, with Mrs. Gidiere's dry goods store on the
first level and her family hOme.above. The building was
éubsequently a saloon, the Lyric, a vaudeville and
movie theatre, an office-shop arcade, and more re-
cently a restaurant.

(Stockton, unpub. MS.)

363 King St. -- Architect W.B.W. Howe,designed.this Victor- -
ian building which was built in 1891-92 for Christo-
pher P. Poppenheim, a hardware merchant. The front
is of Philadelphia pressed brick trimmed with terra
cotta. The building has been rebuilt behind the faw
cade, as a shop and apartment complex.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Dec. 28, 1981.)
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371 King St. -- The Garden Theatre, a Beaux- Arts style bu1ld~-

"rlng,'was bullt in 1917 18 by Albert Sottlle as a vaudeaf__.

Cville: and "photoplay” theatre It was de51gned by arch—;_“
dltects C. K Howell and David B. Hyer The theater was L

| rehabllltated ln 1978 by ‘the Clty of Charleston whlch

-1eases 1t from the Pastlme Amusement Co ' Archltect
Jeffrey Marc Rosenblum 1nstalled a modern theater in
the interior, while restorlng the exterior to its
original ‘appearance. :

(Stockton, DYKYC June 8 '1980. )

370 Klng St. —- Headquarters of the Fellowshlp Soc1ety,'

which was founded in 1762 to establish a hospital.’

- 'The Society loaned money-to the U.S. Government dur—ft'.

ing the Revolution and War of-1812'and-to”thenconf
federacy.-'The:Society'provideS'.aid for widows and.
orphans. - . S ' : '

(Stockton 'unpub ‘notes. )

374 -378 King St - Slte of the Marks Bulldlng, ‘one of the
' Ccity's grandest Victorian bu1ld1ngs.u Bullt for the .

M. Marks & Sons department store,_lt opened in 1891.

: 'DeSLgned by archltect P J. Laurltzen of New York

the 1arge Renaissance Rev1val bulldlng cost $4O 000"

to build, not 1nclud1ng land acqu1s1t10n Demollshed 1955;'

(Stockton, unpub notes s DYKC Aug 24 1981. ).

| 375 Klng St.-— This dainty two story stuccoed brlck build-

ing was built between 1868 and 1871 by Martha leen
as a store and residence. ' '

"(Stockton,:DYKYC,fSept..5,-198351a

379 King St. =- Mrs}'Hannah.Enstondbnilt'this'two story'comu._:”':

mercial building between 1872 and 1882. The property'

was part of the Enston Legacy, with which the Enston
Home was founded.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.) .
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381 Klng St. '-Q This three'stdry'stuCCOed brick bUilding

was apparently built by William Enston, the prosperous-'.
King Street merchant and phllantroplst sometime between
hlS purchase of the property and his death in 1860.
It became part of the Enston Bequest,'WLth which the
 Enston Home for the aged was built.

'(Stockton DYKYC, March 8 1982. )

387 Klng.St — Francls Marlon Hotel was. bullt in 1922 24

by the Marion Square Realty company.
(Stockton DYKYC, Jan. 12, 1982. )

405 Klng St. -- St. Matthew's German. Lutheran Church. The

265-foot steeple of this church once made it  the tallest
.structure.in South:Carolina; it remains the tallest
spire. The congregation was organized in 1840_by Ger-
man speaking Lutherans. Their first building, at Ha-
sell and Anson streets, is now St. Johannes' Lutheran.
The church in 1856 purchased land outside the city for
Bethany Cemetery. Having outgrown the old church, the-
congregation built the present one in 1867-72. Pat-
terned after a German church, this Gothic Revival
'structre was designed by architect John Henry Devereux.
A fire in 1965 sent the tall steeple crashing_SPectac—

" ularly into King Street. The church was rebuilt exactly
as it had been, as a cost of over a half million dol-
lars.

(Ravenel, Architects, 265-266. Legerton, 40-41l.  Stoney,
This is Charleston, 65.) :

404 King St. -— Charleston County Libary was built in 1960

on the site of the City Guard House, the police station
from 1887 to 1905. Sculptures by Willard Hirsch, the
Charleston .artist, were placed on the building in 1961.
(Stockton, unpub. notes.)



310

409 King St. -- This substantial, four and one-half story
building was built c. 1808 by Lucretia Radcliffe, _
widow_of“ThomasrRadcliffe_and,the developer of Rad-
cliffeborough. :Subsequently it:was the Rev. Ferdi-
nand Jacobs' Seminary for Girls.. Jacobs' son Dr.

W. P. Jacobs founded Presbyterlan College at Cllnton,
S. C and hlS son Thornwell Jacobs founded Oglethorpe
College, Decatur, Ga. G. W. Almar & Co. , drugglst,
'occupled the bulldlng from 1852 to l978 The business
was founded by George W. Almar, who durlng the Civil
War was a lieutenant in the Lafayette Artlllery Dur-
ing the war the bulldlng housed a Confederate dis-
perisary and hospital. Later, a hotel known as the
‘Aimar House was located on the upper levels: _ p
(Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 13, 1968.. Allen, DYKCY, April
18, 1983.) S , S I

415 King St. -- This two story brfck7double_building was
built c: 1856 by the Charleston Gas Light Company, -
for rental purposes. The company, incorporated in
1846, was a corporate ancestor of South Carclina Elec-
‘tric & Gas Company. On the rear part of the property -
was a large iron gasometer (gas storage tank). This |
bulldlng had two stéres on the flrst level" and two
residences above. .

(Stockton, unpub MS. )

| 416'Klng St. — This brlck commerc1al/resrdent1al structure
. was bullt between 1803 and 1827 by John Brownlee The
present facade dates from 1947

(Preservatlon Consultants.)

418 King St. -- Possibly dating from the late 18th century,
this brick structure appeared on an 1806 plat drawn
for Mrs. Elizabeth Wragg. It has English bond brick-

work, a dentil cornice and slate roof with ridge tiles.
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426 King St. —-- This three story Federal style commercial/
residential building, retaining a long line cf out-
buildings, was built by Francis Marks after he bought
the property from Joseph Manigault in 1806.
(Preservation Consultants.): "

442 Klng St. -- This'tWo and-bne half stor&‘brick house was
" built. by . James Ferguson, a planter in St.John's Berke-
ley, before 1840. The facade was added by Christopher -
Amme's family in the late 19th century. The Amme bake
‘house was formerly in the rear. o
(Thomas, DYKYC Feb 14, 1972. )

456 King St. —- The W1111am Alken House was bUllt c. 1811
and is one of the city's best Adamesque structures.
Aiken was Preeident.of the South Carclina Canal and
Rail Road Co. . It is a registered national landmark
as the birthplace of America's first railroad to use.
a steam locomotive to pull a train of cars on a track
_ln regular service. The railroad began operation on
Christmas Day, 1830 between Charleston and Hamburg,
S.C. A full-scale model of the first locomotive,

"The Best Friend of Charleston,” is displayed in a small'
building in the rear The railroad was the first to
carry the U.S. Mail. The company went through various
corporate changes and subsequently was purchased by

the Southern Railway system which dsed the building

as its'division_headquarters for many years. Aiken
added the east wing of the building after 1831. Note

the Gothic RevivalICarriage-houSe. Aiken was'the

father of Gov. William Aiken. - |

(Ravenel, DYKYC, Oct. 9, 1944, Rhett & Steele, 90-91.
~ Stoney, This is Charleston, 66.)

500 & 502 King St. -- Built in 1894 by Isaac and Nathan
Jacobs.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)



542 King St. - This substantial brick building was buitt
 between 1810 adn 1817 by Margaret Gidiere as a store
~and residence. Mrs. Gidiere, a-Santb“Domingan-refugee,'

later built the store and residence at 348 King.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 22, 1977.)

558 King St. -- George S. Hackef;'é'lumbef mérchént;ﬁbuilt'
this structure c. 1859. Hacker had a substantial plant
in this vicinity, including a lumber mill and a sash
and blind factory.

(Stockton,'unpub.'notesf)

900 King St. —-- The William Enston Home is.patterned after
institutidns of this type in England. Enston, a .pros-—
.perdus furnituré-maker, merchant and steamship magnate,
left his.fortﬁne:for the establishment of a home for
the elderly, like one in his native Cantefbury}_England,
built "to make old age comfortable.'" In 1887, 27 years

after Eﬁston's deéth,_architect W.B.W. Howe, Jr., de-
signed this complex of two story brick éottages follow-
ing Enston's specificétions. Enston required that the
‘residents be the old and sick,:agéd 45 to 75 and of'_
"good honest character," and none could suffer from.
 "lunacy." The cottages occupy St. Martin‘sICdurt, named
for the oldest Christian churéh in Englandj'Queen-Ber—
tha's'Court,'for\England's first Christian queen; St.
Augustine's Court, for England's first Christian mis-—
sionary; Canterbury Avenue for the founder's birth-
place; and Colsterworth Avenue, for the birthplace of
his wife Hannah. Enston died in 1860, leéving an. es-
 tate valued at $1 million; losses dueito the Civil War
reduced it to $500,000. Thé'City of Charleston re-
ceived a portion of the estate in 1882, aﬁd the remain-
der after Mrs. Enston's death in 1886. Before her
death, Mrs. Enston approved the site, which had been




the Storen Farm. Construction began in 1887 and 24
cottages were completed. The city erected a memorial
chapel with a campanile style tower.. The complex is
of a unified design, all in the Romanesque Revival
style. An infirmary was built in 1931 and later con-
verted to the superintendent's home.

(Allen, DYKYC, Jan. 17, 1983.

LADSON STREET

Ladson Street is named for Lt. Gov. James Ladson, who
built the wooden house at the corner of Meeting'and'Ladson,
c. 1791. The street is older than the name, however, hav- -
ing been cut through the lands.of Lt. Gov. William Bull
to provide access to the lot of his son-in-law, John Dray—
ton. Ladson's Court was extended west to King Street and
widened in the early 20th century.

(Smith & Smith, Dwelllng Houses, 86, 89.)

2 Ladson St. —- This Slte was glven to John Drayton by his
father-in-law, Lt. Gov. William Bull in 1746. Dray-
ton probably built this house, as the drawing room on
'the second level has a mantel SLmllar to mahtels at
his country seat, Drayton Hall on the Ashley. A sub-
sequent owner added the semi-circular bay on the west
side and remodeled the ‘downstairs drawing room in the
Adamesque style. The bay appears on a plat.of the
propefty in 1813. The house was agaln remodeled around
the turn of the century, when the facade was given
its present Colonial Revival treatment.

(Stockton, unpub. MS. Smith & Smith, Dwelllng Houses,
86, 89.)
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. LAMBOLL STREET

- Lamboll Street has been varlously called Smith Lane,
Dedcott S Alley, Rlvers Street and Klncald Street .after_.
various property owners. Its present named comes. frdm__'

Thomas Lamboll who . owned land on the street in l722

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses,-238 ”Streets of Charles—'. |

ton.'") =

6 Lamboll St. —— This large framezhOuse-was built betﬁeeni_
1788 and 1790 by Mrs Rebecca Rose. It was remodeled
in the Greek Revival style by her granddaughter Mrs.
Naomi Rose O'Hara Timmons Dobson.
(Stockton DYKYC, Nov 3 1980 )

14 Lamboll St —— This house, w1th its elaborate exterlor
finish, was built c. 1850 by Patrick O' Donnell, a
bullding contractor, who built. his mansion_arouﬁd the -
corner at 21 King St.. - . k |
(Stockton, uapub. notes.)

15 Lamboll St. -- Built c. 1908 by Benjamin Howard Owen,
_a wholesale druggist:from Tennessee,_thiS:maaaion.is
in the Colonial Revival styleal |

lDYKYC, April;23; 1931.)

22 Lamboll St. -- This three-stofy house is believed to have
been built c. 1822 by Richard Baker, and was once the
rectory of St. Michael's.

(DYKYC ~April 13, 1936.)

28 Lamboll St. -— Kincaid's Eastern Tenement was built c.
1777 by George Kincaid on former marsh. . His Western
Tenement is now numbered 4 Legare St. Kincaid, with
Robert Mackenzie, Edward Blake and William Gibbes,
walled and filled in a large area of marsh in this
V1C1n1ty in the 1770s. _ _ o .
(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 23, 1974.) o =
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LAURENS. STREET

‘Laurens Street is mamed for Henry Laurens, pfeSidenti
~of the Continental Congress.  His house, .built in 1763,
stood on the southeast corner of Laurens and East Bay
streets until 1916. '

(Wallace, Henry Laurens, 62-64.)"

39 Laurens St. —- ThlS house, built c. 1788 by Thomas -
__Wlnstanley, was moved twice by Hlstorlc Charleston
. Foundatlon_—— first from 116 Anson St. on the site

of the Gaillard Audltorlum, then from 42 ‘Laurens St.
where it had been ”stored”.on blocks. for several
years. The foundatlon completed restoration of the
building in 1975.

(HCFY

45 Laurens St. -~ This hOuse:waS'built'c. 1804 by Thomas
Wallace, a noted Charleston cabinetmaker.
(HCF)

48 Laurens St. —— This three story woodén, hip4roofed‘h0use

was built after 1807 by Simon Jude Chancognie, the
French consul. It is a fine example of a small scale
single house with beautiful interiors, ihcludihg_an
outstanding marble Adamesque mantel.

(Isabella Leland, N&C, Nov. 25, 1956.).

49 Laurens St. —- This three story wooden house was built
c. 1804-09 by Youngs. Hasmer & John Haslett,'soecula—
tive builders, who‘sold it in 1809 to William Moniesg
who possibly completed it. Monies moved to Scotland
and sold the house in 1816.

(Thomas, DYKYC, Feb. 15, 1971.)

50 Laurens St. —— The substantial wooden house was built
c. 1807-08 by John Stong Adams as a two and one-half
story house with a hipped roof. It was subsequently
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given a full third story with a Greek Revival parapet.
The name, Ingraham, in the front gategis from Geofgé'
H. and Mary R. Ingraham, who acquired the property
in 1828. The present main entranee was installed iﬁ'f
the 1970s.

(Stockton; unpub. notes.) -

55 Laurens St. -— James Jervey built this substantial house
of three and one-half stories on a high brick basement,
. 1818." It retains fine interior details. Tradition
says powder kegs were placed in the basement with the
-intention of blowing up- the house to prevent: the spread
of the 1838 Ansonborough fire.  Luckily, the fire did -
~not.come this way. . :
- {Nielsen, DYKYC, Sept. 8, 1947.)

57 Laurens St. -- This three story house of black cypress,
in the Greek Revival style, was built c. 1836 he
builder's daughter married Pierre G. Stoney, and’ the"
house remained in fheir family well into the 20th.
century. A
(Stoney, ThlS is Charleston, 67. )

61 Laurens St._—— James Mackie House, c.:1800;' Thié'two.:
stofy'frame,'hip—roofed house with fine mantels and
an intefesting stairway was moved from the Gaillard
Auditorium site by Historic Charlestdﬁ Foundation.

* (HCF) - o

- LEGARE STREET .. =

Legare Street was early called Johnson's Street, for
Sir Nathaniel Johnson, Governor of the Prdvincej 1703-09.

Later it was mnamed for Solomon Legaré, a_prosperoué Hu-
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guenot silverSmith who owned considerable real estate at
Legare and Tradd streets. '

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 211, 237. Rhett & Steele,
16. '"Streets of Charleston."

1 Legare St. —-— Tradition says this frame house was placed
on rollers and moved down the street to provide a garé
den for 14 Legare St. '

(Stoney, N&C March 25, 1948.)

4 Legare St.. == Kincaid's Western Tenement, built c¢. 1777
as therwestern half of a double tenement, by George
Kincaid.  The site was part of a former marsh which
.he,lRobert’Mackenzie, Edward Blake and William Gibbes
walled and filled in the early 1770s.  The balconies
are similar in pattern to the balcony on the Daniel
Ravenel House, 68 Broad St. The house has unspoiled
Gebrgian interiors. 'The eastern tenement is 28_Lam-t
boll. R | |
(Stockton - DYKYG, Feb 23, 1974.)

7 Legare St. ~-— Henry Laurens built this house in 1887-90,
on the foundations of his previous brick house which
had been ruined by the 1886 earthquake He bUllt a -
_two and one half story frame house . w1th the half story
in a.gambrel roof. The house was extensively remodeled
in the 1930s, by Dr. Joseph I. Warlng, in the Colonial
Revival style. Dr. Waring was a noted medical his-
torian and a prominent physician.
(Waring, DYKYC, March 8, 1937.)

8 Legare St. —-— This large Italianate house was built c.
1857. It was the home of the late Burnet Rhett May-
bank, mayor, Governor and U.S. Senator. According
to architectural historian Samuel Gaillard Stoney, .

the contractor for the house was Patrick O'Donnell.
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(Stoney, N&C Aprll 15, l964:l' ' '",'This is Charles—
ton, 67 : o fo o
9 Legare St. -- Built by W1lllam Harth between 1817 and

1825 this reSLdence was enlarged ‘and remodeled in the'
ﬁColonlal Rev1val style sometime around the turn of the
century. Apparently built as a rental unit, the house E
was subsequently the home of Charles Macbeth ,. Mayor
~of Charleston durlng the ClVll War, and later of U.S.
District Judge W1lllam H. Brawley

(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 25 1980 )

10 Legare St. =-- This large-houSe was builtic. 1857 by.EdQ

' ward North Thurston. According to Stoney; the build-

~.ing cortractor was Patrick O'Donnell. '
(Stoney, N&C, April 15, 1964.)

14 Legare St. —— This three an& one'half”story.Adameeque
brick house on a hlgh basement was built c. 1800 by
Francis Simmons. Simmons, a John's Island planter
lived here while his wife lived at 131 Tradd St.
where he left her on -their wedding day. Their relaA'_
tionship was described ‘as '"casual though friendly."

‘“The ' so-called: '"Pineapple'' Gates were added by George.
Edwards, a merchant and planter, after he purchased
the property in 181l6. His initials appear in the
ironwork on either. side of the piazza entrance. This
was the home, from 1800:to 1930, of Mayor J. Adger
Smyth. More recently, it was the home of Lt. .Gov.
Nancy Stevenson. '

(Stoney; N&C, March 25, 1948 . This is Charles—
~ton, 67. Smlth & Smlth Dwelllng Houses, 211-221.}

15 Legare. St. -~- John Fullerton, who built several fine
houses for others, built this one for himself, c. 1772
Fullerton, born in Scotland was one of the ”leerty :
Tree Boys,'" AKA ""Sons of Liberty,' who met in Mazyck"
pasture in 1766 to celebrate the repeal of the Stamp
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Act. Fullerton died on the eve of the Revolution.
“Tradition says his house was occupied by British
staff officers in 1780- 82 |

(Ravenel,‘Archltects, 38 Stoney, N&C Aprll 19 1964.
Waring, DYRYC, Feb. 4, '1935. Stoney, Thls is Charles—
ton,  67. Walsh, Sons_of Liberty, 31, 50, 64, 72.)

16 Legare St. -— Miss Amarinthea Elliott, plantress, built
this house c. 1795. Thé“three:an&'oneéhalf story
frame house is 51mple in detail with features transi-
tional between Georglan and Federal, typlcal of
houses built in the period after the Revolution.

(Stoney, N&C, March 26, 1949,

, This is Charles-—
ton, 67.).:__

17 Legare St. —-- Anthony Toomer, a veteran of the American
Revolution and a master builder, built this two story
frame house as a rental unit, c. 1796. Thomas F. Purse
acqulred the property in 1830 andlédded.the two story
brick front portion. |

(St0ckton unpub. notes }

22 Legare-St. -— This two‘and.one—half-story wooden house
was built c. 1764 by Charles Elliott, planter in St.
Paul's. Parish. . His Sandy Hill Plantation was visited
-.in 1791 by President George Washington, who was a
kinsman of Elliottds son-in-law, Col. William Washing-
ton. The house has fine Georgian woodwork.
(Stockton, DYKYC, March 8, 1976.) ]
21 Legare St. —— William C. Gatewood, a Virginia-born
factor, built this two story brick house on a high
“brick basement between 1843 and 1852.  Windows on the
left mask the piazza. Gatewood was actively interested
in the. lottery business and was associated with the
South Carolina Lottery.

- {Stoney, N&C, April 12, 1964,

+, This is Charles-
ton, 68.)
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23 Legare St.. -~ Built ¢. 1838 by Dr. Robert Trail Chisolm,

this house is set back‘from'the street. It was pur—
chased in 1863 by the Sass family and was the home of
Herbert Ravenel Sass, the noted Writer,-historian-and_
naturalist. The iron gates at the ‘entrance are said.

to date from-c. 1817. ‘Tradition says a ghost appears

only to members of the Chisolm family.

(Stoney,-Thls is Charleston, 63. Smlth & Smlth Dwell—}
ing Houses, 221-222.) - _

25 Legare St. -— This was a residence With"two”pillared.

- porticoes, which was severely damaged by the 1886

‘earthquake, and rebuilt to this appearance
(Whltelaw & Levkoff, 72-73.)

26 Legare St. —= This was a Colonlal Rev1val house w1th a

columned portico before 1t was remodeled in the Georgian

style in 1937 by T. Wllbur Thornhlll an oil broker.
Stephen Thomas was the architect for the remodelings

(Nlelsen, DYKYC, Jan._25, 1937. Smith &-Smlth, Dweils
ing Houses, 222.) = : o S |

79 Legare St. —— This three and'oneéhalf:story framehdwelle._p

ing on a high brick basement was built c; l835lf0r the .
Rev. Paul Trapier Gervais; who reused the first floor
of a brick house bu11t before 1788 _ Gervais was for
many vyears the rector of St. John s Eplscopal Church
on John's Island. In 1851 he published a pamphlet

 opposing secéssidn and'in 1854 published'three volumes

of sermons. In 1895 Josephlne Plnckney, the novelist,
was born here

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 68 'DYKYC;lDee;.24, 1945)

31 Legare St - Bu1lt c. 1789 by Mrs. William Heyward, thie_

two and. one-half story wooden house has Adamesque in-
terior details, particularly handsome in the second

floor drawing room, which has a Palladian window in the
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curving south bay. Mrs. Heyward (Hannah Shubrick) was
a sister-in-law of Thomas Heyward, who signed the Dec-
laration of Independence. She was a successful rice .
planter in her own right. The house is said to be
haunted by the ghost of her son, who fatally shot him-
self in a hunting accident, and appeared the same hour
to his sister, in the library of this house. Mrs. Hey- -
ward's daughter, Mrs. William Drayton, allowed a Santo '
Domingan refugee, Julie Datty, to operate a school for
young ladies here, 1830-37, after which Mlle. Datty__
entered a religious order and died as its head. The _
property was purchased in 1870 by Augustine T. Smythe,

a prominent lawyer, in whose family it remains.

(Stoney, Charleston's Famous Houses, 1950 36-37.
B , This is Charleston, 68.) :

32 Legare St. -- Sword Gates House. Before 1740,”Solomon

Legaré, a Huguenot Silversmith, acquired a 1arge tract
at the southeast corﬁer Qf-Legare and Tradd streets
 and built a house which afterwards disappeared. This
part of his property passed to his granddaughter, Eliza-
beth.Legare, whose second husband, Isaac Holmes, sur-
vived her. Holmes, a Revolutionary Patriot, -was governu
or in 1791-92 and customs collector in 1791-97. Two
German merchants, Jacob E. A Steinmetz and Paul Emil
Lorent, bought up the Holmes_property in parcels be-
tween 1803 and 1818. Before 1818, they built both

 the masonry and frame pdrtioﬁs of.the.house and linked
them together with a frame addition, as the'three por-
tions appear on a plat of that year. Also appearlng :
‘on the plat is the brick wall on’ Legare Street, which
disproves the legend that Madame Talvande built the-
‘wall to prevent the girls at her boarding school from
eloping -~ the wall was: already there when her husband,
’Andrew Talvande, bought the property in 1819. However,
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the elopmeﬁt which inspired the legend is apparently'

true. Col. Joseph Whaley s daughter, Marla, and George

W. Morris of New Jersey, main characters ln the story, .
were married in 1828. Because of a law prohlbltlng
alieﬁe from'owning'property, an act of the Assembly

was necessary in 1835 to cohfirm Madame Talvande's
right to 1nher1t the property from her husband’, who

had died without becoming a U.S. c1tlzen In 1849 the'

) property was purchased by George A. Hopley, a merchant’

and British consul. Noted for hie_elegant hoepitality,
Hopley added a game room and some details in the Empire"
style, such as the marble-mantel'in-tﬁe ballroom.

Hopley also added the famous Sword Gates, which had -

been made a decade earlier by Christopher Werner.

‘The - ironworker had been_commissioned'in 1838 to make
- -iron gates with Roman swords for the Guard House at-

Broad and Meeting streets, and made one more pair than

was needed. The crossed swords are symbols of ‘author-.

ity. A subsequent owner, Robert Adger, is said to have .

‘planted the avenue of magnolias in 1856. In 1881,

this became the home of Judge Charles H. Simonton, .
speaker of the S.C. House of Representatives and U.S.

District and Circuit Judge. Author Hervey Allen was

" a tenant here in 1921-22. Mrs. Jessie Lincoln Randolph,

a granddaughter of Abraham Lincoln, owned the property
in the '30s but never lived here. The house is reputed
to have'several-ghOSts. The masonry and frame por-
tions were divided into two residences in 1960.: The
masonry portion is now an inn as well as a Home, with
a Tradd Street address. The former outbuilding on
Tradd Street is also a separate residence.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 18, 1975. Smith & Smith, Dwell—
ing Houses, 222-223., Deas, Early Ironwork, 31-32.)
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35 Legare St. —-— This two and one-half story frame single
house was built before 1828, when it was mentioned in
the will of Rebecca Screven. She built the house on
.property inherited from her mother, Mrs. Elizabeth
Williams. The property was pUrchased in 1879 by Louisa
J. McCord, wife of Edward McCord, editor of Statutes

at Large of South Carolina. A daughter'of Langdon -
Cheﬁes; who was president of the Bank of the United

States, she was one of the most prominent women writ--
" ers in antebellum South Carolina.
(Greene, unpub. MS.; SCHS.)

37 Legare 5t. —— James Streater Glenn, a planter,_built

this house sometime between 1818 when he_acquifed the
land and 1822 when he .sold it "with improvments." He

- inherited the site from John Glenn, who assembled the

~back parts of two lots fronting on Tradd Street, by
1789. Initially this was a plain single house; the
eXteﬁsion on the north side was added in the early
1920s. Augustine Smythe bought the property in 1903
for his daughter Susan Bennett, wife of John Bennett
(1865-1956). Bennett was a native of Ohio who. became
famous for his novels about Charleston -- Madame Margot,
The Doctor to the Dead, The Treasure of Peyre Gaillard.
He also wrote children's books and the first scholarly
treatise on the Gullah dialect, c. 1905.  The Poetry

Society of South Carolina was founded by Bennett, Her-
vey Allen (author of Anthony Adverse) and DuBose Hey-
ward. Bennett introduced Heyward to a publisher,

and Porgy was born, over drinks in this house.
(Greene, unpub. MS.; SCHS.)

Legare Stréet, from Tradd to Broad, originally was
named Friend Street, in honor of the Society of Friends,

or Quakers. From Broad to Queen, the street was named Allen,
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for the man who allowed it to be cut through his property.
Later, Allen became part of Frlend and after 1900 the entlre-
length became Legare Street o

39:Legare St. —--The-three and one-half story brick hoosey
~was-built c. 1852. by Mrs. Mary Jane Fraser or before:'
1852 by-John E.. Glen. o : T
(DYKYC, May 21, 1951. Stoney, This is Charleston, 69.)

43 Légare St. =-- This thrée and one=half story brick house
was built c. 1759 by Charles Elliott, whose daughter
‘Jane married €Col. William Washington, the Revolution-
ary hero. .The facade was remodeled in 1911.

(DYKYC, June 14, 1937. Greene, unpub. MS; SCHSQ)_'

67 Legare St. —- Crafts School. The Friend Street School,

built in 1859; was designed by architect Edward C.
Jones. It burned in 1861. The present four story
“Gothic Revival® building, designed by architects Abra-
hams ‘& Seyle, was built in 1881 and is said to have
" been patterned closely after the original."Theﬂbuild_
ing was remodeled in 1915 by architect David B. Hyer
' whO-designed_the'three'story'brick'northtwing}_ The
schoolhwas named'for William'Crafts, a statesman,
‘lawyer, writer and a major proponent of free schools.

(Fraser, Reminiscences, 82-85. Ravenel, Architects,.
218. Stockton, DYKYC, May 4, 1981.)

23

-LIMEHOUSE STREET:

. Limehouse: Street is named for the leehouse famlly,.
through whose land the street was cut.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)}

3 & 5 Limehouse-St. —— These are two of.flveehooseé which:
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S.J.L. Williams contracted with W.F. Carter, a build-
er'frbm_Sa#annah, to build in 1885. Carter had_cdme .
to Charleston as the contractor for the Neﬁ_Brightéﬁ.
Hotel. on Sullivan's Island, and remained in the dity;
The other three houses are 155, 157 and 159 Tradd St.

~ All are two. .and one-half stories of wood and hawve
distinctive piazza entrance hoods with small collonettes.
Five Limehouse and 157 Tradd have been altered; the
others retain their original exterior appeérancgi3

_(Stoékton,'unpub. notes.) .

7 Limehouée St. —— This small two and oﬁe'half.story“brick_
house is believed to have been built c. 1830 by Robert
‘Limehouse. ‘

9 and 10 .Limehouse Street: ——-- These two similar houses were

built by William Pinckney Shingler, planter and cotton
broker. He built No. 9:ébout 1856 and. sold it the
next;year_bécéuse of business reverses. He fecouped
his fortune, however, in timé:to_begin building No.
10 about 1858. Both have 1avish_interiof detail. in
-the.Italianate.tasterof the time. . . | :
(Isabella Leland, DYKYC, Feb. 24, 1958. Ann W. Dibble, .
DYKYC, Feb. 11, 1974. Burton, unpub. notes.)

18 Limehouse St. -—_Thié'tﬁo story frame house was origin-

| ally the last house 6n-the east side of Limehouse
Street and overlooked the Ashley River.. A tabby sea-
wasll, now landbound by several blocks, runs along the
south line of the property and extends eastward to
Greenhill Street. 1In 1852, Optimus E. Hﬁghes bought
this site from the Limehouse family and built a three
story gable roofed wooden house. Subsequently,  the
house was reduced to two stories and a parapet roof with
a bracketted Italianate cornice was added.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Jan. 21, 1980.) k/
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LENWOOD BOULEVARD -

‘Lenwood Boulevard was named for Gen. Leonard Wood, who -

'was a U.S. Army commander here durihg World War I. It WaS‘_
created as part of the Murray Boulevard development in the

early 20th century. | ' '

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)-

93 and 95 Lenwood Blvd. -- This pair of two story wooden
buildings were originally one structure which stood
on Tradd Street at'the'preseht intersection of Len-
wood, and used by the U.S. Government as a hospital.
The buildingdwas'conVerted te two'dwellings in 18745

' The land was then owned by Dr. J. B. Holbrook and .
Miss E. L. Rutledge, the building by the U.S. Govern—.
ment. The structures were moved to these sites when
_Lenwood Boulevard was created L -
(Stockton, unpub. notes.) ... ... .o -

LINE STREET.

| Llne Street was named for ”The Llnes,” the fortlflcam'
tlons erected across the penlnsula at this p01nt durlng the
War of 1812. The Lines were pulled down_about 1823 but
vestiges appear on a map of the city“in:1852,

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 64. -
Bridgens & Allen Map, 1852. Stockton, unpub. notes.)

44 Line St. -- This two story brick bﬁilding with a‘long
one story rear extension was built c. 1850 as the en-
gine repair house of the South Carolina Rail Road.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

106 Line St. —- Calvary Episcopal Church. The congrega-

tion was organized in 1847 for black Episcopalians~ef




The first five rectors were white. The first church
stood at Beaufain and Wilson Streets and was sold to

the Housing Authority of Charleston in l9&0’and torn.

down in 1961. The present building was erected in
1941-42. Simons & Lapham, architects, designed it
in the Gothic style. _ o
(Legerton, Historic Churches, 130-131.1}"

7‘/.

LOGAN STREET

This street is named for William Legen;'through whose
land it was opened from Broad to Tradd by City Ordlnance
in 1803.

("Streets of Charlétbn.”) 

4 Logan St. -~ This large brick house was built by Dr. EdQ.
ward Frost for his son, sometime after 1852. The |
outbuildings in the rear predate the house and origin-
ally served the house at 128 Tradd St.

{Stockton, unpub. notes.):

6 Logan St. -- St. Peter's Episcopal Church burial ground.
‘The church was built here in 1834-36, burned in the
great fire of 1861 and was not rebullt '
(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

25 Logan St. —-- This wooden house was built for R. D.
White, a well-known stone cutter, in 1873.
(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

98 & 100 Logan St. —-- These:two frame.Victbrian houses were
built by Herman Rosebrock and Ernst Rosebrock,  abeut
1902.

(Stockton, DYKYC, April 18, 1977.)

122 Logan St. -- This three story stuccoed brick, hip-roofed
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‘house was built by Mathias Wolf, a butcher, sometime -
~after he purchased the site in 1791.
(Stockton, unpubt_notes;). o ".Qj.

_LOCKWOOD_DRIVE~-

Weét P01nt Rlce Mlll was built in 1860 on the 51te of a
‘prev1ous mill built in 1840 by Jonathan Lucas, III.
It ceased operatlons in 1927. In_l937 the bu1ld1ng
was restored by the:City'of.Charleston and the Works -
Progress A&ministration,‘and:made“the terminus of a
trans—oceanic seaplane service. During World War II,
‘it was the office buildiﬁg and recreation ‘center for
the: Minecraft Base, U.S. Navy. It was - ‘réstored agaln o
- in 1966 for the headquarters of the Charleston Trident
“Chamber of Commerce.

(Simons; Stories of Charleston Harbor, 97;- Whitelaw
& Levkoff, 149. Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 331.°
Stoney, This is Charleston, 22.) ‘

MAGAZINE STREET

MagaZLne Street is named for a series of- powder maga-
zines which were built at its west end.. The first, built

about 1737, was called the New Maga21ne to distinguish it

- from the old one on Cumberland Street.. A second -and largef

one was built in 1748 ‘and stood until. after the Revolutionr
The'adjoining area. of four acres had been set-aside.in 1630
as: public land and was used as a bufying ground.  Later the
magazines, the Poor House, hospitals, the Work House for
runaway slaves, and the Jail were built on the square, which -~
was bounded by Magazine, Mazyck (now Logan), Queen and Back
(now Franklin). | E

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Plnckeys 147.)
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li'MagaZine St.. -~ This modified single house, without a

central stairhall, was built c. 1821 by Mary Porter
~ Fowler, a free black woman, after she purchased the:
" site in 1821. The house subsequently was altered to
give it a parapet rcocfline.

(Stockton, DYKYC, July 26, 1976 & April 18, 1977.)

12 Magazine St  ij\EEI§\sm§ll two and one half story frame'

single house was bUllt by Benjamin Mazyck sometime
between 1788 and 1200 and is in the Federal style.
(Stockton DYKYC, May 24 1976. )

15 Maga21ne St. (V1c1n1ty) - Slte of. the Work House An -

early Work House is shown on the ”Ichnography” of 1739.
Runaway.slaves and apprentices might be held here

temporarily. If slaves weren't claimed within 60 days

by an owner, they could be sold to pay for their room

and board. The Work House was also a place of execu-
tion. Im 1769, two slaves, Dolly and Liverpoole, were

| "burnt on the Work-house Green" for poisoning an in-
fant. The Duke of Saxe-Weimar-Eisenach described the
Work House in 1826 as having about 40 inmates of both
sexes, who had been arrested by police or sent by their
masters for punishment. Punishment consisted of flog- .
- ging, and the treadmill, on which prisoners walked in

- relays;  providing power for the grinding of corn.
Black overseers with cowhide whips maintained order.
The Duke remarked that prisoners seemed to prefer flog-
ging to - the treadmill. The Duke said the Work House
‘was better kept than the white prison. But in cold .
weather blankets had to be furnished by the slave—owner.
Frederick Wesner, who had assisted in the arrest of -
Denmark Vesey, in 1822, and was the architect of the
State Arsenal (0ld Citadel), was named Master of the
Work House from 1832 to 1840. A new Work House was
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begun in 1850. It was a large Gothic Rev1val bulldlng
with castellated turrets, de51gned by Edward C. Jones
and built by Christopher C. Trumbo. In 1854, plumblng

and steam heat were installed. The. WOrk House was. taken__”'

down after the 1886 earthquake.

(Rogers, Charlestonuln the Age of the Plnckneys’ 2157

23, 57, L47-149. Leland, Charleston; Crossroads of
Historz, 40. Ravenel, Architects, 145-146, 208.)

21 Magazine St. -- 0ld Jail. The Charleston District Jail
was built in 1802. Architect Robert Mills designed in

1822 a four story wing of fireproof construction, with .

one-man cells. Mills' wing was taken down in 1855 for

‘the construction of the present octagonal wing in

1855-56. It was originally of four stories with a

two story octagonal tower. The tower and fourth stbry E

‘were removed after severe damage in the 1886- earthquake;.-

The octagonal wing was- de51gned by architects Barbot:

& Seyle, who at the same time expanded the main buil<

‘ing and ‘remodeled it in. theé ‘Romanesque Revival style.

The jail saw a Vériety_of inmates. John and Lavinia

Fisher and other members of their gang, convicted of_ .

' murdering and robbing wayfarers on Charleston Neck,

were imprisoned here in 1819-20.° Four white men con-

 victed of encouraging the Denmark Vesey plot of 1822

also were imprisoned here. Pirates, the last of their
kind, were jailed here in 1822 while awaiting hanging.
After the alleged Vesey plot, the law required that

all black seamen be kept in the jail while their ships
were in port. During the Civil War, captured Federal.
prisoners—of-war were kept-here.~ The building continued
in use as the county jail until 1939, when it was pur-

chased as part of the Robert Mills Manor project.

-(Rhett & Steele, 50-53. Ravenel, Architects, 126, 234,

Stockton, unpub. MS.. , DYKYC, Jan. 23, 1978.

- Cooper & McCord, 12:207, 276. Waddell & Lipscombe,

32.)

4
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-MAIDEN LANE

Maiden Lane, one of the few remaining cobblestone
streets in Charleston, appears on the "Ichnography" of 1788.

5 Maiden Lane -- This two and one half story brick house
s was_bui¥t]by Henry Fleming, c. 1838.

‘MARKET STREET -

‘_Market Street was built partly over a creek which
divided the town prbper from the suburb of Colleton SQuare{.
Ellery Street, of Colleton Square, approximated the course
of present-day North Market Street, and.was laid out . in
the 1730s. ~ South Market Street was opened later, when the
Market was built sometime between 1790 and 1807.

(DYKYC, March 27, 1939. Rogers, Charleston in the Age of
the Pinckneys, 65. "Ichnography,” 1739. '"Ichnography,”
1788.) - : : :

43 Market St. —— This two story brick building, originally'
a threé-étory structure, was built sometime before the
Civil War. For more than a century, it was owned by
the Wyatt-Aiken-Rhett-Maybank family line,. the owners
including Gov. William Aiken and Sen. Burnet Rhett
Maybank. _ _

(Stockton, N&C, Oct. 12, 1972.)

34 Market St. —-— 0ld Church of the Redeemer was built c.

haps
1916 as a seaman's:hééﬁél. It was built by the Charles-

ton Port Society on land given by a member of the
Pinckney family. The pulpit is in the form.of a ship's
prow and the baptismal font was on top of a capstan.

The Port Society, organized in 1823, originally had

a chapel on Church Street, called the Mariners' Church.

A seaman's home was operated in connection with the
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bethel here. The cHurcH was converted into a restau- |
rant some years ago.

(Stockton unpub notes )

85 Market St — Slte of CthCO s Cafe Vinoeﬁt Chioco,
the ”Klng of .the Blind Tlgers,” had his headquarters
in a bulldlng previously on this site. Chicco led

~the fight locally against prohibition. - He became-a -
local hero and. was elected repeatedly to City Council.
oT“BlindﬁTiger” was ‘the name-given to an establishment
_to. which one paid admittance to' see the "blind tiger
(which of course didn't exist)" and received a '"free"
- drink.. Charleston had many '"blind tigers' in the
. 1890s when statewide~prohibition was enacted.:
(Stockton, unpub. notes.) |

139 Market St. ~- ThlS two. story brick bulldlng was bu11t _
by Archibald and William McKinlay, sometime after they;'
bought the site in 1846. The McKlnlays who were free.
blacks, owned several pleces of property on Market |
Street. William McKinlay had his tailor shop here.

The building formerly had a thlrd story Robert Mar—
tin, who bought the building in 1875, Victorianized' _
the facade. In 1927, the notorious bootlegger ”Rumpty'o
Rattlesﬂ (real name Frank Hogan) was shot at ambush

by two men firihg from the upper windows of this build-
ing. After a sensational trial, in which the killers.
pleaded self defense, a verdict: of "not guilty" was
given. The defense attorney's fee was a shotgun used
to shoot 'Rumpty Rattles." _ '

(Stockton, DYKYC, Aprll 3 1978.) ' LA
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MARY STREET

Mary Street was named for Mary Wragg, one of the child-
ren of Joseph Wragg, and was one of the original streets '
of Wraggborough. | ' _ : o
(Wragg Family File; SCHS. "Streets of Charleston.')

22 Mary St. —-— The Shaw Center. Only the basement level

remains of the original building of two stories of wood

~on a high brick basement, built in 1868<74 as a free
school. for blacks. It was named for.Robert Gould Shaw,
commander of the Fifth Massachusetts Regiment for free

. blacks of the Uniom, during the Civil War. The build-
ing has been rehabilitated as a boy's club and day
care center. |

(Haven, "Equal to the Greatest Heroes."  John A. .
Alston, DYKYC, Dec. 26, 1972. ©N&C, Oct. 25, 1973.
CEP, Nov. 27, 1974.) o
26 Mary St. -— This frame house was built after 1825 for
" Mrs. Ann Juliana Miller.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

44 Mary St. -— This two and one-half story stuccoed brick
_;hoﬁSe on a high'basement_is.presumed to be antebellum.
It has interesting featﬁfes_such as the masked piazza,
the oversized gable with two windows, and the Savannah
style entrance portico of cast iron. _
(Stdney, This is Charleston, 70.) ',<’%

MEETING STREET

Meeting Street was one of the '"great streets" laid out
according to Lord Shaftesbury's instructions about 1672.

Meeting Street takes its name from the White Meeting House
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of the Independents or Congregationalists. Before ‘that name.

- was adopted.the street was usually described in terms of its.

coUrse,;suoh as: "The Great Street that Runneth from Ashley -
River to the Market." . While St. Philip's Church was briefly
{in terms_of itSmhistory)rwhereySt,_Miohael?sinow,stands,

the street_was_sometimeS'called”Chorch-Street,_and«after.

St. Philip's moved, was oalled-Old Church Street

("Streets of Charleston.'" Stoney, N&C, April 6, 1958.
Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the P Plnckneys, 56 2

1 Meeting St. -- This notable, three story brick building
~on a high brick basement was built c. 1846 by George
Robertson, a cotton hroker It was formerly the Ross.
Museum, housing the art collectlons of the Ross
famlly. The collectlons and house were sold w1th
proceeds going " to the Charleton lerary Soc1ety and
the South Carolina Medlcal Soc1ety, after a prolonged
‘suit to settle the. estate of Mlss Mary Jane Ross
The house is in the Itallanate style popular 1n the
.c1ty in the 1840s and '50s.

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses 1924195._.Stockton,'
DYKYC, June 9, 1975.}) ' ' .

2 Meeting St. —- This.outStanding'Queen Anne style honse_p
was built in 1892 for Warlng P. Carrlngton and his
wife, Martha, a daughter of George W. Williams, the
wealthy banker who lived at 16 Meeting St. Tradition
says Williams placed $75,000 on a satin pillow as a -
wedding present, and the Carringtons built the house -
with the money.: Carrington was a wealthy Jeweler '
‘on King Street. _
(Stockton, DYKYC, April 24, 1978. Rhett & Steele, 10-11)

7 Meeting St. -- Josiah Smith, a prosperous merchant, built
this house sometime before 1788, when it appears'on the

fire inSurance-map of that year. The house is two and
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one-half stories of wood, on a brick foundation, with

“a hipped roof and cupola. The walls are insulated with
brick between the framing timbers. - A simple pediment
~with a ‘round window points up the street facade which is

embellished by a semi-circular porch. -Josiah Smith

was drrested by the British in 1780 and along with other
prominent citizens exiled to St. Augustine. After the '
Revolution, he returned to being a merchant, and was-
also a banker. He sold this house in 1800 to Wilson
Glover. | | ’

(Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 11, 1975. Smith & Smith, Dwell-
ing Houses, 195-197. '"Historical Notes," SCHGM, 19:85.)

8 Meetlng St. —- Tucker- Ladson House. The oldest part of .
the house, the rear part, appéars to have been built
by 1783 by Capt. Thomas Tucker, a merchant, shipowner
and captain and a political and military leader of the
Revolutlonary perlod The property was purchased in
1806 by Abraham Crouch who may have added some Adam-
esque details, and purchased in 1821 by James,Henry
Ladson, a factor and planter, who ehlarged the house
by adding'the front portion, givihg it the appearance

~of a three story Regeﬁcy period town house. The
property remained in Ladson's family until 196l1.
(Stockton, unpub MS. )Stoney,'This is Charieston; 71)

11 Meeting St. -- ThlS large stuccoed brlck house in the
Italianate style was built by William C. Courtney be-
tween 1850 and 1860. It occupies the two middle parts
of Town Lot No. 117 of the Grand Modell, which was
enlarged at the back by Josiah Smith (of 7 Meeting)
who filled in marshlands - between Meeting and
King streets.

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 196.)

15 Meeting St. —— John Edwards is said to have built and

moved into this house in 1770. He was a member of
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"Rutledge's Privy Council in 1779, and took an active
“part in the eVentsIofetherReVolﬁtion. At the fall
of Charlestown in'1780, he was'impriSoned*and with
' more than 60 others exiled to St.'Anguetine. Dur- -
| “ing the British occuoationgwaccording to'Maj;hGarden5
© the commander of the British fleéet, Admiral Arbuthnot,
‘wasfquartered'here. "Later, John B. Holmes, the step-
son and son-in-law of Edwards, sheltered the family
of the Comte de Grasse (commander of the French fleet
which aided the U.S. in 1783) when they wereﬁrefugees
~from the Santo'DominganiRevolution in 1793, according:-
' to another tradition. Edwards built his house of
cypress on a brick basemént, with the boards of the
~ facadé cut and beveled to resemble ‘stone blocks, and
the stuccoed basement given the same treatment in
‘order to make a more 1mpre551ve facade. ' The Corlnth—-
ian columned portlco has a double fllght of- steps _
The interior details, in the Georglan style, rank’ among .
the best'in the city. The large sem1c1rcular plazza
on the south side was added by George w WLlllams, Jr.
banker (son of George B. W1111ams of 16 Meeting), ac-
cording to tradition to accommodate all chlldren from
- the Charleston Orphan House for lce cream partles
.W1111ams also 1mproved the garden to the south with -
its outstandlng glngko trees. |

(Stockton, unpub. MS. DYKYC, July 13, 1981.
Rhett & Steele, 14-15. ~Smith & Smlth Dwelllng Houses,
196, 199-206. Stoney, This is Charleston, /1. N

N&C April 6, 1958. Deas, Early Ironwork, 52—55, 82—

16 Meetlng St ;— Calhoon Mansion. Thls is. con51dered one
of the most lmportant Vlctorlan manSLOns on the Eastern
Seaboard. It was conpleted c. 1876 by George W. Wil-
liams, a wealthy banker and merchant who engaged Wil-

liam P. Russell of Charleston as the architect. Wil--
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liams achieved great success as a merchant before the
Civil War, and came through the war w1th more than
$1 mllllon in capltal, with which he resumed business
and opened a banklng_house_ Later, he founded the

- Carolina Saulnge Bank at 1 Broad S5t. His mansion, on
whlch he. apparently spared. no expense, has about 25
rooms and with 24,000 square feet of floor space . (in~.
cludlng the attlc) is the largest bulldlng in the city,
.constructed as a 51ngle residence. The house has 14-
foot celllngs, elaborate plaster and woodwork a steir—.
‘well that reaches to a 75 feet hlgh domed celllng, and

._a ballroom with a coved glass skylight that is 45 feet
high. After Wllllams death, the property was acquired
by his son-in- law,_Patrlck Calhoun, a grandson of John
C. Calhoun, the "Great Nullifier.'" After World War I,
the house became a hotel known as the Calhoun Mansion.
It has been restored and is open to the public as a
museun.

(Stockton, DYKYC Aprll 7, 1975. Iseley & Cauthen,
Charleston Interlors, 26— 27. Mazyck & Waddell, illus.
72. Mazyck, Charlelton Illustrated, 145.)

18 Meeting St. —— This three story brick house was built
by Nathaniel Heyward before 1803 or by his brother
Thomas Heyward (signer of theé Declaration of Independ?

"ence) after 1803. The single'house has brick quoining
on the exterior and Adamesque'details in the interior.
The second floor has a secret room which apparently
was a wine closet. The house was also the home of
James Adger-(d; l858), who operated the first coastal
steamship line in the U.S., and of his son-in-law, |
the Rev. Thomas Smyth, minister of the Second Presby-

'terian Church and a noted theologian of his time.

(Stockton, DYKYC, March 6, 1978. Stoney, This is
Charleston, 71. -, N&C, April 6, 1958. Isabel-
Ta Leland, DYKYC, Feb. 17, 1958.)
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23 Meetlng St. -- This three and one-half story single _
- house is belleved to nave been bullt c. l750 by ‘Albert -

Detmar . - S
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 7l._' | .-, N&C , Aoril- '

6, 1958 ) ' b o o

25 Meetlng St. —— A three and one half story stuccoed brlck

s1ngle house, this is belleved to have been bullt
c. 1750 by Wllllam Hull.

(Stoney, This is Charleston 71, | s N&C,.April'
6, l958 ) ' . ' o ‘
26 Meetlng St. —— Th1s three story stuccoed brlck Regency;'

style structure was bUllt C. 1822 by Wllllam Mason-'_

- Smith, son of the Rt Rev Robert Smlth South Caro—'V
lina' s first Episcopal bishop. One tradltlon attri-

. ‘butes the deSLgn to architect William Jay of Bath,
England who came to Charleston by way of: Savannah.

- A parallel tradition attributes the design to .the
Charleston-architect.Robert'Mills,‘-The;designer,”to'b
make -a formal facade, masked the-piazza-with a. screen
of masonry, with windows. The three tiers of the pl—
azza have. the '"correct" sequence of: orders Doric,

Ionic,-COrlnthlan. - The. interior has ‘a curving stair. .

" (Ravenel, ‘Architects, 115. Smith & Smith, Dwellin
Houses, 204. Stoney, This is Charleston, 72

N&C, April 6, 1958. , Charleston's Hlstorlc Houses,
59 Lo=47. )
27 Meetlng St. —- ThlS three story stuccoed brlck house on.

high brick basement is presumed to: have been built after
the Revolutlon The cast lron gates to the yard were
added in the 20th century. '

~(Stoney, This is Charleston, 72.5_ - s N&C,-April:.:-
6, 1958.) ' '
30 Meetlng St. —-- The slte of thlS house was. purchased in

1769 by Thomas Young, who sold it the follow1ng year |

to Col. Isaac Motte, a. planter _Tradltlon says Young
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began construction of this house and sold it'ﬁhéompleted
 to Motte, who.completed.'"Col. Motte was commissioned
in the Royal American Regiment in 1756. "In 1775 he was
" made a lieutenant colonel’offMoultrie‘s Regiment, and
became colonei when Moultrie was promoted to general.
In 1779 he was a PriVy‘CounciIor and in 1780 was a
" delegate to the Continental Congress. Tradition says
that the Hessian mercenaries of the British hed‘their'
Headquarters here during the British occupation, and
that some Hessian soldiers hid in the chimneys in
1782 to avoid being evacuated with the British. =

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 49. 74. Stoney, ThlS
. 1s Charleston, 72. » N&C, Aprll 14, 1948, &
April 8, 1949.)

31 Meeting St. -- This house was built c. 1792 by Ma jor
- James. Ladson (1753-1812), an officer of the Continen-

~.tal Line during the Revolution, state representative
and: senator and a delegate to the South Carcolina
convention to ratify the Federal Constitution. The

. house was remodeled in the 1840s by Erastus M. Beach,
who changed the entrance from the Ladson Street side .
 to the piazza entrance facing Meeting Street. Chris-
.topher P. Poppenheim, a planter and King Street ‘hard-
ware merehant ‘acquired the property in 1877 and
the garden was improved by his wife. The fountain
is a duplicate of one in the Kaiserhoff garden at
Bad Hauheim, Germany. o

{Jack Leland, CEP, Aug. 8 1968. Nielsen, DYKYC, Feb.
3, 1936.) . . ,

34’Meeting St. -- Known femilierly'as'the Daniel Elliott
Huger House, this Georgieﬁﬂmansion was built by a mem=
ber of the Bull famlly. Capt' John Bulltbought the
“lot, which then extended ‘f¥om Church to Meetlng, in
1759. There was on the’ Church'Street_end a house.
built by the Indian trader George Eveleigh (39 Church).
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' The present house was built by Capt. Bull before his |
- death ' in. 1768, by his widow Mary Bull before her death -
d in 1771 or by their granddaughter Mrs. Elizabeth Blake
after 1771.  In 1775 Mrs. Blake's cousin Sarah Izard _
and hér husband: Lord William Campbell, son and'brother

to the Dukes of Argyle, and. Royal Govermor of South .

-Carollna, occupled the house . Lord Wllllam had the
~ misfortune to arrive in South Carollna after the rebel-

lious province had begun to govern itself, and lnstead'

of the usual fanfare Wthh tradltlonally greeted ar--.

'r1v1ng Royal Governors he was met with ”sullen silence."

Three months after he came, he had to Sllp away from
his - home through the réar water entrance on Vanderhost -
Creek and take refuge on the HMS Tamar, -anchored at

Rebellion Road. William'Elliott Huger, a noted South .
. Carolina leglslator and - jurist, purchased: the. ‘house
~in 1818 ‘Francis Kinloch Huger, who in 1794 had trled

unsuccessfully to rescue Lafayette from the Castle of
Olmutz, was nearly killed on the front steps when_part

of the masonry ornamentation fell and fractured his -

'.skull.__He lived, however, to welcome Lafayette to the_

¢city in 1825. . Less lucky was: a young English visitor

in 1886, when the. earthquake of that’ year caused part .
of the parapet to fall on him. The house ‘was. injured
by the Federal .bombardment, 1863-65, and looted and
vandalized by Federal troops in 1865. The house

retains handsome paneling and other woodwork, and orna-

‘mented ceilings similar to those in the Miles Brewton -

House, 27 King St.. The property Contlnues to be: owned
by the Huger famlly - : :

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 77-85. Stoney, This

is Charleston, 72. s N&C, April 6, 1958. Stock-
ton, DYKYC, July 28, 1975. Smlth & Smlth Charles
Fraser, 19, 42. Iseley & Cauthen, Charleston Interi-
ors, 36- 37 Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the
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35 Meeting St. -- This stuccoed brick house is believed to
have been built c¢. 1720 by the first Lt. Gov. William
Bull {(d. 1755). His son William was the first native -

- South Carclinian to receive a medical degree (Leyden
University) and was also Lieutenant Governor (under |
Lord Campbell), and lived here.

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Plnckneys, 95.

Fraser, Reminiscences, 68. Smith & smith, Dwelllng o
Houses, 85-89.) ' '

36 Meetihg St. -- Under the mld l9th century. Greek Revival
~ parapet is a three story 18th century house with fine
Georgian 1nter10r features.

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 73.)

37 Meetlng St. == This house was probably built before 1775
by James Simmons, an attorney, although it may have
been built before 1782 by Robert Gibbes. The proper-
ty was sold in 1809 to William Brisbane, a planter,
who probably added. the large bays on the front. They
were existing when he sold the property in 1848 to
Otis Mills, proprietor of the Mills House Hotel.
Mills, in October 1862, loaned the mansion to Gen.

- Pierre G. T. Beauregard, the Confederate commander,
and the Creole general maintained his'heaquarters
“here until August 1863; The house was purchased in
1876 by Michael P. O'Connor, afterwards a member of
- Congress.

(Ravenel, DYKYC, July 7, 1941. Smith & Smith, Dwell-

ing Houses, 89-90. Sparkman, '"Beauregard's Headquar—;”'
ters."}

39 Meetlng St. —- This brick house was built c. 1767 as St.
Michael's rectory. It was built by Mr. Miller and
John Fullerton, master builders.
(Ravenel, Architects, 38-39.)

42 Meeting St. —- Diedrich William Ohlandt, a German grocer,.

built this structure c. 1860 as a store and residence.
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D.W. Ohlandt and Sons went out of busress ln lgSG
-_fand in 1959 the bulldlng was remodeled as a resldence.

. {CEP, Dec' 31, 1955. Otis Perkins, DYKYC, June . 15

’*~'l959 Ellzabeth T Peck ‘N&Cy Jan '8 l956 ) _

43 Meetlng St f~~ James Mltchell,_a cooper (maker of kegs,_l:

- etc. ) bullt thlS three story stuccoed brlck house'“ s
’_on a hlgh basement 'sometlme after purchasrng the o
site in 1798 He sold it in 1818 to Henry Alexander:”"
"rDeSaussure The gates are a 20th century addltlon |

(Greene, unpub MS SCHS B Stoney, ThlS is Charles—izf
mton 73 ) . o .f_“ SRR . :

47 Meetlng St 7—- ThlS two and one- half story antebellum |
house was for many years. the home ‘6f Edward. Barnwell _
who “is said. to ‘have ‘added ‘to the rear portlon several'”
times to accommodate hlS 1.7 chlldren Barnwell, a

' factor, planter and gardener developed the" lot to b
the south- Wlth frults ‘and. vegetables and won several

51lver cups for his - efforts ‘there.

.(Stoney, ‘This is Charleston 73;;,~T ,'N&CinAprilgﬁ,ﬁﬂh
' 1958 ) E _ o - ' L
48 Meetlng St. ~~—3This“largehmasonryfhouse was_built‘in-the:

' 1840s by Otis Mills, builder of the Mills House. In
the 1850s it was the. home of James Adger merchant =
and steamshlp line developer,rreputed to have been the

- richest ‘man in- antebellum South Carollna It now
- houses First Baptist Church. School '

(Stockton, unpub notes.)

51 Meeting St. -- The Nathaniel Russell House was bullt lnf: _
e 1808- ll by a Rhode Islander who made a- large fortune as -
~a merchant 1n Charleston ~His house is one.of the most
outstandlng Adamesque houses in fAmerica.ﬂ_The~rectangu—

lar three story brick mansion with an octagonal. wing

~on the south srde is built of brick with white stone

and wood trim. Tt has a transomed entrance Wlth an
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elliptical fanlight, a wrought iron balcony with. the
moﬁogram of Russell, and a balustraded parapet It
‘boasts a free flying stalrcase rising three floors.
w1thout-v1srble support, oval rooms, ‘and-fine- Adamesqueef
decorations Russell's - helrs sold the house to Gov.
© Robert Franc1s Withers Allston, who llved here whlle'
governor - In 1870, hls executors sold it to the
Sisters of Our Lady of Mercy Historic Charleston
-Foundatlon bought it in 1955 and has restored it as
La_house museum and the foundatlon s_headquarters.
j=(Smith_&'8mith, Dwelling'HouSes,.142;156; _Stockton, 
DYKYC, June 16, 1975. Deas, Early Ironwork, 738-79.

.Ravenel, 'Architects, L151-155. Stoney, This is Charles—
't0n, 73 , N&C, Aprll 6y 1958 ) '

52 Meetlng St. —- Thls one story frame bu11d1ng was the of—
fice of Dr. Edmund Ravenel (1797-1870). It was given |
to Historic Charleston Foundation in 1964 by Mrs. Ran-
som D. Hooker, in memory of her husband.
~ (Stockton, DYKYC, July 18, 1977.)

54 Meeting St. -- Timothy Ford built this three and one-half
' story brick house, on a raised basement, c. 1800. Ford,
a native of New Jersey, was a prominent attorney. :His
.house“has.some of_the‘best_Adamesque_interiors'iﬁ'the
city. It was.later_the home of Dr. Edmund Ravenel,
a physicien and. conchologist.. The outbuilding in the
rear is built on the foundations of an older structure.

(Stockton, DYKYC, July 18, 1977. Fraser, Reminiscences,
77-78. Stoney, Thls is Charleston, 73. , N&C,
April 6, 1958.) : :

57 Meeting St. —— First (Scots) Presbyterian Church. The
7"congregation_was organized in 1731 by 12 Scottish fam-
ilies  who withdrew from the Independent (Congregatlonal)
Church and formed the "Scots Kirk.'" The first build-
ing was a frame one  and stood in the- southeast corner”

- 0of the present Churchyard3 It was enlarged in 1763
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and twice during the period, 1783-1808. The frame
building was replaced by the present'bﬁilding in 1814,
The massive stuccoed brick building has twin towers
rising above a columned portico. “The design was
perhaps inspired by Benjamin H. Latrobe's Baltimore
Cathedral, built a few years earlier. The church

is the fifth oldest house oflwdrship in the city.

The seal of the Church of Scotland_ié iﬁ the win-

dow over the main entrance. Tablets on the walls .
include one to Lady Anne Murray, painted on wood: Sil-
ver and pewter tokens were formerly used for admission
to. Communion. The churchyard contains more than 50
stones dating before 1800. The pattern of the wrought
iron fence is almost identical with-one af St. Paul's,
Radcliffeborough, built about the same time.

(Hamlin, Greek Revival, plate VIII. . Stoney, This is
Charleston, /4. s N&C, April 6, 1958. Legerton,

Historic Churches, 60 61l. Deas, Early Ironwork, 90- -
91.) o _ :

58 Meeting St. —- William Harvey House. This three and one

half story stuccoed brick building was erected by Wil-
liam Harvey, a Charlestown merchant, about 1770. During
the late 19th century the bulldlng was Victorianized

and a storefront installed in the first level. The
building was restored as a residence in 1982-83.
(Stockton, unpub. MS.)

59 Meetlng St. -~ Branford—Horry House. William Branford,

a planter in St. Andrew‘s Parish, acquired the site
by his marriage to Elizabeth Savage, "an agreeable
young lady with a handsome fortune.'" The house was
standing in 1767 when Branford died. The three story
stuccoed brick double house has very fine Georgian
interiors. The front piazza, built over the sidewalk,

was added by Branford's grandson Elias Horry, c. 1830.




345

The iron railings have the same pattern as those of
the South Carolina SOC1ety Hall Horry was a planter
and pre51dent of the South Carollna Canal and Rail Road
Co. when the rallroad was the longest in the world.

Subsequently, this was the home of architect Louis J.

Barbot. _ : _ :
(Smith & Smith, Dwelllng Houses 104, 111-120. Stoney,
This is Charleston, 74, , N&C, April 6, 1958.
Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 15, 1975. -, unpub. MS.

Ravenel, Architects, 236.)

60 Meeting St. -- This was a rather plain 18th century tene-
ment, built by William Ellis c.-1771 (the eastern half
of the double tenement W is 64 Tradd St.). It was
remodeled in high Victorian taste by Bertram Kramer,

~a bridge and wharf builder and general contractor,

c. 1893. ol _
(Stockton, DYKYC, Jan. 26, 1976.. Whitelaw and Levkoff,
153 ) : _ - o

61 Meetlng St. —— This two.story brick building.was once
the stable of the Branford-Horry House, 59 Meeting.
It was converted to a re51dence c. 1913. It was sub—

sequently the home. of U.S. Dlstrlct Judge Waties Waring,
whose decision that the Democratic primary election

was open to bléck voters, was a landmark civil rights
case, in 1947. -

(Stockton, unpub MS. Rosen, Short Hlstory, 146 147.
Smith & Smlth Dwelling Houses, 111.)

64 Meeting St. - This three story frame house was bu1lt by
Andrew Hasell, c. 1788-89.
(Stockton, DYKYC,; July 19, 1978. Burton, unpub. MS;
CCL.) C

68 Meeting St. -- This large stuccoed brick house was built
c. 1810 by John Cordes Prioleau, a factor and planter.
It was remodeled in the 1890s by William Bachman Chisolm,
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a wealthy phosphate fertilizer manufacturer. Madame
Rosalie Acelie Togno had her school here, 1855-62.

It was also the home. of Dr. Charlee.U;eShepard,~who,

after 1882 had his laboratory for analytical chemis-
try in a small building in the garden (now 8 Rope-
maker's Lane). Dr. Shepard was famous for his tea
farm at Summerville, where he grew tea commercially,

and for experlmentatlon

(Stockton, unpub. MS. Rhett & Steele, 34-35. Stoney,
N&C, Dec. 20, 1948. Whitelaw & levkoff, 115.)

69 Meeting St.-- This three and one'half”stofy'etuecOed

brick house on a high basement was’ bu1lt between 1796
and 1800 by Dr. John Ernest Poyas, Jr. Y phy51c1an
It has fine Adamesque interiors. ' o

72 Meeting St. —- South Carolina Society Hall was built in

1804 and designed by Gabriel Manigault (1752-1809),
the 'gentleman architect'" who was a member of the so-
ciety. The two story brick building, on a very high
basement, stuccoed, is considered one of the city's
most valuable Adamesque buildings. The meeting hall
on the second floor has a small musician's gallery
with Ionic columns, in front of ‘a Palladian window.
The bold portico with Doric and Ionic orders, was.
added in 1825 by‘architect Frederick Wesner. The.
lantern stands appear to date from the 1760s and were:
apparently salvaged from an earlier building. ~ The
South Carolina Society was organized in 1737, mainly.
by French Huguenots. It was first called the "Two.
Bit Club," as members agreed to contribute 15 pence
("two bits') a week to the relief:of a Huguenot.
tavern owner. The Society later established schools
for orphans and indigent children -- a Male Academy
and a Female Academy -- which were in operation until
the city established a public school system nearly a

century later. The Society now donates scholarships

e
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to the College of Charleston.

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 74. -, N&C, April
6, 1958. Deas, Early Ironwork, 38-39Y. Rhett & Steele,

- 34-35.' Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys,

140, 143.)

Whitelaw & Levkoff, 40. TRavenel, Architects, 59-61,

76 Meeting St. —- Judge Elihu Hall Bay House, built c. 1785,

POST

is a three story wooden single house. Judge Bay, a
native of Maryland, came to Charleston after the Span-
ish conquest of British West Florida, where he had

a Royal land grant near the Mississippi River. Since
1942, this has been the rectory of St. Michael's

(Ravenel, DYKYC, June 20, 1942, Nielsen, DYKYC, Nov.
18, 1935. Stockton, unpub. notes. Stoney, This is

~Charleston, 72. = - ,-Charleston's Historic Houses,

1952, 30-31.

Office Park -- The Charleston Club built on this site

in 1853—54, a two sfory brick building with Corinthian
columns. and pediment, designed by Barbot & Seyle. The
building was sold to the U.S. Government in 1869 for

use as a Federal Court House, which it was until 1884.

~After the 1886 earthquake, in which it suffered heavy
- damage, the building was demolished. During the build-

ing of the present Post Office and Federal Court House,
this area was used for storing building stones. The
park was created in 1904. A wooden annex to the Post
Office was built on part of it in the 1940s. The park
was restored iﬁ 1964.

_:(Ravenel, Architects, 231, 233. -Stockton, unpub. notes)

77 Meeting St. —--: Charleston County Court House. The first

South Carolina State House, built on this site in 1752,
was destroyed by fire in 1788. This building was built

on the same foundation, with the old walls and door-

- ways retained. It was rebuilt under the supervision

of Judge William Drayton, the amateur architect. The

exterior is reminiscent of Derby House in London, built
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¢. 1775 by the Brothers Adam, which Drayton could have
seen on a visit to London. It is also similar to a

design in James Gibbs' 1728 Book of Architecture.

The design was disfigUTed somewhat by the raising

of the third story helght,'ln 1883-84. The building
was completed in 1792 " for use as the Charleston Dis-
trict Court House. The north extéension, de51gned by
:Dav1d B Hyer, was added in 1941.

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys;_SS,
63. Ravenel, Architects, 71-7/3. Fraser, Reminis-
‘cences, 97-101. Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 14, 19// &

- Nov. 30, 1981. Mazyck & Waddell illus. 8.  Stoney,
This is Charleston, 75. Fant, The State House, 7-8.)

80 Meetlng St. —-— St. Mlchael's Protestant. Eplscopal Church.
The oldest church edifice in the city and one of the
best Georgian churches in the Unlted States, St. Mi-
chael's was begun in 1752 and completed in 1761.. It
stands on the site ofiginally occupied, from c. 1682
to 1727, by the first St. Philip's Church, a black
cypress structure on a brick foundation. It.was taken
down when the second St. Philip's was completed on
Church Street. St. Philip s Parish was divided in
1751, with the lower half becoming St. Mlchael's. A
Mr. Gibson (p0551b1y Robert Gibson, Sr.) did the
original design, but the design was so altered by
Samuel Cardy, an Irish architect, that he deserves
credit as the erchltect The church is similar in

_ respects to St. Martin- in- the—Flelds,_a London church
_de51gned by. James Gibbs, lncludlng the division of hall,
tower and port1c0 The construction of the steeple
is con51dered_a remarkable example of Colonial ingenuity
in timber framing and masonry coﬁstruotion,.as is the
coved_ceiling which covers the hall without visible
Sopport. The clock and bells wefe.imported from Eng-
land in 1764. The bells were taken to England as a
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prize of war by the British, but a London merchant
purchased them and they were Shlpped back. During the
Civil War, the bells were sent to Columbia for safe-
keeping, and were burned in the great flre there in
1865. However, the metal. fragments were salvaged and
~sent to England to be recast. and rehung The bells
 have thus crossed the Atlantlc five times. The‘
| steeple is 186 feet hlgh with a weathervane seven and
one-half feet long. The tower sank elght inches as
a result of the 1886 earthquake : The clock was ‘elec-
trified in 1946 as a memorlal to those who dled in
'WOrld War II. The communion rail of wrought iron dates
from 1772 and was ordered from England The mahogany
paneled choir ralllngs and gated pews are of native
cedar. The octagonal pulpit with its massive canopied
sounding board is original, and scars on its base are
from a Federal shell which struck the church in 1863.
The chandelier came from London in 1803 and the chan-
“cel chairs were purchased in 1817. Pew No. 43 was
used by GeorgeHWashington in 1791 and by Gen. Robert
E. Lee in 1861l. The original Snetzler organ was in-
stalled in 1768; the case and some pipes were'reused
when a new one was installed in 1911. The steeple
was a fire lookout and alarm tower until the late
19th century. It was an observation post in the Revolu-
tion, a signal station in the Civil War and an air
raid siren station in World War II. It was painted
black during the Civil War to provide a more diffi-
cult target for Federal shells. Gates to the church-
yard were made and signed by I.A.W. Iusti. Eminent
“persons buried in“the Churchyard idclude James. L.
Petigru, the Unionist; John Rutlédge and:Charles

Cotesworth Pinckney, signers of the Constitution.
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In the southwest corner of the Churchyard is the cy-
press ''Bedstead Tombstone,'" of Mary. Luyton, placed in
1770; it is not really a bedstead but a type of grave
marker common in the 18th century.

(Williams, St. Michael's, passim. Dalcho Historical
Society, A Short History of the Diocese, passim.
Deas, Early lronwork, 15-16, 30-31, 44-45. Iseley

& Cauthen, Charleston Interiors, 14. Whitelaw & Lev- -
koff, 40, 227. Rhett & Steele, 36-37. Condit, Amer-
ican Building, 13, 30. Ravenel, Architects, 29-3&.
Whiffen, American Architecture, 10-11. Rogers,
Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 58. Mazyck
& Waddell, illus. 9. Legerton, Historic Churches, 16-
17. Severans, Southern Architecture, 53-56. Stomney,
This is Charleston, /5. , N&C, April 6, 1958.)

100 Meeting St. -- Fireproof Building, designed by Robert
Mills, was begun in 1822 and completed by 1827, as the
Charleston District Record Building. It was the most
completely fire resistant structure built in the U.S.
up to that date. The building-is in the Palladian
'style, with Doric porticoes north and south. Inside,
there is an oval stairhall, lit by a cupola, in which
a cantilevered stone stair ascends three stories with-
out visible support. The building is now the head-
quarters of the South Carolina Historical Society,
founded in 1856.

(Ravenel, Architects, 126. Severans, Southern Archi-
tecture, 53-56, 137. Waddell, "Fireproof Building."
Rhett & Steele, 32-33. Gallagher, Robert Mills, 51-
52, 160. Thomas, DYKYC, Dec. 23, 1968. wWaddell &
Liscombe, Robert Mills's Courthouses & Jails, 12.
Mazyck & Waddell, illus. 4, 14.)

105 Meeting St. —-- Hibernian Society Hall, completed in
1840, was designed by Thomas U. Walter (1804-87) of
Philadelphia, architect. The Ionic portico was re-
built in more elaborate form after the 1886 earth-
gquake knocked down the origiﬁal portico. The main
entrance leads to a largé stairhall with an open

rotunda, domed with coffered panels, supported by
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superimposed columns of the three Greek orders. Each
floor has a large hall. The Hibernian Society was
founded in 1801 as an Irish benevolent origanization.
The Society elects a new president each year, alter-

nating between a Roman Catholic and a Protestant. A
piece of stone from the Giant's Causeway stands on

the portico; it was brought ﬁromTCOunty Antrim, Ire-
land, in 1851. The panel above the door contains the

Irish harp, as does the overthrow of the iron gates.
The ironwork is thought to be by Christopher Werner

of Charleston. The St. Cecilia Society balls and other
brilliant social occasions are held here. Traditions
include the annual celebration of St. Patrick's day,

at which a nationally prominent speaker is always fea-
tured, and the serving of Hopping John on New Year's
Day.

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 6.
Deas, Early Ironwotk, 31. Rhett & SCeeéle, HF4-45.
Whitelaw & Levkoff, 66-67. Severens, Southern Archi-
tecture, l40. Ravenel, Architects, 173-175.)

116 Meeting St. —— Former Fire Station, built in 1887-83,
now converted to city offices. The tower in the rear
is an alarm bell tower, built at the same time as
the station.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

115 Meeting St. —-- Mills House Hotel -- This reconstruction
- of the original Mills House stands on the site on which

Otis Mills, a grain merchant and real estate developer,.
built his grand hotel in 1853. Designed by architect
John E. Earle, the building had running water and steam
heat, the first such installations on a large scale in
the city. The five story, 125-room hotel cost $200,000
to build. The cast ironlbalcony on the facade came
from Philadelphia, and terra cotta window cornices were

ordered from Worcéster, Mass. The entrance porch had
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rusticated columns supporting arches. Gen. Robert E.
Lee was a guest at the hotel in 1861 and watched the
great fire of that year from the balcony until the

préximity of the fire forced him to leave the hotel. .
The staff of the hotel saved it by hanging wet blank-

ets out the windows, so that the building was blackened
but not destroyed. Gen. Pierre G.T. Beauregard, the
Confederate cdmmander, used the hotel as his headquar-
ters until Mills invited him to use his own residence.
in Meeting Street. A later guest was Theodore Roose-
velt. For many yvears, the hotel was named the St..
John's. In 1968, the old hotel was torn down and the
present building was erected, in the same Italianate
'style as the original. In the reconstruction, the old
ironwork was retained and the terra cotta was copied
in fiberglass. The building is two stories higher.

(Thomas, DYKYC, April 19, 1969. , N&C, Oct. 15,
1967. Ravenel, Architects, 249-252. Whitelaw & Lev-
koff, 45, 161. Rhett & Steele, 38. Mazyck & Waddell,
illus. 3. Stoney, This is Charleston, 76.)

134 Meeting St. -- Site of the South Carolina Institute Hall,
where the Ordinance of Secession was signed on Dec. 20,
1860.. The Venetian Renaissance Revival building was
built in 1854 for the promotion of mechanical and ag-
ricultural arts in South Carolina. It seated up to
2,500 persons. The facade had arched openings, Pal-
ladian windows, leopard-head keystones and lion-head
brackets. It was designed by Charleston architects
Jones & Lee (Edward C. Jones & Francis D. Lee). The
hall was destroyed in the great fire of 186l.

(Ravenel, Architects, 212. Thomas, DYKYC, Aug. 12,
1968. Whitelaw & Levkoff, 10-11.) '

135 Meeting St. -- Gibbes Art Gallery. This Beaux Arts
style building was erected in 1904 as the headquarters
of the Carolina Art. Association, founded in 1857.
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The James S. Gibbes Memorial Art Gallery is named for
James Shoolbred Gibbes (1819-1888), a wealthy merchant
who bequeathed to the City an estate of nearly $120,000
to be used for the erection or purchase of a building
for an art gallery and -school and possibly a conserva-
tory of music. Designed by architect Frank P. Milburn,
the building has a South Carolina granite base and
exterior walls of pressed brick and Indiana limestone,
and a red tile roof. The sculpture gallery, beneath
the exterior dome,.has an inner dome of art glass, 16
feet in diameter and 30 feet high.' The main gallery

is 43 by 68 feet and has a ceiling 23 feet high. The
institution is noted for its collections of South
Carolina'portraits and miniatures. Artists represented
in the permanent collection include Benjamin West,
Charles Willson Peale, Rembrandt Peale, Gilbert Stuart,
Samuel F.B. Morse, Thomas Sully, Charles Fraser and
Edward Green Malbone. There are also valuable displays
of Oriental jade and Japanese prints, as well as con-
temporary works. The original building has been ex-
panded with a contemporary addition which wraps around
the original rear wing; the addition was designed by
Charleston architect Alexander Logan. Previously the
site was occupied by a large wooden building, erected
in 1881 by the South Carolina Agricultural Society as
an exhibition hall. 1In 1888, the hall became the Grand
Opera House, later called O'Neill's Grand Opera House
when Arthur 0'Neill took over the diréction. The build-
ing was destroyed by fire on New Year's Day, 1894.

(Year Book, 1904, 81-85. Charleston Grows, 316. Stock-
ton, DYKYC, June 1, 19831. Whitelaw & Levkoff, 97, 173.
Lesesne, N&C, May 5, 1935.)

138 Meeting St. —- Lance Hall is the Circular Congregational

Church Parish House. Built in 1867, it was used for
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'chufch'servicéé until the . presenﬁ church was built.
. The hall is in the Roman Revival temple style with a

Roman Doric portico and two fllghts of stairs, over
a high basement, a design. lnfluenced by the work of
Robert Mllls '

(Stoney, This is Charlestoﬁ 76. Waddell & Liscombe,
14. Legerton Historic Churches, 78-79.)

141 Meetlng St. —-- Architect Edward Brlckell ‘White de51gned
“this Palladian bu11d1ng, built in 1876-78 for the

Charleston Gas Light Co., a forerunner of the.South
Carolina Electric and Gas Co., whose offlce lt now
houses. The Charleston Gas Light Company was incorpor-
ated:in 1846, and in 1848 the city streets began to

be lighted by gas. The original plant of the company

was on the west side of Church Street, betWeen Cumber-
land and Market. = The iron gates were brought from that
location when this bu11d1ng was erected.

(Pogue, 7-9. Thomas, DYKYC, March 31, 1969. Charles~
ton Grows, 88, 91. Whitelaw & Levkoff, 97. Ravenel,
Architects, 202. Stoney, This is Charleston, 76.)

150 Meeting St. -— Circular Congregational Church. The

Independent or Congregatlonal Church was established
here about 168l. It members were French Huguenots,
Scots and Irish Presbyterians and Congregatlonallsts_
from New and old England. The first building, erected
before 1695, was the White Meeting House, which gave
Meeting Street its name. A new meeting house was built
in 1732. It was used as a hospital'by the British
during the Revolution. In 1804-06, the first circular
church, designed by architect Robert Mills, was
built. It was a Pantheon style building which is be-
lieved to have been the first domed church in.America.
The auditorium seated 2,000. Mills' design was altered
by the German architect Charles Reichardt, who added
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who added a spire in 1838, and by Jones & Lee, who

" changed the portico (which projected over the sidewalk)
from Tuscan to Corinthian and made other changes in
1852-53. The structure was burned in the great fire
of 1861 and the ruins stood until shaken down by the
1886 earthquake. Using bricks from the o¢ld structure,
the present building, designed by architects Stevenson
& Green, was built in 1890-92. It is in the Romanesque
Revival style of Henry Hobson Richardson, the Louisiana
born Boston architect. The present building is not
really circular but tri-apsidal, very like the 1lth
century'Church of the Apostles in Cologﬁe. The grave-
yvard is one of the oldest in the city; interees include

' Dr.'David Ramsay (1749-1815), physician and historian.
In 1961, this church, along with others iﬁ'the Congre-
‘gational-Christian denomination, joined with the Evan-
gelical-Reformed denomination to form the United Church
of Christ. In 1968 the Circular Church became a part
of the United Prestteriéﬁ Church, U.S.A., as well.

(Legerton, Historic Churches, 78-79. Mazyck & Waddell,
illus. 47. Rhett & Steele, 46-47. Whitelaw & Levkoff,
10-11, 16. Ravenel, Architects, 80, 119, 178-179, 212-
218. Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys,
92. Gallagher, 80, 8l. Hamlin, 31-32. McClure &
Hodges, 96. Stoney, This is Charleston, 76.)

158 Meeting St. —- Site of Carteret Bastion. See marker on
building. ' ' :

171-173 Meeting St. —- Adolph Tiefenthal, a native of the
German Rhine‘country, built the old part of this build-
ing in 1874, as his restaurant/saloon and residence.

It occupies part of the site of the New Charleston
Theatre, built in 1837 and destroyed in the great
fire of 1861.

(Stockton, unpub. MS. Ravenel, Architects, 178.
Leland, Charleston; Crossroads of History, 38.
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188 Meeting St. -- City Market stands on the site of a

filled in creek and marshy lands donated by the Pinck-

ney famlly for a city market, with the stlpulatlon

that the property revert to the family if used for any
other purpose. The:market_was'built sometime between
1788, when the land Was'donated, and 1807, when a city
ordinance was adopted for regulating the "Centre
Market'' here. The first market consisted of a beef
market at the Meetlng Street end of Market Street,

behind which was a country produce market. On the other

side of East Bay there was a fish market.. The present

Market Hall, erected in 1841, was designed by Edward

B. White in the Roman Revival style. Sheep and bull
skulls decorate the stucco frieze, symbolizing the
presence of a meat market. In the past, the proximity
of the meat market was indicated by buzzards {Charleston
eagles) who scavenged the debris thrown in the streets
at the end of the market day. For providing that valua-
ble service, the buzzards were protected by law. Other
ordinances regulated butcher cuts and weights, required
vendors to wear clean white aprons, etc} No produce
could be brought to market for sale a second time. The
second floor of the Market Hall houses the Confederate
Museum and is the headquarters of the Charleston Chap—
ter of the United Daughters of the Confederacy The
market sheds behind the hall are difficult to ""'date,"

as the market has been rebuilt several times due to
fires and tornadoes. | |

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 86—
87. Ravenel, 163-165. Fraser, Reminiscences, . 32-33.
Rhett & Steele, 54-55. Whitelaw & Levkoff, 148,

210, 226. Nielsen, DYKYC, Sept. 2, 1935. Stockton,
DYKYC, April 15, 1974.) :

200 Meeting St. —- Site of the Charleston Hotel. When built
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1839, it was one of the most notable hotels in the
United States. Désigned by architect Charles F. Reich-
ardf, it had a giant order Corinthian colonnade ex-

 tending the'full_length of the block aloﬁg Meeting
Street. Daniel Webster, Jénny Lind, Thackeray and
Queen Vlctorla s daughter Louise were among the guests
The hotel was demolished in 1959-60.

(Mazyck & Waddell, illus. 55. Severens, Southern:
‘Architecture, 138-140. Ravenel, Architects, 177-179.
Whitelaw & Levkoff, 96, 228-229. Rhett & Steele,
60 6l.) -

209-235 Meetlng St. -~ This row of commerc1al buildings
date from c. 1840 to: 1915, and many have cast iron
storefronts. iAs part of the Charleston Center project,
.the front portions of these buildings are being rehabil-
itated (1985) and a.parking_garage being built behind

them. o _ _
(Stockton, DYKYC, June 13, 1977. ., N&C, June 8,
1974.)

252 Meeting St. -— John-Whiting built this three story brick

building c. 1838. It was under demolition when res-
cued by the Preservation .Society in 1976 and subsequent-
ly was restored by a private owner. :

(Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 2, 1976 & Sept. 28, 198l.)

256 Meeting St. —— This was built as William J. Gayer's
carriége féétory,'c. 1838. The froﬁt part of the
building has been replaced.by a 20th century drive-
thfough.poréh
(Stockton, DYKYC July 5, 1976.)

262 Meetlng St..—— ThlS double fire station was bu11t in
1887-88 as part of the establishment of the City Fire
Department. The park is called Courtenay Square,

for :William Ashmead Courtenay, mayor of Charleston




3538

from 1879-88. The ircn pavillion over the-artesion well was
erected in 1885. . Several attempts were made, startinglin
1845, to sink an artesian well at this location, with
poor results. Finally the city contracted with F. Spangler,
an experienced well-borer from the Northwest, in 1876, and
his efforts were successful.: . e
(Year Book, 1881, 257ff. N&C, June 20,:.1885., Stockton,
unpub. notes.) _ _—
268-270 —— These two houses with similar Victorian facades.
were built- by Daniel Hart. No. 270 dates from c. 1838,
No. 268 was built about 1850. Victorian . . facades
appear to be c¢. 1885 .
(Stockton, urnpub. notes.’ , DYKYC, Oct. 11, 1974)

272 Meeting St. -- This handsome brick and stucco building
déteé back to 1872. During the 1880s and '90s it was
occupied by Dr. George Céulier‘s apothecary shop. Al-
bert Stokes established hefé in 1898, Stokes Business
College, one of the first in the countfy to offer sec-
retar131 and_business eduéation for ~women. The school
remained here until the 1930s. |
(Jack Leland, DYKYC, Jan. 30, 1984.)

275 Meeting St. —- Trinity Methodist Church was organized
as the Trinity Primitive Methodist Church, in 1791,
with a-building at Hasell Street and Maiden Lane:

The title to that property was vested in the minister,
the Rev. Mr. Brazier. He sold the church and grounds

to the rector of St. Philip's Episcopal Church, with-
out the permission of the congregation. Although the
Episcopalians had moved in, erected pews and dedica-
ted the church5 some of the Méethodists obtained the

key, moved in and barricaded the building. They re-
mained there for several months until the courts awarded
the property to the Methodists in 1816. Two other
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buildings were erected on that site, in 1838 and in
1902. In 1926, the congregation purchased the present
building. This building was built in 1848-50 as. the
Central Presbyterian Church, afterwards known as the

- Westminster Presbyterian Church. It was designed by...
architect Edward C. Jones. It is in the Greek Revival
temple form with a portico of six Corinthian columns
and one on each return. The interior also has Corinth-
ian columns in antis, in front of a half-doméd chancel,
and galleries with Corinthian columns, as well as elab-
orate plaéterwork in the mode of c¢. 1850.

(Mazyck & Waddell, illus. 18. Ravenel, Architects,
203-204, 206. Legerton, Historic Churches, 50-51.
Stoney, This is Charleston,78.)

286 Meeting St. _ "This three Story brick on a high.basement
is one of the city's best houses in the Adamesque style,
and is typical of the many fine dwellings of its period,
which formerly lined Meeting Street from Wentworth
Street north to Mary Street. Before its restoration in -
1984, this building contained 10 apartments and a drug
store. It was built c. 1807 by Abigail Noyer.

(Thomas, DYKYC, Oct. 27, 1968. Stoney, This is Charles-
ton. Green, unpub. notes.) ' o

289 Meeting St. —— Built in 1870 as the Deutsche Freund-
schafts Bund Hall, this Gothic Revival building was
designed by architects Abrahams & Seyle. The building
has been used as a U.S5.0. and a Masonic Temple, and
now 1s the headquarters of the Washington Light Infan-
try. The W.L.I. gates were designed by architect Al-
bert Simons and originally installed on the W.L.I.
Building at 238 King St. in 1955. The gates were re-
installed_hére in 1984. The gaté overthrow contains
the WingedEVictory flying above the clouds and the
motto,."Valor.énd Virtue;” and the_date of the unit's

organization, 1807. The wrought iron plaques commemorate
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the active service of the unit in several wars: the
War of'1812, the Semlnole War, the Mexican War, the
Civil War and World Wars I and II. The wrought iron
fence sections formerly_were_part of the fence of the
Radéliffe—King Manéion, which stood on the site of the
old College of Charleston Gymnasium across the street.

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 79. N&C, Sept. 18,.1955.
Stockton, unpub. MS. » DYKYC, Sept. 29, 1980.)

288 Meeting St. -- Site of the Gabriel Manigault Houée,
a large wooden Adamesque dwelllng house which the
”gentleman architect" designed for himself. Using
architectural materlals from the structure, architect
Albert Slmons de51gned the service station on this
site and the one at the northeast corner of Meeting

, and Chalmers stréets, after Manigault's house was

demolished in 1926.

(Waddell, "Introduction of Greek Rev1val " 2 3, 9.
Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 292,

296 Meéting St. —-- The Strobel House, built c. 1800, is
a small but elegant expression of the Adamesque.
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 79.

307 Meeting St. —— This small stuccoed britk house with a
"French roof'" was bullt in the 1890s as the caretaker's
residence for the High School of Charleston, which then
occupied the Radcliffe-King Mansion at Meeting and
George streets.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Dec. 24, 1979.)

- 309 Meeting St. -— This Romanesque Revival building was built

in 1894 for Connelley's Funeral Home.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Jan. 7, 1980.)

313 Meeting St. -=- This three and one half story stuccoed
brick mansion on a high basement was built after 1796

by John Adam Horlbeck, who with his brother, Peter,
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built the Eichange The Adamesque style.hoﬁse was Vic-
torianized after 1892 by Jesse M. Connelley, owner of
the funeral home next door.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 27, 1978. Neilsen, DYKYC,

Nov. 23, 1936. Ravenel, DYKYC, Jan. 26, 1939.)

338 Meeting St. -- Citadel Square Baptist Church. The

congregation was organized in 1854 as the Fourth

~ Baptist Church and worshlpped. initially in the Orphan
House'Chapel in Vanderhorst Street. In 1855 the congre-
gation merged with the Morris Street Baptist Church
‘and purchased this site, taking the name Citadel Square

rBaptist Church (the old name of Marion Square was Cita-
del Square). The present building was built in 1855~
56. Architects Jones & Lee (Edward C. Jones and Fran-
cis D. Lee) designed it in the ”Normén,” style, which
is actually a form of Romanesque Revival. The cyclone
(hurricane) of 1885 toppled the 220-foot steeple "with
a roar heard above the hurricane," and the earthquake
of the following year resulted in further damage. The
steeple was rebuilt, but not to its original height.

(Legerton, Historic Churches, 2-3. Ravenel,; Architects,
225, 227. Stoney, This is Charleston, 79. )

342 Meeting St. —- Second Presbyterian Church. Organized
in 1809 as "The Second Presbyterian Church of the City
and Suburbs of Charleston,'" when built in 1809-11, the
church was situated outside the city limits. It 1is
the fourth oldest church structure in the city. The
brothers, James and John Gordon, were the architects
and builders. The steeple was never completed due to
a lack of funds. The church bell was given to the Con-
federacy in 1862 for use as cannon metal. Before the
Civil War, the galleries were used by the church's more

than 200. black members. One of them.left a legacy which
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is used for world missions. ' The communion silver dis-
appeared: during. the Civil War, but was returned in 1865.
Dr. Thomas Smyth, pastor from 1834 to 1873, was a noted
author and theologian. The. sanctuary was completely
renovated after a fire in: 1959. Situated on one of the
highest peints in the city, the church appearedjonm.
mariners' maps as "Flynn's Church," so called after

the first pastor.

- (Legerton, Historic Churches,:62-63. Stoney, This is
Charleston, 80. Ravenel, Architects, 68, 98-100.
Mazyck & Waddell, illus 32.) T -

350 Meetiﬁg'St. *—.JOSeph Manigaﬁlt'HouSe,.é..1803. De-
signed by the owner's brother, Gabriel Manigault, the

"gentleman architect," this is oné of the most impor-

tant Adamesque houses”in'America; It has three stor-
ies of Chaflestoh'grey brick, laid in Flemish bond,

a hipped roof covered with slate, piazzas on the south
and west. A semi-circular projection on theé north side
contains the curving stair. The dining room on the
east side has a bowed end. The round basement windows
are reminiscent of those in the Petit Trianon, Ver-
sailles, which Manigault visited. Interior details
include applied enrichment in gesso on mantels, door-
‘ways, friezes. An interesting original feature is a
layer of lime between the floor and subfloor, to pre-
vent ‘insects and othér eléments of decay. In 1920,
when the mansion was in danger of demolition for a
serVice'staEion‘Site3 the Society for the Preservation

of 01d Dwellings was organized to rescue it. The

Ernest Pringle family carried the financial burden
for several years, but:in 1933 the house had to be
sold at auction. It was.purchased by Princess Henri-
etta Pignatelli, a Charleston native, who. presented

it to the.Charleston Museum, which completed the
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restoration and operates the property as a house mu-
seum. The garden was:' recreated by the Garden Club of
Charleston, based on an old photograph. The small '
bell-roofed circular structure with a pedimented
portico served as the garden entrance from Ashmead
Street. The John Street entrance is believed to have.
been ‘the primary one. -When built, the Manigault
House was in a suburban setting in.Wraggborough.
(Ravenel, Architects, 58-5%9. Severens, Southern Arch-
itecture, 73-76. Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 134-
141. Burton, unpub. MS.. Stoney, This is Charleston, 80.)

345 Meeting St. --~ TheiChiété.Apartments are in two large,
stugcded briék structures which originally were part:
of the'plant,df the  iCharleston Bagging Manufacturing

Co. The company was incOrporated,in:1878 and quickly
became one of Chariestoh?szlargeét manufacturing con—
cerns. In 1880,‘the éompany.purghased the Francis
Withers Mansidn and_began to construct these two ware-
hose buildings_on the grounds. Eventually, the bag-
ging company_plant_covered_most'of this block. The
Withers.Mansion; a_Regéncy villa, remained the super-
intendent's residence_untilt1926, Whén:it was:demol—
ished for further plant expansion. The company con-
tinued in operation until 1938. The property was pur-
chased.in 1942 by the Washington Realty, with Vincent
Chicco a principal offiter. Architect_Augustus E.
Constantine was engaged.tqtredesigp the factory plant
as an apértment, stéreLand office_complexg

(Preservation Consultants)

360 Meeting St. —-- Charleston MuseUm,:the_céuntry's first,
was founded in 1773. The collection burned in the
great fire of 1778. The Museum was. housed at various

times at Daniel Cannon's house, the Court House, a
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Chalmers Street house, the Medical College, the top
floor of the College of Charleston's main building.

- In 1907 it moved to the former Thomson  Auditorium,

where it remained until it moved to this $6 million ..

-~ complex, which opened in 1980. Collections include. more

than a half million objects illustrating natural his-.
tory, anthropology, history and decorative arts, with
special emphasis on South Carolina. On the grounds

is a full scale replica of the Confederate Submarine |
Hunley. - ' . R

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 96-97.
Whitelaw & Levkoff, 54-55, 145. Stockton, unpub.
notes.) .

382 Meeting St. -- Courtenay Elementary School.. On this

site in 1851-52, Free School No. 6, designed by George
Walker was erected, in the style of a Tuscan temple.
The present bulldlng dates from 1956

(Ravenel Archltects, 244 )

443 Meetlng St. —— Wesley Methodist Church. - The congrega-

- tion was organized in 1873 in the basement of the St.

James Methodist Church on Spring Street. A church was
built at this location in 1875. The present building

was erected in 1962.

(Legerton, Historic Churches, 146-147.

665 Meeting St. —-- Old catr-barns of the Charleston Street

Railway Company, erected in the late 19th century, now
house the Transportation Department of. the South Caro-
lina Electric and Gas Co.

(Pogue. )

6°l.




MONTAGU STREET

Montagu Street was named for Sir Charles Greville

Montégu, Royal Governor .of South Carolina, 1766-68. It was
one of the original streets of Harleston, laid out in 1770.

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 61.
"Streets of Charleston."} -

6 Mdﬁtagu_St, 5+_Jth_RQdolph.Sﬁitzer,_a‘prpsperous sadler,
built.this Adamesque residence sometime betweenrhis
purchase of the land in 1803 and his death seven years
later. It has two principal stories on an English
basement and is a single house, although the piazza

- side faces the street. -
{Thomas, .DYKYC, Oct. 11, 1971.)

11 Mohtagu St. -— This large'thfeé stOry dwélling was built
in two stages. It was begun c. 1818 by the Schmidt
family and completed and completed c. 1829 by Robert

Eason Conner, a grain merchant and grist miller.

(Thomas, DYKYC, Oct. 27, 1971. Stoney, This is Charles-

ton, 81 )

12 Montagu St,_-- This imposing threefstory.stuccoed brick
dwelling was built c. 1812 by Capt. Daniel McNeill,
a mariner, wholesale grocer and wine merchant. The
house was extensively rebuilt about 1900 by George
W. Eagan, a building contractor, who added the third
story and the three story bay. P
(Thomas ,- DYKYC, Nov. 8, 1971.)

13 Montagu St. -- This two story frame house on a high
brick basement was built for Jacob Williman around
1789 and is among the earliest houses in Harleston.
The frame construction is massive and the floor plan
is dominated by a large center chimney.

{Thomas, DYKYC, Nov. 12, 1971. Stoney, This is
Charleston, 81.)
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16 Montagu St. —— This three story Greek Revival house was

built by Caroline Blackwood soon after 1830. Mrs.
Blackwood was the daughter of George Gibbes, a baker, -
and the wife of John Blackwood, a merchant, and later
of commiséion_agent George W. Brown. They sold the
property in 1848.

(Thomas, DYKYC, July 6, 1971.)

18 Montagu St. —-- Benjamin Smith, a planter at Beechawee

Plantation, Goose Creek, built this two story wooden
on its full-height brick basement sometime before

1788. It retains outstanding Georgian woodwork. Owned
1809 to 1813 by Chancellor William Henry DeSaussure,
the first director of the United States Mint, and his
wife Elizabeth Ford. The house was severely damaged

by a tornado in 1811._ Dr. Thomas Grange Simons,'who
purchésed the house in 1885, installed paired wiﬁdows
on the exterior and a pressed metal ceiling in the
drawing room.

(Thomas, DYKYC, Dec. 27, 1971. Smith & Smith, Dwell-
ing Houses, 318-321. Stoney, This is Charleston, 8I.)

20 Montagu St. —-- Built before 1809 by Daniel Cobia, this

house of three and one-half stories on a high basement,
of brick, was built by 1809 by Daniel Cobia, a planter
"and a butcher. It was purchased in 1834 by Dr. James
Moultrie, Jr. (1793-1869, a founder of the Medical
College of South Caroclina, whose family lived here for
45 years. -After 1879 it was the home of Gen. Edward
McCrady (1833-1903), whose four-volumme History of - |
South Caroclina was probably begun here. '

(Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 10, 1972. Burton, unpub. MS.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 81.)

23 Montagu St. —— This three story stuccoed brick house was

built c. 1843 by Dr. Thomas Eveleigh' for his daughter,
Mrs. Eliza Rivers. The facade was Victorianized in

the 1890s by John Henry'Bulwinkel, a grocer and saloon-
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keeper, who also added Eastlake mantels inside.
(Thomas, DYKYC, Feb. 7, 1972. )

24 Moﬁ%gu St..—— The small two and one-half story single
" house was built c. 1804 by Daniel Bruckner, a merchant.
It has a single tier piazza on three sides, now partly
enclosed. B
(Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 24, 1972.).

25 Montagu St. —— This three and one-half story brick house
was constructed soon after. /1847 by John Robinson, a
factor in the firm of Robinson & Caldwell, and a son
of John Robinson who built the group of Regency houses
at Judith and Elizabeth streets. '

(Thomas, DYKYC, Feb. 28, 1972.)

27 Montagu St. —— Built c. 1846 for Mfs. D.T. Heriot,

" daughter of Dr. Thomas Eveleigh (who built 23 Montagu
for another daughter). The two and one-half story
brick dwelling remained in the Heriot family until
1885.

(Thomas, DYKYC, March 13, 1972.)

28 Montagu St. —- The two story frame dwelling with a ped-
imented facade was apparently built c. 1809 for Mrs. |
Hannah Groning, wife of John Groning, a merchant.

She retained it until 1833. The house was remodeled
by subsequent owners, but.retains most Adamesque details.

(Thomas, DYKYC, March 27, 1972. Stoney, This is
Charleston, 81l.

29 Montagu St. - Ettsel L. Adams, a merchant, built this
house after acquiring the site in 1849, and sold it
in 1853. The three story brick, on a high basement,
has a mid-19th century town house plan.

(Thomas, DYKYC, April 10, 1972.)

30, 32 & 34 Montagu St. —— The three Italianate houses,
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“one detached -and two ‘sharing a common wall, were built
in 1854 and apparently planned as part of a larger
group extending west to Smith Street. Their design
is attributed (without documentation) to architect
“Edward C. Jones. No. 30 was built by Dr. Christopher
G. White, the double residence by T. Jefferson Tobias
‘and John H. Lopez.

(Thomas, DYKYC, April 24, 1972. Ravenel, Architects,
219.) N R -’

39 Montagu St. —— This two and one-half story frame dwelling
was built c. 1881 by Harriet R. Simons.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 11, 1971.)-

40 Montagu St. - This rambling twenand.Oné half story
frame Vlctorlan was bUllt c. 1891—94”by Bernard Woh-
iers, a grocery firm manager 'It'eombines Eastlake,
Queen'Anne and Shlngle styles of archltecture into

'what the Victorians called the ”Amerlcan” style
(Thomas, DYKYC, May. 8, 1972.) '

42. Montagu St. —-- This two story stuccoed brlck house was
formerly a carriage house, built c. 1850, for 93
Rutledge Ave., built by Edward Leonard Trenholm,

" “merchant and’ shipper. o
(Thomas, DYKYC, June 5, 1972.)

d44 Montagu St.'wm This two and one-half story brlck v111a

 was bullt sometime after 1847 by John Harleston Read,
| grandson of Col. John Harleston whose famlly developed
the suburb of Harleston. This site came from John
Harleston through his daughter Sarah who married Dr.
_W1lllam Read. This is essentially a raised cottage
with its primary rooms on the'seédnd'level, designed
to take advantage of a suburban Slte and its proximity
" to the Ashley River. | |
(Thomas, DYKYC, May 22, 1972.)
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54 Montagnqétiﬁte%This two and. one half story wooden house
on a high basement, with a pediment, piazza facing the
street and donble flight of steps was built c. 1815-
20 by Dr. Edward Washington North, a physician, Inten-

- dant of Charleston and. president of  the Medical. Soci-

. ety of South Carolina.

(Thomas, DYKYC, June 19, 1972. Stoney, This is Charles-
ton, 82 ) : . '
60 Montagu St. —— This spectacular Adamesque mansion was
built c¢. 1802 by Theodore Gaillard, a Cooper. Rice plant-
er and factor. After 1815, it was the home of Gen.
Jacob Read, Revolutiomnary hero and U.S. Senator. From
1819, it was the home of James Shoolbred, the Santee
planter and ‘the first ‘British consul in Charleston.
'From 1851, it was the home of Washlngton Jefferson Ben-
nett, a son of Gov. Thomas Bennett and operator of the
famlly rice and lumber mills. Bennett adopted the orphan
Andrew Buist Murray, who later became a wealthy busi-
nessman and philantropist, whom Murray Boulevard is
- named after. The house has unrestrained Adamesque
interiors. ' |
(Thomas, DYKYC, July 3, 1972. Smith & Smith, Dwelling

Houses, 327-328, 331-333. Stoney, This is Charleston,
87.) _ B

64 Montagu St. —— Two and one half stories of wood on a high

.basement, this notable house was built'by Thomas Ben-
nett (1754- 1814) lumberman, building contractor and
architect (the Orphan House), and mill owner The
front portlco over the stair landing was changed about
1900 to create a broad piazza Wlth the bottom-level
columns supported by high plers The house was built

~ before 1813 when Bennett was llVlng here.

(Thomas, DYKYC, July 17, 1972. Stoney, This is Charles-

ton, 82.)
()j’o
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MORRIS STREET . . . .-

13 Morris St. —- Morris Brown A.M:E. Church was organized
"~ in 1867 by individuals who amicably left  the Emanuel
‘A.M.E. Church on Calhoun Street. .The first pastor,
the Rev. R. H. Cain, rented a‘hall in 1873 at this.

location, which formerly had been used by a military.
group. Then, c. 1875, the lot wes éurehased; theehall
was pushed back on the-let and eeehapel built in front.
The wooden structure.WaS enlerged.a; some point:by
adding two sideiaisles to increase the width. In

1953 the structure was brick veneered. The_intefior
is in a simple classical style. |

(Legerton, Historic Churches, 54-55.)

MURRAY BOULEVARD

Murray Boulevard is named for Andrew.Buist Mur-
ray, a native Charleston who was an orphan but became a
highly successful businessman and generous philantropist
and qulie benefactor. The area back of the waterfront‘
boﬁlevard embraced 47 acres of mud flats between the.Qrigi—
nal shore line ehd the sea-wall, from the weet end of White
~ Point Gardens to the west end of Tradd Street. Reciema— |
tion of this area by filling in the mud flats,.begun by
the City in 1909, was cempleted by_l9ll,.and the tract
was developed into building lots. At Murray's suggestion,
East Battery was linked with the new beulevard by extending_
the seawall south of White Point Gardens. This created
a riverside boulevard over a mile long. 'Murray contributed
about 50 per cent of the cost of the development.
(Stockton, unpub. notes.) | -

10 and 12 Murray Boulevard ~— These t%in houses were two
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of the first.housesebuiLt:oQ_the boulevard. Henry

Cheves, a member of a family of architects and build-

ers, built them for his son and daughter, Henry

Cheves, Jr., and ‘Charlotte Cheves Hardison, about 1916. The
houses are. built of stucco on a wire frame.

(DYKYC, Aug. 8, 1966.)

52 Murray Blvd. =- This imposing Colonial Revival residence 7
was the first house built on Murray Boulevard. It
was built by C. Bissel Jeﬁkins, one of the pioneers
in the reclamation movement. ‘Designed by Walker &
Burden, architects, the 15 rcom dwelling is built of
' Summerville'ﬁrick)with a red Ludovici tile roof.
(DYKYC, May 16, 1932.) ' fS

NASSAU STREET

L ThlS was one of the original streets of Hampstead
lald out in. 1789.

(Stoney, ThlS 15 Charleston 128 )

23 Nassau St. -- This two story Stuccoed brick house with
‘a Greek Revival parapet roof was probably built by
Frederick H. Whithey sometime between 1849, when the"
site was purchased, and 1852, when the building appeared
on a map. The interior is plainly finished. Whitney
also had a "soap and- tallow factory" on this land, which
then extended to Meetlng Street. '
(Stockton, DYKYC, Dec. 12, 1977.)

60 Nassau St. - St. Luke's Reformed Eplscopal Church
was organlzed c. 1887 at 48 Nassau Street and moved
to 60 Nassau, where there was a bulldlng owned by
the Rt. Rev. Peter F. Stevens, the white bishop of
this predominantly black congregatlon. The build-
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30 &

ing had been a laundry and was then in use as an ele-
mentary school for blacks. 'The school building was

replaced by the present structure, completed in 1907.
(Legerton, Historic Churches, 26-27.)

: ’1/ :

_ NEW_STREET
32 New St. —— Alfred Bernard and H.A. Cohen built

these two small houses in the Italianate style in
1872.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

37 New St. —— Thislnotable ﬁﬁo and one-half story brick

house occuples the site of the Charleston Theatre,

‘which stood on what was known as Savage s Green.

_'The green lay- between:fﬁ'creeks, parallellng what

hare now New and Savage streets The high ground was

used for a militia drllllng ground and by boys for a
playground. The lower end of the creeks | were marshy
at low tide but were favorlte sw1mm1ng places at hlgh
tide. In 1792 the Charleston Theatre, designed by

architect James Hoban (c. 1762-1831) was built here.

Born in Ireland, Hoban studied architectural drawing
under Thomas Ivory (d. 1786). He was in Charleston
by 1787, and in 1790 designed the first State House-

.. at Columbia. .The theatre is the only Charleston build-

ing he is known to have designed. The interior was

quite elaborate, but perhaps for financial reasons,

‘Hoban's plan was not followed on the exterior, which

was described. as '"'an amorphous barn." Later, a hand-
some portico was added. 1In 1794, as a concession to

the climate, air pumps, like those used on prison ships,

_ were installed. Later, because of a disagreement

between the faculty and trustees of the South Carolina
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‘Medical College, most of the faculty left the College
“on- Queen Street, purchased the old theatre building
and' established the rival Medical College of the State
of South Carolina. Eventually, the two groups had a
reconciliation and all returned to the College on Queen
Street. The theatre was demolished in 1850.

(Rogers, Charleston in the. ‘Age of the Pinckneys, 110~
111. Ravenel, Architects, /7/-79. Stoney, This is |
Charleston, 82.)

>

ORANGE STREET

Orange Street was cut along the eastern boundary
of the Orange Garden (a publlc pleasure garden for concerts,
etc.) by Alexander Petrle, who in 1767 d1v1ded the land on
the west side of the street into bu1ld1ng lots Lots on the
east side were taken from the rear of lots fac1ng on King
Street. The Orange Garden,_and the street were named for
- the oranges which were planted there .

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Plnckneys, 50 Smith
& Smith, Dwelling Houses, 239. ''Streets of Charleston.')

4 Orange St. —— Built before 1774 by Blake Seay White, this
two and one-half story frame single house was purchased
in 1777 by Samuel Carne, a Tory, whose" property was .
‘confiscated in 1783 by South’ Carollna authorities.
The house has unsp01led Georglan interiors of a fine
degree. ' : -
(Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 4, 1974. Stoney, This is
Charleston, 82.) o

6 Orange St. —— This Georgian single housé was built before
1779 by John Stevenson. Gen. Robert Howe of North
Carolina, commander of the Continental Line in South

Carolina, lived here briefly during the Revolution.
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The top story is a later alteration.
{Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 24, 1979.)

7. Orange St. —— This two and one—half'story'ffame house
in the Géofgian style was built c. 1769 by Col. Charles
Pinckney. A notable feature is the wroﬁght iron rail-
ing of the portico, which has ”S" é¢ro11s ih the cen-
ter pahel. * | ' )

(Jack Leland, CEP, Aug. 27, 1968. Deas, Early Iron-
work, 54-55. Stoney, This is Charleston, 83.)

8 Orange St. —-  Samuel Miller, a carpenter, c. 1777, built
this two & a half story tile-roofed house for his
home.  The addition to the house was ‘designed in (1928
by Samuel Gaillard Stoney. The initials, "CB" in the
balcony are for Caroline Bacon, the then owner. Miller
was for many years a partner of carpenter Job Palmer,
and both were banished by the British to Philadelphia.

(Stoney, unpub. notes.; SCHS.)  , This is
Charleston, 83.) :

9 & 11 Orange St. —-- This is a three and one-half story
frame double teﬁement, built ¢. 1770. No. 1l was
the home of the Rev. Samuel Gilman, pastor of the
Unitarian Church and author of "Fair Harvard."

(DYKYC, July 27, 1936. Stoney, This is Charleston,

83.)
3

PITT STREET

Pitt Street was named for William Pitt, Earl of Chatham,
champion of Colonial rights. It was one of the original
streets of Harleston, laid out in 1770.

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 312, 315. Rogers, Charles-
ton in the Age of the Pinckneys, 61. "Streets of Charles-
ton.") '
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1 Pitt St. —— This two story brick house in the Greek Revi-
val style was built sometime before 1848 by Charles
Henry Lanneau. Bazile Lanneau, who came to South
Carolina in 1755 as aﬁiAbadian exile, purchased'in.
1778'the'éntire'wést side of the block, between Beau-

" fain and Wentworth, and subsequently he and his family
built several houses on the tract.
{Thomas, DYKYC, June 22, 1970.)

2 Pitt St. =- Built before 1788 by Bazile Lanneau, this two
and a half story frame house formerly stood at 34 St.
Philip St. and was moved from the site of the City
Parking Garage there by the Preservation Society of
Charleston, in 1974. By coincidence, the house Lan-
. meau built on St. Philip Street is now across the
street from several houses built by Lanneau and his
family. . . R L

{Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 25, 1978.)

3 Pitt St. -- The frame house here was:built'by Bazile Lanneau
sometime between his purchase of the property in 1778
and his death in 1833. Lanneau, a prosperous currier : {

and tanner, served three terms in the state legisla-~

ture. The third floor was added in the 19th century.

{Stockton, DYKYC, June 18, 1973.)

4 Pitt St. —-— Built after 1815 by Rachel Lazarus, this two
and one-half story frame house was moved from 53 George

St., on the site of the City Parking Garage, by the
Preservation Society of Charleston.

_(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 25, 1978.

5 Pitt St. —- This two stbry stuccoed brick, Greek Revival
house was built by the Lanneau family after 1830. Sub-
h - sequeently, it was the home of the Pollitzer sisters,

who were musicians and participated in the Suffrage
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movement.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.) Thomas, DYKYC, June 22 1970.

7 Pitt St. —— A two story brick Greek Rev1va1 thlS house
was built c. 1837-40 by Bazile R. Lanneau, son of the
first Bazile Lanneau who built 2 and 3 Pitt.

{(Thomas, DYKYC, Aug. 16, 1971.}

9 Pitt St. -- This substantlal brick house was also bUllt
by the Lanneau famlly, after 1830
(Thomas, DYKYC, June 22, 1970.)

13 Pitt St. —— Henry Gerdts, 'a wholesale grocer and commis-
sion merchant, built this two and one half story
bfick house sometime befween 1858 and 1860. The house
is finely detailed, with an elaborate carved brown—
stone entranceway, . with a pedlment on consoles, and
brownstone 51115 and llntels on. the w1ndows ~ The
piazza, with Corlnthlan and Ionic columns and_Corinth—
ian entablature, is also notable.

{Thomas, DYKYC, March 16, 1970. Stoney,.Thié is
Charleston, 83.) ' ' '

18 & 20 Pitt St. —— Samuel H. Wilson, King Street merchant,
banker and real estate deve10per built these two
two-story wooden houses, of six rooms each, in 1880,

as rentals. J. Jenklnson was hls contractor.
(N&C, April 2, 1880.)

21 Pitt St. -- This two and one—half'story brick hHouse
was built about 1838 fOr.Emily Gaillard, wife of Theo-
dore Gaillard. She lived here until she sold it in
1852. A sizable former outbuilding stands in the rear.
(Thomas, DYKYC, July 26, 1971.) o

31 Pitt St. —-- John Schnierle, Mayor of Charleston.in the
1840s and '50s and Major General of the l6th Regiment
of South Carolina Militia, lived here until his death
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in 1869. Schnierle also served in the 5.C. House,
1838-41. Schnierle built this substantial wooden
house, on a high brick basement, about 1849.

'(Stockton, unpub. notes. )

41 Pitt St. -- Association for the Blind -- This building,
formerly occupied by Plymouth Congregationalichurch
was purchased and readapted for use by the Charleston
County’ Association for the Blind, in '1957. The -
former churchyard has been 1andscaped as a fragrance
garden for the blind.

(N&C, Oct. 6, 1957; Oct. 8, 1957.)

52-54 Pitt St. -- Site of the Brown Fellowship Society Hall
and Burial Ground. The Society was founded in 1790
by free blacks as a mutual benevolent association, and
purchased this site in 1794. The property was sold
to the Bishop of Charleston in 1957 and the stones were
moved to'Magnolia Cemetery. In addition to being a
mutual aid burial and benevcslent soéiety, the Brown
Fellowship Society maintained schools for black child-
ren.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

57 Pitt St. —- Bethel Methodist Church. A group of Method-
" ists from the Blue Meetlng House in Cumberland Street
purchased this site im 1797 and built the structure
now called 0ld Bethel Methodist Church, which was moved

in 1880 to 222 Calhoun St. The present Greek Dorlc
temple was bu1lt in 1852-53. The de51gner was a Mr.

_'Curtls, of a famlly of architects and builders. The
contractors were Rebb and Busby Durlng the Civil War,
Bethel was the only Methodist Church in the city which
remained open.

(Mazyck & Waddell, illus. 35. Stoney; This is Charles-
ton, 84. , DYKYC, Sept. 28, 1964. Legerton,
Historic Churches, 42-43.)
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82 Pitt St. —- Built between 1841 and 1843 by Joseph A. San-
ders and Septimus Sanders, brlcklayers, this two and
one-half story brick house is notable for its brick-

work. The site formerly was part of the garden of
84 Pitt St.

(Stockton, DYKYC, August 4 1980.)

84 Pitt St. -~ This substantial wooden double house on a
high brick basement was built c. 1827 by Elias Whilden, °
‘a planter in Christ Church Parish. The house is an

outstanding example of the Regency style, with largely
intact interiors.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 25, 1972.) 1%

PRICE'S ALLEY

This picturesque narrow street was named for Hop- .
kins Price, through whose land the alley ran, in the 1780s.
("Streets of Charleston.') '

2 Price's Alley -- This building was originally a sewage
~pump house and was used for that purpose until 1916.
It was converted into a private residence in the
 1950s. |

(Glenn Robertson, DYKYC, Jan. 9, 1959.)

6 Price's Alley —- This small two and one-half story frame
house was built c¢. 1729 by John Cowan. It is also
known as the Dill House, after a family which occupied

© it from 1758 to 1848. It is also known as 50 King
St.

(Iseley & Cauthen, Charleston Interiors, 44. Stoney,
This is Charleston, 61. Thomas, DYKYC, July 15, 1971.)

Lo




PRIOLEAU STREET

Prioleau Street is named for Samuel Pridléau, Jr.,
through whose lands the étreet.was cut in the 17905; The
street was formerly lined with warehouses and the Cotton
Exchange stood at the northeast corner of Prioleau and
Exchange streets from 1872. - The Cotton Exchange closed
in the late 1920s, and the building was razed in 1956. The
remaining warehouses have been adapted to new uses..
(Stockton, unpub. MS. Thomas, DYKYC, Feb. &4, 1968. Stoney,
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This is Charleston, 84. Preservation Progress, January 1970.)

|

QUEEN STREET

This street was one of the original streets of
the Grand Modell. It was first called Dock Street, after

a boat dock which was dug in the swamp which formerly existed

at the present intersection of the street with East Bay.
Subsequently, it was renamed Queen Street, for Caroline of

Ansbach, the consort of George II. At its western end,

Queen Street ended at a barricade at the present intersection

with  Smith Street until 1849, when it was extended through
the marsh westward to Rutledge Street. At the same time,
Smith Street was extended southward from Beaufain to Queen.

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 56. City
Engineer's Plat Book, No. 77/.)

6 Queen St. -- This antebellum warehouse was for many years
the studio of the late sculptor Willard Hirsch. He
designed the door.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

8 Queen St. —- This three story studcoed brick building was

erected by Joseph Olman sometime after the great fire
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of 1796, which devastated the neighborhood.

{(Thomas, N&C, Dec. 1, 1971. Stoney, This is Charles-—
ton, 85.) : - -

20 Queen St. -- This twOZStOry brick wafehouse;IWhiCh'is _
believed to be antebellum, houses the Footllght Players
Workshop.

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 86.)

22-28 Queen St. -- This notable row.of_three and enefhalf
story, stuccoed brick tenements was built in tne 1790s
by the family of William Johnson, Associate Justice of
the U.S. Supreme Court.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 9 1976.) Stoney; This is
Charleston, 86 )

23 25 Queen St. — This notable double tenement}“three
stories of stuccoed brick, is believed te.date_frOm
c. 1806.  The east facade has been altered.
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 86.) -

32 Queen St. —-- This property is the tea garden of St.
Philip's Church.
44-46 Queen St. -- This double tenement was apparently

built between 1796 and 1802 by Abraham Sasportas,

a French-born Jewish merchant. The two halves of

the building share common chimneys. _The balceny

on 44 Queen St. was added after 1819 by John Schirer,
who put his Latinized initials, "I.S.," in the central
baluster. The accessory buildings are notable.

(Stockton, unpub. MS. , DYRYC, Oct. 27, 1980.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 87 Deas, Early Iron-
work 34-35. ' '

45 Queen St. —— This large brick building was formerly a
double outbuilding to a double tenement which has been
demolished. It was converted into a single residence.

" {Isabella Leland, DYKYC, March 25, 1957.. . Stoney,
This is Charleston, 87.)
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54 Queen St; — Built c. 1760 by Thémés Eife, a méster cab-
inétmaker, who is considered one.bf the best furniture
craftsman of 18th century Charleston. The miniature
.single house has fine_Georgian_wéodwork, |

(Waring,'N&C/CEP Sunday, Aug. 8, 1982.. Bﬁrtdn, unpub.
notes.) . :

57 Queen St. -- Citizens &'Southérn“Nationél Bank Counting
House. This two and one-half story stuccoed brick
building dates from c. 1840. C&S rehabilitated it in

1956, adding the tile roof, cutside stair, and the cy-
press paneling inside. It has a branch bank on the
first:-level and a meeting“room above. The building
also contains displays of artifacts relating to rice
and cotton culture and other facets of local and '
state history. The landscaping of the office and park-

ing area won a National Industrial Landscaping Award
in 1958. '

(C&S)

76 Queen St. -— Built c. 1893-94 by the Graham family,
this two story frame dwelling house now houses the
Gibbes Art Gallery School. '

(Stockton, DYKYC, Dec. 31, 1979.)

78 Queen St. —— This three story brick house was built
by.1865_by John Q'Mara, a bookseller who had his store
on the first level and his residence above. It now
forms:péft of a hotel, the Elliott House, named for
Barnard_(pfonounced BAY-nard) Elliott,'whose mansion
stood near the site in the 18th century. The Elliott
mansion grounds covered the north side of Queen Street
from Meeting to King. Historically, that part of the
block was known as Schencking's Square, after Elliott's
grandfather, Barnard Schencking, who was granted the

land in 1688. o .
(Stockton, unpub. MS. , DYKYC, April 13, 1981.)
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82 Queen St. —— John O'Mara;:Bnilder of 78 Queen'St., also
built this two story stuccoed brick building. It was
built ¢. 1869 with the help of a loan from the City of
Charleston, under a program for rebUiiding the areas
destroyed by the great fire of 1861 (including this
part of Queen Street) and by the Federal bombardment.
(Stockton, DYKYC Aug 25 1980. )

84 Queen St. —- William Ufferhardt a German 1mm1grant who
became a wealthy King Street merchant and member of
City Council, built this two story stuccoed brick build-
ing in 1876 as a tenement.,.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 1, 1980.)

90, 92, 96 & 98 Queen St. —- Edward J. Lewith, a proaperous
real estate investor, built these four frame houses as
tenements in the 1870s. (Stockton, DYKYC, May 2, 1977.)

94 Queen St. -- This one'atory frame building'Was built in
1882 by the United States Electric Illuminating Co. of
Charleston. The company was organlzed in 1881 and was
Charleston's first electric utility company. The com-

: pany, failed, however, when it was unable to secure a
city contract to provide electric street lighting, and
electrification did not return to Charleston until 1886.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Jan. 5, 1981.) |

132-136 and 142 Queen St. —-- These wooden tenements were
built by the Marlboro Realty Co., in 1913.
(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

133 Queen St. -- John Henry Bullwinkel built thié'two’story
stuccoed brick building as his grocefy store and resi-
dence, c. 1869. He was a member of a German family
which specialized in the grocery business.

{Stockton, DYKYC, April 6, 1981.)
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140 Queen St. —— This Italianate building was built in 1850-52
~as the first'Roper_HospitaIQ ‘The building, which has the
charactéfistiq.square towers, brackets and arcaded piazzas
of the Italianate style, was designed by‘architect Edward
- C. Jones and built by James Curtis. It had arcaded wings
. _thch were'damaged_in the earthquake of 1886 ahd finally
demolished in 1913; when the_main part of the building
became the Marlboro Apartments. The first Roper Hospital
was endowed by Thomas Roper. The center section had a
library an amphitheatre for clinical lectures and living
quarters for physicians. During the eartﬁquake, there
were 100 patients in the building; one was killed.

{(Whitelaw & Levkoff, 48, 68. Ravenel, Architects, 206,
208. Nielsen, DYKYC, Dec. 6, 1937.)

Queen & Franklin, northeast corner -- Site of the Medical
College of South Carolina, built in 1827, three years
after the college was founded. Designed by Frederick
Wesner, the two story“brick'building had an.Ionic potti—
co and urns‘along';hé parapef_roof. The portido crashed
during the éarthquéke and was never replacéd;' The Med-
ical College moved to Barre Street in 1914, and the
building was demolished in 1938 for construction of the’
Robert Mills Manor. |

(Whitelaw & Levkoff,'69. Ravenel, Ardhitécts, 140, 142.
Mazyck & Waddell, illus. 19.) -

192 Queen St. —- Believed to have been built c. 1850, this

two story house is of board-and-batten construction and

has a two tiered piazza with openwork columns and rails:
in the Carpenter's Gothic style. )
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 88.) _ ,)6
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RACE STREET

Race Street probably recelved its name from the
proximity of two race courses: the Newmarket Race Course,
on the Blake Lands, which dated from c. 1760, and the Wash-
ington Race Course, in the Village of Washlngton, datlng :
from later in the 18th century. It was laid out orlglnally g
as Gadsden Street of the Vlllage of Washlngton Race

Street was extended in 1903 to include the former Hope Place.
(Allen, DYKYC, Oct. 25, 1982. )

28 Race St. - Holy Trinity Greek Orthodox Church.  The ,
first Greek Orthodox Church in South Carolina was built
in 1911 at Fishburne and St. Philip streets. The Hel-
lenic Community Center was built at 30 Race Street
in 1940. Construction of the present church began in
1950 and was completed in 1953. Designed by Demetrios
LlOlllO,:a Charleston archltect the church is a close
copy of a Byzantlne church. Icons in the interior are
by PhOtlS Kontoglou of Athens, Greece.

{Le§erton Historic Churches, 134- 135 - Stockton, -
DYKYC, July I3, I97%4.) ' '
- _ [

RADCLIFFE STREET

This street. is named for Thomas Radcliffe,.
Esq. who owned the land on which Radcliffeborough was devel-
oped, and Lucretia Radcliffe, his widow, who had the suburb
laid out after her husband's death.

26 Radcliffe St. —- Central Baptist Church, built in 1891,
was designed by John P. Hutchinson, a black architect.
The interior contains murals palnted in 1912 1915 by
- artist Amochamed Milai of Calcutta India.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)
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57 Radcliffe St. —- This house is believed to date from c.
1816, although is posSibly is earlier. Mrs. Sophia
Frances Perry Shepherd Wilson, daughter of Thomas Rad-
cliffe Shepherd a nephew of Thomas Radcllffe, ae-
qu1red the property in a marrlage settlement 1n 1816
on her marriage to Alexander Barron Wllson lt re-
malned in the Wilson. family untll 1882 The bulldlng
has characterlstlcs, in the roof p1tch and in its ele—
vated main floor, of houses in the West Indles It

is a one and one-half story frame dwelling on a hlgh
brick basement, and formerly ‘had a piazza extendlng
‘over the sidewalk. ‘

(Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 20, 1969.) 7

RUTLEDGE AVENUE

Named' for John Rutledge, President and Governor
of South Carolina, delegate to the Continental CongreSS and
to the U.S. Constitutional COnventiOn;'Chief Justice of the
South Carolina Supreme Court'and'Chief Juetioeaof the U.S.
Supreme Court. It hegan as Rutledge Street; laid out as
one of the original streets of Harleston in 1770, and ran
from Beaufain Street to Manigault (now Calhoun) Street.
There was a causeway across Bennett's Mill Pond which con-
tinued. the street to Calhoun Street. North of Calhoun, in
Cannonborough, the street was known first as Pinckney Street,
and later as Rutledge Avenue. Rutledge Street was extended
south from Beaufain to Broad Street, across the City Marshes,
in 1849. Bennett' s Mill Pond was filled in, between 1880
and 1900 and the causeway was replaced by a real street.
The name,.Rutledge Avenue, was applied to the entire length.

(Stockton, unpub. notes. CEO Plats, 77. Rogers, Charles-—
ton in the Age of the Pinckneys, 61.) :
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22 Rutledge “Ave. -- This two'stdry'brick and stucco resi-
dence was built c. 1902 for Dr. Manning Simons. It
was designed by Bradford Lee Gilbert of New York,
architect for the South Carolina Inter-State and West
-Indian Exposition, held in 1901-02-on the present
site of Hampton Park. The style.of the building is
an early: 20th.century interpretation of the Renais-
sance style, which characterized the Exposition.
{(Thomas, DYKYC, Sept. 28, 1970.)

30 Rutledge Ave. —- This frame house was built c. 1902 by
Anna M. Wagner. It stood originally at-28 St. Philip
St. and was moved in 1975 by Dr. Anna M. Wagner, a
granddaughter of the builder. The move was coordin-
ated by.the Preservation Society of Charleston, which
~moved several structures from the site of the  City
Parking Garage at St. Philip & George streets.
(Stockton, N&C, Jan. 27, 1975.) o

40 Rutledge Ave. —- Albert W. Todd, an.architect, built

this Colonial Revival house as his residence, c. 1903.

Subsequently, woodwork from Bélvedere Plantation {c.
1800) on Charleston Neck was installed by Dr. William
Horlbeck Frampton, in the 1920s.

(Stockton, unpub. MS. » DYKYC, Dec. 15,‘1980.)
42 Rutledge Ave. --:This two and ome-half story frame single
~house was built between. 1856 and 1859 by Thomas J.
" 0'Brien.
(Stockton DYKYC, May 14 1973. ) .
44 Rutledge Ave., —- O'Brien also bullt thlS two and one-

half story frame single house, in 1872. Wllllam.
Jones was his contractor. . . _ .
(Stockton, DYKYC, May 14, 1973. , unpub. notes.)

46 Rutledge Ave. -- This reproduction Charleston = single
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house was built in 1983 .for George and Janice Kennerty.
It was designed by architect Douglas Boyce, Jr.
(Allen, DYKYC, April 25, 1983.)

52 Rutledge Ave. —-— A late Victorian, this large wooden
house, which has very fine Colonial Revival interior
details, was built in 1912 for Harriet F. Creighton,
wife of George C. Creighton, president of:the Whipple -
Lumber. Company. -

(Greene, unpub. notes; SCHS.)

61-63 Rutledge Ave. —— The Berkeley: Court Apartments build-
ing was erected c. 1922 by Edward J. Murphy, builder
of the Fort Sumter Hotel. The building is of fireproof

construction.
(Stockton, N&C, April 28, 1974.)"
. 64 Rutledge Ave. —— George Harper built this large wooden

residence in the Colonial:Revival style in 1908. P.G.
Powers was his contractor.

(Stockton, unpub. notes:)

67 Rutledge A#é"—— Built c. 1851 by‘Céi James H. ‘Taylor,
this house is in the Persian Villa style of architecture.
A native of New England, Col. Taylor entertained Daniel
Webster in this house, but his three soms fought for

the Confederacy; 6ne falling at Seven Pines.

(Isabella Leland, N&C, Nov. 29, 1956.)

73 Rutledge Ave. —— Built c. 1852 by William G. Whilden,
this house was remodeled or rebuilt c. 1893 by Isaac
W. Hirsch, a King Street'clothing merchant, in the
Second Empire style. The stag w1nd0w is a pun, hirsch
being the German word for stag.
(Thomas, DYKYC, Nov. 10, 1969 )

74 Rutledge Ave. —- Documentatlon of thlS house has proved
elusive. It was built perhaps before 1783 by Isaac
Child Harleston (1745-1798), a member of the First

Provincial Congress and an officer with the Sixth
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Regiment of Continentals during the Revolution. Or

it may have been built between 1783 and 1793 by Maj.
Peter Bocquét, another Revolutionary politician and
officer (see 95 Broad). It may also have been built
between 1796 and 1802 by John Mathews, another Patriot
of the Revolution, member of the Continental Congress
and Governor of South Carolina in 1781-83. Most in-

terior details are in the Adamesque taste of c. 1800,

_ but: some Georgian features point to a possible earlier

construction date.
(Thomas, DYKYC, May 18, 1970.)

81 Rutledge Ave. —- This imposing Regency style house was

87

built c. 1826 by Dr. Joseph Glbver, a noted Charleston
physician. The service wing is older, c. 1775. 1In
1906, the property was purchased by Cavaliere Giovanni
Sottile, consul for Italy.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

89 Rutledge Ave. —- James White built these houses, with

spacious proportions typical of the mid-19th century.

 Built c¢. 1852, the corner house was apparently his

residence. Eighty-seven Rutledge was built later,

_ replacing a two story wooden house sometime before 1866.

White was at various times the city lamplighter, a tavern

keeper and master of the City Alms House.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 12, 1980.)

93 Rutledge Ave. -- This Italianate. mansion was built c. .

1850 by Edward L. Trenhdlm, a wealthy cotton export
merchant. whose company operated blockade runners during
theCivil War.

(Nepveux, George Alfred Trenholm, 8, 10. Stoney,
This is Charleston, 89.)

94 Rutledge Ave. —-— Built c. 1853 by. Isaac Jenkins Mikell,

a wealthy Edisto- Island planter, for his third bride,
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this Italianate villa has an imposing portico with .
‘Jupiter or ram's head capitals. It was described in
1857 as '"one of the most ambitiocus of the private .
dwellings of Charleston." The interior has a curving
stair and profuse plasterwork typical- of the period.

In 1866, when real estate values were: severely depressed,
Mikell sold his town house to Edward Willis, a local
:merchant, for $22,500. Later, it was the -home of Mayor.
~John Ficken. From 1935 to 1960, it housed the Charles-
ton County Free Library. It is again in residential

use.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 27, 1975. . Stoney, N&C, April
26, 1964. Mrs. Townsend Mikell, unpub. MS.; CCL.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 90. Smith & Smith, Dwell-
ing Houses,321.)

95 Rutledge Ave.’ -- This substantial stuccoed brick house
was built c¢. 1820 by Thomas Bannister Seabrook, an
Edisto planter.

{Stockton, unpub. notes.)

97 Rutledge Ave. -- George Gibbon built this frame dwelling
- house in 1885 as his home. Henry Oliver was the con-
tractor. The foundation is built of Stoney Landing
brick. This was the home of Maud Gibbon who founded
the Charleston Symphony Orchestra in 1919. Pablo
Casals, the noted cellist, was among her famous guests.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

101 Rutledge Ave. —— This house and its outbuildings were
" built between 1796 and 1804 by William Stevens Smith,
an attorney, planter and legislator, on land which he .
thought belongéd to his wife, Juliette Waring Smith, -
but which was legally owned by her kinsman, Benjamin
Waring of Columbia. Smith had to inititate a court
sult to clear up the misunderstanding, so that he could
sell the property in 1804. Smith said he built this
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- house as his home, but never lived in-it, according
.to court records. . Subsequent owners included the
physician Dr. Thomas Ballard McDow, who achieved
notoriety for himself and for the house, by fatally
shooting, in the basement office, Capt. Francis War-
rington Dawson, editor and publisher of the News &
Courier, in 1889. Dawson had gone to McDow's office
to remonstraté with him about McDow's alleged improper
~attentions to a young Frenchwoman in Dawson's employ.
After a sensational trial, McDow was acquitted of the
murder charge.

(Ravenel, Charleston Murders, 71-107.  Stockton, unpub.
- MS. , DYKYC, Jan. 25, 1982.)

104 Rutledge Ave. -- This stuccoed brick single house was
built c. 1816 by Thomas Bannister Seabrook, a prosperous
Edisto: Island: planter. The charming Victorian tower
was a .  later addition.

{Stockton, unpub. notes.)

121 Rutledge Ave. —- Cannon Pafk._ This site was once covered
by Bennett's Mill Pond. By 1880, this part of the pond
had been filled and designated Camnon's Mall, in honor
of Daniel Cannon, who with Thomas Bennett, Sr., had
developed sawmills in the vicinity. A landscape design
was executed by Frederick Laﬁ-Olmsteads but never com-
pletely executed because the park was chosen as the
site of the Thomson Auditorium. Architect Frank P. Mil-
burn designed the Beaux Arts style building which,
according to contemporaneous accounts, was meant to be
a lasting memorial to John Thomson, who had bequeathed
$30,000 to the City & whose:.bequest met most of the
$35,000 cost of the project. The building was completed
in 90 days in order. to be ready foﬁ the United Confed-
erate Veterans reunion.. The 8,000 seat auditorium con-

‘tinued to serve conventions until 1907, when it was




“occupied. by the Charleston Museum, which remained here
until 1980. Afterwards, the buildiﬁg'burned and the
ruins were demolished, leaving only the portico columns.
"The City plans to complete the park according to the
Olmstead design, but incorporate the columns into the
pattern. : R
~ {Stockton, DYKYC, June 22, 1981. Whitelaw & Levkoff,
1080 | _ R
135 Rutledge Ave.- St. Francis Xavier‘Hospital. The Sisters-
of Our Lady of Mercy have been ministering to the sick:
in Charleston since 1829. A Catholic hospital was es-
tablished by the order in 1868, and in 1882 they built
an infirmary on Calhoun Street. It was replaced in 1926
by. a masonry building which is now the rear wing of:the
hospital, as: is a wing added in 1942. St. Francis'
-Nursing School opened in 1900 in a building which was
demolished to make room for the present main hospital
building. In 1949 a new building for the nursing school
and home was built at Ashley_Avenue and Mill Street.
(Charleston Grows, 187. Whitélaw &;Levkoﬁf;_IOO%lol.)

156 Rutlédge Ave. —- This: two and one-half story frame
- single house is believed to date from c. 1808. For
many years it was the home of William Johnson, a
U.S. Supreme Court Justice. .Born in 1771 at. the family
plantation at Goose Creek; Johnson served in. the S.C.
House of Representatives and was- elected to the S.C.
Court of Common Pleas, serving until 1804, when Thomas
Jefferson appointed him the the Supreme Court.
(Thomas, N&C, June 3, 1968.)

172 Rutledge Ave. -- Ashley Hall School. Built c. 1816
by Patrick Duncan, this Regency villa was, aCCOrding
to tradition, designed by an EnglisHarChiteCt° It is

similar to the work of William Jay in Savannah. After
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1838, it was the hon . o2f James R. Pringle, speaker of
the S.C. House and customs collector. It was later
owned by George A. Trenholm, wealthy shipping merchant,
owner of Civil War blockade runmners and Confederate
Secretary of the Treasury. From 1870 to. 1907, it was
the home of Charles 0. Witte, the German consul. In
1909, Miss Mary Vardrine McBee established the school
here.

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 332-333:. Charleston
Grows, 285-286. Rhett & Steele, 86-87. Ravenel,
Architects, 115. Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 17, 1977.
Nepveux, George Alfred Trenholm, 7-9. Stoney, This
is Charleston,91.)

179 Rutledge Ave. -- Designed by érchiteétssAbrahams & Seylé,

this substantial brick house took 11 Years tb‘COmplete
and was described as ''the most carefully built house in
the city." Construction was begun in 1876 by Edmonds
T.'Brown, a pfominent Charleston wholesale hat merchant,
and completed under the.bwnership of George A. Wagemner,
a local gfocery wholesaler and phosphate industrialist..
The time lapse in construction and the taste of two
owners is apparent in that the exterior architecture is
rather conservative, in the Charleston taste of the
1870s, while the interior has high Victorian features

of the 1880s. It was later the home of Wagener's daugh-

ter and son-in-law, Dr. Harrison Randolph, president of

 the College of Charleston:

(Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 31, 1981. Stoney, This is
Charleston, 91.) : .

182 Rutledge Ave. -- Brith Sholom Beth Israel Congregation.

Brith Sholom Orthodox Jewish congregation was organized
in 1854 and dedicated a synagogue in 1875 at St. Philip
and Calhoun streets. A group of members left in 1911
and formed Beth Israel Congregation. In 1945, the
present synagogue was built by Beth Israel. In 1955,
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the two congregations merged as Brith Sholom Beth Is-
rael. The synagogue was enlarged and the beautiful |
Classic Revival interior of the old Brith Sholom
sanctuary was rebuilt inside this structure. The re-
‘modeled synagogue was dedicated in 1956. The Addle-
stone Hebrew Academy is housed on. the premises.
(Legerton, Historic Churches, 140-141.)

185 Rutledge Ave. —— Daniel Cannon, sawmill owner and builder
' aﬁd‘developer of Cannonborough, gave the site of this
house in trust for his niece, Sarah Peronneau Webb, in
1798. The house, possibly constructed by Cannon himself,
is believed to date from around that time.

(Thomas, DYKYc; March 6, 1972. Stoney, This is Charles-—
ton, 91.) _

554 Rutledge Ave. —— Rutledge Avenue Baptist Church was or-
ganized in 1892 as the Cannon Street Baptist Church.
It moved to this location with a new name in 1918.
(Legerton, Historic Churches, 120-121.)

570 Rutledge Ave. —— Salem Baptist Church. This Gothic
Revival building, built in 1931, was formerly St. Pe-
ter’'s Episcopal Church. St. Peter's, which combined
the congregations of old St. Peter's on Logan Street
(burned in 1861 fire), and Christ Church, Charleston,
built a new church at 1393 Miles Drive in the 1970s.
Salem Baptist Church was organized in 1867 in a house
in St. Michael's Alley and built a church on Line
Street in 1912. The congregation moved here in the

1970s .-
(Legerton, Historic Churches, 126-127, 132-133.)

w

Noisette's Rose Farm was halfway between present-day Grove
and Mount Pleasant streets. WNoisette, a French horti-

‘culturist, developed tea-roses which were considered
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the finest, and were in catalogs of outstéhding:rose—
growers. They included the Marechal Neil, Paul Neyron,
Devoniensis and Cloth of Gold. "

 (DYKYC, Feb. 23, 1948.)

656 Rutledge Ave. -- St. Barnabas Lutheran Church was.
founded in 1883 at America Street and Hampstead Mall,
as a mission of St. John's. 1In 1921, the congregation

moved to the present brick church.
(Legerton, Historic Churches, 142-143.)

31»/

'St. Margaret Street

West End of St. Margaret St. —-- Lowndes' Grove Plantation
House. The Grove Plantation was developed about the
middle of the 18th century by John Gibbes. His plan-

tation house with its large garden of exotic plants,
was destroyed during the Siege of Charleston by the
British in 1780. It stood some distance to the
southwest of the present house, which was built be-
fore 1790 by George Abbott Hall. The house was re-
modeled iﬁ.the Adamesque style after 1804 when it was
acquired by Congressman William Lowndes. The front.
piazza with the Gothic Revival arches on the ground
level, was added c. 1830 by the Rose family. Later
this was the home of Capt. Frederick W. Wagener who
e

kept a private racetrack on the plantation and allowed
the property to be used by the South Carolina Inter-
'State and West Indian Exposition in 1901-02. The house.
was used as the Women's Building by the Daughters of

the American Revolution and the Colonial Dames, who
served Summerville tea. President Theodore Roosevelt

had dinner here, on his visit to the Exposition.
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The Wagener Farm was acquired in 1917 by James Sottile,
who developed it into building lots and streets, leav-
1ng the Grove House with an entire block of grounds.

(Stockton, unpub. MS. o DYKYC Aug. 25 1975.
Smith, ”Charleston and Charleston Neck " 15. Whitelaw
&;Levkoff 139.)

ST. MICHAEL'S ALLEY

Michael's Alley —— Law office of James Louis Petigru.
Built in 1848-49 and designed by architect Edward B.
White, this two story stuccoed brick building shows
the influence of'Georgieﬁ architecture. The balcony
was placed on the building in the 1920s by Susan Pringle
Frost who salvaged it from a demolished building.

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 91. Whitelaw & Levkoff,
168. Ravenel, Architects, 195, 200.)

ST. PHILIP STREET

St Phlllp Street received its name from its course
along51de the Glebe Lands of St. Phlllp S Church

("Streets of Charleston "}

15, 17 & 19 St. Philip St. -= John.S; Riggs, who developed

Charleston's streetcar system in the 1860s, built these
three:Italianate single houses (along with their coun-
terparts et 88 and 90 Wentworth stc.) in.1859—60 as
tenements.. These three houses. are now part of the
College of Charleston campus. |

~ {(Stockton, DYKYC, Jan. 1, 1973.)

44 St. Philip St. —— This two story frame house was built

after 1770 by Edward McCrady, a Patriot in the Revolu-

tion who was exiled by the British to St. Augustine,
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- and who ran'McCrady's'Taverﬁ, at which Washington was
entertained in 1791. This house is now part of the.
College of Charleston campus. .

(Stockton, DYKYC, March 11, 1974. )"

50 St. Philip St. —— This parking_lot inéludés.the site of
the Charleston Female.Seminary; founded in 1870 by
Henrietta Aiken Kelley. Known as "Miss KeIléY's School,"
it was one of the 1eadiﬁg schools for girls in the
South. The building, constructed in 1871, was designed
byljohn Henry Devereux and of "mixed Roman' or Ital-

ianate architecture, with an'arcaded and pedimented
facade. _ _ o .k |
(Stockton, unpub. notes.  Whitelaw & Levkoff, 89.)

68 St. Philip St. -- This parking lot was the site of the
B'rith Sholom Synagogue, built for an Orthodox Jewish
congregation in 1874~75. The Classic Revival building
was designed by Abrahams & Seyle, architects, and
built by John Henry Devereux, the architect who was a
contractor as well. The interior of the building was
rebuilt inside the B'rith Sholom Beth Israel Synagogue
at 182 Rutledge Ave., in 1955-56.

(Legerton, Historic Churches, 140—141,M_Stockton, e
unpub. notes.) '

81 St. Philip St. =-- Southern Bell Telephone and'Telegfaph
Co. opened an office in Charleston in 1879, by the end
of which year there were 84 telephones in service. This
building dates from the late 1940s. |
(Charleston Grows, 118.)

134 St. Philip St. -- St. Patrick's Roman Catholic Church.
This parish was established in 1837 for Catholics liv-
ing on The Neck. A wooden church was built in 1838.
It was rolled across the street in 1886 and used as

4

Qs
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school; it was replaced in 1930 by the present brick
schbol_building at 125 St. Philip. The present church,
designed by Patrick Charles Keeley, a Brooklyn archi-
tect, was constructed in 1886-87. Keeley also designed
St. Finbar's and its successor, the Cathedral of St.
John the Béptist on Broad Street, as well as hundreds
'of other churches across the country. The contractor
was H.L. Cade, who was also one of the contractors for
the Cathedral. | |

(Stockton, DYKYC, March 30, 1981. O'Brien, St. Patrick's,
35-56. Legerton, Historic Churches, 72-73.)

218 St. Philip St. —— This frame house was built after 1849 by
John H. Hartz, a grocer. From 1920 to 1929 it was the
location of the Peoples Federation Bank, which was es-
tablished by a group of black businessmen. '
(Thomas, DYKYC, July 31, 1972.) C«

SAVAGE STREET .

Savage Street is named for William Savage, who owned
land in the vicinity before 1789. '
("Streets of Charleston.")

36_& 38 Savage St. -— These two frame houses were built
speculatively in 1872 by Alfred Bernard and H.A. Cohen.
(Stockton, unpub. notes.) ' ' 1

SIMONS STREET

71 Simons St. —-- Israel Reformed Episcopal Church was or-
ganized in 1875 from a mission of the Protestant Epis- -

copal Church. Fifteen men and women from the mission
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~at Rikersville joined the Reformed Episcopal Church
which was then being newly. organized by the Rev. Ben-
jamin Johnson. The new denomination offered black

Episcopalians equal recognition in both the clerical
and lay service of - the church. The congregation met
first in the home of a member, then purchased this
site and erected a church. It was destroyed by a
storm in 1882 and was replaced by this building, the

cornerstone for whichfwas laid Aug. 29, 1884, A
subsequent pastor was the Rt. Rev. Sanco King Rembert,
the first black man to be consecrated to the office
of bishop in the Reformed Episcopal Church.
(Legerton, Historic Churches. ) (

. SMITH. STREET

Named for Benjamin Smith, Speaker of the Commons House

of Assembly, Smith Street was one of the streets of Harles-

ton, laid out in 1770. Until 1849, Smith Street terminated
at- Beaufain Street. In July 1849, the Committee on City
Lands had the street extended south through the c1ty marsh
lands to Queen Street. '

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Plnckneys, 61.
"Streets of Charleston.”™ CEO Plats, /7; City Archives.) .

34 Smith St. -~ This Italian Villa was built c. 1855 for
EEEEEE‘EEEEEEEQP,'WhO also built the similar house at
1 Meeting St. Robertson was a wealthy merchant of Scots
origin.  He and his wife, Mary Joanna Robertson, left
the property to their niece, Amna Ingraham Pickens,
wife of Samuel B. Pickens (1839-91). A member of a .
family notable in South Carolina history since the
Revolution, Pipckens was born in Pendleton and was a
member of The Citadel Class of 1861, and of the cadet
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unit which first shots of the Civil War, two. warning
shots at the Federal supply ship Star of the West, to
prevent it from relieving Fort Sumter. Cadet G.E.
Haynsworth fired the first shot; Cadet Pickens fired
the second. After the war Pickens worked for the South
Carolina Railroad and was a rice planter on the Cooper
River.: After 1902, this was the home of Julius Jahnz,
a prominent businessman and banker who, as Chairman

of the Commissioners of Public Works, was instrumental
in diverting the Edisto River to supply the city water
system. . _

(Thomas, DYKYC, March 7, 1970.)

59 Smith St. —— Capt. Joseph Jenkins of Brick House Planta-
tion bought two large lots in 1818 and built this large
single house as his town residence. Built for the
climate, the house has high ceilings, from the brick
basement upward. Rooms have windows on three sides to
give cross ventilation and piazzas along the south and
west sides add to the requisites of comfort. Between
the Civil War and the turn of the century, five other

residences were built on the Jenkins lot.

(Stoney, N&C, June 6, 1964. , This is Charleston,
93.)
94 Smith St; - Built between.1814 and 1822, as an invest—

ment, by Morris Brown, this is a plain but nicely
finished frame single house. Brown, a free black man,
was. a founder of the African Methodist Episébpal‘(A.M.E.)
Church in Charleston. ~In 1822, he was compelled to
_leaVe South Carolina because of the authorities' sus-
pician (never proved) that the A.M.E. Church was in-
volved in the alleged Vesey plot. Brown went to Phila-
delphia and subsequently became an A.M.E. bishop. He
sold this property in 1829. While in Charleston, Brown




400

lived at the corner of. Wentworth and Anson streets
(Stockton, DYKYC, March 7, 1977.)

96 Smlth St. —— This small frame 51ngle house was built by
Richard Holloway, a free black master carpenter, be-
tween 1822 and 1830. It is similar to the house at,

221 Calhoun St., which was also built by Holloway

Both were built as investments by Holloway, whomat his
death in 1843 had accumulated some 20 houses. Dis- o
tinctive features of these houses are the Palladian
windows in the front gables and the plzzas under the
main roofs.

{Stockton, DYKYC, March 7, 1977.)

109 Smith St. -- This small frame single'house was.bUilt
after 1880 for Julia Ann Ruledge Kiett, Wlfe of Wade'
H. Kiett, a black school teacher.
(Stockton, DYKYC, July 18, 1978.}

121 Smith St. -- David Riker, a real estate developer, built -
thlS two and one—half story 51ngle house of wood on
a high brick basement between 1853 and 1854.
(Stockton, DYKYC, May 18, 1981.)

134 Smith St. —- This large masonry house was bu1lt between
1855 and 1859 by John Bickley as a rental unlt since
Blckley-contlnued to live at 64 Vanderhorst St. The
first known occupant was Col. John Cunningham, an
attorney. Although it was converted to apartments in the
1920s with incompatible additions, the house retains
much of the original interior detail in the florid style

of the late 1850s.

(Stockton, unpub. MS. » DYKYC, Jan. 24, 1977.
Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 27, 1969.) o :

1
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SOCIETY STREET

Society Street is named for the South Carolina
Society which bought property along the street in 1759,
Part of the street was originally named Centurlan Street

in honor of one of Lord Anson's ShlpS

("Streets of Charleston." Rogers, Charleston in the Age

32 SOC1ety St. —- Gabriel B. Browne bu1lt this substantial
brick 31ngle house after purchasing the site in early

1846. The house has unusually large, well-proportioned
rooms.

(Thomas, DYKYC, Nov. 23, 1970.)

36_Society.St. -—- Henry T. Street, a well-to-do commission
merchant, built this large Greek Revival double house
of stuccoed brick, c. 1840, using the raised brick
basement of a wooden house built c. 1804 by John Gardner,
a blacksmith, and destroyed in the gfeat fire of 1838.
The double flighf:of entrance stairs was added in
1968, when the house was rehabilitated.
(Thomas, DYKYC, Dec. 21, 1970.)

40 & 42 Society St. —- Mrs. Juliana Dupre built these two
stuccoed brick houses as rental property. The house

at 42 Soc1ety was built c. 1850, the one at 40 Society
c. 1854. | |

(HCF)

43 Society St; -- This three and one-half stbry.brick resi-
dence was part of a complex of buildings which Robert M.
Venning, a Christ Church planter and factor, constructed
between 1840 and 1851, on land cleared by the great fire
of 1838. Surviving Venning houses include 43 and 46
Society and 58 andl60 Anson St. Family tradition said
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that Venning constructed 43 Sdciety'c. iS&O-for_one of ' 3
his sons, as a wedding gift. It remained in the Venning |
family until 1863. . R

(Thomas, DYKYC, Dec. 14, 1970.)

44 Society St. —— Isaac Reeves built this small brick house,
deeply set in a large garden c. 1840.
- (HCF) o

46 Soc1ety St. —— Jonah M. Vennlng, a lumber merchant, factor,

commission merchant and member of a promlnent planter
family of Christ Church. Parlsh,_purchased.thls corner
lot in 1820{ 'Venniﬁg¥'who iived in a house he built ..
at 40 Charlotte, retained the property here until his ;
death in the 1860s. .Family tradition has it  that ?
his kinsman Robert Murrell Venning bﬁilt this this
large brick house, c. 1840, as his town residence.
The property retains a two story kitchen building and
a stable. _ '
(Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 11, 1971.)

48 Society St. -- This two story brick commercial /residen~
tial building was constructed soon = after the great
fire of 1838 as part of a'complex of buildings owned
by Susan Robinson, wife of John Robinson, who built

" the complex of houses on Judith and Elizabeth streets.
(Thomés, DYKYC, Dec. 28, 1970. Stockton, unpﬁb; notes.)

49-51 Society St. -~ The western part of this interesting :
building was built c. 1838 by Edward Roach. The prop-
erty was acquired in 1883 by the Roman Catholic Dio-
cese, which established St. Peter's Colored School
here and added the eastern wing after 1894. Later
‘the building became the convent of the Oblate Sisters
of Charity.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)
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55 Society St. — 0ld High School of Charleton, designed

by architect Edward B. White, was built c. 1842. White
also designed the portico which was added in 1850.

Its terra cotta Corinthian capitals, made in New Eng-
land, were lost in the 1886 earthquake, and appropriate
replacements will be installed (1985). The school moved
in 1881 to the.Radcliffe-King Mansion at George and
Meeting streets. Subsequently the building was used

for various purposes, but was vécanﬁ for many years
before it_was.fehébilitated in 1983-84, as apartments.

(Ravenel, Architects, 186, 195, 199. Stockton, DYKYC,
July 27, 1970. Stoney, This is Charleston, 94.)

56 Society St. —— This substantial stuccoed brick house was

built c. 1840 by Dr. Joseph Johnson, a medical scien-
tist, astronomer, historian and Intendant of Charles-
‘ton. It has notable interiors with spacious drawing
rooms and a handsome stairhall.

{HCF)

58 Society St. -- John Charles Burckmyer, a commisSion mer-

chant, built this substantial stuccoed brick house
sometime after the great fire of 1838, apparently as
his residence. It remained in his family until 1871.
(Greene, unpub. notes; SCHS.) '

59 Society St. é;rJonah M. Venning built this three story
brick house for income purposes, c. 1839.
(HCF) |

63-65 Soéiety St. — Formerly_a'Germaﬁ Catholic Chﬁréh, “

this building has been, since 1947, Palmetto Post
112 of the American Legipn} | | .
(N&C, Sept. 30, 1947.)

66 Society St. -- This unusual house, with an extension

on the west side and ironwork on the piazzas, was

built c¢. 1839 by William T. Hieronymous. The interior-
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was remodeled in 1965 in contemporary style, by archi-
tect Ffederick M. Ehni. Hieronymus was a partner with
Thomés_O‘Brien in a livery stable in Church_Street.
He built this three story brick residehcérwith_a_”fire
loan'" from the Bank of the State of SQuth Carblina.

{Thomas, Nov. 2, 1970. Stoney, This is Charleston,
95.) _

75 Society St. -- This three story brick house was built
c. 1839, with a loan from the Bank of the State of
South Carolina, by Mary Elizabeth Burckmeyer Elsworth
Eckhardt Later, it was the home of Dr. John Burck- .
meyer Patrick, who bUllt his office across the street'
at 82 SOC1ety St.

(Greene, unpub MS. )

79 Society St. -— This three story brick building was con=:
structed by Marx E. Cohen,.an Ashley River planter,
after he purchased the vacant site in 1843. Born in -
Charleston in 1808, Cohen was a son of the prominent.
merchant and philantropist:Mordecai Cohen, and was
educated at the University of Glasgow. He married
Armida Harby, youngest daughter of Isaac Harby, who
in 1824 founded the Reformed Society of Israelites;

- the nation's first organization for Reform: Judaism.. .
Originally a town house, finished with some attention
to detail, the building has been in commercial use:
for many years.

{Stockton, unpub. MS.)

82 SOC1ety St. -- Dr. John Bufékméyer'Patfick' an interna-
tionally known dental practitioner and 1nnovater,
built this two story Italianate bu1ld1ng about 1858
as his office. It remained in his family until the
1960s. Descended from Casimir Patrick, who immigrated
from Alsace in the 18th century, Dr. Patrick drew -
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international attention for his discoveries and inven-
tions, the results of which were published in American
‘and Eufopéan dental journalé and which advanced the
science and practice of dentistry. '

" (Stockton, DYKYC, March 23, 1981.) 1

' SOUTH BATTERY'

The street now'Calléd'South'Battéry'origihaily
was a'nérfbw:gtreet3 funning between Church Street Continued
and Meeting Street, behind Broughton's Bastion. Known as
Fort Street, it was depicted on the ”IChnography" of'1739.
Fort Street was later extended to connect with a road
behind the fortifications which became the High Battery.
Still later, when William Gibbes and others cooperated
to . fill marshes along the Ashley River and constructed
wharves and houses, a street running from Meeting Street
to the Ashley River was created and called South Bay. It
ended in a breakwater approximately where Lenwood Boule-
vard:is today. After 1830, when the land east of King
Street and. south of South Bay was developed into White
Point Garden, the park became generally known as The Bat-
tery, Fort Street was eliminated, and the street from
East Battery to King Street became South Battery. West
of King Street, the old name of South Bay: continued to
be used until after the creation of Murray Boulevard
(1911-15). Now the name South Battery is applied for the
fuii'leﬁgth of the street from East Battery to Tradd Street.

(”Streéts of Charlestbn.ﬂ _Fbrt Street file, City Afchives.
Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 177f£f, 207ff.)

2 South  Battery —-— This stucco house was built c. 1905 for the
O'Neill sisters - Mary J. O'Neill, Mrs. Elizabeth Pendergast
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and Mrs. Isabella O'Connor. The rear portion was
part of the carriage house of 1 East Battery.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 6, 1975.)

4 South Battery -- The Villa Marguerita was bu11t in 1892-93 .
in the Italian Rensalssance Revival style and was
de51gned by F.P. Dinkelberg of New York.' It was built

" by Maj. Andrew Simonds, president of the First National
Bank and commodore of the Carolina YaChf'Clﬁb, for
his young New Orleans bride. It became a hotel called
the Villa Marguerlta in 1909. It is currently a private
home . ' '

(Stockton,.DYKYC, May 5, 1975. Rhett &”Steelé; 8-9.
Whitelaw & Levkoff, 152. Stoney, This is Charleston,
95')

8 South Battery -- This 1érge Georgian house was built
c. 1768 by Thomas Savage. It was bought in 1785 by -
Col. William Washington, a Virginian and kinsman to
the first President. According to tradition, Col.
Washington met his future wife, Jane Elliott, when he
stopped at her family plantation near Rantowles on
his way to the Battle of Eutaw Springs. He had no
flag for his command, so Miss Elliott made him one
from a damask curtain. The banner, known as the
Eutaw Flag, was presented to the Washington Light In-
fantry by Mrs. Washington. Col. and Mrs. Washington
are buried in the Elliott family burial ground at

Rantowles.

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 187-190. Deas, Early
- Ironwork, 98-99. Mazyck & Waddell, illus. 50. Stoney,
This is Charleston, 95.)

20 South Battery -- This large mansion was built c. 1843
by Samuel N. Stevens, a prosperous factor, and remodeled “gﬁ
and enlarged in 1870 for Col. Richard Lathers. The E&}b

remodeling was designed by architect John Henry
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Devereﬁx, in the Second Empire style. . Col. Lathers,
a native of Georgetown, S.C., went to New York in
1847 and becéme-a millionaire as a cotton broker,
_banker, insurance executive and railroad directqr.
After the war, in which he served in the Union foftés5
_he returned to Chafieston to help rebuild South Caro-
Iina. "He invited military and political Iéaders from
the North and South tQ_receptidns in his'manSion, hoping
to Briﬁg about a reconciliation. According to tradition,
hé gave up the“attempt and returned to New York. He
sold the mansion in 1874 to Andrew Simonds, a prominent
local banker. The mansion is a private residence, with
. 'a small hotel in the basement and. outbuilding.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 10, 1975 & Sept. 14, 1981.
Thomas, DYKYC, Oct. 20, 1969.)

22 South Battery.—e_This-Italiénate_house was built c. 1858
.~ by Nathaniel Russell Middleton, a planter.
{Stockton, DYKYC, Nov.. 17, 1975) |
24 South Battery —— This house is the remaining western half

of an 18th century double tenement. The eastern half
‘was demolished by Nathaniel Russell Middleton for con-
struction of his house at 22 South Battery. This half
was remodeled in 1870 for George S. Cook, the noted
photographer. - The architect for the remodeling was
“John Henry Devereux.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 9, 1981.)

26 South Battery -- Col. John Algernon Sydney Ashe had this
house designed by architect Edward C. Jones and built
by 1853. The house is in the Italian Villa style,

- characterized by arcades and bracketted cornices, and
round-headed windows. The interior has several rooms
with rounded corners, a curving stair with an oversized
newel, and ornate plasterwork. Col. Ashe, a bachelor,

was a son of Col. John Ashé who is credited with build-.
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the house at 32 South Battery.

(Ravenel,  Architects, 207-208. Smith & Smith, Dwell-
ing Houses, 191-192. Stockton, DYKYC, March 31 , 1975.
Greene, unpub. notes; SCHS 3

28 South‘Battery -= George S._Cook, the noted photographer,

built this_stucooed brick villa c. 1860 as his home.
(Stockton, unpub. notes.) |

30 South Battery -- James E. Spear built this three story

Italianate house ¢. 1860 as his residence.
(Stockton, unpub. MS.)

32 South Battery —- Col. John Ashe is believed to have

built this large dwelling house c. 1782. The primary
rooms have Regency period details. The exterior is
characterized by the prominent cupola and two tiers

of piazza across the front. The construction is -
attributed to.a Mr. Miller, who singly and in partner-
ship with John Fullerton,. is credited with having
built several fine residences in Charleston.

(Ravenel, Architects, 40. Smith & Smith, Dwelling
Houses, 190-191.) Stoney, This is Charleston, 95 )

38, 40 South Battery -— These three frame houses in
the Colon1a1 Revival style were built by Frederick
Helnz, a prosperous German baker, confectiomer and ice
cream manufacturer. He built no. 36 as his residence,
c. 1889, and 38 and 40 as investmehta, c. 1895 Be-
fore bu11d1ng the houses, Heinz operated the Battery
Ice Cream Garden on the premises.
(Stockton, unpub. MS.)

39 South Battery -- The Moreland House, built c.'1827, has

- woodwork similar to that of the EdmondstoﬁéAlston

House, 21 East Battery. A floating foundation of pal-
metto logs makes the house "earthquake proof." The
second level of the piazza is an old addition...

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 192-193. Stoney,
This is Charleston, 95.




47 South Battery —- This house was built apparently by Henry
C. Cheves, in 1886-87. Cheves was a.rice broker and
vice president of the Miners and Merchants Bank. From
1930 to 1946 it was owned by Priﬁcess Pignatelli, al-
though it was occupied by her sister Lucille Booker.
Born Henrietta Pollitzer at Bluffton, S.C., she married
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Edward V. Hartford, vice president of the Great Atlantic

& Pacific Tea Co.. After his death she married Prince
Guido Pignatelli, of an Italian princely_family. She
bought the Joseph Manigault House when it was being
sold for taxes and gave it to the Charleston Museum

_ in'membry of her mother. She died in 1948 and is buried
in Magnolia Cemetery. _ - |
(Greene, unpub. MS;SCHS.)

48 South Battery -- Believed to have been built c. 1846,
this substantial stuccoed brick house is an excellent
example of the Greek Revival, in the Charleston tra-
dition.

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 96.)

49 South Battery'Q; This house is believed to have been
built ¢. 1795 by Col. James English, and has been oc-
cupied by several generations of his descendants.

An old sea wall remains across the rear of the property.
(Stoney, N&C, March 6, 1960.)
50 South Battery —— Mr. and Mrs. Charles Drake built this
- wood and stone house c. 1890, in a style then pre-
vailing in Washington, D.C.,'accdfding to tradition.
Drake was a partner in the Drake, Innes, Green Co.,
a large wholesale firm on Meeting Street which dealt

in shoes. The foundation, porte-cochére and piazza

columns are of stone, while other portions of the ex-
terior are paneled, shingled and clapboarded.
(Ravenel, DYKYC, Jan. 18, 1943.)
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52 South Battery —-- Benjamin Huger Rutledge,.an attorney,

built this large frame house, in the Colonial Revival
style, c. 1899. Rutledge (1861-1925) was elected to
the S.C. House in 1890 and served for many years as
clerk of the judiciary committee of the Legislature.
He was a graduate of Virginia Military Institute and
Yale College.

{Stockton, unpub. MS )

56 South Battery -- This house is believed to be of post-

Revolutionary construction. It was subsequently re-
modeled in a picturesque style, with notable ironwork.
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 96.)

58 South Battery —-— John Blake, a Revolutionary Patriot and

- state senator, built this L—shaped two and one-half

story. frame house about 1800. He obtained the site

"from his father Edward Blake, who with Williém'Gibbes;

Robert Mackenzie and George Kincaid cooperated to £ill
the marshes in this neighborhood. Imprisoned by the
British during the ReVolution, the younger Blake later
was a factor and preSLdent of the Bank of the State

of South Carolira.

(Stockton, unpub. MS. °___ , DYKYC, Aprll 27, 1981.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 96 )

64 South Battery -— William Gibbes, who with others cooper-

ated to fill the neighborhood marshlands and who built

a substantial '"bridge'" or wharf in front of this site,
built this Georgian mansion sometime between 1772 and
1788. Gibbes, a merchant, shipowner and planter, died
in 1789. 1In 1794 it was purchased by Sarah Smith, whose
descendants including Thomas Smith Grimké, a lawyer,
writer and inventor of simplified spelling, and the Rev.
John Grimké Drayton, who was born Grimké and adopted

his mother's name, Drayton, in order to inherit the
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Drayton ancestral seat, Magnolia Plantation on the
Ashley. Mrs. Washington A. Roebling, widow of Wash-
‘ington A. Roebling (who with his father John August
Roebling, designed and built the Brooklyn Bridge in
1869-83) purchased the property in the 1920s and created
the beautiful garden. The Smith family, about 1800,
“remodeled portions of the building in the Adamesque
style, including the marble steps in front. The com—
bination of the two styles gives the house its archi-
tecturally rich appearance. The cove-ceilinged ball-
room is considered one of the most beautiful rooms in
America. The wrought iron balustrade and lantern stand-
ards in front are considered among the best ironwork

. of the Adamesque period in the city.

(Deas, Early Ironwork, 64-69. Condit, American Build-
3%5, 152-153. Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 4, 1975. Stoney,
This is Charleston, 96. Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses,
209-211. Whitelaw & Levkoff, 95. Rogers, Charleston
in the Age of the Pinckneys, 69.)

68 Soﬁth Battery -— John Harth, a lumber mill owner and
planter bought this site in December 1797. He lived
in Archdale Street until 1802, when he was listed on
South Bay. By 1816,.when he sold the prbperty to Thomas
Legare, a planter, Harth had moved to Orangeburg Dis-
trict. It was purchased in 1843 by Henfy A. Middleton,
in whose family it remained until 191/, when it was
purchased by William J. Pettus of Chevy'Chase, Md.
Middleton.enlarged the house after 1843. Pettus created
the notable garden on filled marshland.

(Greéne, unpub. MS; SCHS. Stoney, This is Charleston,
96.)

?ﬁ
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SPRING  STREET
68 Spring St. -- St Jamesu'Methodlst Church, also knOWn
as the Sprlng Street Methodist Church. 1In 1797 St.
James' Chapel was established onxupper_Kipg“Street,

near Line.. In 1816, St. James' was formally:accepted
by the Methodist_Episcopal_Church, In_lSSSé_theicon—
.gregation soid its.Kihg Street_property and_bought
this site. This building, begun & in 1856,_wa5_called
the.Spring Street Methodist Churoh.until 1946'when the
origiﬁal name of St. James' was restored ~ The building
was incomplete when, in 1862, the Confederate govern-—
ment Began to use it as a medical storehouse. During
" the Federal occupatlon the bu1ld1ng was used by a
black Methodlst congregation until, by order of the
President of the United States, it was restored to the

 original ‘trustees. The Spring Street congregatlon
occupled the church in March 1868. De51gned by arch-
itects Louis J. Barbot & John H. Seyle, the brick &
stucco temple has a portico with giant order Corinth-
ian columns, and is set on a high brick basement
Pilasters on the sides and back are stepped, diminish-
ing at they ascend. The church was very damaged by
the 1886 earthquake, but was ready for use early in
1888.

{Legerton, Historic Churches, 48-49... Ravenel, Archi-
tects, 232, 234. Year Book, 1887, 357,)

 STATE STREET -

‘State Street was formerly called'Uﬁiod Street, to
celebrate the Union of England and Scotland-iﬁ-l?O?. The
named was changed to State Street in 1812.

{Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Plnckneys, 63 )
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7 State St. —- This two story Classic Revival structure was
occupied by the Union Insurance Company c. 1819. The
company, organized and incorporated in 1807, was located
'originally on East Bay. The pediment contains the com—

- pany's seal, which was similar to the company's insurance
'plate, ‘but much larger. In the days‘when each insurance
" company had its own fire engine company, it was' customary
to place on one's property a plate designating the com-
pany which had insured the building. This was to notify
the fire engine company of its duty to fight fire on
the premises. '
- (DYKYC June 14, 1948. Stoney, This is' Charleston, 97.)

21 State St - This two and one-half story wooden house
was apparently constructed by Frederick Wolfe after
”_the great fire of 1796._ If that date is correct (and
':appears SO stylistically) then the house was moved
backwards in 1813, when State Street was widened. That

move would have been made by Wolfe s widow Margaret
and her second husband, Edward Thw1ng The house was
moved to this 51te from the site of the parking lot

to the north, and restored by the Preservation Society
of Charleston in 1973.

(Green, unpub. MS; PSC.)

22-24 State St. —-- This double tenement, three and ‘one-half
stories. of stuccoed brick, was built c. 1841 by Joel
Roberts Poinsett, whose career included diplomatic.
service in Argentina, Chile and Mexico, election to
the S.C. General Assembly and the U.S. Congres, lead-
ership of the Unionist or anti-Nullification party,
and appointment as U.S. Secretary of War.

(Stockton, DYKYC, June 28, 1982. Stoney, This is
Charleston, 98.) S -

23-23% State St. -- George B. Locke, a prosperous grocer

built this double tenement sometime after purchaSLng
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the site in 1832. ' He built it for rental purposes, as
his business was on East Bay and his home was on George
Street. His building had two stores on the first level
and two residences above. . It has been rehabilitated |
as two residences. T "
(Stockton, unpub. MS. __, DYKYC, Feb. 19, 1979.)

25-State St. . -—:This notable three story, stuccoed brick

town house was built c. 1814.

~ (Stoney, This is Charleston, 98.)

27 State St.  -— This three and one-half story stuccoed

brick main. building and accessory buildings, grouped
around a courtyard, are believed to have been built
soon after the widening of State Street in 1813. The
main building was a commercial/residential structure,
with a store on the flrst level and a residence

above. . The draw1ng room on the second level has par—
tlcularly flne Adamesque woodwork. The plazza, screened
from the street by louvers, connectlng the main house
and front outbuilding, is an unusual feature in local
architecture. The white marble steps in the courtyard
were salvaged from the St. John's Hotel (Mills House)
when it was demolished in 1969.

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 98. Stockton, unpub. MS.)

33 State St. -~ This two story antebellum structure was

built as the Vigilance Fire Company Engine House and
has been rehabilitated as a residence.
(PSC) '

39 State St. -- This stuccoed brick house, which appears

to be of pre—Revolutlonary constructlon was left far

back on its lot when State Street was realligned in
1813. The contemporary rear addltlon was deSLgned by
architects W.G. Clark and Amanda Grlfflth |
(PSC. Robert Rosen )
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42 State St. -- This notable three story stuccoed brick

single house, with quoins on the corners, was built
c. 1816..

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 98.})

44 State St. —— Simon Elstob built this three story, stuc-
coed brick buildihg in 1799, on land leased from John
Loveday.. Restored as.part-of the Lodge Alley complex.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept.: 26, 1973.)

46 State St. —— This two story stuccoed brick structure was
built by the City of Charleston c. 1817 as the Vigilance
Fire Company Engine House. It was subsequently super-
ceded by the larger engine house down the street.
Restored as. part of: the Lodge Alley complex.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 9, 1973)

48 State St. -- This two story brick warehouse was built
' before 1811 by Peter Trezevant or before 1822 by Joseph
S. Barker. Restored as part of the Lodge Alley complex.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 9, 1973.) ' '

50 and 52 Staté St. — These two stﬁééoed briék warehouses
. were built.before 1888. The.wood ffaﬁing_of 50 State
has been left éXposed. Rehabilitated as péft of the
Lodge Alley complex. _'77_ _ |
(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 9, 1973.)

“

STOLL'S ALLEY

" This quaint brick paved passagé:was named for Jus-
tinus'Stoll, a blacksmith, who is thought to have built his
home at No. 7 Stoll's Alléy, c. 1745. The street was a run-
down slum in 1927, and has been rehabilitated.

("Streets of Charlestom." Stbney; This is Charleston, 99.)

\




SUMIER STREET

Sumter Street is named for Gen Thomas Sumter, the
”Carollna Gamecock”'of the Revolution. It was laid out as
a street of the Vlllage of Washlngton
(”Streets of,Charleston.")

389 Sumter St.'-- The Calvary Baptlst Church was the first
black Baptlst church establlshed in Charleston after
the ClVll War. It was organlzed in 1865 by the Cita-
:del Square Baptlst Church, and was known as the First
.Colored Baptlst Church.l In 1868, two lots in Rikers-
'v1lle were purchased as a burlal ground The original
'church on thlS site was destroyed by a tornado in 1939.
A frame bulldlng, built after the tornado, was com-—

'pletely remodeled in 1966 " _ |
(Legerton, Historic Churches, 123 y _l-”

THOMAS STREET

'Named for Thomas’ Radcliffe, this was one of the
original streets of Radcliffeborough.

("Streets of Charleston.")

5 Thomas St. -- This small Victorian house was built by
Sarah A. Bateman ‘between 1894 and 1898, in the back
yard of her house at 64 Vanderhorst st.
(Stockton,_unpub notes )

6 Thomas St. -- This tall house, two stories of wood on
a high, stuccoed brick basement, was built probably
-soon after 1832, when the site was purchased by James
Legare.. In 1856 the property was sold to Robert Barn-
well Rhett, state legislator and attorney general,
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Congressman and U.S. Senator. For his strong states-
rights stand and his edveceey of an independent

Southern Confederacy, he became known as the "Father
of Secession.'" It was also the home of Robert Barn-
‘well Rhett, Jr., editor of the'very.pro4secessiOn -

Charleston Mercury, and later of the New Orleans Pica—

yune and of the Charleston Journal of Commerce;‘and'
a state legislator. The Rhetts sold the house in 1863
to George Alfred Trenholm; who kept it until 1866.

Trenholm was a wealthy shlpplng merchant whose vessels
became blockade runners durlng the Civil War. Tradition
" relates that during theKWar a young lady of the house
said goodbye to her fiancé at the west gate on the Van-
derhorst Street side. She promlsed the gate would re-
main shut until he returned. He was killed in the war
and, accordlng to tradltlon the gate has remained shut

ever since. The house is Greek Rev1val W1th flanklng bays.
(Thomas, DYKYC, Dec. 23, 1968.) '

12 Thomas St. -- James Legare also built this three story
frame, Greek Revival house, after purchasing the site
in November 1836. Legare was a well-to-do planter and
a cotton factor in partnership with John Colcock. He
built this house as‘hie residence but . later moved to.
Broad & Logan streets. Pr e |
(Thomas, DYKYC, June 12, 1970.}

13 Thomas St. —-- Built between 1823 “and 1828 by BenJamln
Faneuil Dunkln chancellor of the Equ1ty Court of Appeals,
this is one of the oldest houses in Radcllffeborough
Dunkin evidently built this house as an investment as
he. built his larger residence at 89 Warren St. during
the same period. Both are in- the Regency style.-

{Stockton, N&C, Oct. 25, 1973.: Stomey, This is Charles-
ton, 99.) ‘ DU o




14 Thomas St. -- St. Mark's Protestant Episcopal Church,

a chaste example of the Greek Revival, shows the per-
sistence of interest in the style after the Civil War.

" Erected in 1875-78, the wooden structure has served a

" “black congregation for more than a century. The con--

gregation was organized in 1865, meeting first at the.
Orphan House Chapel in Vanderhorst Street,: before pur-
chasing this site in 1875. Louis J. Barbot, a prom--
inant local architect, designed the structure which
was built by the Devereﬁx_Brothers, one of the city's_:
largest contracting firms, at a cost of about $15,000.
The Rev. A. Toomer Porter, founder of Porter Military
Academy, was the rector for maﬁy'yéars. The interior,
which is similar in some respects to his Church of the
Holy Communion, shows Porter's taste for "High Church'™
influences. : o

(Legerton, Historic Churches, 14-15. Stockton, DYKYC,
March 31, 1980. Stoney; This is Charleston, 99.)

15 Thomas St. -— Samuel S. Mills built this two story frame

house between 1839 and 1842. His brother-in-law, Law-
rence A. Edmohdston,'built3an“idéntical house at 86
Warren St. The two houses have many features familiar
in houses in New England, which 1is no accident, because
Mills and his family were from Massachusetts. These
features include the shiplap board facing, Ionic pilas-
ters at the corners, broad cornice and recessed en-
trance. The house has four chimmeys, brought together
on arches in the attic, so that only two chimney stacks
come through the roof. |

' (Thomas, DYKYC, Dec. 16, 1968.)

Bz3




419

TRADD STREET

Tradition says Tradd Street was named. for Robert Tradd,
who supposedly was the first child of European descent born
in the Province. It is more-likely that it was named for
his father, Richard Tradd, who by 1679 was living at the northeast
corner of present-day Tradd and East Bay. -Early deeds
refer to ''the little street: that runs: from Cooper River past
Mr. Tradd's house."

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

1 Tradd St. -- This rather'elegant three'story stoceoed brick
single house is belleved to date from c. 1785. It has
restrained woodwork typlcal of that perlod in the in-
terior. In 1927, when the house was occupled by an
auto shop, it was purchased and renovated by Mrs. T.W.
Punnett, a cousin of President FranklinpDelano Roose-
velt. The wrought iron balcony on the Eeet Bey side
was a present to Mrs. Punnett from her danghter. Pre-
viously on the_site was a:building_owned and occupied
by'Robert Weils, bookseller andpeditor of”the'Loyalist

. nmewspapers, Sodth Carolina and American General Ga—

zette, and Royal Gazette. After the Revolution, he

and his son publlshed a newspaper in Nassau, The Ba-

hamas. : . : ‘
(Ravenel DYKYC, n. d., SCHS Stoney, This is Charles-
ton, 100.) '

5 & 7 Tradd St. —— A double tenement belonglng to Andrew

Allen was built on this srte before 1727. The build-
“ing was destroyed by flre ln 1740 and agaln in 1778
and each time apparently was rebu1lt along the same
lines. David Hext, who rebuilt the double tenement
after the 1740 fire, separated the ownership of the
two halves in 1743. Rebuilding of 5 Tradd after the
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1778 fire was possibly begun by James Cook and completed
by Robert Brown.:. ‘

{Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 13, 1982. . , unpub. MS.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 100.)

6 Tradd St. —- This three story, stuccoed brick single house
was built sometime between the great fire of 1778 and
1788. 1Its drawing room, on the second level, has cypress
paneling and a mantel in the Georgian Chippendale style,
As Tradd was a commercial street, the first level pfoba~
.bly had a counting house or store. The bﬁilding housed .
a school for black children when Susan Pringle Frost
purchased and rehabilitated it. She added the present
entrance and the balcony. ~ a

{(Nielsen, DYKYC, n.d.; SCHS.) Stoney, This is Charlestbn,
100.) - ‘ _ ' - '

8-10 Tradd St. —-— A double tenement with a first level of
stuccoed brick and a second level of wood under a gambrel .
roof, this house is believed to have portions built c.
1726, which survived the great fires of 1740 and 1778.
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 101.)

12-16 Tradd St. & 2 Bedon's Alley -- Humphrey Somﬁers, a
_éubcontractdr of St. Michael's Church, wrote his will
in 1778, bequeathing the westernmost three of this row:

of tenements to his daughters, with instructions and
money to build No. 12. (See 2 Bedon's Alley.)

(Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 3, 1975. Smith & Smith, Dwell-
ing Houses, 161-162. Stoney, This is Charleston, 101.)

13 Tradd St. —-- This notable three story stuccoed brick house

is thought to have been constructed c. 1781.
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 101.)

17 Tradd St. —-- A house which Charles Warham built here
c. 1750, may have survived or been rebuilt after the
great fire of 1778. The roofline has been altered.

{Stoney, This is Charleston, 101.)
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19 Tradd St. -- john McCall built a house c. 1745 on this

site, which he inherited from his great-grandmother,

Mary Fisher Crosse, the Quaker preacher. The two and
- one. half story brick house may have survived or been

rebuilt after the great fire of 1778.

- (Stoney, This is Charleston, 101.).

23 Tradd St. =— William Bell, a merchant, is credited with

building this three story stuccoed brick house between
1797 and 1800.
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 102.)

25 Tradd St. -— William Boone acquired this site in 1748

and wrote his will in 1750, bequeathing ”the_house

and grounds whereon I now dwell,” to his "well beloved
wife Jane." Maj. Boone was born in South Carolina in
1696,:and married Jane Wilkinsoh., Their daughter was
born 6h Antigua in 1735. He had a_Johns_Island.plan—
tation_ahd represented St. John's Parish in the Commons
House of Assembiy. In the 1920s, this was the home of
Postmaster Edward Jennings and his son Edward I.R. Jen-
nings (1898-1929), one of Charleston's jazz age artists,
whose works are in the Gibbes Art Gallery collections.
{(Greene, unpub. MS; SCHS) |

26 Tradd St. ——_This.three_story brick house is_béiieﬁed

to have been built c. 1785 by Robert Ewing.
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 102)

35 Tradd St. -— This is actually two structures, now joined

together as a residence. They are believed to be two
structures mentioned in the will of Col. Miles Brewton
in 1747. The easternmost structure was the kitchen:to
Col.:Brewton'é house on the corner of Tradd and Church
(since replaced); the westernmost structure was a tene-
ment which Brewton bequeathed to his third wife Mary.
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They were among several building erected by Col. Brew-

ton (Powder Receiver of the Province) and his family,

at what became known as "Brewton's Corner," at Church

and Tradd.

(File, 77 Church & 35 Tradd,'SCHS.' Stoney, This is
Charleston, 102.) ' '

38 Tradd St. —- This'quaint two and'onefhalf'story; stuc—

coed brick house was built between 1718 and 1722 by
John Bullock or his widow, Mary. It was devised to
their daughter Millicent who married Col. Robert
Brewton of 71 Church St. This was the studio and resi-

dence of artist Elizabeth O'Neill Verner after 1838.~

{Green, unpub. MS. Elizabeth Verner Hamilton, unpub.
- notes. Stoney, This is Charleston, 102}

40 Tradd St. -- John Bullock or his widow Mary also built

this two and one-half story house c. 1718. Col. Robert
Brewton sold this property with the house on it in
1752 to Daniel Badger.

(Green, unpub. MS. Stoney, This is Charleston, 102)

41-43 Tradd St. -- This three story brick double tenement

is believed to have been built c. 1746 by Jonathan
Badger. ' ' |
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 103)

46 Tradd St. -- Built c¢. 1770 by James Vanderhorst, this

three story stuccoed brick dwelling house was the

home of Alfred Hutty, the well known artist, an adopted
Charlestonian from Woodstock, N.Y.

{Stoney, This is Charleston, 103.)

51-53 Tradd St. -- Col. Alexander Hext médé his will in

1736, stating that he had "lately built and Erected
a large Brick Messuage and out Houses consisting of

two Tenements,' on this site. Col. Hext, who lived

A

Lb .
o
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on his Johns Island plantation, was a member of the
Commons House of Assembly. No. 53 Tradd was subse--
quently the home of George Saxby, Inspector of Stamp
Duties during the Stamp Act crisis of 1765. A Charles
Town mob ransacked his house in search of the hated
stamps, and Saxby was burned in effigy.

(Stockton, unpub. MS. Stoney, This is Charleston, 103)

54 Tradd St. —- This three .and one-half story stuccoed brick
house is believed to have been built c. 1740. Subse-
quently it was the home of Peter Bacdt whom President
George Washington appointed as Charleston's Postmaster.
Because Bacot was a Nullifyer, President Andregqtrled
to replace him with the Unionist Alfred Huger. Huger,
however, declined, stating nothing would induce him"
to "supplant so excellent a man and officer as Mr.
Bacot upon merely political grounds.'" The house was
rehabilitated in the 1920s by Susan Priﬁglé Frost,

who placed the balcony on the fréont. It was salvaged
from a building in State Street and is probably pre—
Revolutionary. o

(Ravenel, Charleston, The Place and the Peopie, 471
472, Thompson, ''Post Office History." ©Stockton,
unpub. notes. Stoney, This is Charleston, 103.)

55 Tradd St. -- This wooden tenement was built by John
Henry Doscher, president of the Germania Brewing

Co. (which stood at Church and Hayne streets, on the
present site of the First Baptist High School gym).
It was built sometime before Doscher's death in 1912.
(Stockton, unpub. MS)

56 Tradd St. -- George Ducat (Ducatt), a shipbuilder, erected
this two story house after 1739 and bequeathed it to
his grandson William Cleland in his will dated 1751.
The house is bruilt of brick and Bermuda stone. The
interior was "'Adamized" c. 1800.
{(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 4, 1976.)
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60 Tradd St. -- This three and one-half story stuccoed brick
siﬁgle house was built c. 1732 by George Ducat, ship-
builder, for his daughter, Margaret, on her marriage
in 1732 to Dr. William Cleland of Crail, Scotland.

(Stoney, This is Charleston, 104._tStockton, unpub.
‘notes.)

61 Tradd St. -- Traditionally, the construction of this
- three and one-half story brick single house has been

attributed to Jacob Motte, Treasurer of the Province,
c. 1736. However, William Harvey advertlsed this
property for sale in 1770, describing the house as
"new-built." The house was then occupied by Géorge
Abbott Hall. William Harvey (1717-1784), a merchant,
built 63 Tradd and 58 Meeting St. about the. same time.

(Stockton, unpub. MS.  Stoney, This is Charleston,
104) - '
62 Tradd St. -~ John T. Marshall, a baker and rice and cot-

ton planter, built this structure c. 1852 as a bakery ?
with a dwelling upstairs. The second floor has a fine |
‘drawing room of the period. The outbuildings included
a bake house and quarters for bakery workers. The
bakery continued in operation into the 1880s.
(Stockton, unpub. MS. -, DYKYC, July 11, 1977.)

63 Tradd St. —— William Harvey, merchant, built on this

~ lot, c. 1770, a brick tenemeﬁt. The present residence - ;

was the outbu1ld1ng to that house. ‘
(Stockton, unpub. MS.)

64 Tradd St.3~—_Thié is William Ellis' western tenement,
mentioned in his will in 1771. Ellis' eastern tenement
is 60 Meeting St.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.) :
70 Tradd St. —--— Judge Robert Prlngle built this 1arge brick

single house in 1774, placing the date on a plaque on



425

the house, with that date. Pringle, who came from Scot-
land c. 1730, wés a wealthy merchant and Assistant Jus-
tice of the Province. After his death in 1776, the
 house passed to his son John Julius Pringle, who studied
law at The Temple in London, and was attorney general
of South Carolina for 16 years. President Washington
appointed him Disrtrict Attorney for South Carolina
and he declined Jefferson's appointment of him as At-—
torney General of the U.S. The ‘house remained in the
Pringle family until 1886. The Pringle house is a
substantial three and one-half story brick, on a high
brick basement. It has superb Georgian interior
features, a Regency piazza and a Victorian front bay
window. '

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 103-104, 120-127.
Stockton, DYKYC, May 29, 1978. Stoney, This is Charles-
ton, 104.) '

72 Tradd St. -- This two and one-half brick house on a high
brick basement, with a jerkin-head rodf, is described
in a deed of partition, dated 1766, between Dr. Alex-
ander Fotheringham and Dr. Archibald McNeill. The two
"Doctors of Physick' bought the property in 1765. By
the deed of partition, Dr. Fotheringham took the east-
ern brick tenement and Dr. McNeill the western. Their
wives, Isabella Fotheringham and Mary McNeill, were
granddaughtérs of Chief Justice Robért Wright and the

nieces of $ir James Wright, Royal Governor of Georgia.

(Stockton, unpub.'notes. Stoney, This is Charleston,
105.) :
75 Tradd St. —— The Rev. Aaron Whitney Leland built this
' large wooden house between 1815 and 1817. Ebenezer
Kellogg of New England, who visited . Leland in 1817,
wrote that he "has one of the most comfortable, though
not one of the most elegant houses in the city. It

is of his own building and accomodated to the climate,
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having a large piazza. . .. which looks into his gar-
den." Leland was minister of the Flrst Presbyterlan

Church, next door at 57 Meetlng

(Greene, unpub MS SCHS Stoney, This is Charleston,
105) : o AR e
94_Tradd~St — Samuel Walnwrlght bu11t thls three and one-—

half story stuccoed brick . slngle house c. 1760,
(DYKYC, n.d.; SCHS.) |

100 Tradd St. -- The two -and one-=half story house is believed
to have been constructed c. 1740 for Capt. Francis Ba-
ker. This is a frame house, the exterior of which was
stuccoed. in the 20th century.

(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

103 Tradd St. —— This house is believed to have been built

(Stoney, ThlS is Charleston 105, )

102 Tradd St —_— ThlS two and oneahalf story wooden house
was standlng in 1774 _when "F. Fraser" scratched his
name and that date on a W1ndowpane . The pane probably
immortalizes Frederlck Fraser the then 12~ -year- -old
grandson of Frederlck Grimké. Whether Grimké built

- or bought the house is not known. Another Grlmke

.grandson, the miniature painter Charles Fraser brother
of Frederick, lived here. The Grlmkes and Frasers were .
Protestants, but a tradition: per51sts that the first
Roman Catholic Mass 1n Charleston was celebrated here
in 1786, by an Itallan priest en route to Latln Amer-—
ica. Tradition says that Mass led to the establlshment
of St. Mary's Catholic Church. '

(Ravenel , DYKYC, oct. 19, 1942, Simmons5 St. Mary's,
7. Stoney, This is Charleston, 105.) -

106 Tradd St. -- Col. John Stuart built this house before
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1772. It 1s three and one-half stories of Wood with

.'a hlpped roof and a_”captaln s walk." The three bay

facade 1s faced Wlth flush boards and the front windows

‘have pediments. A subsequent owner added the two story

octagonal wing and the piazza. The house has fine
Georglan woodwork. The drawing Toom WOOdwork'had’to"
be replicated because the original was sold after

World War I to the Minneapolis Museum of Art. A model.
of the drawing_room; depicting Col. Stuart meeting

with an Indian chief, constructed by Robert N.S. White-
law, is.in the Charleston Museum. Col. Stuart was

the Royal Commissioner of Indian Affairs for the area

extending from Virginia to West Florida. He was a Tory

whose property in South Carollna was confiscated by

Patriot authorities. Tradition says Gen. Francis Mar-
ion, an abstemious man, £found himself locked

in by an overbearlng host (a Patriot offlcer quartered
here after Col. Stuart's departure), who refused to
let his guests leave until drunk. The tradition says
that, to escape the drinking bout,-Marion'leaped from

a window and broke his leg, and this made necessary

' a:long recuperation on his plantation, and he thus

avoided capture by the BrltlSh on the fall of Charles

4'Town, in 1780.

(Smith & Smlth. Dwelllng Houses, 239-247. Whitelaw
& Levkoff: 219. Stoney, This is Charleston, 106.

Ravenel, Charleton, the Place and the People, 284~

286. Stockton DYKYC July 14, 1975.)

108 Tradd St. —— James McCall Ward ev1dently bullt this

house before 1823, when he died, leaving it mortgaged
to the Fellowship Soc1ety It was a two story frame
single house, which has since been expanded to the

rear.

(Greene,lunpub. MS;SCHS.)
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123 Tradd St. —- This three story stuccoed brick, hip roofed
house is believed to have been built c¢. 1800.
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 106.)

125 Tradd St..~— John Morrison, formérly'a sea captain, then
a prosperous merchant, bought this site in 1800, and
by 1807 had built this capacious single house as his
residence. THe house is unusual in that it is four
bays_(fourIWindows) wide. It was rehabilited in the
1930s by Mr. and Mré;_Frederic H. Allen, who had repro-
ductions of old Charleston mantels placed in the main
roqmé. _ N " | h
(Stoney, N&C, Mafch'19; 1948. ", This is Charles-
‘ton, 106. Burton, unpub. notes; SCHS. Stockton, DYKYC,
March 1, 1976.)

126 Tradd St. -- Alexander Smith, a tailor, built this
stuccoed brick house between 1732, when. he bought the
site,; and 1739 when it appeared on.the '"Ichnography'
of that year.  Originally it was a two story house
with an asymmetrical plan similar to that of the Harvey

" House at 110 Broad and the Rhett House at 54 Hasell.
Subsequently, the floor plan was modified, the interior
remodeled in the Adamesque style and the third story
added. It retains, however, exposed interior corner-
posts, indicative of early construction {these are
also present in the Lining House, 106 Broad and Middle-
burg Plantation), and one downstairs room has original
paneling. In 1790, the ‘house was purchased in trust
for Ann, wife of Dr. Peter Fayssoux. She was a renowned
beauty. He had been Surgeon-General in the Continental
Army during the Revolution. It was the childhood home
 §£ their grandsons, the brdtheré Hami;tbh Prioleau Bee
and Bernard Elliott Bee, who were Corfederate generals.

The latter is remembered as the man who gave the nick-
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name, "Stonewall," to Gen. Thomas J. Jackson. More
recently it was the home of the noted poetess, Beatrice
Witte Ravenel,.and_of her daughter, Beatrice St. Julien
Ravenel, the author and architectural historian.

(Beatrice St. JUlieﬁ'Ravenél, unpub. MS. Stoney, This
"is Charleston, 106.) '

128 Tradd St. ——_Humphrey Sommers, an English born builder,
and one of the contractors of St. Michael's, built this
house as his residence c. 1765, and added the west

' wing sometime before his death in 1788. He bequeathed

' the house to his daughter Mary who married David Deas.
During their ownership, the house was let to Judge Wil-
liam Drayton, S.C. Supreme Court Judge and U.S. District
Court Judge, and designer of the Charleston County
Court House. After Mrs. Deas' death, the property was
sold to Elizabeth lLowndes, widow of Congressman William
Lowndes, in 1830. Here, in 1832, was born her grand-
daughter, who as Mrs. St. Julien Ravenel, became the

author of Charleston, The Place and the People. In

1841 it was purchased by Judge Henry Frost, in whose
family the property remains. Judge Frost added the
Greek Reviwval piazzas'and_curving_frbnt steps, and
built onto the rear. The house is two stories of
cypress on a high brick basement. : Chippendale in-
fluence is' seen in the extraordinary woodwork of. the
interior,; which includes;the: drawing room mantelpiece
.and_overmantel with carved wood decoration, and the
Palladian window,.enriched“with_fretwork, on the stair
landing.

(Ravenel, Architects, 71-75.  Fraser, Reminiscences
of Charleston, 100. Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses,
226, 229-231. Stockton, DYKYC, July 2, 19/5. Raven-
el, DYKYC, March: 10, 1941, Stoney, This is Charles-
ton, 106.) ' '
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129 Tradd St. -+ About 1797, Joseph Winthrop, a Massachu--
setts man who became a Charleston merchant, built this
typical single house on land belonging to his wife,
the elder sister of Charles Fraser, the miniaturist
and writer. It was built on an open '"green'" backing
on a salty creek leading to Ashley River. Interior
details are in a simple but charming transitional
style, keeping something from the late Georgian wood-
Work_i_of pre-Revolutionary days, but borrowing light-
ness from the Adamesque style which within a few years
would conquer the town. In this house, the Winthrops
shared six rooms with their 11 children.

(Stoney,~N&C3 March 30, 1948 & March 24, 1949,
Charleston's Historic Houses, 1949, 38-39.
This is Charleston, 107 Smith & Smith, Dwelling
Houses, 224.) - :

]

b

131 Tradd St. ——'Tﬁis‘substantiallbfick house was built
c. 1804. It is famous for the "celibate bridegroom"
story, which is documented, but the reason behind it
is unknown. Following'the'wedding of Francis Simmons
(builder of 14 Legare S5t.) and Ruth Lowndes, he delivered
her to this house and returned to Légare Street aloﬁé.
Simmons called on his wife'regularly, preéided'at her
dinner. parties and hosted her receptlons, but the couple

- ‘never spent the nlght in the same house.

(Stoney, N&C, March 25, 1948. , This is Charles—
ton, 107.) C
143 Tradd St. —- Tobias Bowles built a house here between

1797 and 1801. Solomon Legare Jr., remodeled the house
about 1855, in the fashion df-the time. When the house
was built, the property extended to the marshes of
Ashley River. '

(Stockton, unpub. MS. = , DYKYC, Feb. 16, 1976.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 107.)
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160 Tradd St. -- Benjamin Reils built this structure some-.
time between 1872 and 1884. Reils was a grocer. He
sold the property in 1884 but continued to operate
his store on the first level and live upstairs until

~about 1900. The property remained in commercial
use until 1983, when it was converted to apartments.
(Greene, unpub. MS; SCHS. Patricia McCarthy, N&C,
Dec. 25, 1983.) _ ‘

172 Tradd St._f— Built c. 13836 by Alexaﬁder Hext Chisolm,

owner of- -nearby Chisolm's‘Mill, this two.story wooden

- house is one of the city's finest - examples of Greek
Revival architecture. The giant order portico uses
the Corinthian order from the Choragic Monument of

- Lysicrates, with the original marble imitated in hand-
carved wood. The interior has a curving stair.
Chisolm sold the house in 1855 to William Algernon
Alston of All Saints Parish, in whose family it re—
mained until 1924. ' |

(Stoney, Thls is Charleston, 107. Whitelaw & Levkoff,
28, 65.) ' '

190 Tradd St. -- The Chisolm's Mill sﬁperintendént's house,
built in the late 1830s or early '40s, retains Greek
Revival interior features. The house was extensively
renovated and femodeléd in 1920 by George C. Rogers,
Sr., Charleston Cbunty schools superintendent. In
the 1880s, the house was briefly occupied by'Edwin
Watkins Heyward, his wife Janie Screven Heyward and
their son DuBose Heyward who grew up to be an inter-
natlonally famous author and playwrlte o
(Stockton, unpub. MS. Greene, unpub. MS; SCHS. )

196 Tradd St. -- Chisolm's Mill was built c. 1830 and was
both a rice mill and a lumber mill. It burned in
1859 and was rebuilt in the theén popular Italianate
style. The three story building, with a broken
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pediment in the gable and pilasters along the sides,
which remains on the sité,.waé a-warehouse wing of the
1859 building. . The main part of the building was torn
down after being severel& damagéd by a storm in 1911.
The U.S. Goverment: purchased the property in 1914 for
~use by the U.S. Lighthouse Depot, 6th District Head-
quarters. In i939_itgbecame a U.S. Coast Guard base.

- (Nielsen, DYKYC, Sept. 14, 1936. Stockton, DYKYC,
Jan. 30, 1978. Stoney, This is Charleston, 107.
Simons, Stories of Charleston Harbor, 97. Rhett
& Steele, 22-23. Whitelaw & Levkoff, 98.)

50

UNITY ALLEY

Unity Aliéj_Was laid out c. 1725, between East Bay
and Union (now State):Stréet,_by consént_of the affected
property owners. | ' . |

("Streets of Charleston.')

2 Unity Alley —— McCrady's Tavern was buiit by‘1779'by Ed-

- ward McCrady, a wealthy landowner and ‘Revolutionary War

" Patriot. In 1780, McCrady was exiled by the British
to St. Augustine. After the Revolution, he continued.
to operate the tavern. His "long room" was frequently

- used for theatrical ‘and other entertainments, and in
1791, President George Washington was entertained here
while on his state visit to Charleston. As late as
1855, the building was still used as a coffee house.
Subsequently it became a warehouse. The building has
been rehabilitated as a restaurant. o
(Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 31, 1972.) o B
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- VANDERHORST STREET - -

Vanderhorst Street' is named forVArnoldns-Vanderhorst,
the second Intendant of Charleston. The street ‘is unnamed
in a plat dated 1786. of the-Radcliffe lands. The portion
from King to St: Philip was first known as Bond Street.

The first documented date for Vanderhorst Street was 1793.
There is some debate about the correct pronunc1atlon with
some contendlng it is: ”VANDROSS " Many_older Charlestonlans,
however, pronounce all three syllables as spelled.

("Streets of Charleston." Stockton, unpub. notes.)

8 Vanderhorst St. -- This dwelling was probably built soon
after 1855 by Walter Steele, a King Street hat merchant.
He sold the property ‘with the house on it in 1858 to
Charles H. Slmonton, the dlstlngulshed lawyer, Judge'
and Confederate hero. Simonton sold it in 1872 to
the Knobeloch family, who retained it for several'
generations. It was the home of Gustave J. Knobeloch,
a member of City Council and the S.C. House of Repre-
sentatives. More recently, it was ‘the home of the .
late City Councilman Harry Von Glahanntt.i The house
has an L-shaped plan and shows the high Vita1ity of the
1850s, when the classical was beginning to blend with
the first signs of Victorian taste. ' The .deep front
piazza has Ionic columns onpthe.first_level and:Corin—
‘thian capitals of the Tower of the Winds variety on

the second

(Thomas, DYKYC, Feb 3 1969, and Dec -9, 1968. Stoney,
This is Charleston, 107 )

12 Vanderhorst St. —-- Irish Volunteers Armory. The Irish
Volunteers were an active militia unit organized in
1798. The unit served in the War of 1812, the Seminole
War of 1836 and the Civil War. According to tradition
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the unit was the first to enlist for the duration of
the Civil War. The Volunteers were reogranized in 1870
and erected this building in 1888-89. The unit was dis-
banded after World War I, when its function was taken
over by the National Guard. |
(Stocktoﬁ, unpub. MS.

13 Vanderhorst St. —-- Site of the Charlestoﬁ Orphan House
Chapel, built c. 1802 and designed by Gabriel. Manigault.
It was demolished in 1953 for a parking lot.

(Ravenel, Architects, 59. Whitelaw & Levkoff, 78.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 108.)

64 Vanderhorst St. -- John Bickley purchased the site of
this house in 1824 and placed the property, with the
house on it, in trust for his wife the former Mary
Desel, in 1826. Bickley was a lumber factor with the
firm of Bickley & Glover and plantedﬁficg'at Woodstock
Plantation on the headwaters of Goose Creek,. The house
is in the Regency style with richly decorated interior
woodwork and plaéterwofk. The gable-roofed and pedi-
mented brick house has piazzas on threghsides;_reflect—_
ing its former semi-rural situation near Comihgfs Creek.

(Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 6, 1969. Stoney, This is Charles—
ton, 108.) ' ' '

VENDUE RANGE

Vendue Range takes its name from the vendue masters or-
auctioneers who had their establishments here. The street"
is on "made land" which accrued during the 18th century. A
brick market was built here following the Revolution, in the
middle of what is now Vendue Range. It was superceded by
the City Market at Meeting and Market streets. Vendue range

has notable rows of 18th and 19th centﬁry'commercial buildings,
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many built by Samuel Prioleau and other merchants and vendue
masters of French descent.

(Stockton, unpub. MS. Fraser, Reminiscences, 33.)

15-17 Vendue Range -- Thomas Napier, a Scottish merchant,
(d. 1860), constructed two adjoining'thréeIStory brick
buildings about 1830 on this site. The property re-
mained in Napier's estate through the Civil War and

. suffered in the bombardment of the city. The two |
buildings were rebuilt as one about 1870 by Frederick
W. Wagener, the wholesale grocery merchant and cotton
factor, who later lost heavily due to the financial
failure of the South Carolina Inter-State and West:
Indian Exposition of 1901-02.

(Thomas, DYKYC, n.d.; SCHS)

23-25 Vendue Range —-- Originally two adjbining brick

':'tenemehtézbuilt in the 1790s by Samuel Prioleau, Jr.,
this prdpérty was damaged by the Federal bombardment
of the city during the Civil War, and rebuilt as a
‘single building after the war by Anthony J. Salinas,
a cotton factor.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Nov. 24, 1980. , unpub. MS.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 108.) ‘ _

LA

WALL STREET

~ Wall Street is said to have been named for a brick wall
f@liowing the line of Anson & Scarborough streets, but east
of these. The wall, according to this tradition; marked
the boundary between Ansonborough and Middlesex.
(""Streets of_Charleston.") |

1 Wall St. -~ This large brick house was built c. 1849 by



T.D. Wagner, and givén a Victorian additidn by a later
owner. | o o
(Stockton, unpﬁb;‘notés.)'

3 Wall St. —- This small frame single house was built c.
1795 by George Nelson, a house carpenter.
(Stockton, N&C, Aug. 19, 1973.) |

L

WARREN STREET

. .McCrady (2:535) says erroneously that Warren_Stréet
was named for Sir Peter Warren, a British admiral stationed
in Charleston as a young man, and who purchased lands in
the vicinity. However, Warren Street was named for the
maiden name of Thomas Radcliffe's mother. It was one of
the streets of Radcliffeborough.

("Streets of Charleston." Stockton, unpub. notes.)

61 Warren St. —— John H. Hyer, a carpenter, built this _
small wooden singlehouse, ‘evidently on 'épéCUIatioﬁ,rl
after purchasing the lot in 1830. o :
(Stockton, unpub. notes.)

65 Warren St. -- Peter J. Sires, a bookkéépér.ahd membef?of
a Santo Domingan French family who specialized in.the_‘
building trades, erected this small frame singlewhOUSé
c. 1834. Subsequently'it'was the home of Benjémin
F. Pepobn, a prominent lawyer and deputy sheriff.
(Stockton, unpub. MS.) R

64 Warren St. -- James Gabeau built this large piaﬁtatién':
style house c. 1816. The interior has simple woodwork.

Gabeau is buried in the Huguenot Churchyard.
(HCF) |

89 Warren St. -- Chancellor Benjamin Faneuil Dunkin,.a native
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Bostonian related to the prominent Faneuil family of
that city; who came to South Carolina early in the

19th century. He became Chancellor of the EQuity

Court of Appeals and after the Civil War was appointed
Chief Justice of the S.C. Supreme Court. He also 5
planted Midway Plantation on Waccamaw Neck. He built
this house in 1823224 and he and his son Alfred Huger
Dunkin lived here until 1870. The house, which former-
ly overlooked Coming's Creek to the west, has a street
facade which almost featureless, and three tiers of

piazza facing south. There are large bays at the east

and west ends. The interior has fine Regency woodwork.
(Thomas, DYKYC, Dec. 30, 1968. Stoney, This is Charles-
ton, 109.) R

P

WATER STREET

. Water Street follows the course of Vanderhorst _
Creek, the waterway down which Wllllam Lord Campbell the'
last Royal Governor of South Carollna, sllpped in his flight
from the rebel city. |

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 65. Fraser,
Reminiscences, 30-31.) _

2 Water St. - Nathaniel Ingraham, a merChaht, boilt this
house c..1810-12. Subsequehtly, ConfederateShiatorian
Edward L. Wells (1839—1917) lived here. Mansard c. 1870s.
(Greene, unpub. MS; SCHS.) T

14 Water St. —— This house was built, signed and dated by -
Thomas Young, in 1769 Young also built the brick
house at 35 Church, ¢. 1770. The bridge across Van-
derhorst Creek was named for him. Note the Mutual In-
surance Company fire insurance marker on the Church

- Street side. Also known as 45 Church St.
{Stoney, N&C, Aprll 20, 1958. __» This is Charles—

ton, 28.)
1




WEIMS COURT

The origin of the name, Weims Court, is obscure. The
alley appears on the "Ichnography" of 1788 as "Whims Court "
A deed of the same year refers to "Whim Court" as a common
passage ‘between the lands of Job Colcock and Duncan Little~
john. An 1845 deed refers to it as '"Whims Court.'" A city
map of 1879 designates it as "Weims Court."

(Cupp, unpub. MS. Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 13, 1980.

3
unpub. notes.)

1 Weims Court -- James English, who built a number of brick
tenements in the court after purchasing the property
in 1545, may have used existing walls when he built
this structure, which has a diffefent floor plan than
the others. The house was_expanded and remodeled in
1910 by_Henry‘F. Welch, president ofHWilliam M. Bird
& Co.,.fof his son and daughter-in-law.

.(Cupp, unpub. MS. _Stoektsn, DYKYC, Qct. 13, 1980)

[

WENTWORTH STREETl

Wentﬁorth.Street originally hsd tws”names.u.The east,
end, in Rhettsbury, was called Trott Street, after Judge
Nicholas Trott. The western and longest portlon was named
for Charles Watson Wentworth, Marquess of Rocklngham,JWho
with William Pitt had been responsible for the repeal of
the Stamp Act. It was one of the streets of Harleston.

(Rogers, Charleston in the Age of the Pinckneys, 61. Smith
& Smith, Dwelling Houses, 312, 315)

7-15 Wehtworth'St. -— Winslow Tehements. This brick row
was built in 1841-42 by Edward Winslow, as rental
units. No. 11 is the "Lucinda Bouson House.! Mrs.

Agatha Bouson Hoyt left it in trust as a memorial to -
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her mother, and it was given . to Historic Charleston
Foundation, by her heirs.

(HCF)

8 Wentworth St. -- John T Henery bUllt thlS house in 1850
settlng the small structure far back on the deep lot
(HCF) ) _ _

10 Wentworth St. —- This brick single house was:built c.. -

1856 by Charles W. Seigrious. It has' an attached-
kitchen building.
(HCF) -

12 Wentworth St. =- William G. Armstrong, manager of Ben-

' nett's Rice Mill on the Cooper River, just to the east
of this house, built this three and one-half story
brick residence as-his home, c. 1853-55. ‘It was sold
in 1857 bthis heirs, including his son James Campbell
Armstrong, a Confederate hero. The principaltrooms
are raised above a full basément level, with double
rooms of about 11 feet ceiling height opening into
each other on the south front, where the French win-
dows formerly opened onto a three-tiered piazza. A
passage which went through the center of the basement
to the”gardeﬁ;’hasfbecome an enclosed entrance.

" (Thomas, DYKYC Oct. 5, 1970) '

15 Wentworth St. -- Chrlstopher Myers built thlS brlck
residence c. 1847.
(HCF) _

18-20 Wentworth St. —- David Lopez, a member of one. of the

city's oldest Jewish families and a prominent building
contractor, built thlS double residence c. 1839,

Lopez was one of the contractors for Beth Elohim Syna—
gogue.
(HCF)



19 Wentworth St. —— William Lebby, an engineer and machin-

ist, built this two and one-half story brick residence
c. 1847. Lebby used an innovative plan, tucking the
obligatory piazza behind the front rooms, providing
more light and air circulation to the prineipal rooms
and a spacious and comfortable-house; fitted to a quite
‘narrow lot. The Greek Revival-detailing is typical of
the period in Ansonborough.  The front fence is a nota-

. ble. example of mid 19th century ironwork.: .
(Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 25, 1971.. Stoney, This is Charles-

ton, 110.)

22-24 Wentworth St. —- Franecis Quinlan McHugh, an attorney
and real estate investor, built this three story brick,
Greek Revival building c. 1840 with a "fire loan" from
the Bank of the State of South Carolina.: The west side,
which has larger rooms and more garden space, was his

- home, while the east side was a tenement. The bUlelng
was made into a 51ng1e family reSLdence by hav1ng doors
cut through the common wall, c. 1969__

(Thomas, DYKYC, Jan. 4, 1971.) -

23 Wentworth St. -- This brick single house was bu11t c.
1843 by James J. Jefford.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. 22, 1979) -

30 Wentworth St. —- Wllllam Thompson bu11t thlS small brlck
single house c. 1843.
(HCF) y . - -

32 Wentwofth St. —— William.Thompson also built this brick
single house, c. 1843. |
(HCF) - |

34*36 Wentworth St. —- St. Katherlne s Convent. Built in

1968 for the Oblate Sisters of Prov1dence thlS build-
ing, designed by archltect David Leroy Parrott, stands

on the site of Shearlth Israel Congregatlon S synagogue,
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LWHicH wassbﬁiit in 1847land remodeled in 1866 as St.

Peter's Roman Catholic Church. The present building
follows the conflguratlon of the old Greek Revival
structure,. which was demolished for its erection.
(Legerton, Historic Churches, 74— 75 ) |

38 Wentworth St. -~ This single house, with two stories of

brick on-a high® basement, was built c. 1847 by William: -
C. McElheran. - In 1860 the property. -was purchased by

- C.D. Franke and Ferdinand Benedict;, carriage makers.

Franke also acquired adjacent property to the west and

~this building became  part of the C.D. Franke Carriage

Factory, which during the Civil War constructed gun

carriages for the Confederacy. The firm remained here

-until the 1890s.

{Stockton, DYKYC, Oct. :13, 1977)

43 Wentworth St. - St. Andrew's Lutheran Church. A church

was built here 1n 1834 as the Wentworth Street Method-
ist Protestant Church, by a group which withdrew from
the Methodist Episcopal Church due to a. dispute over
the seating of black members. The present Doric temple
style building was built after the great fire of 1838.
In 1866 the congrggatlon merged with Zion's Evangeli-
cal Lutheran Church, to form the Wentworth Street Lu-
theran Church, chartered the samé.year under the lead-
ership of the Rev. William S. Bowman. Zion's Church
had begun as a mission of St. John's Lutheran Church
in 1851 and dedicated a building on Morris Street,
between St. Philip and King streets, in 1852. The
Morris Street building had become too small for Zion's

congregatlon which had no money to build a new struc-

' ture The Wentworth Street congregation, whose build-

ing had been damaged by Federal shells during the siege

of Charleston, alsc was having financial difficulty.



Consequently the congregations merged to form an Evan-
gelical Lutheran congregation, ‘and the sale of the the
- Morris ‘Street property paid for repairs to this build-
ing. - The name, St. Andrew's, was adopted in 1898.
© The interior was remodeled extensively in 1908, and
renovated again in 1926, but the original galleries
were retained. '

(Legerton, Historic Churches, 34-35. - History of the
Lutheran Church, 6/7/-680, 315. Centennial of St.
Andrew's Lutheran Church, 8-14. Stoney, This is

- Charleston, 110.. Stockton DYKYC, Dec. 7, 1981)

46 Wentworfh St. -— This notable small Greek Revival build-
ing is presumed to be antebellum.
(Stoney, This is Charleston, 110.)

60 Wentworth St. -- Centenary Methodist Church.: Built c.
| 1842, this Doric temple was designed by architect Ed-

ward Brickell White, who quarrelled with the building
7c6mmittee_about the placement of the small doors on
either side of the main entrance. He lost, and the
doors were_insfélled "in violation of architectural
propriety and good taste," according to White, who
said doors should be pléced between columns, ndt behind
them. Built as the Second or Wentworth Street Baptist
Church, the structure was sold in 1866 to the Method-
ist Episcopal Church for use by a black congregation.
‘Nine of the first 12 pastors of Centenary were white.

{Ravenel, Archltects, 189, 194, Legerton, Historic
- Churches, 44-45. Stoney, This is Charleston, 110.)

87-89 Wentworth St. —- This double tenement was built some—
time before 1788, when it was depicted on the '"Ichno-
graphy" (Phoenix. fire insurance map) of that year. As
its appearance is very urban, it was built probably
after the subdivision of the Glebe Lands in 1770. The
builder has not been documented. In the division of
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- the Glebe Lands in 1797, the lot on which the: double

building stands .was conveyed to St. Michael's Church,

which retained title until 1953- Eighty-seven Went-

worth was remodeled in the late 19th century, with the

. half story being raised to a full story, but 89 Went-

- worth retains its original 18th century appearance.

Unusual features include the jerkin-head roof and the
rusticated arched entrance to the one-level piazza at
89 Wentworth. The structures share a. ‘common wall and.
common chlmneys, & are partly built of Bermuda stomne.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Aug. 16, 1976. Stoney, This is

'fCharleston, 111. )

88-90 Wentworth St. -- John S. Riggs built these two brick

houses, along with 15, 17 and 19 St. Philip St., in
1859-60 as tenements. The Italianate style buildings
retain mantles; woodwork and plasterwork in the florid
style of the period. Riggs subsequently, in 1866,
founded Charleston's first street car ‘system. He lived
for many years in the Joseph Manigault House.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Jan. 1, 1973, Dec. 30, 1974.)

89% Wentworth St. —— St. Michael's Church built this tiny

one-— story frame structure in 1900 for lease to Dr.
Charles M. Rees, phy51C1an, as his office. The build-

ing replaced a one story brick building of about the

same SiZe,'which had'been occupied by James B. DaCosta,

a black cobbler, as his shop. The building is a type
of*vernaéﬂlér'structure which was once common in Charles—
ton and is gradually becoming rarer.

(Stockton, DYKYC, May 5, 1980)

92 Wentworth St. -~ This frame house was built c. 1850 on land

leased from St. Philip's Church. It formerly was turned
lengthways, with the piazza facing the street. Jacob
Knobeloch, a flour dealer who bought the property in
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1881, turned. the house sideways to the street and thor-
oughly remodeled the exterior, replacing the siding
with German siding,.adding a mansard roof with cast
iron cresting, new piazza elements and entrance door.
The interior, however, retains plasterwork and mantels
typical of the 1850s. o
(Thomas, DYKYC, June 15, 1970)

97 Weptworth'St. ~- This two and one-half story briék'house
‘with sandstone window sills was built,'probably'between
1830 and 1840, on land leased from St. Michael's Church,
which retained ownership of the lot until 1945. The
‘house varies from the single house plan by having an
entrance on the street side and a side hall with
adjoining first floor rooms. A twin formerly stood
at 95 Wentworth. _ L
(Thomas, DYKYC, March 2; 1970)

100- Wentworth St. -- Grace Proteétaﬁt Episcopal'ChUrCh was
founded in 1846. The purpose'of'thé"founders was to
establish a church in the center of Charleston; at the
time Wentworth Street was in the center of the city.
The initial 60 members worshiped in the College of -
Charleston chapel until the church was completed.

Built in 1847-48, it was desigﬁed by architect Edward
Brickell White, and is one of his most beautiful Gothic
Revival buildings. E.W. Brown was the contractor.

The church was closed in January 1864 due to the Fed-
eral bombardment of the city. A shell crushed one

of the central columns and destroyed 12 pews. The
church reopened in March 1865, the first and for some
time the only Episcopal church open in the city. The
rector, the Rev. Dr. Charles Cotesworth Pinckney, was
ordered to pray for the President of the United States,

and Federal soldiers stood at attention in the.aisle




445

to enforce the order. Dr. Pinckney complied, stating,

"I known of no one who needs praying for more than

the President of the United States." The church was
heavily damaged by the 1886 earthquake and repairs cost

more than the original construction. Members of the

congregation have included the late Congressman L. Mendel
Rivers.

(Ravenel, Architects, 187, 191, 195. Legerton, His— =
torlc Churches, 12-13. Way, Grace Church, passim.)

99 105 Wentworth St. —— This‘row of late.Victorian.houses

was  built in 1910 by the Mutual Real Estate Company
as rental units. They are now part of the College of

Charleston L
. (Stockton, DYKYC June 8 1981.)

107 Wentworth St. -- This house was built-c. 1858 by Wil-

iam Johnson, dealer in grain, building materials and

coal, on 2 lot leased by his family since 1771 from.

St. Phlllp s Church. The facade was rebuilt after the

earthquake of 1886. According to family tradition,
the Johnson women sat on the roof and prayed for Grace
Church's. steeple not to fall. In 1890, the family
purchased the lot from St. Philip's. . It was the home,
from 1873-1934, of Dr. Wllllam Henry Johnson, who
started the orthopedic school at the Medical College
and brought the first X-ray to Charleston. Dr. John-
son exercised by throwing an anvil about the yard and
invented a pressure cooker which fitted to the radia-
tor of his automobile. The property is now part of
the College of Charleston..

(Thomas, DYKYC, n.d.; SCHS.)

112 Wentworth St. <- This two story stuccoed brick building

" was built as a store before 1888. It is now part of

the College of Charleston.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 1, 1975)




446

114 Wentworth St. -- This two and one-half story wooden
building, dating from the early 19th century, was con-
verted to a store during the Victorian period. It was
restored in 1975 by the College of Charleston as part
of its campus. '

(Stockton, DYKYC, Sept. 1, 1975)

120 & 122IWentwdrfh St. —- These two frame dwellings were
built by John Burckméyer, a butcher, sometime after
 he purchased'the property in 1791 and before his death

about 1811. He is listed as living in this paft of
Wentworth Stfeet in the 1796.city directory. Accord-
ing to tfadition, Burckmeyer lived at 122 Wentworth
while 120 Wentworth was under construction. Both houses
were built as two and one%half stories of wood on high
~brick basements and retain late 18th century féatures.
Both, however, have been reﬁddeled and‘ekpanded more
than once. 120 Wentworth'remained in Burckmeyer's
family until 1830, while 122 Wentworth remained in
the family until 1845. __ _ : o
(Thomas, DYKYC, May 11, 1970 & May 23, 1970.)

128 Wentworth St. -- Henry Cobia, an auctioneer and commis-
sion merchant on Vendue Range, built this two story
stuccoed brick Italianate style house sometime after
1852. The interior has carved white marble mantels
and elaborate plasterwork and woodwork.

(Thomas, DYKYC, May 2, 1970. Stockton, unpub. notes)

137 Wentworth St. —- Built speculatively by Alexander Black,
this two story frame house was first occupied by Mrs.
Catherine Lopez, a "free woman of color," who purchased
the property from Black in 1838. It was sold from her
estate in 1847. '

(Stockton, DYKYC, July 28, 1980)
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138 Wentworth St. -— This two story stuccoed brick dwelling
house, in the Greek Revival style, was built c. 1842
by Edwin L. Kerrison, a founder of the dry goods busi-
ness that evolved into the present Kerrison's depart-
ment store. Kerrison advertised it for rent in 18425
stating it had been ”recenfly built.'" It has been
speculated that the house was designed by architect
Russell Warren of Rhode Island. The Tower of the Winds
colums of the portico, the row of hééﬁy’déntils‘uhder
the roof and window details are similar to such fea-
tures in the Shepard House in Providence, R.I., which
was designed by Warren c. 1840. The front door is
copied from Minard LeFevre's book on Greek Revival
architecture. Water from the cistern was piped to
various buildings; this was an early use of plumbing
in Charleston,.altﬁdugh it was common by the 1850s.
The'dctagonal bathhouse in the rear is mentioned in

' the 1842 advertisement. From 1947 to 1970, the house
was the headquarters of the Protestant Episcopal Dio-
cese of South Carolina. Since 1970 it has been a

private residence.

(Ravenel,; Architects, 154-157. ' Thomas, DYKYC, March -
21, 1970} _

144 Wentworth St. —-- This two and one-half story frame
house ‘on a high brick basement is post-Revolutionary,
with simple but good Adamesque interior details.

For many years it was the home of the Fleming family,
from whom descended Mary Jane Ross, who in 1922 placed
the property in trust to a board of commissioners, to
be used for charitable purposes and as a memorial to
the services of Charleston women during World War I
and the influenza epidemic of 1918. ‘

(Thomas, DYKYC, June 24, 1968. DYKYC, Oct. 17, 1932.
Stoney, This is Charleston, 111.) '
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149 Wentworth St. ——- Rodgers' Mansion. Charleston's best
example of the Second Empire style, was built in 1885-
87 by Francis Silas Rodgérs, a wealthy cotton factor,
phosphate manufacturer and coastwise shipper. His
architect_Was Daniel G. Waynes. The Second Empire
style, named for the reign of Emperor Napoleon III of
France, during which the mansard roof (a 16th century
invention) was revived, was popular in the U.S. from
the 1850s to the 1890s. The interior is elaborately
finished in mahogany, oak and walnut, with tile floors
and ornate plasterwork, marble mantels and crystal
chandeliers which were designed for the house. Rodgers,
a member of City Council and Chairman of the Board of
Firemasters for 31 years, organized the city's first
paid pfofessional fire department. He liked to watch
for fires from the cupola of his house and attended
every fire in the city until shortly before his death.
Cotton, a major source of his wealth, is memorialized
in the bas~relief cornice over the front bay window,
which depicts cotton plants. After Rodgers' death,
the building became the Scottish Rite Temple and the
star of that order is set into the sidewalk at the
front gate. The house has been the headquarters of
Atlantic Coast Life Insurance Company since 1940.

(Stockton, DYKYC, April 21, 1975. Thomas, DYKYC, Oct.
27, 1969. Rhett & Steele, 68-69. Stoney, This is
Charleston, 112) ' '

150 Wentworth St. -- The home of Christopher Gustavus
Memminger, Secretary of the Treasury of the Confeder-
acy and a leading supporter of public education,
and of railroad development, stood here until it was
demolished in 1956. The large Greek Revival house
remained in Memminger's family until 1936.

_ (N&C, April 15, 1936 & Oct. 18, 1956. Stoney, This
Is Charleston, 112)
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151 Wentworth St..-- The well-to~do merchant Benjamin D.

Lazarus,'member of a prominent Sephardic Jewish family,

built this three story frame house, on a high basement,

~as his residence, c. 1849. Subsequently, it was the

home of Henrietta Aiken Kelly, founder of the Charles-
ton Female Seminary on St. Philip St. From 1882 to
1896, the building housed Miss Kelly and boarders of
her "rigorous but genteel" academy. In 1917, the
building was converted to an apartment house, '"The
Clifton."

(Thomas, DYKYC, Sept. 27, 1971)

154 Weptworth St. — This reéidencé was built about 1836

by Henry Muckenfuss. (1766-1857), a master mason. It
remained in his family until 1868. The two story

stuccoed bfick‘single house, with its long side facing

‘the street, has simple Greek Revival details.

(Thomas, DYKYC, May 25, 1970)

156 Wentworth St. —— This two and one half stdry stuccoed

brick house was built c. 1851 by J.T. Sanders, a mason.
The house was enlarged in 1910 by the then owner, -
Archibald McL. Martin, with plans drawn by architect
John D. Newcomer, who probably redesigned the facade

in a Gothic style about the same time.

(Thomas, DYKYC, April 18, 1970.)

157 Wentworth St. -- Mrs. Eleonora Wilkiﬁson, mother-in-law

of Christopher Gustavus Memminger, Confederate Secre-
tary of the Treasury, built this Greek Revival brick
house as her residence c. 1853. The town house plan
features a hall on the east side and threée rooms open-
ing into each other, and out onto the piazza, on the
west side. It remained in her family until 1878.
(Thomas, DYKYC, May 4, 1970)
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164 Wentworth St. —-- The rear portlon of this house was a

- single house built before 1835 by Dr. Joseph Glover.
and Dr. Francis Porcher. 1In 1863, it was purchased

by John B.L. Lafitte, a commission merchant and ship-
per whose firm was closely-associated-with John Fraser
& Co., blockade runners during the Civil War.l As part
of the U.S. Government's attempt to collect custom. duties
allegedly owed by the company on its greatly profit-
able activities during the’ war, this property, which
Lafitte had mortgaged to the company, was sold in
1873 to Savage Deas Trenholm. It remained in his
family until 1889, when it was purchased by Carsten.
Wulbern, a Wholesale'groceries and provisions mer-—
chant. Wulbern expanded the single house into a

. mansion in the Vlctorlan Itallanate style
(Thomas 'DYKYC, Aprll 6 1970 & March 29, 1971 )

166 Wentworth St. —-_Job Palmer, a bullder carpenter who
was born in Falmouth, Mass., but lived :73 of his 97

‘ years in Charleston built this handsome three and one
half story brick srngle house, on a raised basement,

"¢+ 1809. The handsome plazza entrance and doors were
found stored in the basement when, in the- 1960s, the
house was restored from apartments to a single family
residence. The interior has a handsome stairway and other
Adamesque architectural details.

(Thomas, DYKYC, March 9, 1970. Stoney,; This is Charles-
ton, 112 )

169 Wentworth St. —— ThlS large frame house on a quite high
basement was built c. 1837 as the residence of John
Beaufain Irving, on land Wthh then belonged to Eliza-
beth Corbett, a member of the Harleston famlly. Born
in Jamaica of a family which previously had settled

in South Carolina, Dr. Irving was a physician, Sheriff
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of Charleston District, a factotr, assistant cashier
of the Southwestern Railroad and for 30 years secre-
tary of the South Carolina Jockey Club He was the
author of A Day on Cooper River and History of the

Turf in South Carolina. He sold the property soon

after purchasing_it from Mrs. Corbett in 1840.
(Thomas, DYKYC, April 11, 1970, Stoney, This is

- Charleston, 112)

187 Wentworth St —— Thls two and one half story frame house

on a hlgh basement was bu11t before 1822 by Richard
Brennan, a_merchant._ Subsequently, it was the home
of Thomas Lee, a U.S. District Judge. Originally at
56 Pitt St:,'the house.was moved_to_this location in
1981.

(Stockton, DYKYC, Dec. 25, 1978. . Mary A, Glass N&C,
July 17, 1981. Stoney, This is Charleston 84)

212 Wentworth St - ThlS is one of several houses Wthh were

moved in 1981 from President Street, where they occu-
pied a Medical Un1vers1ty expans1on site. Orlglnally
at 51 President St., this is apparently the oldest in
the group. It was built after 1803 by Henry Muckenfuss
(1766-1857), a carperiter, as an 1nvestment It was
originally a two or two and one-half story house and
the third story was added in the latter half of the
19th century. The first two floors retain Federal
architectural features, while the third has Greek Re-

- vival and Italianate features

(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 2, 1981. N&C, June 1, 1981)

214 Wentworth St. b—? This two.and one half story frame single

house was built at 59 Pre51dent St. for Fannie A. Mose-
1ey, a Muckenfuss relation. - Tax records describe it
as new in 1878 As ln the thlrd floor of 212 Went-

worth, Itallanate and Greek Rev1va1 .details are em-

o+
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ployed.
(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 2, 1981. N&C, June 1, 1981.)

216 Wentworth St. -- This two stofy frame single-house,
originally at 53 President St., was also built in
the 1870s, by Benjamin S.D. Muckenfuss (son of Henry).
It retains mantels, Wainécotting and other features
typical of the period.

(Stockton, DYKYC Feb 2, 1981 N&C, June 1, 1981)

& 218 Wentworth St. — Thls two and one half story frame house
stood at 63 President St. and was built c. 1839 for

_ Barbara Quinnan. The main rooms_have-mantels_with;en~_
gaged columns, typical of that period. The half story
extends over the piazza; this is an unusual feature .
although other éxamples exist. :
(Stockton, DYKYC, Feb. 2, 1981. N&G, June 1, 1981)

g7}

-~ WEST STREET

West Street was one of the streets of the Mazyck Lands,
laid out by the helrs of Isaac Mazyck in 1742. It wasinamed
for Joseph West, three times Governor of Carollné5'1671—72,
1674-82 and 1684~-85. During the late 19th and early 20th
century, West Street was part of Charleston's bordello
district, along with Archdale and Beresford (mow Fulton)
streets. .

13 West St. —— This two and one-half story stucooed brick
single house was one of several houses which Dr. Wil-
_1iam Lennox Kirkland, a physician and a Mazyck heir,
built on a lafge tract fronting on West and Mazyck
(now Logan) streets in the 1820s. After 1868, the
house was enlarged with a three story rear addition

by Gen. Rudolph Siegling. Unlike many of its neigh-
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bors, 13 West appears never to have been a '"bawdy
house.” o
(Stockton, DYKYC, July 7, 1980. _ , unpub. MS)

" WRAGG SQUARE

 Wragg Square, also known as Wragg Place, extends along

the north side of Wragg Mall, a one-acre park or open space

given to-the-publlc by the Wragg family in 1801l. For a time

in the late 19th century, the park was also called Aiken
Park, for Gov. William Aiken, whose house is at the east

(Stockton, unpub. ﬁotes."Stbney,3This"ié'CharléstOh; 128)

2 & 4 Wragg Square —— These are the two survivors of Aiken's
Row, seven identical rental houses built after 1832
by Gov. William Aiken. They were also known as the
"Seven Days of the Week," because, in theory, each of
the houses supportéd Gov. Aiken's house at 48 Elizabeth
.. St. for one day of the week. |

(Smith & Smith, Dwelling Houses, 300. Stoney, ThlS
is Charleston, 112Z. Rhett & Steele, 96F97 Whltelaw
& Levkoff, 87.) ' A e

e

7ZIG ZAG ALLEY

This alley, running north from Atlantic Street, héif—
way between East Battery and Church Street, was named for
its meandering course into the block. TFor a time known
as Lightwood Alley, it regained its original name in the
1970s. ' ' *





